
NOTICE OF A REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE OLIVENHAIN MUNICIPAL WATER 

DISTRICT’S FINANCE COMMITTEE 
1966 Olivenhain Road, Encinitas, CA 92024 
Tel: (760) 753-6466 • Fax: (760) 753-1578 

 
Pursuant to AB 3035, effective January 1, 2003, any person who requires a 

disability related modification or accommodation in order to participate in a 

public meeting shall make such a request in writing to the District for 

immediate consideration. 

 
DATE: WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 14, 2018 

 
TIME: 10:00 A.M. 

 
 

PLACE: DISTRICT OFFICE 
 
 

Note: Items On The Agenda May Be Taken Out Of Sequential Order As Their 
Priority Is Determined By The Committee 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL (BOARD MEMBERS) 

 
3. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
5. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 13, 2018 

REGULAR FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
6. REVIEW AND DISCUSS FISCAL YEAR 2017-18 AUDITED FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS AND RESULTS  
 
7. REVIEW OF QUARTERLY INVESTMENTS AND CASH POSITION REPORTS (Q3 

2018) 
 
8. REVIEW OF INVESTMENT POLICY  
 



9.  REVIEW AND DISCUSS COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES FOR 
WATER AND WASTEWATER PROPOSALS  

 
10. CONSIDER FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

 
11. ADJOURNMENT 



         
  
 

 

   Memo 
Date:  November 14, 2018 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 

Via:  Kimberly Thorner, General Manager 

Subject: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 13, 2018 FINANCE 
COMMITTEE MEETING 

 

 
 
The Finance Committee will receive a draft copy of the meeting minutes. Following 
committee approval, the minutes will be posted on the District’s website.  

Agenda Item 5 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE 

OF OLIVENHAIN MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

August 13, 2018 
 

A regular meeting of the Finance Committee of Olivenhain Municipal Water District was 
held on Monday, August 13, 2018, at the District office, 1966 Olivenhain Road, Encinitas, 
California.  

The meeting was called to order at 10:05 a.m. In attendance were Edmund K. Sprague, 
Treasurer and Division 5 Director; Gerald E. Varty, Board Secretary and Division 4 Director; 
Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager; Kimberly Thorner, General Manager; and Leo Mendez, 
Accounting Supervisor. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2.  ROLL CALL (BOARD MEMBERS) 
 
3. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

 
 Director Sprague moved to adopt the agenda, seconded by Director Varty and carried 

unanimously. 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
 There were no public comments. 
 
5. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 2, 2018 REGULAR FINANCE 

COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Director Sprague moved to approve the May 2, 2018 meeting minutes, seconded by 
Director Varty and carried unanimously. 

 
6. REVIEW OF QUARTERLY INVESTMENTS AND CASH POSITION REPORTS (Q2 2018) 
 

Finance Manager Selamat reviewed the investment report as of June 30, 2018, with 
the committee. Cash and investments were discussed. Finance Manager Selamat 
reported that actual investment yield is slightly over the benchmark established in the 
investment policy and that all investments are in compliance with the investment 
policy. The District has sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations for the next 120 
days. Finance Manager Selamat reported that the District’s cash position is $2 million 



higher in comparison to the same period last year.  
  

7. OTHER BUSINESS: REPORT FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER 
 
General Manager Thorner reported that the District is presenting to Fitch Ratings 
tomorrow. Fitch Ratings sent the District questions for a discussion regarding the 
District’s debt coverage ratio, changes in management, and changes in regulation. 
Finance Manager Selamat gave an overview of District’s Forecast Operating Results.  
The Committee received the report.   
 
General Manager Thorner reported that there will be changes to the admin code that 
will be presented to the board on the August 15, 2018 board meeting. The proposed 
changes are intended to update certain sections of the Code for consistency. Additional 
edits are proposed to provide clarity on how the District will need to handle its stale 
dated checks. General Manager Thorner gave an overview of the specific changes. 
Finance Manager Selamat explained the changes to the policy regarding the handling of 
stale dated checks. 

 

8. CONSIDER FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Director Sprague noted that the posted Finance Committee Agenda items for August 
13, 2018 skip number eight. Finance Manager Selamat confirmed that there is no 
missing item on the Agenda and corrected the numbering on the Agenda to read 8. – 
CONSIDER FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS and 9. – ADJOURNMENT. 
 
Finance Manager Selamat reported that we’ll be starting the request for proposal 
process for new auditors beginning fiscal year 2018-2019. Finance Manager Selamat 
mentioned that the District’s current auditors, White Nelson Diehl Evans, have been 
auditing the District for the past ten years. Director Sprague added that in his opinion, 
the District should switch auditors every several years in order to have a fresh set of 
eyes on the financial records of the District. 

 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 The meeting was adjourned at 10:47 a.m. 

 



         
  
 

 

   Memo 
Date:  November 14, 2018 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 

Via:  Kimberly Thorner, General Manager 

Subject: REVIEW AND DISCUSS FISCAL YEAR 2017-18 AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND RESULTS   

 

 
 

The Finance Committee will receive a copy of the Fiscal Year 2017-18 audited financial 
statements and report from the District’s auditors, White Nelson Diehl Evans LLP. 
Following committee review and approval, a copy of the auditors’ reports will be 
included in the December 12, 2018 board meeting for Board’s consideration and 
approval.  
 
Staff and the District’s auditors will be available during the meeting.  

Agenda Item 6 



 

2965 Roosevelt Street, Carlsbad, CA 92008-2389 • Tel: 760.729.2343 • Fax: 760.729.2234 
 

Offices located in Orange and San Diego Counties 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
Board of Directors 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District  
Encinitas, California 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District as of and 
for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, the Modified Approach for Steel Water Storage Tanks Infrastructure Capital Assets, 
the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability, and the Schedule of Contributions- Defined 
Benefit Pension Plans be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The introductory section and the statistical section as 
identified in the accompanying table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
them. 

 
 
 
Carlsbad, California 
November XX, 2018 
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2965 Roosevelt Street, Carlsbad, CA 92008-2389 • Tel: 760.729.2343 • Fax: 760.729.2234 
 

Offices located in Orange and San Diego Counties 
 

 
 

 
 
Board of Directors 
Audit Committee 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District 
Encinitas, California 
 
 
We have audited the basic financial statements of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District for the year 
ended June 30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated November XX, 2018.  Professional 
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally 
accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of 
our audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated June 14, 2018.  
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to 
our audit.  
 
Significant Audit Findings: 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Olivenhain Municipal Water District are described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies 
was not changed during the year ended June 30, 2018. We noted no transactions entered into by the 
District during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant 
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them 
may differ significantly from those expected.  
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Significant Audit Findings (Continued) 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices (Continued) 

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
 

a. Management’s estimate of the fair market value of investments which is based on market 
values by outside sources. 

 
b. Management’s estimate of useful lives of depreciable capital assets is based on the length of 

time it is believed that those assets will provide some economic benefit in the future. 
 
c. Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on historical water 

revenues, historical loss levels, and an analysis of the collectability of individual accounts.  
 

d. The annual required contributions, pension expense, net pension liability and corresponding 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for the District’s public 
defined benefit plans with CalPERS are based on actuarial valuations provided by 
CalPERS. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they 
were reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 

a. The disclosure regarding depreciation expense reported in Note 4.  
 

b. The disclosure of the net pension liability in Note 10 to the financial statements. 
  
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Adjustments 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely adjustments identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  
 
The attached schedule summarizes uncorrected adjustments of the financial statements. Management 
has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 
In addition, none of the adjustments detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. 
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Significant Audit Findings (Continued): 
 
Disagreements with Management 

For the purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements of the auditors’ report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 
the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated November XX, 2018. 
  
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the Olivenhain Municipal Water District’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine 
that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Olivenhain Municipal Water 
District’s auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Modified Approach 
for Steel Water Storage Tanks Infrastructure Capital Assets, Schedule of Proportionate Share of the 
Net Pension Liability, and Schedule of Contributions - Defined Benefit Plans, which are required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplement the basic financial statements. Our procedures 
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI.  
 
We were not engaged to report on the introductory section or the statistical section, which accompany 
the financial statements but are not RSI.  Such information has not been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
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Restrictions on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and 
management of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District and is not intended to be, and should not be, 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
Carlsbad, California 
November XX, 2018 
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Schedule of Uncorrected Adjustments 

June 30, 2018 
 

AJE Account Name Account # Debit Credit

1 - June 30, 2017
Deposits District CIP - Gen 21010-100-000-000 5,454.23       
Deposits District CIP - ConRecy 21010-400-000-000 188,266.47   
District CIP-CB&T 2018- - 18000-512-000-000 24,683.65         
District CIP - ConnTrt 18000-500-000-000 17,800.00     
District CIP - ConRecy 18000-400-000-000 189,789.49       
Net Position 2,952.44       

2 - June 30, 2018
Deposits District CIP - Gen 21010-100-000-000 5,454.23           
Deposits District CIP - ConRecy 21010-400-000-000 188,266.47       
District CIP-CB&T 2018- - 18000-512-000-000 24,683.65     
District CIP - ConnTrt 18000-500-000-000 17,800.00         
District CIP - ConRecy 18000-400-000-000 189,789.49   
Maint & repairs-gen-Gen-Eng-Office & Shop 52900-100-220-674 2,952.44           

It was discovered during the course of the fiscal year 2018 audit, that certain fiscal year 2017 expenses of other agencies, 
payable out of deposits received by the District from those other agencies were inadvertantly recorded as fiscal year 
2017 additions to construction in process rather than as reductions to the deposit liabilities.  As a result, at June 30, 
2017, both construction in process and deposit liabilities were overstated.  During fiscal year 2018, the District corrected 
this by making a journal entry to reduce construction in process and deposit liabilities, while putting a small adjustment of 
$2,952.44 through as a current year expense.  Adjusting journal entry #1 above, is the entry that should have been 
recorded at June 30, 2017.  Adjusting journal entry #2 would be reversing the District's journal entry made during fiscal 
year 2018, which would not have to be made if journal entry #1 had been made.  Given that the only effect to District 
Net Position is the $2,952.44, the District elected to not restate the 2017 balances on the financial statements.  As a 
result, on the financial statements, under the 2017 column "capital assets, nondepreciable" and "customer deposits" are 
overstated, while an an operating expense is understated by $2,952.44.
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2965 Roosevelt Street, Carlsbad, CA 92008-2389 • Tel: 760.729.2343 • Fax: 760.729.2234 

 

Offices located in Orange and San Diego Counties 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ms. Rainy Selamat 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District 
Encinitas, CA 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District (the 
District) for the year ended June 30, 2018, we considered its internal control structure in order to determine our 
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide 
assurance on the internal control structure. Our study and evaluation was more limited than would be necessary 
to express an opinion on the system of internal accounting control taken as a whole and, accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. 
 
The management of Olivenhain Municipal Water District is responsible for establishing and maintaining a 
system of internal accounting control. In fulfilling this responsibility, estimates and judgments by management 
are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs of control procedures. The objectives of a system 
are to provide management with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s 
authorization and recorded properly. 
 
During our audit, we noted certain other matters involving the internal control structure and its operation that we 
wish to call to your attention. These matters are set forth below with our recommendations for improvement. 
 

Supporting Documentation for Payroll Deductions 

During our audit we noted that the District could not locate supporting documentation detailing a District 
employee’s authorization for a supplemental insurance payroll deduction.  
 
We recommend that the District maintain supporting documentation on file for all District employee 
payroll deductions. 
 
Approval of Payroll Tax Payment 
 
During our audit we noted that supporting documentation for a payroll tax disbursement was not signed off 
as reviewed and approved. 
 
We recommend that the District document signatures of review and approval for all payroll tax 
disbursements.  
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These matters were considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of the audit tests to be applied in our 
audit of Olivenhain Municipal Water District’s financial statements and this letter does not affect our report on 
these financial statements dated November XX, 2018. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and others within the organization and 
is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
November XX, 2018 
Carlsbad, California 
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Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

ASSETS

Current assets:
Unrestricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,948,658             $ 28,256,884             
Investments 36,963,610             30,235,637             
Accounts receivable - water and sewer, net 9,801,577               8,372,323               
Interest receivable 194,225                  134,398                  
Taxes and assessments receivable -                          73                           
Other receivables 229,964                  145,872                  
Inventories 1,464,366               1,664,131               
Prepaid expenses and deposits 722,578                  912,797                  

Total unrestricted assets 76,324,978             69,722,115             

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 10,826,939             6,352,714               
Investments 5,886,502               5,797,106               

Interest receivable 7,378                      6,865                      
Taxes and assessments receivable 166,288                  182,495                  
Grants receivable 538,755                  962,309                  

Total restricted assets 17,425,862             13,301,489             

Total current assets 93,750,840             83,023,604             

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, nondepreciable 37,210,901             35,314,609             
Capital assets, depreciable/amortizable, net 346,130,153           352,390,853
Capital assets, net 383,341,054           387,705,462           
Other receivables 157,917                  113,918                  
Prepaid pension contributions 8,129 22,063
Prepaid bond insurance 106,302 117,683

Total noncurrent assets 383,613,402           387,959,126           

Total assets 477,364,242           470,982,730           

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred amount on refunding 1,807,099 1,925,853           
Deferred amounts from pension 3,871,378 3,501,400             

Total deferred outflows of resources 5,678,477               5,427,253               

(Continued)

The accompanying  notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 23                               
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Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Statements of Net Position, Continued
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Liabilities payable from unrestricted assets:

Accounts payable $ 6,958,234               $ 6,412,560
Accrued payroll 248,319                  244,882
Customer deposits 332,913                  518,261
Payable related to work in progress 230,936                  250,548

   Compensated absences, current portion 680,000 643,000
Current portion of long-term debt:

       Wastewater Revenue Bonds 489,000 ‐                        

       Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 1,975,000 1,875,000
       Special Assessment Debt with Government Commitment 860,000 845,000
       Notes Payable 370,870 720,818

Total liabilities payable from unrestricted assets 12,145,272             11,510,069              

Liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable 670,166 996,298
Interest payable 287,549                  485,137
Unearned revenue 85,785                    129,164
Construction deposits -                          -                              

Total liabilities payable from restricted assets 1,043,500               1,610,599                

Total current liabilities 13,188,772             13,120,668              

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 714,371 643,323
Unearned revenue -                          -                          
Net pension liability 12,831,806 11,018,852
Long-term debt, excluding current portion:
       Wastewater Revenue Bonds 5,011,000 -                          
       Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 36,008,213 38,329,311
       Special Assessment Debt with Government Commitment 9,790,671 10,853,471
       Notes Payable 13,881,413 14,618,930

Total noncurrent liabilities 78,237,474             75,463,887              

Total liabilities 91,426,246             88,584,555              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred amounts on pension 563,947 631,720                   
Total deferred inflows of resources 563,947                  631,720                   

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 322,232,146           322,388,785            
Restricted for:

Debt service 3,082,226               3,424,970                
Construction 7,829,976               8,265,920                

Total restricted 10,912,202             11,690,890              

Unrestricted 57,908,178             53,114,033              

Total net position $ 391,052,526         $ 387,193,708          

The accompanying  notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 24                                

Draf
t d

td 
11

-7-
18



Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

OPERATING REVENUES

Water sales $ 53,444,449             $ 45,433,161              
Sewer charges 4,464,710               4,447,426                
Other water operating revenues 2,271,495               2,217,932                

Total operating revenues 60,180,654             52,098,519              

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of purchased water sold 27,578,413             24,568,729              
Pumping and water treatment 4,129,127               3,988,991                
Transmission and distribution 3,557,507               3,874,766                
Sewer collection and treatment 1,845,906               1,672,289                
Elfin Forest recreation operations 337,557                  316,387
Facilities maintenance 1,083,246               1,154,241                
Customer services 1,734,656               1,789,423                
General and administrative 7,252,941               6,265,690
Other operating expenses 244,817 388,995                   
Depreciation and amortization 14,584,093             15,069,090              

Total operating expenses 62,348,263             59,088,601              

Operating income (loss) (2,167,609)              (6,990,082)              

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Fair market value adjustment (222,289)                 (289,050)                 
Investment income 880,762                  519,321                   
Property taxes 3,557,919               3,414,858                
Capacity charges 645,964                  3,624,426                
Benefit assessments 1,414,791               1,460,881                
Other nonoperating revenues 2,669                      278,589                   
Interest expense, net (2,120,456)              (2,342,667)              
Other nonoperating expenses (561,080)                 (1,012,913)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 3,598,280               5,653,445                

Income (Loss) before capital contributions 1,430,671               (1,336,637)              

      Capital Contributions 2,428,147               2,016,203                

Change in net position 3,858,818               679,566                   

Net Position, Beginning of year 387,193,708 386,514,142            

Net Position, End of year $ 391,052,526           $ 387,193,708            

The accompanying  notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 25                               
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Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Statements of Cash Flows
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from water and sewer customers $ 58,437,961        $ 51,293,461      

Payments for water (27,342,880)      (24,068,220)     

Payments for services and supplies (8,010,460)        (11,798,521)     

Payments for employee wages, benefits, and related costs (10,005,006)      (9,629,697)       

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,079,615        5,797,023        

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Property taxes and benefit assessments received 4,988,990          4,878,907        

Net cash provided by noncapital and related financing activities 4,988,990          4,878,907        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (8,184,325)        (8,323,030)       

Proceeds from grants and capital contributions 81,585               18,693             

Principal paid on long-term debt (4,007,465)        (20,677,761)     

Proceeds from debt issuance and refunding 5,500,000          16,102,257      

Interest paid on long-term debt (2,548,188)        (2,536,986)       

Capacity charges received 612,586             3,592,523        

Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                        6,000               

Other capital financing receipts 2,669                 272,589           

Other capital financing expenses paid (140,232)           (378,266)          

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (8,683,370)        (11,923,981)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments 8,525,000          19,559,500      

Purchases of investments (15,571,680)      (24,832,468)     

Investment income received 827,444             477,284           

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (6,219,236)        (4,795,684)       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,165,999          (6,043,735)       

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 34,609,598        40,653,333      

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 37,775,597        $ 34,609,598      

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,948,658        $ 28,256,884      

Cash and cash equivalents - restricted assets 10,826,939        6,352,714        

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 37,775,597        $ 34,609,598      

(Continued)

The accompanying  notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 26                        
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Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Statements of Cash Flows, Continued
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) $ (2,167,609)         (6,990,082)      
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 14,584,093        15,069,090      
GASB 68 Adjustment to Pension Expense 1,375,203          659,573           
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

      (Increase) Decrease in assets:
Receivables (1,557,345)         (944,145)         
Inventories 199,765             (136,584)         
Prepaid expenses and deposits 204,153             (102,068)         

      Increase (Decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 558,597             (1,872,650)      
Accrued payroll and compensated absences 111,485             171,355           
Unearned Revenue -                         (162,724)         
Customer deposits (228,727)            105,258           

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 13,079,615        $ 5,797,023        

NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Customer contributions of capital assets $ 2,428,147          $ 2,016,203        

Amortization of premiums $ (14,574)              $ (25,955)           

Unrealized gains (losses) on investments $ 222,289             $ 332,082           

The accompanying  notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 27                       
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements 

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
a. Organization 

The Olivenhain Municipal Water District (District) is a governmental corporation governed by an elected five 
member board of directors. The District was incorporated in 1959 under the provisions of the California Municipal 
Water District Act of 1911.  The District’s 48 square mile service area lies in northern San Diego County and the 
majority of its sales are domestic and business users. The District’s offices are located in Encinitas, California. 

The basic financial statements of the District include the blended financial activities of the District and the 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District Financing Corporation (Corporation).  

The Corporation was formed in 1997 under the California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law. Its sole 
purpose is to assist the District in acquiring and financing various public facilities.  

The criteria used in determining the inclusion of a component unit in the reporting entity for financial reporting 
purposes are: (1) appointment of voting majority of the component unit board, (2) ability to impose its will, (3) 
financial benefit or burden, and (4) fiscal dependency.  

In keeping its books and records, the District has established various self-balancing groups of accounts in order to 
enhance internal control and to further the attainment of other management objectives. These groups of accounts, 
which are sub funds of the reporting entity, are identified in the District’s books and records as the General Fund, 
Recycled Water Capacity Fee Fund, Treated Water Capacity Fee Fund, Reassessment District 96-1 Fund, 4S 
Sanitation District Fund, Rancho Cielo Sanitation District Fund, 2006 Water Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 
2009 Water Revenue Bond Fund, 2015 Water System Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2016 Water System 
Revenue Refunding Bond Fund, 2012 California Bank & Trust Note Payable, and 2013 State Revolving Fund 
Note Payable. All significant inter sub-fund transactions and accounts are eliminated in the combination of the 
accounts of the sub funds for the basic financial statements of the District.  

b. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various financial 
statements. Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement focus 
applied. The accompanying financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus, 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the economic measurement focus all assets and liabilities (whether 
current or noncurrent) associated with these activities are included on the Statement of Net Position. The 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present increases (revenues) and decreases 
(expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  

The District reports its activities as an enterprise fund, which is used to account for operations that are financed 
and operated in a manner similar to a private business enterprise, where the intent of the District is that the costs 
(including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges.  

The basic financial statements of the Olivenhain Municipal Water District have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for governmental accounting financial reporting 
purposes.  Draf
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 Continued 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  
 
b. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (continued)  

Net position of the District is classified into three components: (1) net investment in capital assets, (2) restricted 
net position, and (3) unrestricted net position. These classifications are defined as follows:  

Net Investment in Capital Assets 

This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the 
outstanding balances of notes or borrowing that are attributable to the acquisition of the asset, construction, or 
improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the 
debt attributable to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. 

Restricted Net Position 

This component of net position consists of net position with constrained use through external constraints imposed 
by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments 
or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  

Unrestricted Net Position 

This component of net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment in 
capital assets,” or “restricted net position”. 

The District distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and delivering water in connection with the District’s principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District are charges to customers for sales and 
services. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. Capital contributions are reported as a separate line item in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position.   

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s practice to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  

c.    New Accounting Pronouncements: 

Current Year Standards: 

 GASB Statement No. 75 - “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions,” effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017. 

 GASB Statement No. 81 - "Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements,” effective for periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016, and did not impact the District. 

 
 GASB Statement No. 82 -“Pension Issues, an amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, 68 and 73” 

effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2016, except for certain provisions on selection of 
assumptions, which are effective in the first reporting period in which the measurement date of the 
pension liability is on or after June 15, 2017 and did not impact the District. 

 GASB Statement No. 85 - “Omnibus 2017,” effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017. 

 GASB Statement No. 86 - “Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues,” effective for periods beginning after 
June 15, 2017 and did not impact the District. Draf
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 Continued 
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1.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
c.    New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued): 

Pending Accounting Standards:  

GASB has issued the following statements which may impact the District’s financial reporting requirements in the 
future: 

 GASB Statement No. 83 -“Certain Asset Retirement Obligations,” effective for periods beginning after 
June 15, 2018. 

 GASB Statement No. 84 -“Omnibus 2017,” effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2018. 

 GASB Statement No. 87 -“Leases,” effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019. 

 GASB Statement No. 88 -“Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct 
Placements,” effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2018. 

 GASB Statement No. 89 -“Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction 
Period,” effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. 

 GASB Statement No. 90 -“Majority Equity Interests-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and 61” 
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. 

 
d. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources:  

In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption 
of net position that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) 
until that time. The District has the following items that qualify for reporting in this category: 

 Deferred loss on refunding of $1,807,099 related to the 2015 and 2016 Water System Refunding Revenue 
Bonds, net of accumulated amortization of $272,091, at June 30, 2018. It is amortized on a straight line 
basis over 156 and 261 months, respectively, which represents the shortest period between the remaining 
outstanding debt and the new debt. 

 Deferred outflow related to pensions for employer contributions made after the measurement date of the 
net pension liability.  

 Deferred outflow related to pensions for differences between expected and actual experiences. This 
amount is amortized over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining services lives of 
all employees that are provided with pensions through the Plans determined as of June 30, 2017.  

 Deferred outflow related to pensions for changes in proportion. This amount is amortized over a closed 
period equal to the average of the expected remaining services lives of all employees that are provided 
with pensions through the Plans determined as of June 30, 2017. 

 
 Deferred outflow related to pensions resulting from the difference in projected and actual earnings on 

plan investments of the pension plan fiduciary net position. This amount is amortized over five years. 
 
 Deferred outflow from pensions resulting from changes in assumptions. This amount is amortized over a 

closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are 
provided with pensions through the Plans determined as of June 30, 2017. 

 
 Deferred outflows related to pensions for the differences between employer contributions and 

proportionate share of contributions. This amount is amortized over a closed period equal to the average 
of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through the 
Plans determined as of June 30, 2017.. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  
 
d. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Continued):  

 
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time.  The District has the following that will qualify for reporting in this category: 

 
 Deferred inflows from pensions for differences between expected and actual experiences. This amount is 

amortized over a closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees 
that are provided with pensions through the Plans determined as of June 30, 2017. 

 Deferred inflows from pensions resulting from changes in assumptions. This amount is amortized over a 
closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are provided 
with pensions through the Plans determined as of June 30, 2017. 

 
 Deferred inflows related to pensions for the differences between employer contributions and proportionate 

share of contributions. This amount is amortized over a closed period equal to the average of the expected 
remaining service lives of all employees that are provided with pensions through the Plans determined as of 
June 30, 2017. 
 

e. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include petty cash, demand deposits with 
financial institutions, deposits in money market mutual funds (SEC registered), and deposits in external investment 
pools, and marketable securities that mature within 90 days of purchase. Such marketable securities and deposits 
in money market funds are carried at fair value. Investment pool deposits are carried at the District’s proportionate 
share of the fair value of each pool’s underlying portfolio.  

State Investment Pool 

The District is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by the 
California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The fair value of the 
District’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the 
District’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the 
amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records 
maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 

Investment Valuation 

Investments with maturities of one year or less at time of purchase are stated at amortized cost. All other 
investments are stated at fair value. Market value is used as fair value for those securities for which market 
quotations are readily available.  

f. Water Sales 

Water sales revenue is recorded when water is delivered and service is rendered, including an estimated amount 
for unbilled service.  
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  
 
g. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The District recognizes bad debt expense relating to receivables when it is probable that the accounts will be 
uncollectible. Water and sewer accounts receivable at June 30, 2018 and 2017 have been reduced by an allowance 
for doubtful accounts of $110,000 and $110,000, respectively. 

h. Inventories 

Materials inventory is stated at current average cost. Water inventory is stated at its purchase cost using the first-
in, first-out method.  

 
i. Prepaid Expenses 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid 
expenses.  
 

j. Restricted Assets 

Amounts shown as restricted assets have been restricted by debt agreements, by law or regulations, or by 
contractual obligations to be used for specified purposes, such as service of debt and construction of capital assets. 
 

k. Capital Assets, Depreciation and Amortization 

Capital assets are valued at cost when constructed or purchased. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and 
similar assets, and capital assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value. 
The District capitalizes all assets with a historical cost of at least $5,000 and a useful life of more than one year. 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of assets or materially extend asset lives 
are not capitalized. Depreciation or amortization on capital assets in service, excluding land, is computed using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of such assets and is reported as an operating expense. Capital 
projects are subject to depreciation or amortization when completed and placed in service. The ranges of estimated 
useful lives of capital assets are as follows:  
 

Treatment and distribution system    10-75 years 
Non-steel tanks     10-60 years 
General plant      3- 40 years 
Capacity Rights      17 years 

The District is amortizing Capacity Rights and is reviewing it annually for impairment, and any impairment losses 
are recognized in the period in which the impairment is determined. 

In September 2007, the District elected to use the Modified Approach as defined by GASB Statement No. 34 for 
reporting the steel water storage tanks subsystem of infrastructure capital assets.  

The detail of the subsystems is not presented in these basic financial statements. However, the operating 
departments maintain information regarding the subsystems.  

Per GASB Statement No. 34 a condition assessment will be performed every three years on the steel tanks. The 
condition of the District’s steel water storage tanks is determined using the USCI AMRS via their maintenance 
program. The tank condition rating, which is a weighted average of an assessment of the ability of individual steel 
water storage tanks to function structurally, such that water is stored safely and securely, uses a numerical 
condition scale ranging from 1.0 (unacceptable) to 10.0 (very good).  

It is the District’s policy to keep all the steel water storage tanks at a condition level of not less than 5.0 
(satisfactory). All steel water storage tanks are inspected every two years and washed out every other year. Repairs 
are done on an as needed basis.  
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)  
 
l. Capitalized Interest 
 

Interest costs, less interest earned, on related borrowings are capitalized during the construction period of major 
capital asset additions. The capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it is related and is 
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Capitalized interest amounted to $1,868 and $0 for 
the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

m. Compensated Absences 

Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave is recorded as an expense and liability as benefits accrue to 
employees. Changes in compensated absences for the year ended June 30, 2018, were as follows:  

Balance Balance
July 1, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018

1,286,323$     792,505$       (684,457)$      1,394,371$     

The current portion of compensated absences payable is $680,000 and $643,000 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. 

n.    Capital Contributions 

Capital contributions are recorded when the District receives cash contributions or accepts contributions of capital 
assets in kind or when governmental construction grants are earned. Capital contributions are reported as a 
separate line item in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.  

o. Property Taxes 

The County of San Diego (the “County”) bills and collects property taxes on behalf of the District.  The County’s tax 
calendar year is July 1 to June 30.  Property taxes attach as a lien on property on January 1.  Taxes are levied on July 
1 and are payable in two equal installments on November 1 and February 1, and become delinquent after December 
10 and April 10, respectively.  

p. Pensions  

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions, 
and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the City’s California Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the Plans’ fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value.  The District is participating in a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan. 

q. Capacity Charges 

Capacity charges are paid by new customers prior to connecting to the District’s system. Such charges are 
periodically adjusted based upon changes in construction costs and other factors, and are intended to compensate 
the District for a new customer’s equitable share of current and future system capacity. Capacity charges are, 
except in rare circumstances, nonrefundable and are recorded as nonoperating revenues when collected.  

r. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, 
actual results could differ from those estimates.  
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2.  Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 

 
Cash and investments at June 30, 2018 and 2017 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as 
follows:  
 

Statement of Net Position: 2018 2017

Current Assets:

   Cash and cash equivalents 26,948,658$   28,256,884$    

10,826,939     6,352,714        

   Investments 36,963,610     30,235,637      

   Restricted investments 5,886,502 5,797,106        

Total cash and investments 80,625,709$   70,642,341$    

Cash and investments consist of the following:

Cash on hand 1,478$            1,466$             

Deposits with financial institutions 3,989,292 7,464,461

Investments 76,634,939 63,176,414

Total cash and investments 80,625,709$   70,642,341$    

   Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 
 

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the District’s Investment policy: 
 

The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the District by the California Government 
Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The table also identifies certain provisions of 
the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more restrictive) that address interest 
rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This table does not address investments of debt proceeds held 
by bond trustee that are governed by the provisions of debt agreements of the District, rather than the general 
provisions of the California Government Code or the District’s investment policy.  
 

Authorized Investment Type Maximum Maturity

Maximum 
Percentage of 

Portfolio

Maximum 
Investment in One 

Issuer

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None

U.S. Government Sponsored Entities 5 years 50% None

Banker’s Acceptances 180 days 20% 3%

Commercial Paper 270 days 20% $1,000,000

Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% $250,000

Repurchase Agreements 90 days 20% None

Reverse Repurchase Agreements 90 days 10% None

Medium-Term Notes 5 years 15% None

Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 20% 5%

Municipal Obligations N/A 30% None

Local Government Investment Pool N/A 30% None

Local Agency Investment Fund N/A 30% $20,000,000
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2.    Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 

 
Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements: 

Investment of debt proceeds held by bond trustee are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather than 
the general provisions of the California Government Code or the District’s investment policy.  
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to 
changes in market interest rates. One of the ways that the District manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by 
purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so 
that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturity evenly over time to provide the cash flow 
and liquidity needed for operations. 
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments to market interest rate fluctuations 
is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the District’s investments by maturity at June 30, 
2018.  
 

Investment Type Total
12 Months or 

Less
13 to 24 
Months 25 to 60 Months

More than 60 
Months

Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) 10,233,173$   10,233,173$   -$                -$                 -$               

California Asset Management 
Program (CAMP) 22,154,766     22,154,766     -                  -                   -                 

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,396,887       1,396,887       -                  -                   -                 

U.S. Government Sponsored 
Entities 33,235,257     4,978,570       16,028,230     12,228,457      -                 

Municipal Obligations 3,649,866       498,020          450,614          2,701,232        -                 

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5,964,990       4,981,830       983,160          -                   -                 

Total 76,634,939$   44,243,246$   17,462,004$   14,929,689$    -$                   

Remaining Maturity (in Months)
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 

Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements (Continued): 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments to market interest rate fluctuations 
is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the District’s investments by maturity at June 30, 
2017.  

 

Investment Type Total
12 Months or 

Less
13 to 24 
Months 25 to 60 Months

More than 60 
Months

Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) 15,102,385$   15,102,385$   -$                -$                 -$               

California Asset Management 
Program (CAMP) 10,465,495     10,465,495     -                  -                   -                 
Commercial Paper 1,994,950       1,994,950       -                  -                   -                 

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,558,377       1,558,377       -                  -                   -                 

U.S. Government Sponsored 
Entities 28,030,353     4,981,770       1,992,040       21,056,543      -                 

Medium-Term Notes 676,892          676,892          -                  -                   -                 

Municipal Obligations 2,359,812       354,025          500,665          1,505,122        -                 

U.S. Treasury Obligations 2,988,150       999,710          1,988,440       -                   -                 

Total 63,176,414$   36,133,604$   4,481,145$     22,561,665$    -$                   

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

 
 

Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk: 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California Government 
Code, the District’s Investment Policy, or debt agreements, and the Moody’s rating for each investment type at 
June 30, 2018.  (CAMP is rated by Standard and Poor’s and has a rating of AAAm). 

Investment Type Total
Minimum 

Legal Rating
Exempt from 

Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) 10,233,173$   N/A -$              -$                -$              -$            10,233,173$      

California Asset Management 
Program (CAMP) 22,154,766     AAA -                22,154,766      -                -              -                     

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,396,887       N/A -                -                  -                -              1,396,887          

U.S. Government Sponsored 
Entities 33,235,257     AAA -                29,917,710      2,318,317     -              999,230             

Municipal Obligations 3,649,866       AA -                450,614           3,199,252     -              -                     

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5,964,990       N/A 5,964,990     -                  -                -              -                     

Total 76,634,939$   5,964,990$   52,523,090$    5,517,569$   -$                12,629,290$      

Rating as of Year End
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 

 
Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk (Continued): 
 
Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California Government Code, the 
District’s Investment Policy, or debt agreements, and the Moody’s rating for each investment type at June 30, 
2017. 
 

Investment Type Total
Minimum 

Legal Rating
Exempt from 

Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Local Agency Investment Fund 
(LAIF) 15,102,385$   N/A -$              -$                -$              -$            15,102,385$      

California Asset Management 
Program (CAMP) 10,465,495     AAA -                10,465,495      -                -              -                     

Commercial Paper 1,994,950       N/A -                -                  -                -              1,994,950          

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,558,377       N/A -                -                  -                -              1,558,377          

U.S. Government Sponsored 
Entities 28,030,353     AAA -                28,030,353      -                -              -                     

Medium-Term Notes 676,892          A2 -                -                  -                676,892.00 -                     

Municipal Obligations 2,359,812       A1 -                354,025           2,005,787     -              -                     

U.S. Treasury Obligations 2,988,150       N/A 2,988,150     -                  -                -              -                     

Total 63,176,414$   2,988,150$   38,849,873$    2,005,787$   676,892$    18,655,712$      

Rating as of Year End

 
 

Concentration of Credit Risk: 

The investment policy of the District is in accordance with limitations on the amount that can be invested in any 
one issuer as stipulated by the California Government Code. Investments in any one issuer (other than for U.S. 
Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external investment pools) that represent 5% or more of total District 
investments is as follows:  
 

Issuer Investment Type 2018

Federal Home Loan Banks U.S. Govt Sponsored Entities 6,815,944$              4,453,255$              

Federal National Mortgage Association U.S. Govt Sponsored Entities 11,825,240$            11,878,230$            

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp U.S. Govt Sponsored Entities 12,625,923$            9,707,468$              

2017
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 

 
Custodial Credit Risk: 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, a 
government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party.  The custodial credit for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 
the counterparty (e.g. broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. The California Government Code and 
the District’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to 
custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits: The California 
Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local government units by 
pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived 
by the governmental unit). The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 
110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to 
secure deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits.  
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, $3,665,819 and $7,043,209 of the District’s deposits with financial institutions in 
excess of the Federal insurance limits were held in collateralized accounts.  
 
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF): 

 
The District is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by the 
California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The fair value of the 
District’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the 
District’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the 
amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records 
maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis.  

California Asset Management Program (CAMP): 

The District is a voluntary participant in the California Asset Management Program (CAMP). CAMP is an 
investment pool offered by the California Asset Management Trust (the Trust).  The Trust is a joint powers 
authority and public agency created by the Declaration of Trust and established under the provisions of the 
California Joint Exercise of Powers Act for the purpose of exercising the common power of its Participants to 
invest funds.  The investments are limited to investments permitted by California Government Code.  The District 
reports its investment in CAMP at the fair value amounts provided by CAMP, which is the same value of the pool 
share.  At June 30, 2018  and 2017 the fair value approximated is the District’s cost. 

Fair Value Measurements: 
 
The District categorizes its fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the relative inputs used to measure the fair value of the 
investments. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).  
 

 The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 
 

Level 1: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that the District has the ability to access. 

 
Level 2: Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data 

by correlation or other means. 
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 
 
 The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows (Continued): 
 

Level 3: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. Unobservable inputs reflect the District’s own assumptions about the 
inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including 
assumptions about risk). Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best 
information available in the circumstances and may include the District’s own data. 

 
The asset’s or liability’s level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs.  

 
The determination of what constitutes observable requires judgment by the District’s management. District 
management considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or 
updated, reliable, and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by multiple independent sources that are actively 
involved in the relevant market.  

 
The categorization of an investment or liability within the hierarchy is based upon the relative observability of the 
inputs to its fair value measurement and does not necessarily correspond to District management’s perceived risk 
of that investment or liability.  

 
The following is a description of the recurring valuation methods and assumptions used by the District to estimate 
the fair value of its investments. The methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be 
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. The use of different methodologies or 
assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value 
measurement at the reporting date.  

 
When available, quoted prices are used to determine fair value. When quoted prices in active markets are 
available, investments are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. When quoted prices in active 
markets are not available, fair values are based on evaluated prices received by District management.  

 
The District has no investments categorized in Level 3. When valuing Level 3 securities, the inputs or 
methodology are not necessarily an indication of the risks associated with investing in those securities. Changes in 
valuation techniques may result in transfers into or out of an assigned level within the disclosure hierarchy.  
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 
 
Fair value measurements at June 30, 2018 consisted of the following: 
 

Quoted Prices 
Level 1

Observable 
Inputs Level 2

Unobservable 
Inputs Level 3 June 30, 2018

Investments by Fair Value Level
U.S. Government Sponsored 

Entity Securities
FNMA -$               12,808,660$      -$               12,808,660$    
FMM -                 984,730             -                 984,730           
FHLB -                 6,815,944          -                 6,815,944        
FHLMC -                 12,625,923        -                 12,625,923      

U.S. Treasury Securities -                 5,964,990          -                 5,964,990        
Municipal Bonds -                 3,649,866          -                 3,649,866        

Total Investments by Fair Value Level -$              42,850,113$     -$               42,850,113      

Investments measured at Cost or Net Asset Value (NAV)
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 10,233,173      
California Asset Management Program (CAMP) 22,154,766      
Money Market Mutual Funds 50,519             
Held by Fiscal Agent

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,346,368        

Total Investments at Cost or Net Assets Value (NAV) 33,784,826      

Total Investments 76,634,939$    
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2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 
 
Fair value measurements at June 30, 2017 consisted of the following: 
 

Quoted Prices 
Level 1

Observable 
Inputs Level 2

Unobservable 
Inputs Level 3 June 30, 2017

Investments by Fair Value Level
U.S. Government Sponsored 

Entity Securities
FNMA -$               12,872,600$      -$               12,872,600$    
FFCB -                 997,030             -                 997,030           
FHLB -                 4,453,255          -                 4,453,255        
FHLMC -                 9,707,468          -                 9,707,468        

U.S. Treasury Securities -                 2,988,150          -                 2,988,150        
Commercial Paper -                 1,994,950          -                 1,994,950        
Medium Term Notes -                 676,892             -                 676,892           
Municipal Bonds -                 2,359,812          -                 2,359,812        

Total Investments by Fair Value Level -$              36,050,157$     -$               36,050,157      

Investments measured at Cost or Net Asset Value (NAV)
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 15,102,385      
California Asset Management Program (CAMP) 10,465,495      
Money Market Mutual Funds 53,501             
Held by Fiscal Agent

Money Market Mutual Funds 1,504,876        

Total Investments at Cost or Net Assets Value (NAV) 27,126,257      

Total Investments 63,176,414$    
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3. Net Position 
 
a. Restricted Net Position 

Restricted Net Position at June 30 consisted of the following:  

2018 2017
Net position restricted for debt service

Restricted Assets
Cash 1,981,398$       2,301,462$          
Investments 1,338,897        1,550,610           
Interest receivable 7,378               6,865                  
Taxes/assessments receivable 40,234             53,270                

Total restricted assets for debt service 3,367,907          3,912,207            

Less liabilities payable from restricted assets (285,681)            (487,237)             

Net position restricted for debt service 3,082,226          3,424,970            

Net position restricted for construction
Restricted Assets

Cash 8,845,541        4,051,252           
Investments 4,547,605        4,246,496           
Grants receivable 538,755           962,309              
Taxes/assessments receivable 126,054           129,225              

Total restricted assets for construction 14,057,955        9,389,282            

Less liabilities from restricted assets (757,819)            (1,123,362)          

(5,470,160)         -                      

Net position restricted for construction 7,829,976          8,265,920            

Total restricted net position 10,912,202$     11,690,890$        

Less: long-term debt attributable to 
unspent proceeds of debt

 

 

b. Unrestricted Net Position 

In addition to the restricted net position, a portion of the unrestricted net position has been reserved by 
management for the following purposes as of June 30:  

2018 2017

Capital replacement reserve 34,092,958$     31,236,022$        
Rate stabilization reserve 10,184,802      10,032,650         
Unreserved 13,630,418      11,845,361         

57,908,178$     53,114,033$        
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4. Capital Assets  

  
Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2018, were as follows:  
 

 Balance  Transfers/  Balance  
June 30, 2017  Additions   Deletions   Adjustments  June 30, 2018

Capital assets, 
not being depreciated: 

Land 11,139,165$     -$                  -$                  -$                  11,139,165$     
Steel water storage tanks 19,861,405       -                    -                    -                    19,861,405       
Construction in progress 4,314,039         8,596,507         (6,310,045)        (390,170)           6,210,331         

Total capital assets, 
not being depreciated 35,314,609       8,596,507         (6,310,045)        (390,170)           37,210,901       

Capital assets, being 
depreciated/amortized: 

Treatment and distribution system 279,483,215     5,903,398         (975,443)           -                    284,411,170     
Capacity Rights 27,739,008       -                    -                    -                    27,739,008       
Non-steel tanks 36,948,241       75,804              (19,516)             -                    37,004,529       
General plant 175,544,423     2,753,656         (522,227)           -                    177,775,852     

Total capital assets, 
being depreciated/amortized  519,714,887     8,732,858         (1,517,186)        -                    526,930,559     

Accumulated 
depreciation/amortization: 

Treatment and distribution system (84,186,834)      (6,482,206)        710,816            (574)                  (89,958,798)      
Capacity Rights (11,800,278)      (1,607,482)        -                    -                    (13,407,760)      
Non-steel tanks (9,623,729)        (891,507)           31,220              -                    (10,484,016)      
General plant (61,713,193)      (5,602,898)        366,259            -                    (66,949,832)      

Total accumulated 
depreciation/amortization (167,324,034)    (14,584,093)      1,108,295         (574)                  (180,800,406)    
Total capital assets, 
being depreciated/amortized, net 352,390,853     (5,851,235)        (408,891)           (574)                  346,130,153     

Total capital assets, net 387,705,462$   2,745,272$       (6,718,936)$      (390,744)$         383,341,054$   
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4. Capital Assets (Continued) 

 
Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2017, were as follows: 
 

 Balance  Transfers/  Balance  
June 30, 2016  Additions   Deletions   Adjustments  June 30, 2017

Capital assets, 
not being depreciated: 

Land 11,139,165$     -$                  -$                  -$                  11,139,165$     
Steel water storage tanks 16,692,979       -                    -                    3,168,426         19,861,405       
Construction in progress 12,216,872       8,214,014         -                    (16,116,847)      4,314,039         

Total capital assets, 
not being depreciated 40,049,016       8,214,014         -                    (12,948,421)      35,314,609       

Capital assets, being 
depreciated/amortized: 

Treatment and distribution system 265,457,988     14,761,847       (736,620)           -                    279,483,215     
Capacity Rights 27,739,008       -                    -                    -                    27,739,008       
Non-steel tanks 40,140,136       271,560            (134,877)           (3,328,578)        36,948,241       

General plant 173,426,949     3,689,180         (1,571,706)        -                    175,544,423     

Total capital assets, 
being depreciated/amortized  506,764,081     18,722,587       (2,443,203)        (3,328,578)        519,714,887     

Accumulated 
depreciation/amortization: 

Treatment and distribution system (78,119,390)      (6,550,894)        472,336            11,114              (84,186,834)      
Capacity Rights (10,192,796)      (1,607,482)        -                    -                    (11,800,278)      
Non-steel tanks (9,118,218)        (673,997)           8,336                160,150            (9,623,729)        
General plant (56,678,506)      (6,236,717)        1,213,144         (11,114)             (61,713,193)      

Total accumulated 
depreciation/amortization (154,108,910)    (15,069,090)      1,693,816         160,150            (167,324,034)    
Total capital assets, 
being depreciated/amortized, net 352,655,171     3,653,497         (749,387)           (3,168,428)        352,390,853     

Total capital assets, net 392,704,187$   11,867,511$     (749,387)$         (16,116,849)$    387,705,462$   

 
 

 
Depreciation expense for depreciable capital assets was $12,976,611 and $13,461,608 for the years ended June 30, 
2018 and 2017, respectively.  Amortization expense for amortizable capital assets was $1,607,482 and $1,607,482 
for the years ending 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
Construction in progress consisted of the following at June 30:  
 

2018 2017

San Elijo Valley Groundwater 1,781,993$           1,546,560$           

Building D 1,410,754             769,312                

Replace DCMWTP 471,478                -                        

Other capital projects 2,546,106             1,998,167             

Total construction in progress 6,210,331$           4,314,039$           
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5. Prepaid Supplementary Retirement Plan 

 
During fiscal year 2011/2012 the District offered a Board of Directors’ approved early retirement plan to all 
employees. Five District employees accepted a supplementary retirement plan which was purchased through an 
annuity arranged by Public Agency Retirement Services (PARS). The $319,340 prepayment is amortizable over 5 
to 8 years based on the retirees’ selection. The amount amortizable during fiscal year 2017/2018 is $13,934 and 
will be reported as a current prepaid asset on the Statement of Net Position. The balance of $8,129 which will be 
amortizable in years after fiscal year 2018/2019, is included in the non-current asset Prepaid Pension 
Contributions. 

 
 
6. Accounts Payable  

 
Accounts payable to be paid from unrestricted current assets was as follows at June 30:  
 

2018 2017
Water purchases 4,888,863$       4,653,330$       
Capital asset additions 321,841           341,786           
Other 1,747,530        1,417,444        

Total 6,958,234$        6,412,560$        

 
 
 

Accounts payable, to be paid from restricted current assets was as follows at June 30:  
 

2018 2017
Capital asset additions -$                  8,083$              
Other 670,166           988,215           

670,166$           996,298$           
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7.    Long-Term Debt  
 

Changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows:  
 

Balance        June 
30, 2017 Additions Deletions

Balance        
June 30, 2018

Due Within One 
Year

Notes Payable:

2013 Note Payable 15,339,748$      -$                  (1,087,465)$         14,252,283$     370,870$          

Notes Payable 15,339,748        -                    (1,087,465)           14,252,283       370,870            

Revenue Bonds:

2015 Water System Refunding 
Revenue Bonds 20,485,000        -                    (1,440,000)           19,045,000       1,515,000         

Plus unamortized bond 
premiums 3,142,014          -                    (287,818)              2,854,196         -                    

2016 Water System Refunding 
Revenue Bonds 15,300,000        -                    (435,000)              14,865,000       460,000            

Plus unamortized bond 
premiums 1,277,297          -                    (58,280)                1,219,017         -                    

2018 Wastewater Revenue Bonds -                     5,500,000         -                       5,500,000         489,000            

Revenue Bonds, net 40,204,311        5,500,000         (2,221,098)           43,483,213       2,464,000         

2007 Reassessment 96-1 Limited 
Obligation Improvement Bonds 11,670,000        -                    (1,045,000)           10,625,000       860,000            

Plus original issue premium 28,471               -                    (2,801)                  25,670              -                    

2007 Reassessment 96-1 Limited 
Obligation Improvement Bonds, net 11,698,471        -                    (1,047,801)           10,650,670       860,000            

Total 67,242,530$      5,500,000$       (4,356,364)$         68,386,166$     3,694,870$       
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7.    Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

 
Changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2017 were as follows:  
 

Balance        
June 30, 2016 Additions Deletions

Balance        
June 30, 2017

Due Within One 
Year

Notes Payable:

2013 Note Payable 15,693,955$     -$                  (354,207)$            15,339,748$     720,818$          

2012 Note Payable 518,339            -                    (518,339)              -                    -                    

Notes Payable 16,212,294       -                    (872,546)              15,339,748       720,818            

Revenue Bonds:
2009 Water Revenue Bonds 
Payable 16,610,000       -                    (16,610,000)         -                    -                    

Plus unamortized bond 
premiums 315,215            -                    (315,215)              -                    -                    

2015 Water System Refunding 
Revenue Bonds 21,860,000       -                    (1,375,000)           20,485,000       1,440,000         

Plus unamortized bond 
premiums 3,429,832         -                    (287,818)              3,142,014         -                    

2016 Water System Refunding 
Revenue Bonds -                    15,990,000       (690,000)              15,300,000       435,000            

Plus unamortized bond 
premiums -                    1,318,579         (41,282)                1,277,297         -                    

Revenue Bonds, net 42,215,047       17,308,579       (19,319,315)         40,204,311       1,875,000         

2007 Reassessment 96-1 Limited 
Obligation Improvement Bonds 12,485,000       -                    (815,000)              11,670,000       845,000            

Plus original issue premium 31,272              -                    (2,801)                  28,471              -                    

2007 Reassessment 96-1 Limited 
Obligation Improvement Bonds, net 12,516,272       -                    (817,801)              11,698,471       845,000            

Total 70,943,613$     17,308,579$     (21,009,662)$       67,242,530$     3,440,818$       
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7.    Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

a. 2013 Note Payable 

On February 24, 2012, the District entered into an agreement with the State of California Department of 
Public Health for a loan not to exceed $17,812,998 (2013 Note Payable), under and pursuant to Part 12, 
Chapter 4 of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code and California Code of Regulations Title 22 to assist 
in financing construction of a project which will enable the District to meet safe drinking water standards. The 
loan is to commence on the due date of the first principal and interest invoice and expire twenty years after the 
due date of the first principal and interest invoice. The rate of interest to be paid on the principal amount of 
the loan shall be 2.3035% annually. At June 30, 2018, the amount borrowed was $14,252,283. 

Future debt service requirements for the above note payable based on the initial loan rate is as follows:  

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 370,870$        164,151$       535,021$           

2020 754,604          315,429         1,070,033          

2021 772,086          297,947         1,070,033          

2022 789,973          280,060         1,070,033          

2023 808,276          261,757         1,070,033          

2024-2028 4,331,094       1,019,116      5,350,210          

2028-2033 4,856,593       493,617         5,350,210          

2034-2035 1,568,787       36,276           1,605,063          
Total 14,252,283$   2,868,353$    17,120,636$      

 

 
 b. 2016 Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds Payable 

On October 19, 2016, the District issued Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A in the 
amount of $15,990,000 for the purpose of refunding $16,610,000 of the outstanding balance of the Water 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009. The 2016A bonds are limited obligation bonds maturing annually 
from December 1, 2016 to June 1, 2039 bearing various interest rates between 2.125% and 5.0%.  

The District has pledged all of the Net System Revenues for the debt service payment of the bond. The total 
principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $20,497,003. For the current year, principal and 
interest paid on the bonds were $975,413. The bonds contain various covenants and restrictions, principally 
that the District fix, prescribe, collect rates and charges for the Water Service, which are reasonably expected 
to be at least sufficient to yield, during each fiscal year net service revenues equal to one hundred and twenty-
five percent (125%) of the debt service on senior obligations for such fiscal year, and one hundred percent 
(100%) of debt service on all obligations for such fiscal year.   

The district refunded the Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009 to reduce its total debt service 
payments over 22 years by $3,683,827 and to obtain an economic gain (difference between the present values 
of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $2,753,343. 
 
The District placed the proceeds of the refunding issue plus additional District contributions in an irrevocable 
trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old obligation. Accordingly, the trust account 
assets and the liability for the defeased obligation are not included in the District's financial statements. At 
June 30, 2018, $15,735,000 of the defeased obligation remains outstanding.  
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7.    Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

b. 2016 Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds Payable (Continued) 
 
A summary of the refunding bonds is as follows: 
 

Fiscal year 

Interest maturities Balance Balance

Rates (varying amounts) June 30, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018

2%-5% 2018-2036 12,545,000$             -$                     435,000$              12,110,000$             

2.5% 2037-2039 2,755,000                 -                       -                       2,755,000                 

15,300,000$             -$                     435,000$              14,865,000$             

 

Total certificates outstanding as of June 30, 2018, including unamortized bond premiums were as follows: 
 

Principal outstanding at June 30, 2018 14,865,000$      

Plus unamortized bond premium 1,219,017          

Total bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018 16,084,017$      

 

 
Future debt service requirements for the above bonds are as follows:  

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 460,000$        518,663$       978,663$           

2020 480,000          495,663         975,663             

2021 505,000          471,663         976,663             
2022 530,000          446,412         976,412             

2023 560,000          419,912         979,912             

2024-2028 3,225,000       1,658,812      4,883,812          

2029-2033 3,820,000       1,056,050      4,876,050          

2034-2038 4,340,000       536,475         4,876,475          

2039 945,000          28,350           973,350             
Total 14,865,000$   5,632,000$    20,497,000$      

 

 
 c. 2015 Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds Payable 

On August 27, 2015, the District issued Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A in the 
amount of $23,455,000 for the purpose of refunding $26,290,000 of the outstanding balance of the Water 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006A. The 2015A bonds are limited obligation bonds maturing annually 
from December 1, 2015 to June 1, 2028 bearing various interest rates between 2.0% and 5.0%.  
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7. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

 
 c. 2015 Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds Payable (Continued) 

The District has pledged all of the Net System Revenues for the debt service payment of the bond. The total 
principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $24,077,500. For the current year, principal and 
interest paid on the bonds were $2,405,625. The bonds contain various covenants and restrictions, principally 
that the District fix, prescribe, collect rates and charges for the Water Service, which are reasonably expected 
to be at least sufficient to yield, during each fiscal year net service revenues equal to one hundred and twenty-
five percent (125%) of the debt service on senior obligations for such fiscal year, and one hundred percent 
(100%) of debt service on all obligations for such fiscal year. 

 
A summary of the refunding bonds is as follows: 
 

Fiscal year 

Interest maturities Balance Balance

Rates (varying amounts) June 30, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018

2%-5% 2018-2027 18,140,000$             -$                     1,440,000$           16,700,000$             
3% 2028 2,345,000                 -                       -                       2,345,000                 

20,485,000$             -$                     1,440,000$           19,045,000$             

 

Total certificates outstanding as of June 30, 2018, including unamortized bond premiums were as follows: 
 

Principal outstanding at June 30, 2018 19,045,000$      

Plus unamortized bond premium 2,854,196          

Total bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018 21,899,196$      

 
 

Future debt service requirements for the above bonds are as follows:  

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 1,515,000$     893,625$       2,408,625$        

2020 1,590,000       817,875         2,407,875          

2021 1,665,000       738,375         2,403,375          
2022 1,750,000       655,125         2,405,125          

2023 1,845,000       567,625         2,412,625          

2024-2028 10,680,000     1,359,875      12,039,875        
Total 19,045,000$   5,032,500$    24,077,500$      
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7. Long-Term Debt (Continued) 

 d. 2018 Wastewater Revenue Bonds Payable 

On June 26, 2018, the District issued Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A in the amount of $5,500,000 
to finance improvements to administrative and operations building at 1966 Olivenhain Road, Encinitas, CA. 
The Administration and Operations buildings provide support for all of the District’s activities related to 
potable water, recycled water, and wastewater throughout the District’s service area.  

The District has pledged Net Wastewater System Revenues for debt service payment of the 2018 bonds.  The 
bonds contain various covenants and restrictions, principally that the District fix, prescribe, collect rates and 
charges for the Wastewater Service, which are reasonably expected to be at least sufficient to yield, during 
each fiscal year net service revenues equal to one hundred and twenty-five percent (125%) of the debt service 
on senior obligations for such fiscal year, and one hundred percent (100%) of debt service on all obligations 
for such fiscal year.  

The 2018 bonds are limited obligation bonds maturing annually from June 1, 2019 to June 1, 2028 bearing an 
interest rate of 3.1%.  

Future debt service requirements for the above bonds are as follows:  

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 489,000$        158,660$       647,660$           

2020 491,000          155,341         646,341             
2021 507,000          140,120         647,120             

2022 522,000          124,403         646,403             

2023 539,000          108,221         647,221             

2024-2028 2,952,000       280,116         3,232,116          
Total 5,500,000$     966,861$       6,466,861$        

 

 

e. 2007 Reassessment District 96-1 Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds  

In September 2007, the District issued Reassessment District 96-1 Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds, 
Series 2007 in the principal amount of $17,965,000 pursuant to the provisions of the Refunding Act of 1984 
for 1915 Improvement Act Bonds. The Bonds were issued upon and secured by unpaid reassessments levied 
against certain property within the District’s Reassessment District 96-1. The proceeds were used to refund 
the outstanding principal amount of the District’s Assessment District 96-1, Limited Obligation Improvement 
Bonds, to fund a reserve fund for the Bonds, and to pay the costs of issuance incurred in connection therewith.  

Purchasers of the Bonds will not receive certificates representing their beneficial ownership in the Bonds but 
will receive credit balances on the books of their respective nominees. Principal of and interest on the Bonds 
are payable by the  trustee, and such principal and interest payments, and premium, if any, are to be disbursed 
to the beneficial owners of the Bonds through their nominees. Installments of principal and interest sufficient 
to meet annual Bond debt service are included on the regular county tax bills sent to owners of property 
against which there are unpaid reassessments.  Draf
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e. 2007 Reassessment District 96-1 Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds (continued) 

 
A summary of the limited obligation bonds is as follows: 

 
Fiscal year 

Interest maturities Balance Balance

Rates (varying amounts) June 30, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018

4-4.5% 2018-2023 5,605,000$               -$                     1,045,000$           4,560,000$               

5% 2024-2028 6,065,000                 -                       -                       6,065,000                 

11,670,000$             -$                     1,045,000$           10,625,000$             

 

The Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018, consist of serial certificates which 
mature annually from September 2, 2008, to September 2, 2022, and term certificates which mature on 
September 2, 2027.  

 
Total certificates outstanding as of June 30, 2018, plus original issuance premium were as follows: 

 

Principal outstanding at June 30, 2018 10,625,000$      

Plus unamortized bond premium 25,670               

Total bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018 10,650,670$       

Future debt service requirements for the above bonds are as follows: 

 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2019 860,000$        485,480$       1,345,480$        

2020 900,000          447,303         1,347,303          

2021 935,000          407,045         1,342,045          
2022 980,000          364,425         1,344,425          

2023 1,025,000       319,313         1,344,313          

2024 - 2028 5,925,000       769,375         6,694,375          
Total 10,625,000$   2,792,941$    13,417,941$      
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8.  Capital Contributions 
 

Capital contributions for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Contributions of capital assets 2,420,463$     1,999,263$     

Other grants 7,684              16,940            

Total 2,428,147$     2,016,203$     
 

 
 
9.   Inventories 

 
Inventories at June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 
 

2018 2017

Water inventory 182,912$         186,912$         

1,281,454 1,477,219        

1,464,366$      1,664,131$      

Materials inventory
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10.  Pension Plans 
 

Defined Benefit Plans 

 

a. General Information about the Pension Plans: 

 

Plan Description 

 
All qualified full-time District employees are required to participate in the District’s Miscellaneous Plan with 
California Public Employee’s Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides retirement, disability 
benefits, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. CalPERS acts as a common investment and 
administrative agent for participating public entities within the State of California.  A menu of benefit 
provisions as well as other requirements is established by State statutes within the Public Employee’s 
Retirement Law.  The District selects certain benefit provisions from the CalPERS’ menu by contract with 
CalPERS and adopts those benefits through the Board’s approval. Benefits provisions and all other 
requirements are established by State statute, the District’s resolutions, and the memorandum of 
understanding between the Olivenhain Municipal Water District and the Olivenhain Municipal Water District 
Employees Association and the Bargaining Unit Members Association. CalPERS issues publicly available 
reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and 
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website.  
 

Benefits Provided 

 
CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death 
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of 
credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members with five years of total service are 
eligible to retire at age 50 or 52 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-industrial 
disability benefits after five (5) years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living 
adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. 

 

The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2018, are summarized as follows: 

 

Classic
PEPRA (Public Employees' 

Pension Reform Act)

Hire Date Prior to January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013 and after

Benefit Formula 2.5% at 55 2% at 62

Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service

Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life

Retirement age 50-55 52-67

Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2.0% to 2.5% 1.0% to 2.5%

Required employee contribution rate 8% 6.25%

Required employer contribution rate 10.022% 6.842%

Miscellaneous Plan
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10.  Pension Plans (Continued) 
 

a. General Information about the Pension Plans (Continued): 

Contributions 

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer contribution 
rates for all public employers are determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be effective on the 
July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The total plan contributions are determined through CalPERS’ 
annual actuarial valuation process. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to 
finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 
unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially 
determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. District contribution rates may change if plan 
contracts are amended.  Payments made by the employer to satisfy contribution requirements that are 
identified by the pension plan terms as plan member contributions requirements are classified as plan member 
contributions. 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions: 

 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017 respectively, the District reported net pension liabilities for its proportionate 
shares of the net pension liability as follows:  

2018 2017

Classic & PEPRA Plans 12,831,806$        11,018,852$        

Total Net Pension Liability 12,831,806$        11,018,852$        

 
 
The District’s net pension liability for each Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability of each of the Plans is measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension 
liability for each Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
June 30, 2016 rolled forward to June 30, 2017 using standard update procedures. The District’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of contributions to 
the pension plans relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined.  
 
The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Plan as of the measurement date ended 
June 30, 2016 and 2017 was as follows:  
 

Classic & PEPRA 
Plans

Proportion - June 30, 2016 0.31719%
Proportion - June 30, 2017 0.32551%
Change - Increase (Decrease) 0.00832%
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10.  Pension Plans (Continued) 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
(Continued): 

 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 respectively, the District recognized pension expense of 
$2,519,243 and $1,685,894. At June 30, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:  
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,144,038$              -$                            
Differences between actual and expected experience 16,326                     (233,898)                 
Change in assumptions 2,025,659                (154,459)                 
Change in employer's proportion and differences

between the employer's contributions and the 
employer's proportionate share of contributions 227,234                   (175,590)                 

Net differences between projected and actual
earnings on plan investments 458,121                   -                              

Total 3,871,378$             (563,947)$               

 
At June 30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred

Outflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,026,323$              -$                            

Differences between actual and expected experience 33,513                     (7,679)                     

Change in assumptions -                              (317,066)                 

Change in employer's proportion and differences

between the employer's contributions and the 

employer's proportionate share of contributions 791,343                   (306,975)                 

Net differences between projected and actual

earnings on plan investments 1,650,221                -                              
Total 3,501,400$              (631,720)$               
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10.  Pension Plans (Continued) 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
(Continued): 
 

$1,144,038 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred  inflows of resources related to pensions will 
be recognized as pension expense as follows:  

 

Year
Ending

June 30, Amount
2019 640,017$                 
2020 1,116,109                
2021 679,260                   
2022 (271,993)                 
2023 -                              

Thereafter -                              

 
 

 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

For the measurement period ended June 30, 2017 (the measurement date), the total pension liability was 
determined by rolling forward the June 30, 2016 total pension liability determined in the June 30, 2016 
actuarial accounting valuation. The June 30, 2017 total pension liability was based on the following actuarial 
methods and assumptions:  

 
Classic & PEPRA 

Plans
Valuation Date June 30, 2016
Measurement Date June 30, 2017
Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal

  Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%
Inflation 2.75%
Salary Increases (1)
Mortality Rate Table (2)
Post Retirement Benefit Increase (3)

(1) Varies by entry age and service
(2)

(3) Contract COLA up to 2.75% until Purchasing Power Protection Allowance Floor 
on Purchasing Power applies, 2.75% thereafter. 

The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS specific data.  The 
table includes 20 years of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries 
Scale BB.  For more details on this table, please refer to the April 2014 experience 
study report (based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 to 2011) available 
on the CalPERS website.
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10.  Pension Plans (Continued) 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
(Continued): 
 

Change of Assumptions: 
 
In fiscal year 2017-2018, the financial reporting discount rate was reduced from 7.65% to 7.15%. Deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for changes of assumptions represent the unamortized 
portion of this assumption change and the unamortized portion of the changes of assumptions related to prior 
measurement periods.  
 
 
Discount Rate: 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15% for each Plan and reflects the long-
term expected rate of return for the each Plan net of investment expenses and without reduction for 
administrative expenses. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a 
discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that 
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing of the Plans, the tests 
revealed the assets would not run out. Therefore, the current 7.15% discount rate is appropriate and the use of 
the municipal bond rate calculation is not deemed necessary. The long term expected discount rate of 7.15% is 
applied to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The cash flows used in the testing were 
developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required contributions on time and as 
scheduled in all future years. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called “GASB Crossover 
Testing Report” that can be obtained from the CalPERS website under the GASB 68 section.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense 
and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund (PERF) cash flows. Taking into 
account historical returns of all the Public Employees Retirement Funds’ asset classes (which includes the 
agent plan and two cost-sharing plans or PERF A, B, and C funds), expected compound (geometric) returns 
were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block 
approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits 
was calculated for each PERF fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent 
expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using 
both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single 
equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent.  
 
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation. 
The target allocation shown was adopted by the CalPERS Board effective on July 1, 2014.   
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10.  Pension Plans (Continued) 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
(Continued): 

Discount Rate (Continued): 

 
New Real Return Real Return

Strategic Years Years
Allocation 1 - 10 (a) 11+ (b)

Global Equity 47.00% 4.90% 5.38%
Global Fixed Income 19.00% 0.80% 2.27%
Inflation Sensitive 6.00% 0.60% 1.39%
Private Equity 12.00% 6.60% 6.63%
Real Estate 11.00% 2.80% 5.21%
Infrastructure and Forestland 3.00% 3.90% 5.36%
Liquidity 2.00% -0.40% -0.90%

Total 100.00%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% used for this period
(b) An expected inflation of 3.0% used for this period

Asset Class

 

 
  Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 

The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plans, calculated 
using the discount rate for the Plans, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage 
point higher than the current rate: 

Classic & PEPRA Plans
1% Decrease 6.15%
Net Pension Liability 19,508,958$                

Current Discount Rate 7.15%
Net Pension Liability 12,831,806$                

1% Increase 8.15%
Net Pension Liability 7,301,667$                   

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 

Detailed information about each pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
CalPERS financial reports.  

 
c. Payable to the Pension Plan:  

 
The District had no outstanding amount of contributions to the pension plan required for the year ended June 
30, 2018. 
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11. Health Savings Plan 
 

VEBA is a Medical Savings Plan establishing a funded health reimbursement plan for eligible employees, former 
employees, and their dependents and beneficiaries as defined in the Plan pursuant to Internal Revenue Code 
Section 501 (c) (9).  The District’s VEBA plan was implemented on July 1, 2014 following the District’s Board of 
Directors adoption of a resolution approving the VEBA program at the June 18, 2014 board meeting. 
 

12. Risk Management  
 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; job-related illnesses or injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The District purchases 
commercial insurance for its exposure to risk other than those under the workers’ compensation laws.   
Commercial insurance expense amounted to $260,215 and $241,817 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively.  

The District’s workers’ compensation risk exposure is handled by the District’s participation in the Special District 
Risk Management Authority (SDRMA) established by the California Special Districts Association. SDRMA is a 
risk pooling joint powers authority formed under the California Government Code to provide workers’ 
compensation coverage for SDRMA’s member districts. SDRMA purchases excess insurance from commercial 
carriers to reduce its exposure to large losses. Workers’ compensation expense amounted to $176,460and 
$172,461 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  

There were no instances in the past three years where a settlement exceeded the District’s coverage provided 
through SDRMA or through the District’s commercial carriers.  

Real and Personal Property and Mobile Equipment: For Real and Personal Property, maximum replacement is no 
more than 100% of value shown in Statement of Value.  For Mobile Equipment, maximum replacement of 100% of 
value shown in Statement of Value, and $10,000 per item for unscheduled mobile equipment.  Limits of insurance 
vary from $2,500 per occurrence to the Blanket Limit of Insurance, with deductibles ranging from $1,000 to $2,500 
per occurrence.  Limit of insurance for equipment breakdown is 100% of value shown in Statement of Value.  

Employee Dishonesty Coverage:  $250,000 limit with $1,000 deductible per occurrence.  

Forgery or Alteration Coverage:  $250,000 limit with $1,000 deductible per occurrence.  

Theft, Disappearance and Destruction Coverage:  $250,000 limit with $1,000 deductible per occurrence for both 
inside and outside. 

Computer Fraud Coverage:  $100,000 limit with $1,000 deductible per occurrence.  

Bodily Injury and Property Damage, Personal Injury and Advertising Injury, Professional Liability, Wrongful 
Acts, Employee Benefits Liability, and Employee Practices Liability Coverage:  $1,000,000 limit per occurrence 
with a $3,000,000 aggregate limit.  Professional Liability and Wrongful Acts Liability are subject to a $10,000 
deductible per claim. Additionally, the District carries a $10,000,000 Excess Liability Policy that is in full effect. 

Damage to Premises Rented to the District:  $1,000,000 limit for any one premise. 

Auto Coverage:  $1,000,000 liability limit, $5,000 auto medical payment limit and $1,000,000 uninsured motorist 
limit per accident with deductibles. Comprehensive and Collision limits are the actual cash value or cost of repair 
with deductibles of $500 for comprehensive and collision. 

Workers’ Compensation Coverage and Employer’s Liability: Statutory limits per occurrence for Workers’ 
Compensation and $5.0 Million for Employer’s Liability Coverage, subject to the terms, conditions and exclusions as 
provided in the Certificate of Coverage, effective July 1, 2017. 
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13. Economic Dependency 
 

All potable water sold by the District is purchased from the San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA). The 
District continues to offset potable water consumption used for irrigation with recycled water through the 
expansion of its recycled water system. The prospect of future droughts as well as water supply shortages drives 
the need to diversify water supplies by developing alternative water sources locally to reduce reliance on potable 
water purchased from SDCWA. Recycled water sold by the District to its retail customers is either produced at the 
4S Ranch Water Reclamation Facility or purchased from Rancho Santa Fe Community Services District, the City 
of San Diego, San Elijo Joint Powers Authority, and Vallecitos Water District. 

The District’s recycled water system is comprised of two non-contiguous recycled water service areas, the 
Northwest and Southeast Quadrant.  Recycled water sold by the District in the Northwest Quadrant is purchased 
from Vallecitos Water District and San Elijo Joint Powers Authority.  Recycled water sold by the District in the 
Southeast Quadrant comes from the District’s 4S Water Reclamation Facility as well as the Rancho Santa Fe 
Community Services District and the City of San Diego. 

 
14.  Commitments and Contingencies 

 
a.  Contracts 

The District has entered into contracts for the engineering and construction of additions to capital assets. 
Unfulfilled commitments under open contracts as of June 30 are summarized as follows:  

 

2018 2017

Total open contracts 4,385,600$        3,767,033$        

Less costs incurred as of June 30, (2,341,574)         (2,126,359)         

Remaining contractual commitments 2,044,026$        1,640,674$        
 

  
b. Litigation 

Management is of the opinion that there are no legal litigations that would have a material effect on the basic 
financial statements.  

 
c. Grant Awards 
Grant funds received by the District are subject to audit by the grantor agencies.  Such audit could lead to requests 
for reimbursements to the grantor agencies for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grant.  Management of 
the District believes that such disallowances, if any, would not be significant.  
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15.  Segment Information 
 

During the June 30, 2017 fiscal year, the District issued Water System Refunding Bonds, Series 2016A to refund 
the outstanding balance of the Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009. During the June 30, 2016 fiscal 
year, the District issued Water System Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A to refund the outstanding balance of the 
Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2006A. While water and sewer services are accounted for jointly in these 
financial statements, the investors in both of the bonds rely solely on the revenues of the water services for 
repayment. 

Summary financial information for the water services is presented for June 30, 2018.  

 

  

Water Services
ASSETS
Current Assets 72,772,745$           
Capital Assets 325,866,310           
Other Assets 272,347                  

Total Assets 398,911,402           

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount on refunding 1,807,099               
Deferred amounts from pension 3,351,533               

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 5,158,632               

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 12,450,829             

Long-Term Liabilities 70,275,158             

Total Liabilities 82,725,987             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount on pension 434,239                  

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 434,239                  

Total Net Position 320,909,808$         

Condensed Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

 Draf
t d

td 
11

-7-
18



Notes to Basic Financial Statements June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 Continued 

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.  OMWD | Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 63 

 
15.  Segment Information (Continued) 
 

Water Services
Operating Revenues
Water sales 53,444,449$           
Other water operating revenues 2,271,495               

Total Operating Revenues 55,715,944             

Operating Expenses
Cost of purchased water sold 27,578,413             
Pumping and water treatment 4,129,127               
Transmission and distribution 3,557,507               
Elfin Forest recreation operations 337,557                  
Facilities maintenance 1,031,478               
Customer services 1,734,656               
General and administrative 6,034,483               
Other operating expenses 244,817                  
Depreciation and amortization 12,661,627             

Total Operating Expenses 57,309,665             

  Operating Income (Loss) (1,593,721)              

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Fair market value adjustment (172,428)                 
Investment income 704,377                  
Property taxes 3,557,919               
Capacity charges 620,224                  
Benefit assessments 1,414,791               
Other nonoperating revenues 1,817                      
Interest expense, net (2,120,456)              
Other nonoperating expenses (457,634)                 

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 3,548,610               

Income (Loss) Before Capital Contributions 1,954,889               

Capital Contributions 1,704,419               

Change in Net Position 3,659,308               

Net Position, Beginning of Year 317,250,500           

Net Position, End of Year 320,909,808$         

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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15.  Segment Information (Continued) 
 

Water Services

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,950,751$           

Net cash provided by noncapital and related 
   financing activities 5,609,141               

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related 
   financing activities (7,753,990)              

Net cash used by investing activities (5,026,199)              

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,779,704               

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 27,619,354             

Cash and cash equivalents, ending 31,399,058$           

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Required Supplementary Information 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 
 
1. Modified Approach for Steel Water Storage Tanks Infrastructure Capital Assets 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, the District is required to account for and report infrastructure capital 
assets. The District defines infrastructure as the basic physical assets including water storage tanks system, used by 
the District to conduct its business. Each major infrastructure system can be divided into subsystems. 

The District has elected to use the Modified Approach as defined by GASB Statement No. 34 for infrastructure 
reporting for its Steel Water Storage Tanks System. Under GASB Statement No. 34, eligible infrastructure capital 
assets are not required to be depreciated under the following requirements:  

•  The District manages the eligible infrastructure capital assets using an assets management system with 
characteristics of: (1) an up-to-date inventory; (2) perform condition assessments and summarize the results 
using a measurement scale; and (3) estimate annual amount to maintain and preserve at the established 
condition assessment level.  

The District documents that the eligible infrastructure capital assets are being preserved approximately at or above 
the established and disclosed condition assessment level. 

In September 2007, the District commissioned a study of the physical condition assessment of the steel water 
storage tanks. Tank assessment components include tank structure, tank exterior coating, tank interior coating, 
tank dry interior, tank foundations, tank security and tank safety. The condition assessment will be performed at 
least every three years. Each tank was assigned a physical condition based on potential defects. A Tank 
Assessment Index (TAI), a nationally recognized index, was assigned to each tank and expressed in a continuous 
scale from 1.0 to 10.0, where 1.0 is assigned to the least acceptable physical condition and 10.0 is assigned the 
physical characteristics of a new tank.  During fiscal year 2017-2018 inspections on the various tanks started in 
September 2017 and ended in April 2018. 
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1.  Modified Approach for Steel Water Storage Tanks Infrastructure Capital Assets (Continued) 
 

The following conditions were defined: 
Condition        TAI Range 
Very Good      9.0 - 10.0 
Good      7.0 - 8.9 
Satisfactory      5.0 - 6.9 
Sub Standard     3.0 - 4.9 
Unacceptable    1.0 - 2.9 

The District policy is to achieve a minimum average rating of 5.0 for all tanks which is a satisfactory rating. As of 
June 30, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014 the District’s steel water storage tanks were rated as follows:  

Tank # Name Size (Gallons) Type FY 17/18 FY 16/17 FY 15/16 FY 14/15 FY 13/14

1 4 S-2 Tank 4,000,000      Ground Storage 8.6 8.7 9.0 9.1 9.2

2 Zorro Tank 1,200,000      Ground Storage 8.4 7.3 7.7 7.8 8

3 Wiegand Tank 1,000,000      Ground Storage 9.4 9.6 10.0 10.0 6.9

4 Peay Tank 10,000,000    Ground Storage 8.8 8.7 9.4 9.6 9.7

5 Denk Tank 10,000,000    Ground Storage 8.2 8.2 8.6 9.0 9.2

6 4S Tank 10,000,000    Ground Storage 7.6 7.8 8.0 8.3 8.4

7 Cielo Tank 1,000,000      Ground Storage 8.1 9.0 9.2 9.3 9.4

8 Roger Miller Tank 8,000,000      Ground Storage 9.7 8.6 9.3 6.8 6.9

9 Thelma Miller Tank 1,000,000      Ground Storage 8.9 8.9 8.0 8.1 8.5

TAI

 
 
The District expensed $708,786 and $708,786 on the steel water storage tanks maintenance for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These expenses delayed deterioration; however, the overall condition 
of the steel water storage tanks was not improved through these maintenance expenses. The District has estimated 
that the amount of annual expenses required to maintain the District’s steel water storage tanks at the average TAI 
rating of 5.0 through the year 2018 is a minimum of $708,786. A schedule of actual expenses to maintain and 
preserve the steel water storage tanks at the current level is presented below:  
 

Tank # Name Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual

1 4 S-2 Tank 49,776$         49,776$         49,776$         49,776$         47,309$         47,309$         44,843$         44,843$        44,843$         44,843$        

2 Zorro Tank 29,039           29,039           29,039           29,039           27,600           27,600           26,161           26,161          26,161           26,161          

3 Wiegand Tank 21,814           21,814           21,814           21,814           20,733           20,733           19,652           19,652          19,652           19,652          

4 Peay Tank 141,744         141,744         141,744         141,744         134,721         134,721         127,697         127,697        208,146         208,146        

5 Denk Tank 150,280         150,280         150,280         150,280         142,834         142,834         135,387         135,387        135,387         135,387        

6 4S Tank 142,404         142,404         142,404         142,404         135,348         135,348         128,292         128,292        128,292         128,292        

7 Cielo Tank 24,912           24,912           24,912           24,912           23,678           23,678           22,443           22,443          22,443           22,443          

8 Roger Miller Tank 125,803         125,803         125,803         125,803         119,570         119,570         113,336         113,336        113,336         113,336        

9 Thelma Miller Tank 23,014           23,014           23,014           23,014           21,873           21,873           20,733           20,733          20,733           20,733          

Total 708,786$       708,786$       708,786$       708,786$       673,666$       673,666$       638,544$       638,544$      718,993$       718,993$      

Maintenance Expenses        
2018

Maintenance Expenses        
2017

Maintenance Expenses        
2015

Maintenance Expenses        
2014

Maintenance Expenses        
2016
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2.  Schedule of Contributions – Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution (actuarially determined) 1,144,038$    1,026,323$    898,330$       825,748$       

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions 1,144,038      1,026,323      898,330         825,748         

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Covered payroll 6,760,547$    6,392,406$    6,083,865$    5,906,665$    

Contributions as a percentage of covered - employee payroll 16.92% 16.06% 14.77% 13.98%

Notes to Schedule:

Valuation Date 6/30/2014 6/30/2014 6/30/2013 6/30/2012

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Single and agent employers Entry age**

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed**

Asset valuation method Market Value***

Inflation 2.75%**

Salary increases Depending on age, service, and type of employment**

Investment rate of return 7.50%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation**

Retirement age 50 (2.5%@55), 52 

Mortality

* -     Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only four years are shown.

** -   The valuation for June 30, 2012, 2013, and 2014 (applicable to fiscal years ended June 30, 2015, 2016, and 2017 respectively) 

            included the same actuarial assumptions.

*** - The valuation for June 30, 2012 (applicable to fiscal year ended June 30, 2015) valued assets using a 15 Year 

           Smoothed Market method.  The market value asset valuation method was utilized for the June 30, 2013, 2014, and 2015

           valuations (applicable to fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, 2017, and 2018 respectively).

Mortality assumptions are based on mortality rates resulting from the most recent CalPERS Experience 
Study adopted by the CalPERS Board.**

Olivenhain Municipal Water District

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

Last Ten Fiscal Years*
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2. Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

 

2018 2017 2016 2015

Miscellaneous & PEPRA Plan
Plan's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 0.1294% 0.1273% 0.1261% 0.1048%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 12,831,806$     11,018,852$  8,653,737$    6,517,867$    

Plan's Covered Payroll 6,392,406$       6,083,865$    5,906,665$    5,808,158$    

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability as

a  Percentage of its Covered-Employee Payroll 200.74% 181.12% 146.51% 112.22%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary Net Position as

a Percentage of the Plan's Total Pension Liability 73.31% 74.06% 79.86% 83.03%

Plan's Proportionate Share of Aggregate Employer Contributions 1,351,241$       1,196,711$    1,116,013$    862,289$       

Notes to Schedule:

Benefit Changes:

Changes in Assumptions:

From fiscal year June 30, 2015 to June 30, 2016:

From fiscal year June 30, 2016 to June 30, 2017:

There were no changes in assumptions.

From fiscal year June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018:

The discount rate was reduced from 7.65% to 7.15%.

* - Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation, therefore only four years are shown.

GASB 68, paragraph 68 states that the long-term expected rate of return should be determined net of pension plan investment expense but
without reduction for pension plan administrative expense. The discount rate of 7.50% used for the June 30, 2014 measurement date was net of
administrative expenses. The discount rate of 7.65% used for the June 30, 2015 measurement date is without reduction of pension plan
administrative expense.

There were no changes in benefits.

Oliveinhain Municipal Water District

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

Last Ten Fiscal Years*
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   Memo 
Date:  November 14, 2018 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 

Via:  Kimberly Thorner, General Manager 

Subject: QUARTERLY INVESTMENT AND CASH POSITION REPORTS (INFORMATION 
ONLY) 

 

 
Purpose 

 
The purpose of this agenda is to provide third quarter (Q3) 2018 investment and cash 
information to the Finance Committee per the District’s Investment Policy.  
 
 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Committee review and receive the attached report as 
presented.  
 

 

Agenda Item 7 



Background 
 
The attached reports are presented to provide information to the Finance Committee as 
required by the District’s Annual Investment Policy, which was adopted by the Board at 
the December 2017 board meeting.  
 
The purpose of the District’s Investment Policy is to identify policies and procedures that 
shall govern the investment of all District funds. The ultimate goal of the policy is to 
enhance the economic position of the District while protecting its funds. These policies 
have been followed in making all investment decisions on behalf of the District. 
 
The Annual Investment Policy also states that at least once each quarter, the District’s 
Finance Manager shall provide an oral report on the District’s investments and cash 
position to the Finance Committee for review and discussion. 
 
 

Discussion 
 
Staff would like to make a report to the Committee that the percentage limit for U.S. 
Agency Securities in the attached report exceeded the permitted percentage allowed by 
the investment policy since July 2018.   Action was taken in November to bring the U.S. 
Agency percentage limit in the District’s portfolio back in compliance with the Board’s 
Investment Policy.   
 
Staff will be available during the meeting to answer any questions that the Committee 
may have on the attached report.  
 
 
 
Attachment:  Monthly Cash and Investment Summary as of September 30, 2018 (Draft) 
 

 

















         
  
 

 

   Memo 
Date:  November 14, 2018 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 

Via:  Kimberly Thorner, General Manager 

Subject: REVIEW OF INVESTMENT POLICY  

 

 
 

Attach is a copy of the proposed changes to the District’s Investment policy for 
discussion.  The District’s fund balances and Investment Policy are being reviewed 
annually per the Board’s policy.   
 
Following committee review and approval, a copy of these reports will be included in 
the December 12, 2018 board meeting for Board’s consideration and approval.  
 
Staff will be available for discussion during the meeting.  

Agenda Item 8 
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INVESTMENT POLICY 
 
I. INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this document is to identify policies and procedures that shall 
govern the investment of all District funds.  The ultimate goal of this policy is to 
enhance the economic status of the District while protecting its funds.  These 
policies shall be followed by the Treasurer in making all investment decisions on 
behalf of the District. 
 
The Board of Directors of the District has delegated authority to invest funds on 
behalf of the District to its Treasurer for one (1) year.  The Treasurer is required to 
provide a monthly report of all District investments to the Board.  The Treasurer’s 
authority to make investments for the District under this policy is limited to a one 
(1) year term expiring on December 31, 20198. This authority may be renewed 
annually at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the District. 
 
This investment policy is intended to guide the Treasurer in the investment of all 
District funds.  These investment policies have four primary goals: 
 

1. To ensure that all District investments comply with federal, state, 
and local laws governing the investment of all District funds; 

 
2. To recognize that the primary objective of all District investments is 

to safeguard the principal invested;  
 

3. To recognize that the second objective of all District investments is 
to meet the liquidity needs of the District; and 

 
4. To maximize the return on all District investments keeping in mind 

that safeguarding the principal and providing liquidity are more 
important objectives than the return obtained. 

 
II. SCOPE 
 
This investment policy shall cover all funds and investment activities under the 
direct authority of the District, except for the employee’s retirement and deferred 
compensation funds, bank checking accounts, and Bond Project and Reserve 
Funds.   
 
III. OBJECTIVES 
 

A. Safety.  It is the primary duty and responsibility of the Treasurer to 
protect and preserve the principal of all District funds and 
investments.  Prior to investing any District funds, the investment 
shall be evaluated by the Treasurer to ensure that capital losses are 



 2 

avoided whether from institution default, broker-dealer default, or 
erosion of the market value of the securities.  The Treasurer shall 
evaluate, or cause a qualified professional to evaluate, each 
potential investment of District funds to verify that the issuer is 
financially strong and there is adequate security as collateral for each 
investment sufficient to protect the principal being invested.  The 
Treasurer shall diversify District investments so as to reduce the 
exposure to principal loss. 

 
B. Liquidity.  An adequate percentage of all District investments shall 

be maintained at all times in liquid short-term securities which can be 
converted to cash if necessary to meet the District’s financial 
obligations.  The Treasurer should consider the District’s liquidity 
needs over the next year in determining the amount that should be 
maintained in short term instruments.  Since all future cash 
requirements of the District cannot be anticipated, the Treasurer 
shall, at all times, invest a portion of all District investments in liquid 
short-term securities that are readily tradable so as to meet the 
ongoing liquidity needs of the District.  These short-term securities 
shall be selected in a manner that minimizes market risk and 
provides for the anticipated needs of the District over the next year. 

 
C. Return on Investments.  The Treasurer should invest all District funds 

in investments that maximize the return for the District keeping in 
mind that safeguarding the principal and providing liquidity are more 
important objectives than the return obtained.  All investment 
decisions made by the Treasurer shall be, first, to ensure protection 
of the principal of all District funds and investments, second, to 
provide adequate liquidity for the District’s future needs, and third, to 
maximize return where possible without jeopardizing the principal or 
creating liquidity problems for the District. 

 
D. Market-Average Rate of Return.  The investment portfolio shall be 

designed to attain a market-average rate of return throughout 
economic cycles, taking into account the District’s risk and liquidity 
constraints, the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio, State laws 
limiting District investments, and ordinances or resolutions that 
restrict investments. To determine if the District is attaining its return 
objectives, the Treasurer will periodically review the portfolio’s 
performance against an appropriate benchmark(s).  

 
E. Diversification.  The investment portfolio shall be diversified to avoid 

incurring unreasonable and avoidable risks regarding specific 
security types or individual financial institutions.  The amount 
invested by the Treasurer in a particular security at any time shall not 
exceed the limitations contained in Section VII of this Investment 
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Policy. 
 

F. Prudence.  The District adheres to the guidance provided by the 
“Prudent Investor Rule” California Government Code (Sec. 53600.3), 
which obligates a fiduciary to insure that investment decisions be 
made with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the 
circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the 
general economic conditions and the anticipated needs of the 
agency, that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiarity 
with those matters would use in the conduct of funds of a like 
character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and maintain 
the liquidity needs of the agency. 

 
The Treasurer and all other individuals assigned to manage the 
District’s investment portfolio, acting within the intent and scope of 
the investment policy and other written procedures and exercising 
due diligence, shall be relieved of personal responsibility and liability 
for an individual security’s credit risk or market price changes, 
provided deviations from expectations are reported monthly and 
appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments. 

 
G. Public Trust:  All participants in the investment process shall act as 

custodians of the public trust.  Investment officials shall recognize 
that the investment portfolio is subject to review and evaluation by 
the Board.  The overall program shall be designed and managed with 
a degree of professionalism that is worthy of the public trust.  In a 
diversified portfolio it must be recognized that occasional measured 
losses are inevitable, and these losses must be considered within 
the context of the overall portfolio's investment return, provided that 
adequate diversification has been obtained. 

 
H. Risk Tolerance.  The District recognizes that investment risks can 

result from issuer defaults, market price changes or various technical 
complications leading to temporary illiquidity.  Portfolio diversification 
is employed as a way to control risk.  The Treasurer is expected to 
display prudence in diversifying the District’s investments as a way 
to minimize default risk.  No individual investment transaction shall 
be undertaken by the Treasurer which jeopardizes the total capital 
position of the overall portfolio or which exceeds the investment 
limitations contained in Section VII of this policy.  The Treasurer shall 
periodically establish guidelines and strategies to control risks of 
default, market price changes and illiquidity. 

 
Risk will also be managed by subscribing to a portfolio management 
philosophy that helps to control market and interest rate risk by 
investing to ensure required liquidity and appropriate term. This 
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philosophy also prohibits trading losses (for speculative purposes) 
unless there is a sudden need for liquidity and the need cannot be 
satisfied by any other means.  Loss of principal will only be 
acceptable if economic gain can be conclusively demonstrated. 

 
Controlling and managing risk is the foremost portfolio management 
objective.  The District strives to maintain an efficient portfolio by 
providing for the lowest level of risk for a given level of return.  This 
acceptable level of return has been quantified as a return that is 
equal to an appropriate benchmark(s) based on the weighted 
average of the District’s portfolio depending on investments and 
maturities consistent the rolling average of the 2 year Constant 
Maturity Treasury yields.  In addition to these general policy 
considerations, the following specific policies will be strictly 
observed: 

 
1. All book-entry transactions will be executed on a 

delivery-versus-payment basis. 
 

2. A competitive bid process, when practical, will be used to place 
all investment purchases and to minimize investment costs.  

 
IV. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY 
 

The investment of District money is delegated to the Treasurer by the Board 
of Directors for one year ending December 31, 2018. The Treasurer may delegate 
the day-to-day operations of investing to his/her designee(s), but not the 
responsibility for the overall investment program.  At least once each quarter, a 
sub-committee of the Board shall meet with the General Manager or his/her 
designee to review the District’s portfolio and provide guidance for future 
investments. All transactions will be reviewed by the Treasurer on a regular basis 
to assure compliance with this Statement of Investment Policy and a monthly 
report shall be provided to the Board on all District investments. 
 
V. REPORTING 
 

Although it is no longer required for the Treasurer of  a local agency to 
annually render a statement of investment policy to the legislative body and submit 
a quarterly investment report to the legislative body (Government Code Section 
53646 (b)), the District Treasurer and General Manager shall submit a monthly 
investment report to the Board of Directors.  This report shall include: type of 
investment, issuer, date of maturity, the par and dollar amount invested on all 
securities, the total amount of all investments and monies held by the District, a 
description of any District funds being held or managed by other persons or 
entities, the coupon and current yield  of all securities,, a statement that there are 
or are not sufficient funds to meet the District’s obligations for the next six (6) 
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months, and  accrued interest receivable  The monthly statement shall also 
indicate the District’s anticipated liquidity needs for the next six (6) months, the 
ability of the District’s investments to meet these anticipated liquidity needs, and a 
monthly list of transactions, which is required under Government Code 53607 
whenever investment authority is delegated by the Board.  Additional items listed 
will also include average weighted average days to maturity, maturity date, 
purchase date, percentage distribution to each type of investment, and a statement 
indicating compliance or noncompliance of all District investments with this 
Statement of Investment Policy.  All investments not complying with this 
investment policy shall be called to the attention of the Board and discussed as a 
separate agenda item during the first monthly meeting after an investment does 
not comply with this policy. 
 
VI. AUTHORIZED INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS 

 
The District is governed by the California Government Code, Sections 

53600 et seq.  For all investment types, the purchase of zero coupon, inverse 
floaters, range notes, strips, mortgage derived interest-only strips, deep discount 
treasury bonds, or any security that could result in zero interest accrual if held to 
maturity is not permitted (Government Code Section 56301.6). Within the context 
of these limitations, the following investments are authorized: 
 

A. Local Agency Investment Fund:  The District may invest in the Local 
Agency Investment Fund established by the State Treasurer for the benefit of local 
agencies (Government Code Section 16429.1).  The fund must have twenty-four 
hour liquidity. No more than 30% of the total value of all District investments or 
$20,000,000 (whichever is lesser) may be invested in Local Agency Investment 
Fund. 
 

The District may also invest bond proceeds in the Local Agency Investment 
Fund. Liquidity for bond proceeds, per fund regulations, is thirty calendar day 
increments from the date of the initial deposit. 
 

B. Treasury Securities: United States Treasury notes, bonds, bills, or 
certificates of indebtedness, or those for which the faith and credit of the United 
States are pledged for the payment of principal and interest (Government Code 
Section 53601(b)).  These investments are considered the safest possible 
investment available.  There is no maximum portfolio limit.  Maximum investment 
maturities in Treasury Securities shall be restricted to five years.  
 

C. Depository Accounts and Certificates of Deposit:  The District may 
invest in insured or collateralized certificates of deposits, saving accounts, market 
rate accounts, or other bank deposits insured by commercial banks, savings and 
loans, state or federal credit union in California (Government Code Section 53630 
et seq).  A written depository contract is required with all institutions that hold 
District deposits.  Securities placed in a collateral pool must provide coverage for 
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at least 110 percent of all deposits that are placed in the institution.  Acceptable 
pooled collateral is governed by California Government Code Section 53651.  Real 
estate mortgages are not considered acceptable collateral by the District, even 
though they are permitted in Government Code Section 53651(m).  All financial 
institutions are required to provide the District with a regular statement of pooled 
collateral.  This report will state that they are meeting the 110 percent collateral 
rule (Government Code Section 53652(a)), a listing of all collateral with location 
and market value, plus an accountability of the total amount of deposits secured 
by the pool.  Certificates of deposit, in combination with Placement Service 
Certificates of Deposit and Negotiable Certificates of Deposit shall not exceed 
530% per issuer of the value of all District investments at any time. 
 

Deposits, up to the federal deposit limit, are allowable in any institution that 
insures its deposits with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or the 
National Credit Union Administration (NCUA), regardless of Moody’s Investors 
Service or Standard & Poor’s Corporation ratings.  The Treasurer, for deposits of 
up to federal insurance limit may waive collateral requirements.  A maximum 
deposit of up to federal insurance limit may be deposited in any one institution 
without collateral.  No bank shall receive District funds of greater than federal 
insurance limit if it has a Moody’s Investor Service or Standard & Poor’s 
Corporation rating less than “A”. Maximum investment maturity will be restricted to 
three (3) years. 

 
In accordance with section 53638 of the California Government Code, any 

deposit shall not exceed the shareholder’s equity of any depository bank, nor shall 
the deposit exceed the total net worth of any institution. No deposits shall be made 
at a state or federal credit union if a member of the Board of Directors or the 
General Manager or Treasurer serves on the Board of Directors or any committee 
appointed by the Board of Directors of the credit union. 

 
D. Placement Service Deposit:  The District may invest in insured 

deposit placed with a private sector entity that assists in the placement deposits 
with eligible financial institutions located in the United States (Government Code 
Section 53601.8). The full amount of the principal and the interest that may be 
accrued during the maximum term of each deposit shall at all times be insured by 
federal deposit insurance. Placement Service Deposit, in combination with 
Certificates of Deposit and Negotiable Certificates of Deposit shall not exceed 
305% per issuer of the value of the District’s investments at any time. The 
maximum investment maturity will be restricted to three years.  

 
E. Negotiable Certificates of Deposit:  Negotiable certificates of 

Deposits issued by a national or a State-chartered or a State or Federal 
association or by a federally licensed or State-licensed branch of a foreign bank 
(Government Code Section 53601(i)).  Maximum investment maturity is restricted 
to two years for notes rated “AA-“or higher and five years for “AAA” rated notes. 
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit, in combination with Certificates of Deposit and 
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Placement Service Certificates of Deposit shall not exceed 305% per issuer of the 
value of all District investments at any time.  

 
F.  Commercial Paper: Investment is limited to the highest grade of 

stand alone or enhanced (“prime”) commercial paper as rated by Moody's Investor 
Service, Standard & Poor's Corporation, or Fitch Financial Services (A1/P1/F1) 
issued only by a general corporation that is organized and operating within the 
United States, and having total assets in excess of $500 million and has debt other 
than commercial paper that is rated “A” or higher by Moody’s, S&P, or Fitch  
(Government Code Section 53601(h)). Purchases of commercial paper shall not 
exceed 10% of the outstanding paper of the issuing corporation. The maximum 
investment maturity for commercial paper shall be restricted to 270 days. 
Purchases of commercial paper shall not exceed 20% the total value of all District 
investments at any time and single-issuer holdings to no more than $1,000,000 
per issuer. 

 
G. Medium Term Notes:   Medium term notes are corporate or bank 

notes with a maximum remaining maturity of 5 years or less.  Investment is limited 
to  “AA- “ rated or higher notes, from a nationally recognized rating service like 
Moody’s Investor Service or Standard and Poor’s Corporation.  All such notes shall 
be solely from corporations organized and operating in the U.S. or banks licensed 
in the U.S. or any state and operating in the United States. Permissible types of 
notes include fixed rate and variable rate.  Maximum investment maturity is 
restricted to two years for notes rated “AA-“ or higher and five years for "AAA" rated 
notes.  Medium term notes shall not exceed 155% per issuer of all District 
investments at any time. 
 

H. Agencies:  The District is permitted to invest in federal agency or 
United States government-sponsored enterprise obligations, participations, or 
other instruments, including those issued and fully guaranteed as to principal and 
interest by federal agencies or United States government sponsored enterprises 
(Government Code 53601(f)).  Maximum maturity is limited to 5 years.  The amount 
invested in agencies shall not exceed 50% of all District investments at any time. 
 

I. Money Market Funds:  Shares of beneficial interest issued by 
diversified management companies that are money market funds registered with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Investment Company Act of 
1940 (15 U.S.C. Sec.  80a-1 and following) (Government Code 53601(l)(2)).  
Investments are limited to those money market funds that invest in U.S. 
Treasuries, Federal Agency obligations, and repurchase agreements relating to 
such obligations.  Funds must have the highest ranking or the highest letter and 
numerical rating by not less than two nationally recognized rating services, or have 
an investment adviser registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
with not less than five years' experience managing money market funds with 
assets under management in excess of $500,000,000.  No more than 5% of the 
value of all District investments shall be invested in any fund and no more than 
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20% of the value of all District investments may be invested in all money market 
funds combined.  Any fund shares purchased will not include any type of 
commission. 

 
J. Banker’s Acceptances:  Bankers’ acceptances are bills of exchange 

or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial bank (Government Code 
53601(g)).  Purchases of banker’s acceptances may not exceed 180 days maturity 
as per Government Code Section 53601 (g). Maximum portfolio exposure will be 
limited to 20% of the total value of all District investments at any time and single 
issuer holdings to no more than 3% per issuer. Banker’s acceptances shall not be 
purchased by the Treasurer without the prior approval of the Board. 

 
K. Repurchase Agreements and Reverse Repurchase Agreements:  A 

Repurchase Agreement is a purchase of securities by the District under an 
agreement with another party who will repurchase these securities on or before a 
specified date and for a specified amount and the other party delivers the 
underlying securities to the District by book entry, physical delivery, or by third-
party custodial account.  A Reverse Repurchase Agreement means a sale of 
securities by the District under an agreement where the District will repurchase the 
securities on or before a specified date.  While Repurchase Agreements and 
Reverse Repurchase Agreements are permitted by state law (Government Code 
53601(j)), the Treasurer shall not purchase any securities under a Repurchase 
Agreement or a Reverse Repurchase Agreement unless it has first been approved 
by the Board of Directors of the District.  State law prohibits Repurchase 
Agreements unless the underlying value of the securities covering the Repurchase 
Agreement are valued at least 102% or greater of the funds borrowed against 
those securities and this value must be adjusted no less than quarterly.  Collateral 
for repurchase agreements is limited to obligations of the United States 
government and its agencies.  Reverse Repurchase Agreements are only 
permitted by state law where the security being sold by the District has been owned 
and fully paid for by the District for a minimum of thirty (30) days prior to sale, The 
agreement may not exceed a term of 90 days unless the agreement includes a 
provision guaranteeing a minimum earning or spread for the entire period between 
the sale of a security and the final maturity date. 

 
The amount invested repurchase agreements shall not exceed 20% of all 

District investments at any time.  The amount invested in reverse repurchase 
agreements shall not exceed 10% of the base value of the District’s portfolio at any 
time. 
 

L. Local Government Investment Pool: Shares of beneficial interest 
issued by a joint powers authority organized pursuant to Government Code 
Section 6509.7 that invests in the securities and obligations authorized in the 
Government Code(Government Code 53601(p)).  Investments are limited to pools 
that seek to maintain a constant net asset value and which are rated “AA” or better. 
Local Government Investment Pools shall not exceed 30% of the value of all 
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District investments at any time. 
 
 M. Municipal Bonds: The Treasurer is authorized to invest in registered 
treasury notes or bonds of any of the 50 United States payable solely out of the 
revenues from a revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a 
state or by a department, board, agency or authority of any of the 50 United States.  
Such securities must have ratings from at least two of three ratings as follows: “A1” 
by Moody’s Investors Service, or “A+" by Standard & Poor’s, or “A+" by Fitch 
Ratings; or as otherwise approved by the Board; or   
 

Registered general obligation treasury notes or bonds of any of the 50 
United States.  Such securities must have ratings from two of three rating agencies 
as follows: at least “A3” by Moody’s Investors Service, or “A-" by Standard & 
Poor’s, or “A-" by Fitch Ratings; or as otherwise approved by the Board; or  
 

Adjustable rate registered treasury notes or bonds of any of the 50 United 
States, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-
producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a state or by a department, 
board, agency or authority of any of the 50 United States.  Such securities must 
have ratings from at least two of three rating agencies as follows: “P-1” by Moody’s 
Investors Service, or “A-1+" by Standard & Poor’s, or “F-1+" by Fitch Ratings; or 
as otherwise approved by the Board; or. 
 

Adjustable rate notes or bonds warrants, or other evidences of 
indebtedness of any local agency within the State of California with a minimum 
rating of either “P-1” by Moody’s Investors Service, or “A-1+” by Standard & Poor’s, 
or “F-1+” by Fitch Ratings, including bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of 
indebtedness payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-producing 
property owned, controlled, or operated by either the local agency, a department, 
board, agency, or authority of the local agency, or of any local agency within this 
state; or. 
 

Taxable or tax-exempt bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of 
indebtedness of any local agency within the State of California with a minimum 
rating of either “A1” by Moody’s Investors Service, or “A+” by Standard & Poor’s, 
or “A+” by Fitch Ratings (the minimum rating shall apply to the local agency, 
irrespective of any credit enhancement), including bonds, notes, warrants, or other 
evidences of indebtedness payable solely out of the revenues from a revenue-
producing property owned, controlled, or operated by either the local agency, a 
department, board, agency, or authority of the local agency, or of any local agency 
within this state.  

 
The amount invested in municipal securities shall not exceed 5% per issuer 

30% of all District investments at any time. 
 

 N. Permitted Investments Without Board Approval: The Treasurer is 
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authorized to invest District funds in federally insured or collateralized depository 
accounts, the Local Agency Investment Fund, treasury securities, negotiable 
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, medium term notes, agencies and 
money market funds meeting all requirements of this investment policy for the 
particular investment being purchased without prior Board approval.  All other 
investments such as banker’s acceptances, Repurchase Agreements, Reverse 
Repurchase Agreements, and investments in the San Diego County Investment 
Pool shall only occur with prior approval of the Board. The Treasurer shall ensure 
that all investments made on behalf of the District meet all of the minimum 
requirements contained in this Investment Policy. 
 
VII. PORTFOLIO LIMITATIONS    

 
Following is a listing of potential authorized investments with corresponding 

limitations on the amount of the District’s portfolio that may be invested in each 
authorized investment at any given time: 
 

Investment Description 
Percentage 
Limitation Dollar Limitation 

Local Agency Investment Fund      30% $20 million 
Treasury Securities       None  - 

Certificates of Deposit, 
Placement Service Deposits 
and Negotiable Certificates of 
Deposit  

30% Placement service 
deposits may be made 
up to FDIC limit per 
financial institution. No 
more than 5% per issuer  

Local Government Investments 
Pools 

30% - 

Commercial Paper 20% no more than $1 million 
per issuer 

Medium Terms Notes 1530% No more than 5% per 
issuer- 

Agencies 50% - 

Depository Accounts, Money 
Market Funds 

20%* No more than 5% in 
any money market 
fund- 

Investments Pools 30% - 

Municipal Bonds 30% -No more than 5% per 
issuer  

Bankers Acceptances 20% No more than 3% per 
issuer with prior approval 
of the Board  
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Repurchase Agreements 20% With the prior 
approval of the Board 
- 

Reverse Repurchase 
Agreements 

10% With the prior 
approval - 

 
 * May not exceed 5% in any money market fund. 
  

Banker’s acceptances, Repurchase Agreements, Reverse Repurchase 
Agreements, and other investments other than those expressly permitted 
by subsection (L) above are permitted only with the prior approval of the 
Board. 
 
The weighted average days to maturity of the total portfolio shall not exceed 

the liquidity requirements of the District for the next six months based upon on-
going staff analyses.  

 
In the event a security held by the District is subject to a rating change that 

brings it below the minimum credit ratings specified by the Policy, the Treasurer 
shall notify the Board at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting along with the 
Treasurer’s recommended course of action. The course of action to be followed 
will be decided on a case-by-case basis by the Board, considering such factors as 
the reason for the rate drop, prognosis for recovery or further rate drops, and the 
market price of the security.  

 
In the event that the percentage limits attributable to each security type are 

violated due to a temporary imbalance in the portfolio, the Treasurer will make a 
determination as to the appropriate course of action.  The appropriate course of 
action may be to liquidate securities to rebalance the portfolio or to hold the 
securities to maturity in order to avoid a market loss.  Portfolio percentages are in 
place to ensure diversification of the investment portfolio and as such a small 
temporary imbalance would not violate this basic tenet.  When a portfolio 
percentage is exceeded the Treasurer will report the violation in the Treasurers 
Report at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting, with detail of the strategy 
determined to address the imbalance, for Board ratification. However, the 
Treasurer shall meet the portfolio percentages required by this investment policy 
at the end of each month, unless waived by the Board. 

 
VIII. BOND PROCEEDS, BOND RESERVE FUNDS AND BOND SERVICE 

FUNDS 
   

Investment of bond proceeds and amounts held in bond reserve and service 
funds are to be made in accordance with the related bond indentures.   
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IX. INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

Internal controls shall be designed to prevent losses of public funds arising 
from fraud, employee error, misrepresentation of third parties, unanticipated 
changes in financial markets or imprudent action by employees and officers of the 
District.  Controls deemed most important include: control of collusion; separation 
of duties and administrative controls; custodial safekeeping; clear delegation of 
authority; management review and approval of investment transactions; specific 
limitations regarding securities losses and remedial action; written confirmation of 
telephone transactions; minimizing the number of authorized investment officials; 
documentation of transactions and strategies; and code of ethic standards.  
 

Existing procedures require all wire transfers initiated by the Finance 
Department be reconfirmed by the appropriate financial institution.  In addition, the 
District’s signatory resolution specifies authorized signers and number of required 
signatures for different disbursement transactions.  Proper documentation 
obtained from confirmation and cash disbursement wire transfers is required for 
each investment transaction.  Timely bank reconciliations are conducted to ensure 
proper handling of all transactions. 
 

The investment portfolio and all related transactions are reviewed and 
balanced to appropriate general ledger accounts by the Finance Department on a 
monthly basis.  A listing of all investment transactions is provided on a monthly 
basis to the Board of Directors for their approval.  Current policy also requires that 
the Treasurer’s approval be obtained for the purchase or sale of securities other 
than transfers to/from investment pools or money market funds.   
 

An independent analysis by an external auditor shall be conducted annually 
to review internal controls, account activity and compliance with policies and 
procedures. 
 
X. QUALIFIED BANKS AND SECURITIES DEALERS 
 

The District shall conduct business only with nationally or state chartered 
banks, savings and loans or credit unions that are licensed and operating in the 
United States or a state of the United States, and registered investment securities 
dealers.  The District's staff will investigate all institutions that wish to conduct 
business with the District prior to any District investment in the institution.  All banks 
shall have a minimum rating of “A” by Moody’s or Standard and Poor.  A list will be 
maintained by the Finance Manager of approved institutions and security 
broker/dealers. A bank rating service will be used by staff to verify financial 
information provided by a financial institution or dealer.  Annually, the Treasurer 
shall transmit a copy of the current Statement of Investment Policy to all approved 
dealers.  The dealer is required to return a signed statement indicating receipt and 
understanding of the District's Investment Policies.  Primary dealers of the Federal 
Reserve may provide substitute certification language at the discretion of the 
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Treasurer. 
 
XI. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from 
personal business activity that could conflict with proper execution of the 
investment program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial 
investment decisions.  Additionally the Treasurer and the Finance Manager are 
required to annually file applicable financial disclosures as required by the Fair 
Political Practices Commission (FPPC).  All officers and employees involved in the 
investment of public funds are required to comply with the District’s Conflict of 
Interest Code.  The Treasurer and any District employees or agents evaluating any 
investment for the District shall disclose any interest owned or held in any 
institution or investment being considered by the District prior to the investment. 

 
XII.   BOARD DISCRETION 
 

The District recognizes that this policy consists of guidelines designed to 
protect District funds and to provide liquidity for the on-going District operations.  
The Board of Directors may timely approve, on an individual basis, investments 
which would otherwise not be in accordance with this policy, in the event of 
unforeseen circumstances, so long as the investment is permitted by state law. 
 
XIII. SAFEKEEPING AND CUSTODY 
 

To protect against potential losses caused by the collapse of a security 
dealer, all book-entry securities owned by the District, including repurchase 
agreement collateral previously approved by the Board, shall be kept in 
safekeeping with "perfected interest" by a third party bank trust department, acting 
as agent for the District under the terms of a custody agreement executed by the 
bank and by the District.  All book-entry securities will be received and delivered 
using standard delivery-versus-payment procedures. 
 
XIV. INTEREST EARNINGS 
 

All monies earned and collected from investments authorized in this policy 
shall be allocated monthly to various fund accounts based on the cash balance in 
each fund as a percentage of the entire pooled portfolio. 
 
XV. PROHIBITED INVESTMENTS 
 

The Treasurer shall not invest any funds of the District in inverse floaters, 
range notes, or mortgage derived interest-only strips at any time.  The Treasurer 
shall not invest any funds of the District in any security that could result in zero 
interest accrual if held to maturity.  (Gov’t Code §53601.6). 
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XVI. INVESTMENT PURCHASES 
 

Any investments that the Treasurer purchases for the District that are not 
purchased directly from the issuer shall be purchased either from an institution 
licensed by the State of California as a broker/dealer or from a member of a 
federally registered securities exchange, from a national or state-chartered bank, 
from a savings association or a federal association, or from a brokerage firm 
designated as a primary government dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank. (Gov’t 
Code §53601.5)  
 
XVII. QUARTERLY REPORTS 
 

At least once each quarter, the District’s Finance Officer shall provide an 
oral report to the Finance Committee, comprised of the District’s treasurer and one 
board member,  evaluating the safety of all District investments and advising the 
committee of any investments of the District that represent a credit risk.   
 
XVIII.   TREASURER’S AUTHORITY AND REVIEW OF INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

The Authority of the Treasurer to make investment decisions on behalf of 
the District shall automatically expire on December 31, 20198 unless renewed or 
extended by formal action of the Board of Directors of the District.  This investment 
policy shall be presented to the Board of Directors of the District by no later than 
December 31, 20198 and annually thereafter. 

 



         
  
 

 

   Memo 
Date:  November 14, 2018 

To:  Finance Committee  

From:  Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 

Via:  Kimberly Thorner, General Manager 

Subject: REVIEW AND DISCUSS PROPOSALS FOR WATER AND WASTEWATER 
COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES (COSS)  

 

 
 

Copies of COSS proposals are attached for review and consideration by the Finance 
Committee. Staff will be available for discussion during the meeting.    
 
Following discussion with the Committee, the selected firm will be reported to the 
Board for consideration and approval at the January 16, 2019 board meeting.  
 
 

Agenda Item 9 



Comprehensive Cost of Service Studies for Water 
(Potable and Recycled) and Wastewater

PROPOSAL / OCTOBER 18, 2018 

Olivenhain
Municipal Water District





October 16, 2018

Ms. Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager
Olivenhain Municipal Water District
1966 Olivenhain Road 
Encinitas, CA 92024 

Subject: Proposal for Water and Wastewater Cost of Service Study

Dear Ms. Selamat: 

Raftelis is pleased to submit this proposal to perform a Comprehensive Cost of Service Study for Water (Potable and 
Recycled) and Wastewater for Olivenhain Municipal Water District (Olivenhain or District). We believe that our unique 
combination of resources, knowledge, and recent work with the District and its surrounding agencies will ensure a value-
added project that will benefit the District and its customers. 

Raftelis has the largest practice in California, and the country, specializing in financial and rate consulting for water, recy-
cled water, and wastewater utilities. We are confident in our ability to develop a sustainable financial plan and optimal rate 
structure that will comply with Proposition 218 and other regulatory requirements in addition to meeting the District’s 
goals. We have assisted numerous agencies in California and across the United States with successfully implementing rate 
structures that fund capital infrastructure plans, with sensitivity to agencies’ other policy concerns, including equitability 
and revenue sufficiency. We have conducted similar studies across the state and San Diego County including San Dieguito 
Water District, Carlsbad MWD, Santa Fe Irrigation District, Ramona MWD, Rainbow MWD, El Toro MWD, Rincon del 
Diablo MWD, Helix Water District, and the Cities of San Diego and Escondido.

Raftelis has assisted the District for several of its last rate cycles. As a result, we have thorough knowledge of the District’s 
operations and finances. We are proposing the same team that has been assisting the District. I will serve as Project Director. 
I am a registered engineer with over 40 years of experience and I have worked on hundreds of studies in California assisting 
utilities with rates and financial plans. Hannah Phan will serve as Project Manager and be the day-to-day contact for the rate 
study. Steve Gagnon will serve as Technical Reviewer to provide quality control and quality assurance. We have assigned 
four designated staff members to ensure timely response and completion, and we will have the support of Raftelis’ full staff 
of more than 70 consultants.

Raftelis is excited to have the opportunity to assist the District with this important study. If you have any questions, please 
don’t hesitate to contact us using the following contact information: 

Sudhir Pardiwala, PE (Project Director)
150 N. Santa Anita Avenue, Suite 470, Arcadia, CA 90016
Office: (626) 583-1894 / Cell: (626) 827-8931 / Email: spardiwala@ratelis.com

Sincerely, 

Sudhir D. Pardiwala, PE
Executive Vice President

150 N. Santa Anita Ave. Suite 470
Arcadia, CA  91006

WWW.RAFTELIS.COM
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Executive
Summary
Raftelis is pleased to present the following proposal to Olivenhain 
Municipal Water District (District) for a comprehensive Water 
and Wastewater Cost of Service Rate Study. The District would 
like to develop rates that provide adequate revenues to provide 
high quality service to its customers and retain financial stability. 
The rates need to comply with regulatory requirements, be fair 
and equitable to customers, and be administratively to understand 
and implement. 

With extensive experience in Southern California and prior expe-
rience with the District, Raftelis is ideally qualified to provide the 
requested services. With the largest staff in California devoted 
to financial planning and rate studies for water and wastewater 
utilities, the District can be confident in the services and products 
delivered by Raftelis. Our analyses and reports have been vetted by 
the principal attorneys specializing in rates in the State. 

Raftelis can provide highly qualified and experienced staff with a 
strong knowledge of the District and good working relationships 
with District staff. Sudhir Pardiwala, PE will serve as Project 
Director. He is a registered engineer with over 40 years and has 
worked on hundreds of studies in California assisting utilities with 
rates and financial plans. He has personal experience assisting the 
District in implementing rates that recover sufficient revenue and 
equitably distribute the cost of utility services. Hannah Phan, 
who has previously assisted the District and is intimately familiar 
with District operations, will serve as Project Manager and Steve 
Gagnon will provide Technical Review. These principal team 
members will be supported by experienced staff consultants from 
our West Coast offices. 

Our staff have recently assisted several utilities across the state and 
San Diego County including San Dieguito Water District (WD), 
Carlsbad Municipal Water District, Santa Fe Irrigation District, 
Ramona MWD, Rainbow MWD, El Toro MWD, Rincon del 
Diablo MWD, Helix Water District, and the Cities of San Diego 

and Escondido. Our staff are very active in industry associations 
and are leaders in the water business, holding leadership posi-
tions in industry associations such as the American Water Works 
Association (AWWA) and National Association of Clean Water 
Agencies (NACWA). This ensures that the District will benefit 
from cutting-edge solutions. 

Our work approach is based on our understanding of the Dis-
trict’s project objectives as presented in its Request for Proposals 
(RFP) and upon our extensive experience in providing utility rate 
and cost of service consulting services. The proposed scope of 
service reflects our experience completing water, recycled water, 
and wastewater cost of service and rate studies for other utilities 
in California and across the country, including the District. Our 
scope is tailored to address the specific objectives and concerns as 
identified in the District’s RFP and includes the elements that we 
believe are essential for a successful project.

Based on our review of the RFP, the primary objective of this 
project is to conduct a cost of service and financial plan study in 
conjunction with a review of the District’s existing policies and 
procedures, customer classifications, and rate structure that:

 • Generates adequate and stable revenues to keep the District 
financially sound

 • Is fair and defensible
 • Provides adequate reserves that are consistent with industry 

standards while meeting the District’s specific requirements 
of revenue and rate stability

 • Apportions costs equitably among customer classes, including any 
shared costs between potable water, wastewater and recycled water

 • Encourages water conservation through efficient usage
 • Sends price signals regarding water costs to customers
 • Is easy to understand and implement
 • Conforms to legal requirements such as California Constitu-

tion Articles XIII, C and D (Proposition 218), Proposition 26, 
and Senate Bill X7-7 (SBx7-7)
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RAFTELIS IS THE 
TRUSTED ADVISOR TO UTILITIES 
AND THE PUBLIC SECTOR.

+ Visit www.raftelis.com to learn more

 WHO IS 

Raftelis

Raftelis provides special districts, utilities and 
public-sector organizations with insights and 
expertise to help them operate as high-performing, 
sustainable entities providing essential services 
to their citizens. We help our clients solve their 
finance, organizational, and technology challenges, 
achieve their objectives, and, ultimately, make their 
communities better places to live, work, and play. 

Legal Name of the Company & Address
Raftelis Financial Consultants, Inc.
150 N. Santa Anita Ave. Suite 470, Arcadia, CA  91006

Legal Form of the Company
Corporation (company is not a subsidiary of a  
“parent company”)

Addresses of Offices Working on this Project 
150 N. Santa Anita Ave. Suite 470, Arcadia, CA  91006
500 Yale Ave. North #109, Seattle, WA  98109
445 S. Figueroa St., Suite 2270, Los Angeles, CA  90071
24640 Jefferson Ave., Suite 207, Murrieta, CA  92562

Contact Person and Project Manager
Sudhir Pardiwala, PE (Project Director)
150 N. Santa Anita Ave. Suite 470, Arcadia, CA  91006
P: 626.583.1894 / E: spardiwala@raftelis.com

Hannah Phan (Project Manager)
500 Yale Ave. North #109, Seattle, WA  98109
P: 714.300.8129 / E: hphan@raftelis.com
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Project 
Understanding

Olivenhain Municipal Water 
District’s (District) service 
area is approximately 48 square 
miles within the northern 
region of San Diego County 
and includes portions of incor-
porated areas such as Encinitas, 
Carlsbad, San Diego, Solana 
Beach, San Marcos, and large 
portions of unincorporated 
areas such as 4S Ranch, Rancho 
Cielo, Rancho Santa Fe, Elfin 
Forest, and Santa Fe Valley. 

In fiscal year 2018, the District 
provided water services to 
28,563 service connections who 
consumed 20,600 acre-feet (AF) 
of potable and recycled water. 
The San Diego County Water 
Authority (SDCWA) provides 
the sole source of untreated 
water to the District, which is 
then treated at the David C. 
McCollom Water Treatment 
Plant. SDCWA has undertaken 

significant capital projects to 
increase supply reliability. The 
recovery of costs associated 
with the desalination facility 
is currently being reviewed by 
SDCWA and will have signif-
icant impacts on the member 
agencies. Recycled water is 
provided by the District’s 4S 
Water Reclamation Facility 
(WRF), which currently pro-
duces approximately 1 million 
gallons per day (mgd) of 
recycled water to meet the cus-
tomer demand in the southeast 
service area. The northwest 
service area recycled water 
demands are met by purchases 
from neighboring agencies. The 
District has a goal to obtain at 
least 20% of its supply portfolio 
from recycled water and other 
local water sources by 2025. 
 
The current water rate struc-
ture consists of a four-tier 

rate structure for residential 
customers, a uniform rate for 
commercial users and a two-
tier rate structure that is based 
on meter size for irrigation 
customers. Recycled water 
and construction customers 
have a uniform rate structure. 
In addition to the commod-
ity rate, the District charges 
a monthly charge based on 
meter size that consists of the 
District System Access Charge 
and the SDCWA Infrastruc-
ture Access Charge. 

The District’s 4S Ranch Water 
Reclamation Facility collects 
and treats about one million 
gallons per day (MGD) of 
wastewater and currently pro-
duces one MGD of recycled 
water. Rates are collected on 
the San Diego County Property 
Tax Roll. 

The current wastewater rates 
include a fixed annual system 
access charge and a variable 
commodity charge. For sin-
gle-family residential (SFR) 
customers, the commodity 
charge is assessed on the 
winter water use. For all other 
customers, the commodity 
charge is assessed on their 
monthly water usage, since 

these customers have separate 
irrigation meters. 

Capital improvements for 
water and wastewater enter-
prises are currently funded on 
a pay-go basis but the District 
has two outstanding water 
revenue bonds from 2015 and 
2016. The District plans to 
issue $19 million in water rev-
enue bonds in 2023 to build a 
1 mgd brackish groundwater 
desalination facility by 2025 
and establish groundwater as 
a local source of potable water. 

The District is seeking highly 
qualified consultants to pre-
pare a Potable Water, Recycled 
Water, and Wastewater Cost 
of Service Study (Study). 
The Study will determine an 
appropriate level of rate rev-
enue for each utility, allocate 
costs to each customer class 
and make rate structure rec-
ommendations which ensure 
revenue sufficiency and sta-
bility. Drought rates will be 
developed as part of the study, 
and special consideration 
will be placed on the recent 
adoption of SB 606 / AB 1668 
which establish water efficiency 
standards for California urban 
water agencies. 
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Project 
Approach 
Raftelis’ approach has been 
honed via years of experience 
to lead quickly and efficiently 
to the final results. We follow 
industry standard methodol-
ogy applied specifically to our 
clients’ unique characteristics 
to ensure fair and equitable 
rates that are defensible. Our 
approach is characterized by 
the following elements:

 • Regular communication 
and the development of 
strong working relation-
ships with District staff to 
ensure the District will be 
continually informed of 
all technical issues, project 

progress, and any upcom-
ing milestones

 • Consistent and competent 
project management to con-
trol budget and schedule

 • Development of a long-
range f inancia l plan, 
including a reserve pro-
gram, to ensure financial 
stabi l it y and revenue 
requirements sufficiency 
for both operational and 
capital needs

 • Determination of cost of 
service allocations and rates 
to ensure fairness and equity

 • Development and delivery 
of financial plan and cost 

of service rate models with 
dashboard functionality 
and visual graphics to 
ensure quick and easy eval-
uation of alternatives and 
decision making, especially 
with the Board

 • Stringent quality assurance/
quality control to ensure 
consistency, accuracy, and 
validity

 • Effective presentations 
to policy makers and the 
public to ensure successful 
implementation

Our approach has proven to 
be very effective in controlling 

costs and schedule, while 
maintaining quality service 
of the highest standard which 
consistently exceeds our cli-
ents’ expectations.

As part of our approach, 
Raftelis will complete a long-
term financial plan model 
for the water and wastewater 
utilities. The financial plan 
will include all operating and 
capital revenue requirements 
and determine the level of rev-
enue increases needed in the 
future to sustain operations, 
fund reserves, fund capital 
projects, and meet debt cov-
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erage requirements. Raftelis 
will utilize the most up-to-
date information available 
and examine how changes in 
key assumptions could alter 
the financial plans. The finan-
cial plan will provide up to a 
10-year outlook to the District 
for each utility. This will ensure 
that future capital needs are 
accounted for through steady, 
measured increases in rates 
and build-up of cash reserves, 
as opposed to requiring drastic 
rate spikes. It is equally impor-
tant to review how customers 
will be affected and, therefore, 
develop alternative financial 

plans that meet the District’s 
objectives over the short-term 
and long-term. 

Raftelis will also conduct a 
technical analysis to formulate 
cost of service rates that meet 
Proposition 218 requirements. 
It is essential that the rationale 
for the rates is clear and simple, 
and the rates can be easily 
implemented and updated. 
Raftelis has assisted hundreds 
of agencies with implementing 
rates and is well known for pre-
senting thoughtful and concise 
presentations to generate dis-
cussion and consensus. Upon 

development of the proposed 
rates and charges, if desired, 
Raftelis can assist the District 
with its public outreach efforts 
and Proposition 218 notice 
materials. Raftelis can attend 
meetings with members of 
the public and District Board 
to present in an easily under-
standable format the proposed 
changes to, and rationale for, 
the rates. Raftelis’ presenta-
tions include visual graphics 
and our staff is skilled at clearly 
and succinctly explaining the 
rationale for rates. 

All financial analyses will be 
developed through the use 
of a sophisticated financial 
and rate model developed by 
Raftelis in Microsoft Excel for 
the District. Raftelis develops 
powerful, yet user-friendly, 
rate models to allow for var-
ious financial planning and 
scenario analysis tasks. Our 
goal is to provide a model 
that District staff can use in 
subsequent years as part of its 
budgetary process to ensure 
that revenue projections meet 
actual observations. The water, 
recycled water, and wastewa-
ter models will be provided 

to the District as a deliver-
able, and it will allow staff 
to update the financial plan 
and rates in future years. Our 
models include a dashboard 
through which stakeholders 
can instantaneously appreci-
ate the impacts of changes to 
assumptions so that informed 
decisions can be made quickly. 
Raftelis develops financial and 
cost of service models that can 
evaluate multiple scenarios 
for “what-if ” analyses, such 
as changes in operating costs, 
customer usage volume, lim-
ited customer growth, etc. 

Our project approach entails 
several distinct, yet interre-
lated, work efforts that will 
require effective coordination 
between District staff and the 
Raftelis Project Team. Rafte-
lis will work with District 
staff on an ongoing basis via 
scheduled in-person meet-
ings, web conferences, and 
brief conference calls for the 
orderly transfer of informa-
tion and to cultivate a strong 
sense of ownership among 
District staff over the final 
work product and results.
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Work Plan
To develop rates that comply 
with Proposition 218 and 
industry standards while meet-
ing other emerging goals and 
objectives of the utility, there 
are four major steps:  

1. Financial Plan
The rate-making process starts 
with the determination of 
future revenue requirements 
to sufficiently fund the water 
and wastewater ut i l it ies’ 
operations and maintenance 
(O&M), capital replacement 
and refurbishment (R&R), 
capital improvement, and per-
petuation of the system, and 
to ensure preservation of the 
utilities’ financial integrity. 
Two key aspects of the finan-
cial plan are determining the 
appropriate coverage ratio of 
debt-financed capital and to 
ensure financial sufficiency 
for its operations and capital 
needs, and reserves. 

2. Cost of  
Service Analysis
The annual costs of provid-
ing water, recycled water, and 
wastewater service should be 
allocated among the custom-
ers commensurate with their 
service requirements. In this 
step, costs are identified and 
allocated to functional cost 
components and distributed 
to respective customer classes 
according to the industry 
standards provided for water 

in the Manual M1 published 
by the American Water Works 
Association and co-authored 
by Raftelis staff, and the 
Manual of Practice, Financing 
and Charges for Wastewater 
Systems by the Water Environ-
ment Federation, which our 
Project Director, Sudhir Pard-
iwala, is a contributing author. 

3. Rate Design
Rates do more than simply 
recover cost s .  Properly 
designed rates should support 
and optimize a blend of vari-
ous utility objectives such as 
conservation, affordability, 
and revenue stability, and 
should work as a public infor-
mation tool in communicating 
these objectives to customers. 
In this step, Raftelis will work 
within the legal framework 
and industry standards for 
water and wastewater to design 
appropriate rates to resolve the 
District’s current issues and 
achieve the District’s objec-
tives. A customized rate model 
will be developed to assess the 
customer impacts of different 
rate alternatives to facilitate 
informed decision making. 
The results are summarized 
in both easy-to-understand 
graphical format and technical 
tabular format to ease commu-
nications with elected officials 
about the financial conse-
quences of their decisions. 

4. Rate Adoption
In the last step of the rate-mak-
ing process, to comply with 
the requirements set forth by 
Proposition 218, the results of 
the analyses are documented 
in a Rate Study Report (one 
for each utility) to help educate 
the public about the proposed 
changes and their anticipated 
financial impacts in layman 
terms. Raftelis will present at 
a public hearing to assist the 
District’s adoption of the new 
rates at least 45 days after send-
ing out the public notices. 

The Raftelis team is highly 
qualified in the development 
of rates and charges for utility 
agencies. Our expertise enables 
us to develop defensible rate 
structures, either in traditional 
forms or, when appropriate, 
innovative forms to address 
specific needs and circum-
stances. Raftelis’ thorough 
cost of service studies result in 
charges that are based on sound 
rate-making principles that can 
be supported before regulatory 
agencies, commissions, elected 
officials, customer groups or 
courts of law. 

Raftelis has provided a detailed 
scope of services for the Water 
and Wastewater Cost of Service 
Rate Studies in Appendix A. 
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PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND KEY PERSONNEL

WE HAVE DEVELOPED A TEAM OF CONSULTANTS WHO 
SPECIALIZE IN THE SPECIFIC ELEMENTS THAT WILL BE 
CRITICAL TO THE SUCCESS OF THE CITY’S PROJECT. 
For this project, we have included senior-level personnel to provide experienced leadership for the project, with support from 
talented consultant staff. Raftelis places a high priority on being responsive to our clients and, therefore, actively manages 
each consultant’s project schedule to ensure appropriate availability for addressing client needs. Raftelis currently has a 
team of over 70 consultants specializing in financial and management consulting for water, wastewater, recycled water, and 
stormwater utilities. In addition to our dedicated Project Team, the District will have the support of Raftelis’ full staff for this 
project. As previously mentioned in the Executive Summary section, Our staff have recently assisted several utilities across 
the state and locally in San Diego County including San Dieguito Water District, Carlsbad Municipal Water District, Santa Fe 
Irrigation District, Ramona MWD, Rainbow MWD, El Toro MWD, Rincon del Diablo MWD, Helix Water District, and the Cities of 
San Diego and Escondido. The Project Team’s local presence will include attendance by one or more key staff members at each 
of the seven proposed in-person meetings as shown in the schedule, fee, and scope of services (Appendix A). 

Here, we have included an organizational chart showing the structure of our Project Team. On the following pages, we 
have included brief profiles and project roles for each of our team members, and detailed resumes are 
provided in Appendix B. 

STAFF CONSULTANTS
Nancy Phan, Abigail Seaman,  

Lauren Demine, & Charles Diamond

PROJECT MANAGER
Hannah Phan

PROJECT DIRECTOR
Sudhir Pardiwala, PE

TECHNICAL REVIEWER
Steve Gagnon, PE (AZ)

OLIVENHAIN
MUNCIPAL WATER DISTRICT

Project Organization  
and Key Personnel

07



PROJECT DIRECTOR

Sudhir 
Pardiwala, PE
Executive Vice President
Office Location: Arcadia, CA

TECHNICAL REVIEWER

Steve 
Gagnon, PE (AZ)
Manager
Office Location: Los Angeles, CA

PROJECT ROLE 
Responsible for overall project accountability and will be available to provide quality assur-
ance and control, industry perspective, and insights into the project. 

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 40 years of experience

 • Co-author of: WEF’s MOP No. 27, Financing and Charges for Wastewater Systems; & Water 
and Wastewater Finance and Pricing

 • Conducted over 300 water, wastewater, and recycled water studies

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Olivenhain Municipal Water District, San Dieguito 
Water District, Santa Fe Irrigation District, Escondido, San Diego, Goleta West Sanitary Dis-
trict, Santa Barbara, & Ventura

PROJECT ROLE 
Will provide oversight for the project ensuring it is completed in a timely manner and meets 
both Raftelis and industry standards.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 20 years of experience

 • Registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission as a Municipal Advisor; Registered 
Environmental Engineer in Arizona

 • Member of CA-NV AWWA Rates and Charges Committee

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with San Dieguito Water District, Santa Fe Irrigation 
District, Sweetwater Authority, & Olivenhain Municipal Water District

PROJECT MANAGER

Hannah
Phan
Manager 
Office Location: Seattle, WA

PROJECT ROLE 
Will manage the day-to-day aspects of the project ensuring it is within budget, on schedule, and 
effectively meets the District’s objectives. She will also lead the consulting staff in conducting 
analyses and preparing deliverables. Ms.Phan will serve as the District’s main point of contact.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 11 years of experience

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Olivenhain Municipal Water District, East Bay 
Municipal Utility District, Napa Sanitation District, San Diego, & Escondido
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STAFF CONSULTANT

Lauren 
Demine
Associate Consultant
Office Location: Murrieta, CA

PROJECT ROLE 
Will work at the direction of Ms. Phan in conducting analyses and preparing deliverables for 
the project.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 12 years of experience

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Helix Water District, Lake Hemet Municipal 
Water District, Leucadia Wastewater District, Monterey County Water Resources Agency, 
& Sierra Madre

STAFF CONSULTANT

Abigail 
Seaman
Consultant
Office Location: Los Angeles, CA

PROJECT ROLE 
Will work at the direction of Ms. Phan in conducting analyses and preparing deliverables for 
the project.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 2 years of experience

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Calistoga, Pacifica, Yountville, & Bodega Bay Public 
Utility District

STAFF CONSULTANT

Nancy 
Phan
Consultant
Office Location: Seattle, WA

PROJECT ROLE 
Will work at the direction of Ms. Phan in conducting analyses and preparing deliverables for 
the project.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 3 years of experience

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Escondido, Ventura, La Habra, Central Contra Costa 
Water District, Selma-Kingsburg-Fowler County Sanitation District
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STAFF CONSULTANT

Charles 
Diamond
Associate Consultant 
Office Location: Los Angeles, CA

PROJECT ROLE 
Will work at the direction of Ms. Phan in conducting analyses and preparing deliverables for 
the project.

CAREER HIGHLIGHTS

 • 3 years of experience

 • Financial/rate consulting experience with Brentwood, Dixon, Sonoma, Rancho California 
Water DIstrict, & La Cañada Irrigation District

With more than 70 consultants, the 
City will have the support of Raftelis’ 

full staff, including 14 consultants 
in our West Coast Offices.

THE RAFTELIS WEST COAST TEAM
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EXPERIENCE & TECHNICAL COMPETENCE

This map and the matrix on the 
following page shows some of the 
utility clients that we have assisted.

25%

Raftelis has provided 
financial/organizational/
technology assistance to 
utilities serving more than

of the U.S. population.

Our staff have assisted more than 1,000 utilities across the U.S., including some of the 
largest and most complex agencies in the nation. In the past year alone, Raftelis worked on 
more than 600 financial/organizational/technology consulting projects for over 400 water, 
wastewater, and/or stormwater utilities in 40 states, the District of Columbia, and Canada. 

Experience
RAFTELIS HAS THE MOST 
EXPERIENCED UTILITY FINANCIAL 
AND MANAGEMENT CONSULTING 
PRACTICE IN THE NATION.

& TECHNICAL COMPETENCE
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Alameda County Water District

Anaheim, City of

Arroyo Grande, City of

Atwater, City of

Bakersfield, City of

Benicia, City of

Beverly Hills, City of

Borrego Water District

Brea, City of

Brentwood (CA), City of

CAL FIRE/San Luis Obispo

Calleguas Municipal Water District

Camarillo, City of

Carlsbad Municipal Water District

Casitas Municipal Water District

Castaic Lake Water Agency

Central Basin Municipal Water District

Central Contra Costa Sanitary District

Channel Islands Beach Community Services District

Chino Hills, City of

Chino, City of

Chowchilla, City of

Corona, City of

County of San Diego

Crescenta Valley Water District

Cucamonga Valley Water District

Del Mar Union School District

Delta Diablo Sanitation District

East Bay Municipal Utility District

East Orange County Water District

East Valley Water District

Eastern Municipal Water District

El Toro Water District

Elk Grove Water District

Elsinore Valley Municipal Water District

Escondido, City of

Galt, City of

Glendora, City of

Goleta Water District

Goleta West Sanitary District

Helix Water District

Henderson, City of

Hollister, City of

Holtville, City of

Huntington Beach, City of

Imperial County

Inland Empire Utilities Agency

CALIFORNIA EXPERIENCE
This table lists the California utilities 
that Raftelis has assisted over the 
past five years on financial, rate, and/
or management consulting projects. 
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Irvine Unified School District

Jurupa Community Services District

Kern County Water Agency

La Canada Irrigation District

La Habra Heights County Water District

Laguna Beach, City of

Lake Valley Fire Protection District

Las Virgenes Municipal Water District

Leucadia Wastewater District

Livermore, City of

Long Beach City of

Los Alamos Community Services District

Los Angeles Department of Water and Power

Los Angeles, City of Bureau of Sanitation

Madera, City of

Mammoth Community Water District

Marin Municipal Water District

Merced, City of

Mesa Water District

Metropolitan Water District of Southern California

Modesto Irrigation District

Mojave Water Agency

Monterey County Water Resources Agency

Monterey, City of

Moulton Niguel Water District

Municipal Water District of Orange County

Napa Sanitation District

Ojai Valley Sanitary District

Olivenhain Municipal Water District

Ontario Municipal Utilities Company

Ontario, City of

Orange, City of

Palo Alto, City of

Phelan Pinon Hills Community Services District

Placer County Water Agency

Pleasant Hill Recreation & Park District

Pomona, City of

Rainbow Municipal Water District

Ramona Municipal Water District

Rancho California Water District

Redlands, City of

Rincon del Diablo Municipal Water District

Riverside Public Utilities

Roseville, City of

Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District

Sacramento, City of

Salton Community Services District
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San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District

San Bernardino, County of

San Clemente, City of

San Diego, City of Public Utilities Deptartment

San Dieguito Water District

San Elijo Joint Powers Authority

San Gabriel County Water District

San Gabriel, City of

San Jose, City of

San Juan Capistrano, City of

Santa Ana, City of

Santa Barbara, City of

Santa Clara Valley Water District

Santa Clarita Water District

Santa Cruz, City of

Santa Fe Irrigation District

Santa Fe Springs, City of

Santa Margarita Water District

Santa Rosa, City Attorney’s Office

Scotts Valley Water District

Shafter, City of

Shasta Lake, City of

Sierra Madre, City of

Signal Hill, City of

Simi Valley, City of

Sonoma, City of

South Mesa Water Company

South Pasadena, City of

South San Francisco, City of

Sunnyslope County Water District

Sweetwater Authority

Temescal Valley Water District

Thousand Oaks, City of

Torrance, City of

Trabuco Canyon Water District

Triunfo Sanitation District

Tustin, City of

Union Sanitary District

Ventura Regional Sanitation District

Ventura, City of

Vista, City of

Walnut Valley Water District

Watsonville, City of

West Basin Municipal Water District

Western Municipal Water District

Yorba Linda Water District

Zone 7 Water Agency
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Sweetwater Authority
CALIFORNIA

Reference: Rich Stevenson, Director of Finance
505 Garrett Avenue, Chula Vista, CA 91910
P: 619.409.6711 / E: rstevenson@sweetwater.org
Type of Work: Rate Study and Financial Planning
Timeframe: 2014-present (providing on-going services)
Value: $92,000
Team Members: Sudhir Pardiwala & Steve Gagnon

Raftelis evaluated rates, including drought rates, for the Sweetwater Authority (Authority) 
in light of recent litigation over their current rate structure. The evaluation included a cost of 
service study to clearly demonstrate the nexus between the rate for each single-family tier and 
the associated costs to serve that tier. The study started by soliciting input from Board members 
regarding their water pricing objectives so that rates could be designed accordingly. Unique 
aspects of the Authority include a customer base with very low water use per capita. The Board 
of Directors was interested in maintaining a rate structure which fosters low bills for low water 
use customers – while maintaining fair and defensible rates. 
 

On the following pages, we have provided 
detailed descriptions of several projects that the 
assigned staff have worked on which are similar 
in scope and/or geography to the District’s 
project. We selected these projects because 
many of our proposed Project Team members 
worked in similar roles on them. We have 
included references for each of these clients and 
urge you to contact them to better understand 
our capabilities and the quality of service that 
we provide. Raftelis affirms that the firm and 
all assigned key staff are properly registered/
licensed to practice in California. 
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San Dieguito Water District (CA)
CALIFORNIA

Reference: Bill O’Donnell, Assistant General Manager
505 South Vulcan Avenue, Encinitas, CA 92024-3633
P: 760.633.2849 / E: bodonnell@ci.encinitas.ca.us
Type of Work: Rate Study and Financial Planning
Timeframe: 2012-2018
Value: $61,000
Team Members: Sudhir Pardiwala & Steve Gagnon

Faced with regional drought conditions and mandatory water 
cutbacks, the San Dieguito Water District (District) engaged 
Raftelis to conduct a water rate study. The elements of the rate 
study included developing a long-term financial plan, rates that 
can be implemented under existing conditions, and five-stage 
drought plan including rates that can be implemented for any 
stage over the next three years. 

In order to develop drought rates, a thorough understanding of 
normal water consumption was necessary. We examined several 
years worth of data to identify potential areas for conservation. 
Our usage analysis allowed us to adjust the existing tiered rate 
structures to ensure that revenue requirements were met regard-
less of the consumption levels that would occur during each of 
the five stages. Additionally, because the drought stages would 
result in significant reductions in usage that aren’t always easy 
to forecast, Raftelis recommended increasing the percentage of 
revenue derived from fixed rates to increase revenue stability.

City of Escondido
CALIFORNIA

Reference: Chris McKinney, Utilities Director
201 N. Broadway, Escondido, CA 92025
P: 760.839.4090 / E: CMcKinney@ci.escondido.ca.us
Type of Work: Water and Wastewater Rate Study & Cost of 
Service Study
Timeframe: 2010-2018
Value: $99,000 (2016 Cost of Service Study)
Team Members: Sudhir Pardiwala, Hannah Phan, &  
Nancy Phan

Raftelis completed a water and wastewater rate study for the 
City of Escondido (City). The rate study was conducted with 
extensive stakeholder involvement including various seg-
ments of the community and two Council members. Several 
inequities were corrected and improvements made to provide 
incentives for conservation and fair and equitable rates. The 
City has a fair amount of agricultural use. Rates for these 
customers were proposed on the basis of preferential use of 
local water. Raftelis investigated the applicability of a water 
budget-based rate structure. 

As a component of the study, Raftelis was asked to provide 
the City with an estimate of cost of initial implementation 
of either “Drive-by” Automated Meter Reading Technology 
(AMR) or Fixed Network meter reading technology. Cur-
rently the City employs the traditional manual meter reading 
methodology in its service area and intends to replace this 
with one of the technologies stated above. Raftelis reviewed 
the pros and cons of both systems and looked at imple-
mentation costs provided by several technology vendors. 
Ultimately, Raftelis determined that the implementation cost 
of a Fixed Network system would be approximately $3 mil-
lion more than the “Drive-by” system for the City’s 26,000 
water accounts. This would be partially offset by life-cycle 
cost advantages derived from lower ongoing operating costs. 
The City will make a decision on which technology to choose 
based on how the additional cost of the Fixed Network 
impacts its ability to fund other capital improvement plan 
needs.
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Schedule
Raftelis will complete the scope of services within the timeframe shown in the schedules below. The proposed schedule 

assumes that Raftelis will receive the needed data in a timely manner and be able to schedule meetings as necessary. 

Water rates will be effective March 1, 2020 and Wastewater rates will be effective July 1, 2021.

SCHEDULE

1. Project Management, 
Kick-off, and Data 
Collection 

2. Policy and Rate 
Framework Workshop 

3. Financial Plan 
Development

4. Cost of Service 
Analysis

5. Rates Calculation and 
Customer Impacts

6. Draft and Final 
Reports

7. Rate Implementation

          In-Person Meetings / Workshops

          Web Meetings

         Draft/Final Report

2019 2020

November DecemberJanuary February March April May June July August September October January

Water

Wastewater

1. Project Management, 
Kick-off, and Data 
Collection

2. Policy and Rate 
Framework Workshop

3. Financial Plan 
Development

4. Cost of Service 
Analysis

5. Rates Calculation and 
Customer Impacts

6. Draft and Final 
Reports

7. Rate Implementation

          In-Person Meetings / Workshops

          Web Meetings

         Draft/Final Report

December January

2020 2021

June July August September October NovemberJanuary February March April May

Included with the water schedule.
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Cost Estimate
Raftelis proposes to complete the scope of work outlined below on a time-and-materials basis as shown below (water 

shown below and wastewater on the following page). The following table provides a breakdown of the estimated 

level of effort required for completing each task described and the hourly billing rates for the personnel scheduled to 

complete the project. Expenses include costs associated with travel, and a $10 per hour technology charge covering 

computers, networks, software, telephones, postage, etc.   

COST ESTIMATE

Water
Staff

Project 
Director 

(SP)

Project 
Manager 

(HP)
Staff 

Consultants

Technical 
Reviewer 

(SG) Admin

$325 $235 $180 $235 $75
Task Hours 

Subtotal
Labor 

Subtotal
Other Costs 

Subtotal Total Cost

1. Project 
Management, Kick-off, 
and Data Collection 

1 8 12 8 2 8 38 $7,930 $1,146 $9,076

2. Policy and Rate 
Framework Workshop 1 2 12 6 20 $4,550 $966 $5,516

3. Financial Plan 
Development 2 4 16 32 2 54 $11,290 $540 $11,830

4. Cost of Service 
Analysis 2 8 16 26 $5,410 $260 $5,670

5. Rates Calculation 
and Customer 
Impacts

2 2 4 32 32 68 $14,580 $2,213 $16,793

6. Draft and Final 
Reports 2 8 32 40 2 6 88 $18,240 $2,413 $20,653

7. Rate 
Implementation 1 2 20 4 1 27 $6,305 $1,036 $7,341

Total Estimated 
Meetings / Hours 4 7 30 132 138 7 14 321

Total Professional Fees $9,750 $31,020 $24,840 $1,645 $1,050 $68,305

Total Fees $68,305

Total Expenses $8,574

Total Fees & Expenses $76,879

Fees

Tasks
Web 

Meetings

Number 
of 

Meetings

SP - Sudhir Pardiwala 
HP - Hannah Phan
SG - Steve Gagnon
Staff Consultants
Admin - Administrative Staff
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Wastewater

Consultant Rates
Position

Hourly Billing 
Rate**

Chair/Chair Emeritus $415

Chief Executive Officer/President $370

Executive Vice President $325

Vice President $290

Director of Governmental Services $290

Senior Manager $260

Director of Florida Operations $220

Manager $235

Director of Data Services $235

Senior Consultant $205

Consultant $180

Associate $150

Analyst $110

Administration $75

Technology/Communications Charge* $10

*Technology/Communications Charge – this 
is an hourly fee charged monthly for each 
hour worked on the project to recover 
telephone, facsimilie, computer, postage/
overnight delivery, conference calls, elec-
tronic/computer webinars, photocopies, etc.

**For services related to the preparation for 
and participation in deposition and trial/hear-
ing, the standard billing rates listed above will 
be increased by an amount up to 50%.

Staff

Project 
Director 

(SP)

Project 
Manager 

(HP)
Staff 

Consultants

Technical 
Reviewer 

(SG) Admin

$325 $235 $180 $235 $75
Task Hours 

Subtotal
Labor 

Subtotal
Other Costs 

Subtotal Total Cost

1. Project 
Management, Kick-
off, and Data 
Collection

1 8 10 8 2 8 36 $7,460 $1,126 $8,586

2. Policy and Rate 
Framework Workshop $0 $0 $0

3. Financial Plan 
Development 2 2 12 24 38 $7,790 $380 $8,170

4. Cost of Service 
Analysis 2 16 2 20 $4,770 $200 $4,970

5. Rates Calculation 
and Customer 
Impacts

2 2 2 40 8 50 $11,490 $2,033 $13,523

6. Draft and Final 
Reports 2 2 32 40 2 76 $15,840 $2,293 $18,133

7. Rate 
Implementation 1 1 16 2 2 21 $4,595 $976 $5,571

Total Estimated 
Meetings / Hours 4 6 17 126 84 4 10 241

Total Professional Fees $5,525 $29,610 $15,120 $940 $750 $51,945

Total Fees $51,945

Total Expenses $7,008

Total Fees & Expenses $58,953

Tasks
Web 

Meetings

Number 
of 

Meetings

Fees

SP - Sudhir Pardiwala 
HP - Hannah Phan
SG - Steve Gagnon
Staff Consultants
Admin - Administrative Staff

included with water fees
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Most Recent Cost of 
Service Study Reports

COPY OF MOST RECENT COST OF SERVICE STUDY REPORTS

In the electronic attachment, we have provided three reports that are similar to the District’s proposed scope of work. 

The three reports are from projects for Brentwood, Sweeetwater Autority, and Santa Fe Irrigation District.
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Acknowledgment of Agreement 
and Statement of Exceptions

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AGREEMENT AND STATEMENT OF EXCEPTIONS

Raftelis certify that we take no exception(s) to this RFP, including but not limited, the District’s Standard Professional 

Services Agreement, included as Attachment B.
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Addenda to this  
Request for Proposals

ADDENDA TO THIS RQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

An addendum was not issued for this RFP.
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END
IX 
 A: SCOPE OF 
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TASK 1

Project initiation, 
Management and 
Data Collection 

We believe that the best way to 
initiate a study of this nature is 
the execution of a productive 
kick-off meeting. The goals for 
the meeting include:

 • Providing a forum to 
finalize the work plan and 
schedule with District staff 
and Board

 • Discussing the District’s 
preliminary pricing objec-
tives including equity, 
affordability, and revenue 

stability, among others
 • Ensuring that Raftelis has 

an understanding of the 
overall goals and objectives 
of the study

 • Establishing the appropri-
ate work schedule for the 
study

 • Providing an opportunity 
for District staff and the 
Board to reintroduce with 
the Raftelis team and iden-
tify objectives, concerns, 
and issues

 • Reviewing the data require-
ments for the study

Accomplishing these objec-
tives will help to ensure that 

readily available, whereas other 
components may require more 
detailed analyses of operational 
data, customer billing informa-
tion, and costs. 

After performing a preliminary 
review of the initial data, Raftelis 
team members will travel to the 
District for the kick-off meeting 
with District staff and Board to 
ensure that the Raftelis team has 
a thorough understanding of 
the District’s water and waste-
water systems and associated 
operating and capital costs. In 
addition, any other tasks, out-
standing issues, or details related 
to the project scope, work plan, 
schedule, and staffing will be 
discussed and finalized during 
the kick-off meeting. 

Project Management
Consistent and competent pro-
ject management is required 
to ensure project success and 
adherence to timelines and 
budgets. This ongoing task 
involves multiple interre-
lated work efforts that will 
require effective coordination 
between District staff, the 
consultant team, the District 
Board, the public, and other 
stakeholder groups. Our man-
agement approach stresses 
transparency, communication, 
teamwork, objectivity, and 
accountability for meeting 
project objectives. Manage-
ment responsibilities extend to 

the project progresses as 
smoothly as possible.

Prior to the kick-off meeting, 
we will prepare a detailed data 
request list that will identify 
the information needed to 
complete the various analyses. 
Information that is typically 
required to perform a water 
and wastewater rate study 
include, for example: recent 
C omprehen s ive  A n nu a l 
Financial Reports (CAFR); 
recent and current budgets; 
current and historical billing 
data; and a long-term capital 
improvement program. Some 
of this information will be 

The utility industry consistently seeks Raftelis 
as an advisor to lead the national discourse on 
utility financial health and rate structures. 
Raftelis’ added value to the financial planning 
and rate design process is based not only on the 
level of technical expertise that results from deep 
experience, but the ability to glean the best ideas 
and strategies through a collaborative process.

The following tasks define our technical approach 
in response to District’s requested scope of 
services. It should be noted that while we have 
listed these tasks consecutively, some tasks will 
overlap and may be conducted concurrently.

Scope of Services
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general administrative duties 
such as client correspondence, 
billing, project documenta-
tion, and administration of the 
study control plan. 

Throughout the study, the Raft-
elis team will schedule interim 
status meetings or conference 
calls/web meetings to discuss 
project progress and present 
preliminary results. Status 
meetings will be conducted 
via telephone or web confer-
ence utilizing GoToMeeting, a 
web-based conferencing tool. 
This tool will help us conduct 
efficient web meetings quickly 
to discuss issues and review 
results and impacts more effi-
ciently while minimizing costs. 
The Raftelis Project Team will 
also conduct face-to-face meet-
ings as outlined in the scope.

Initiation of the 
Quality Assurance/
Quality Control Process
At the heart of Raftelis’ core 
philosophy is our commitment 
to quality. The foundation of 
our Quality Assurance/Qual-
ity Control (QA/QC) program 
is based on the concept that 
QA/QC is a continuous pro-
cess, not simply a mechanism 
to be incorporated at the end 
of an engagement. As such, in 
every project, we implement a 
systematic program of quality 
assurance that incorporates an 
independent system of checks 
and balances throughout the 
entire course of the engage-
ment to ensure consistency, 
accuracy, and validity. To 
ensure this level of quality 
control, Steve Gagnon will 
be responsible for ensuring 
that the cost of service and 
rate models developed are 
functioning properly and are 
based on sound rate-mak-
ing principles and standard 
industry practice. This will 
be accomplished through the 

periodic review of each model 
throughout the course of the 
project. We have found that a 
well-defined QA/QC process 
ensures that all of our work 
products will be of the highest 
quality and meet or exceed the 
standards that our clients have 
come to expect from Raftelis. 

Meeting: One kick-off 
meeting with District  
staff and Board
Deliverables: Kick-off 
meeting agenda materials, 
meeting minutes, and data 
request list

TASK 2

Policy and 
Rate Framework 
Workshop with 
District Board 

Based on the discussion with 
District staff during the kick-
off meeting, Raftelis will 
conduct a Policy and Rate-Set-
ting Framework Workshop 

with the District Board. The 
workshop will begin with a 
review of the evolution of water 
and wastewater rate structures 
and the benefits and challenges 
associated with each structure, 
including uniform rates, sea-
sonal rates, inclining tiered 
rates, and water budget rate 
structures for water, and fixed/
variable rates for wastewater. 
The goal of this discussion 
and the Pricing Objectives 
Overview, described below, is 
for the District to share with 
Raftelis its understanding of 
available rate structures and 
for Raftelis to provide the 
District an overview of all 
applicable alternatives accord-
ing to the District’s priorities 
and currently observed best 
management practices. 

Pricing Objectives 
Overview   
Once rate structure alternatives 
and the District’s preliminary 
preferences have been dis-
cussed, Raftelis will present 
an overview of pricing objec-

tives. Pricing objectives could 
include but are not limited to: 

 • Promotion of ef f icient 
water use

 • Reduction in total water use 
(especially considering SB 
606 / AB 1668)

 • Affordability for essential 
use 

 • Need for an ef fective 
drought management tool

 • Financial sufficiency and 
stability

 • Rate stability
 • Reduction in peak demand
 • Simplicity and ease of 

implementation
 • Customer understanding
 • Minimization of customer 

impacts
 
Raf telis wi l l provide the 
workshop presentation mate-
rials and pricing objectives 
exercise to District staff and 
the General Manager for dis-
tribution to the Board prior to 
the workshop. Taking the time 
to cover these foundational 
topics builds the framework 
for informed collaboration 
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as the Water and Wastewater 
Rate Study progresses.  
 
Based on the Board’s ranking 
of pricing objectives and other 
input gathered during the 
preceding workshop, Raftelis 
will provide the Board with 
the basis for recommending 
alternative water and waste-
water rate structures, as 
appropriate. The goal of the 
workshop is to identify which 
rate structures best meet 
the pricing objectives of the 
District. The study can then 
focus efficiently on evaluating 
two or three rates structures 
for each utility. The policy 
issues that are discussed and 
developed through the policy 
workshop will be outlined in a 
Memorandum (Memo). 

Meetings: One policy 
workshop with District 
Board of Directors 
Deliverables: Presentation 
materials and pricing 
objectives exercise, and 
framework memo 

TASK 3

Financial Plan 
Development 

After data has been compiled, 
Raftelis will begin development 
of a 10-year financial plan for 
both water and wastewater. 
This will include an estimate 
of water and wastewater rev-
enues based on current rates, 
usage characteristics, and other 
non-operating revenues. Rafte-
lis will analyze these costs and 
identify primary cost drivers of 
the financial plan as a percent-
age of total rates and charges. 
Revenue requirements will be 
projected based on calculated 
water purchase, treatment, 
and distribution costs, waste-
water f low, current budget, 

capital improvement plans 
(CIP), existing debt service, 
other obligations and current 
economic trends including 
inflation. Rates, debt, grants, 
government subsidies, or 
infrastructure bank loans will 
be provided as options for cap-
ital cost financing. Raftelis will 
also calculate pass-through 
increases for costs identified 
by the District. 

Raftelis will determine the 
necessary revenue adjustments 
based on the District’s capacity 
for debt, current revenue and 
expenses, and optimal capital 
funding mechanisms between 
pay-go and debt funded 
capital expenses. Projecting 
revenue adjustments over a 
longer planning horizon can 
illustrate future rate impacts 
and potential challenges to 
the District’s financial situa-
tion and allow the District to 
make adjustments to expenses, 
reserve balances or capital 
projects scheduling to smooth 
rate impacts and to maintain 
financial stability. 

Raftelis will develop a cash 
f low analysis to determine 
revenue adjustments needed 
to meet projected revenue 
requirements for the planning 
period, while minimizing 
sharp rate f luctuations and 
debt coverage requirements. 
Revenue requirements will be 
calculated for each year in the 
forecast period and adjusted to 
provide for a smooth forecast 
of revenue adjustments. For 
example, changes in the timing 
of capital expenditures and the 
use of reserve funds to mitigate 
short-term rate impacts are 
two ways that revenue smooth-
ing could be addressed. The 
objective will be to minimize 
the magnitude of customer 
impacts while still achieving 
long-term revenue objectives.

Another important element 
of our financial plan will be 
the development of reserves 
for operating, capital, rate 
stabilization, and emergency 
purposes. We will consider the 
District’s existing reserve pol-
icies and risks and challenges 
that are unique to the District 
when recommending appropri-
ate reserves. 

Raftelis will develop a detailed 
forecast model that will serve 
as the initial module of the 
financial planning and rate 
model. Once completed, the 
model will serve as a compre-
hensive, yet flexible, planning 
tool that will incorporate the 
District’s operating budget, 
forecasted demand projections, 
capital financing plan, revenue 
requirements, revenue projec-
tions, reserve balances, and 
customer impacts and allow 
scenario analysis. Following, 
are some of the features of our 
financial plan model: 

 • Provides f lexibi l ity to 
change various assump-
tions by year

 • Flags errors and prob-
lematic results such as: 
failure to meet debt cover-
age, reserves below target 
levels, etc. 

 • Performs sensitivity anal-
yses and runs various 
“what-if” scenarios so that 
impacts can be viewed 
instantaneously with built 
in-screen graphics

 • Provides ease of input, 
report printing, updates, 
understanding and admin-
istration.

The financial plans will be 
presented in an easy-to-un-
dersta nd format on a n 
interactive dashboard which 
shows the impacts of various 
assumptions so that decisions 
regarding revenue adjust-
ments, customer demand, 

capital f inancing through 
pay-go or debt and reserve bal-
ances can all be made quickly 
and efficiently. A snapshot of 
the dashboard is shown on the 
following page. 
 
Meetings: For each utility: 
two web meetings with 
District staff 
Deliverable(s): Draft 
financial plan models for 
water and wastewater

TASK 4

Cost of Service 
Analysis 

The cost of service analysis 
portion of the Water and 
Wastewater Rate Studies is 
often viewed as a compliance 
measure for regulations such 
as Proposition 218 or Propo-
sition 26; another perspective 
is the defensibility the analysis 
provides the District in terms 
of the selected rate structure 
and rate levels for each util-
ity. This level of confidence 
provides additional support 
for the District’s pursuing the 
rates and rate structures that 
are best for the District and its 
customers.

Raftelis will use methodology 
set by AWWA’s Manual M1 
and WEF’s Manual of Practice 
No. 27. Based on the revenue 
requirements identif ied in 
Task 3, utility costs will be 
allocated to the appropriate 
service functions, determin-
ing how those services are 
used by each customer class, 
and calculating the unit cost 
for each cost category. 

Operating costs will be allo-
cated to each functional cost 
category based on the func-
tionalized operating expenses 
of the water utility. Capital 
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Raftelis will develop a customized financial model for 
the City that incorporates a dashboard to allow you to 
easily run scenarios and see the impacts in real time.
Shown below is a sample dashboard that we developed for another project.

No of Years Display in Charts 5 Select year to show Financial Structure
Under Current Rate Structure

2010

Zero Selected Variables

Variables                        Increments             2010                      2011                    2012                     2013                    2014                     2015                     2016                     2017                     2018                    2019      

Rev Adjmts 1% 10% 10% 9% 9% 9% 9% 0% 0% 0% 0%

New Debt 1,000,000$      13,000,000$         -$                       -$                       8,000,000$           -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       -$                       

Shows the projected 
operating costs and 

revenue streams

Shows the revenue 
adjustment required 

for the next five years 
in order to meet debt 
coverage and target 

reserve balance

Spin buttons for 
scenario analysis

Indicates the reserves 
balance and target 
level according to 

utility’s policies Indicates the 
different funding 

sources of the CIP
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costs will be allocated on the 
basis of the existing assets, 
such as treatment plants, res-
ervoirs, pump stations, wells, 
pipelines, meters, etc. 

The water cost of service will 
be allocated to the various 
cost components, including 
capacity-related costs, com-
modity costs, customer costs, 
and other direct and indirect 
costs consistent with industry 
standards. In addition, Raftelis 
will review the cost allocation 
between potable water and 
recycled water operations for 
common expenses. Cost allo-
cations among user classes 
for the wastewater enterprise 
will be based on the flow and 
wastewater “strength” of each 
class. The strength of each 
class is determined by the 
biochemical oxygen demand 
(BOD) and total suspended 
solids (TSS) of its wastewater 
effluent. The end goal of this 
task is to distribute the costs 
components to the customer 
classes based on the cost 
responsibility of each class 
for each utility. Water and 
wastewater costs will be allo-
cated based on units of service 
demanded by each class. The 
result is the total cost to serve 
each customer class and is 
used as the basis to develop 
water and wastewater rates. 
 
Throughout the cost allocation 
process, Raftelis will comply 
with the District’s policy 
considerations, procedures, 
and guidelines applicable to 
charges for water and waste-
water service and ensure that 
proposed rates are in com-
pliance with Proposition 218, 
Proposition 26, and other reg-
ulations. Although not a law 
firm, Raftelis is very familiar 
with Proposition 218 require-
ments and its implications on 

utility rates. Our Project Team 
has extensive experience with 
Proposition 218 and has con-
ducted conference sessions on 
the matter.  

Meetings: None
Deliverables: Electronic 
water and wastewater rate 
models in Microsoft Excel 

TASK 5

Rates Calculation 
and Customer 
Impacts 

After evaluating the existing 
cost allocation and assessing 
the impact of any proposed 
adjustments, water and waste-
water rates will be developed 
based on the results of Task 4. 
We will work within the broad 
industry guidelines to meet 
the following rate-setting and 
pricing objectives of District 
for each utility:

 • Generate sufficient revenues 
to meet the District’s reve-
nue requirements

 • Reflect the goals and policy 
objectives of the District

 • Recover the cost of service 
with reasonable equity 
among customer classes

 • Provide rates that are easy to 
understand and administer

Raftelis will develop water 
and wastewater rate models 
with the flexibility to compare 
the current rate structure with 
one alternative rate structure 
that aligns with the Dis-
trict’s objectives, meets legal 
requirements, and establishes 
customer equitability. 

Customer Impacts 
Raftelis will determine the 
potential financial impacts on 
water and wastewater custom-
ers that may result from the 

proposed rates. Rate adjust-
ments stem from: 1) a change 
in revenue requirements and/
or, 2) a change in the rate struc-
ture. The total rate adjustment 
can sometimes cause “rate 
shock” to customers. As such, 
Raftelis will determine the 
potential financial impact on 
customers that results from 
the proposed rate structure as 
opposed to a revenue require-
ment increase. Raftelis will 
also measure the impact of the 
proposed rates considering the 
following scenarios:
1. Rate impacts due to an 

increase or decrease in sales 
volume 

2. Rate impacts due to a 
change in Operation and 
Maintenance costs 

3. Rate impacts due to a 
change in planned capital 
spending 

4. Rate impacts in order to 
maintain the District’s 
desired debt service cov-
erage due to changes from 
Nos. 1, 2, and 3 above

5. Rate impacts due to new 
debt service and capital 
needs 

6. Rate impacts based on pass-
through/nondiscretionary 
charges 

7. Rate impacts resulting from 

reduced usage consistnet 
with AB 1668 and SB 606

Should it be necessary, Raft-
elis will develop and assess 
the effects of a transition 
plan whereby signif icant 
changes in rates are phased 
in over a period of time to 
allow the District the abil-
ity to correct subsidies in 
its rates while minimizing 
the financial impact on any 
customer group. Raftelis can 
recommend low and high 
rate increases for Proposition 
218 disclosure given varying 
funding scenarios. 

The customer impact anal-
ysis will include a series of 
tables and figures that show 
projected rate impacts by cus-
tomer class at various levels of 
usage. The customer impact 
illustration displayed below 
shows that 64% (46% + 18%) of 
the customers will see no more 
than a $2 increase in their bill. 

As part of this task, Raftelis 
will attend one workshop 
with the District Board Ad 
Hoc Committee, which would 
occur af ter District staff 
meeting and after Raftelis 

The graphical representations of overall financial impacts 
on customers are tools for stakeholders to make informed 
decisions regarding different policy options and variables.
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has developed a preliminary 
rate model and rates for each 
utility. The purpose of the 
workshop would be to seek 
feedback from the Board on 
the methodology and assump-
tions used in the study, as well 
as preliminary rates. Feedback 
from the workshop would be 
incorporated into final rate 
development. Presentation 
materials will be provided to 
District staff beforehand for 
review prior to the workshop.

Rate Survey
As part of this task, Raftelis 
will work with District staff to 
conduct water and wastewater 
comparative rate surveys of 
up to five comparable com-
munities in the San Diego 
area. Raftelis has extensive 
experience in conducting rate 
surveys, as we partner with the 
AWWA to conduct the nation-
wide biennial survey of water 
and wastewater rates and with 
the CA-NV Section of AWWA 
to survey water and waste-
water utilities in California 
and Nevada. Some of the data 
collected from the national 
survey may be of great use in 
the public outreach portion of 
the rate implementation. This 
provides Raftelis with extensive 
survey experience, a national 
database, and numerous con-
tacts throughout the industry 
that will be extremely useful 
in collecting financial and rate 
information for the rate and 
cost of service comparison.  

Comparing rates with other 
representative agencies can 
provide insights into a utili-
ty’s pricing policies related to 
service. Care should be taken, 
however, in drawing conclu-
sions from such a comparison 
as some factors including geo-
graphic location, demand, 
customer constituency, level of 

treatment, level of grant fund-
ing, age of system, source of 
supply, and rate-setting meth-
odology can affect the cost of 
providing services.

Model Training
Raftelis will train District staff 
to use all of the key aspects of 
the model, including model 
structure and functionality, 
methodologies used during 
the study, adjusting and saving 
key variables that support the 
“what-if ” scenario develop-
ment features of the dashboard, 
and how to update the model 
with new inputs for the Dis-
trict’s future use. Raftelis will 
ensure that District staff are 
comfortable with manipulat-
ing the model and can use the 
model now and in the future. 

Meetings: For each utility: 
two web meetings with 
District staff; one work-
shop with the District 
Board Ad Hoc Committee; 
and one meeting with 
Board 
Deliverable(s): Draft rate 
model, rate survey, and 
presentation materials

TASK 6

Draft and 
Final Reports 

Recent court case deci-
sions have emphasized the 
importance of a thorough 
administrative record and 
defensible methodology of the 
final rates for service. To ensure 
that the study includes a thor-
ough administrative record, 
the Study Report will include 
an exhibit listing all rate design 
assumptions and methodolo-
gies used to develop the rates. 
The discussion on rate struc-
ture selection will be presented 

as a comprehensive section on 
the rate design assumptions 
and methodologies used to 
develop the rate calculations. 
The process for developing 
the proposed rates will be 
described in a Draft Report 
for each utility. These Draft 
Reports will include an execu-
tive summary highlighting the 
major issues and decisions and 
an overview of operations, CIP, 
the financial plans and the final 
rates resulting from the Water 
and Wastewater Cost of Service 
Rate Studies. Comments from 
District staff and Board Ad 
Hoc Committee will be incor-
porated into the Final Draft 
Report, which will be subject 
to approval by the Board of 
Directors. 

The Report will lead the reader 
through Raftelis’ methodol-
ogy to arrive at rates that are 
equitable, ref lect District’s 
policies and values, and 
are driven by the District’s 
revenue requirements. The 
Report’s ability to explain the 
rate development process in 
a clear and understandable 
manner will promote financial 
transparency, heighten legal 
defensibility, and uphold Dis-
trict’s strong reputation with 
the public. 

Meetings: For each utility: 
one workshop with the 
District Board Ad Hoc 
Committee and one Board 
meeting 
Deliverable(s): For each 
utility: Draft, Draft Final, 
and Final Reports

TASK 7

Rate 
Implementation

Raftelis will assist the District 

in reviewing the water and 
wastewater Proposition 218 
notices to ensure that they 
ref lect the Board approved 
rates and adequately explains 
the rates to the public at large.
The District will hold a public 
hearing at least 45 days after 
the public notice is issued for 
each utility. Raftelis will attend 
and present at the public hear-
ing in support of the rates and 
will be available to answer any 
stakeholder questions. 

Meetings: For each utility: 
one public hearing 
Deliverable(s): 
Presentation materials

TASK 8

Public Outreach 
and Other 
Assistance 
(Optional)

Raftelis will attend public 
outreach meetings and board 
workshops, as requested, and 
make presentations to explain 
the rate process, regulatory 
requirements and impacts so 
that customers, Board-mem-
bers ,  a nd s t a keholders 
understand and support the 
recommendations of the study.
Raftelis will provide assistance 
as required on a time and 
materials basis including sup-
port in case of legal challenge.

TASK 9

Water Budget Rate 
Analysis (Optional)

Raftelis can assist with the 
development of a water budget 
rate structure if the pricing 
objectives exercise indicates that 
structure as the preferred alter-
native. Water budget structures 
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provide individual allocations 
for each customer. Typically, 
water budget structures are set 
up for residential and irrigation 
customers. Commercial cus-
tomers are not ideally suited for 
water budgets; however, histor-
ical demand may be used to set 
up water budget for commercial 
customers. Water budgets would 
include indoor and outdoor 
allocations and definitions of 
various parameters to define the 
water budgets such as landscape 
area, evapotranspiration data, 
number of people per house-
hold, variances, etc. to provide 
equitable budgets for customers. 
Additional tasks included in 

setting up water budget struc-
tures include: 1) identifying 
landscape areas based on total 
lot area or GIS data, this may 
require merging of parcel data-
base with billing database; 2) 
analysis of usage by account by 
month; 3) model development 
to include the water-budget 
parameters such as indoor and 
outdoor usage allotments; and, 
4) additional workshop(s) with 
the Board to obtain guidance 
on water budget policies and 
discuss resultant impacts of the 
water-budget evaluation. Fees 
for developing water budgets 
are not included in the costs in 
this proposal.
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SPECIALTIES
• Cost of service rate studies
• Conservation and drought management 

studies
• Economic analyses
• Water and wastewater utility cost 

accounting
• Valuation
• Financial and revenue planning
• Assessment engineering
• Reviewing/obtaining capital 

improvement funding
• Computer modeling

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Executive Vice President 

(2013-present); Vice President (2004-
2013)

• Black & Veatch: Principal Consultant 
(1997-2004)

• MWH: Principal Engineer (1985-1997)
• CF Braun: Senior Engineer (1979-1985)
• PFR Engineering Systems: Research 

Engineer (1977-1979)

EDUCATION
• Master of Business Administration - 

University of California, Los Angeles 
(1982)

• Master of Science in Chemical 
Engineering - Arizona State University 
(1976)

• Bachelor of Science in Chemical 
Engineering - Indian Institute of 
Technology, Bombay (1974)

PROFESIONAL REGISTRATIONS
• Registered Professional Engineer: CA 

(Chemical (1981) and Civil (1988)) 

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS
• American Water Works Association
• Water Environment Federation
• California Municipal Finance Officers 

Association

CERTIFICATIONS
• Series 50 Municipal Advisor 

Representative

Sudhir Pardiwala PE
Project Director
Executive Vice President

Mr. Pardiwala has 40 years of experience in financial studies and engineering. He has exten-
sive expertise in water and wastewater utility financial and revenue planning, valuation, and 
assessment engineering. He has conducted numerous water, wastewater, stormwater, and 
reclaimed water rate studies involving conservation, drought management, risk analysis, as 
well as system development fee studies, and has developed computerized models for these 
financial evaluations. Mr. Pardiwala has assisted public agencies in reviewing and obtaining 
alternate sources of funding for capital improvements, including low-interest state and fed-
eral loans and grants. He has assisted several utilities with State Revolving Fund and Water 
Reclamation Bond loans. Mr. Pardiwala authored the chapter on reclaimed water rates in 
the Manual of Practice No. 27, Financing and Charges for Wastewater Systems, published by 
the Water Environment Federation (WEF). He also authored a chapter entitled, “Recycled 
Water Rates,” for the Fourth Edition of the industry guidebook, Water and Wastewater 
Finance and Pricing: The Changing Landscape. Mr. Pardiwala was vice-chairman of the 
CA-NV AWWA Business Management Division and Chairman of the Financial Manage-
ment Committee.

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Olivenhain Municipal Water District (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala assisted the Olivenhain Municipal Water District (District) in conducting 
a water financial plan study and a recycled water rate study to determine the recycled 
water rates charged to customers. The water financial planning model was developed to 
assist the District in evaluating different financing alternatives to minimize rate impacts 
and ensure financial stability. The water model was effectively used in Board meetings 
and presentations to evaluate the impacts of various scenarios. Additionally, Raftelis cal-
culated drought/conservation rates for different stages of cutbacks. The recycled water 
rate study was conducted to determine the recycled water rates charged to customers 
given that the District obtains recycled water from four different sources: the City of San 
Diego, Vallecitos Water District, Rancho Santa Fe Community Services District, and the 
4S Regional Recycled Water System. The existing agreements defined the costs of different 
sources of recycled water to the District. To address all of those issues and concerns, Rafte-
lis developed a recycled water financial and rate model to determine the costs of providing 
service and the required revenue to be collected from customers. In addition, the model 
is built to evaluate when the District is able to take over the 4S Regional Recycled Water 
System, as stated in the agreement with the developer.

City of San Diego (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala conducted numerous studies for the City of San Diego (City), including 
a water, wastewater and reclaimed water rate study. The entire wastewater rate study 
was conducted with extensive stakeholder group involvement because of the changes 
required in the wastewater rate structure to meet regulatory requirements. In addition, 
Mr. Pardiwala served as project manager for the City’s reclaimed water rate study, 
impact fee studies for both water and wastewater, and a transportation charges study 
for agencies contributing to the City’s regional wastewater facility. Mr. Pardiwala also 
managed a water demand study which involved statistical analysis of historical water 
consumption to model projections based on weather, economic activity, population, 
inflation, etc. Mr. Pardiwala evaluated the feasibility of a water budget rate structure 
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for the City. He assisted the City with the Proposition 218 notic-
ing and public outreach.

City of Ontario (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala served as Project Manager on multiple water, 
wastewater and solid waste rate studies. The study included a com-
prehensive review of the City of Ontario’s revenue requirements 
and allocation methodology, review of user classifications, a cost 
of service analysis, and rate design for City users.

Raftelis designed tiered water rates, recycled rates and wastewater 
rates considering IEUA rates. Solid waste rates were designed to 
recover costs. Raftelis provided the City with a model that is used 
for planning purposes by the City. The City has engaged Raftelis 
multiple times to update these rates, optimize water sources to 
minimize costs.

City of Redlands (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala has managed several financial projects for the City 
of Redlands (City) including water, wastewater and reclaimed 
water projects. The studies were conducted with extensive stake-
holder input and multiple meetings with a Utilities Advisory 
Commission composed of local residents, businesses, and other 
interested parties. The first rate studies involved significant rate 
adjustments as well as rate structure adjustments to ensure finan-
cial stability, meet debt coverage and regulatory requirements. The 
analysis included calculation of outside-City charges and impact 
fees. The City received user-friendly working rate models for future 
updates. Mr. Pardiwala assisted the City with State Revolving Fund 
loans for reclaimed water and potable water. He helped them find 
grants for the reclaimed water project and water treatment plant 
upgrade. He has been assisting the City biennially with their water, 
wastewater and recycled water rates.

City of Palo Alto (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager for a study for the City of 
Palo Alto (City) to determine the cost of service rates consistent 
with Proposition 218. The study involved review of fire service 
charges, booster pumping rates, strict adherence to cost of service 
principles. The study was conducted with the participation of a 
citizens’ advisory committee. Raftelis developed an user friendly 
rate model, provided City staff training on use of the model. The 
proposed rates were implemented July 1, 2012. Raftelis assisted The 
City with an update developing conservation rates with the State 
mandated reductions in usage.

City of Santa Barbara (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala has been assisting the City of Santa Barbara (City) 
with their water, wastewater and recycled water financial plans and 
cost of service rates studies involving rates for different customer 
classes including agriculture, outside City, tiered residential, com-
mercial etc. Wastewater rates were developed for various funding 
sources including grants and SRF loans. The City is facing severe 
water supply shortages and water rates included evaluation of 
multiple drought stages, the rates and impacts on customers as 

well as funding desalination to provide adequate supplies for the 
City’s customers. Raftelis also evaluated system capacity fees for 
new water and wastewater customers.

City of Sacramento (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala managed a wastewater rate study to examine the 
charges associated with different types of residential and non-res-
idential customers. The study included a comprehensive review 
of the City’s revenue requirements and allocation methodology, 
review of City’s user classification, a cost of service analysis, and 
rate design for City users. Sacramento is one of the few large 
Cities in the State that does not meter residential and a significant 
number of non-residential customers. The strength and flow allo-
cation to these customers was revised. The resultant rates were 
fair and equitable and met the fiscal needs of the City’s wastewater 
utility in the context of the City’s overall policy objectives and were 
designed for simplicity of administration, cost effective implemen-
tation and ease of communication to customers.

City of Beverly Hills (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala served as Project Manager for Raftelis’ engagement 
with the City of Beverly Hills (City) water and wastewater rate 
studies. Raftelis was engaged by the City to develop a rate and 
financial planning model that would be used to evaluate alternative 
rate structures and to provide more detailed forecasts to assist in 
the preparation of updating rates in future years. Raftelis modeled 
numerous alternative rate structures and reviewed customer and 
revenue impacts before recommending that the City modify its 
current three tiered rate structure to include a fourth tier that tar-
gets large irrigation usage. In addition, Raftelis recommended that 
the costs of service based on flow and strength. Raftelis continues 
to provide biennial updates to the City model so that rates may be 
projected in future years.

City of Ventura (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala served as Project Manager for a water, wastewater, 
and recycled water cost of service and rate study for the City of 
Ventura (City). The City had not updated its rate structure in 20 
years. Additionally, the City was under a cease and desist order that 
required the City to carry out improvements estimated at more 
than $55 million, and which the City wanted to start funding to 
mitigate impacts. The goal of the study was to develop conser-
vation-oriented rates consistent with cost of service to recover 
adequate revenues to pay for necessary capital improvements, 
meet debt service coverage requirements, as well as maintaining 
sufficient reserve requirements. The study included a compre-
hensive review of the City’s revenue requirements and allocation 
methodology, review of the City’s user classification, usage pat-
terns, a cost of service analysis, and rate design for City users. 
Raftelis developed long-range financial plans so that the water and 
wastewater utilities could be financially stable and save costs in 
the long run. We also assisted the City with developing different 
water and wastewater rate alternatives with various scenarios as 
well as calculating outside-city rates. The study was conducted 
with several meetings and input from stakeholders comprised of 
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customers within the City. Raftelis educated the Citizen Advisory 
Committee on the basics of rates, cost allocations, and rate design 
to obtain their buy-in through the use of the dashboards in the 
rate models we developed for them to demonstrate the impacts of 
various revenue adjustments on the long-term financial stability 
of the enterprises. Raftelis also developed a schedule for funding 
a major wastewater program required by environmental groups. 
Recommended rates were implemented for two years in July 2012. 
Raftelis updated rates for the City in 2014 and provided water 
drought rates.

Goleta West Sanitary District (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala has been Goleta West Sanitary District’s (District) 
financial consultant for over more than 15 years. During that time 
he has assisted the District with financial planning, development 
and financing their replacement and refurbishment program, 
developing a rate structure, annexation fees, connection fees, 
miscellaneous fees, reserves policy development, and other finan-
cial issues. The District charges customers on the tax roll. Raftelis 
developed the data to be included on the tax roll and the District 
now manages it.

Clark County Water Reclamation District (NV)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager for a cost of service study for 
the Clark County Water Reclamation District (District) to help 
evaluate the current system of rates and charges to ensure that users 
were being charged appropriately. The District has not updated its 
rate structure system for many years and the current system based 
on fixture units is believed to need restructuring. Raftelis managed 
the sampling and wastewater flow monitoring from different types 
of users to determine the definition of an equivalent dwelling unit 
and the flows from different types of users. There are multiple out-
reach meetings with member agencies and interested stakeholders 
to educate them on the process and to obtain buy-in.

Vallejo Flood and Wastewater District (CA)
Raftelis assisted the Vallejo Flood and Wastewater District (Dis-
trict) with a comprehensive wastewater rate and connection fee 
study (Study). The District an independent special district that 
collects, treats, and disposes of wastewater for 38,000 accounts in 
the City of Vallejo with a service area that covers 36 square miles 
and includes one wastewater treatment plant and 36 wastewater 
pump stations. The existing sewer rate structure comprised of 
flat rates for all residential customers, including single and mul-
ti-family residences. For commercial customers, rates were based 
on both flow and sewage strength. The District was moving over 
to a service charge to be levied on the property tax roll. Raftelis 
was called in to assist with this study after another consultant’s 
study was found to be unacceptable to the District. As part of the 
study, Raftelis thoroughly examined the District’s revenue streams, 
cost structure, analyzed customer data, and developed an equita-
ble rate structure that met both Proposition 218 requirements and 
the District’s goals and objectives. An important part of the study 
was the evaluation of the commercial customer classifications to 
ensure that customers were accurately categorized by strength 
and assessed the appropriate rates. Raftelis also created a user-

friendly model so that various scenarios could be evaluated on the 
fly. Additionally, Raftelis also reviewed and updated the District’s 
connection fees. Upon completion of the rates calculation, Raftelis 
assisted the District in a comprehensive public outreach campaign 
to obtain customers buy-in, which was crucial in the successful 
implementation of the proposed rates for fiscal year 2019.

City and County of San Francisco (CA)
The City conducts water, wastewater and stormwater studies every 
five years to ensure that charges are consistent with cost of service 
and conforms with the City’s Propositions. Mr. Pardiwala served as 
Project Manager for two cycles of rate studies for the City. The City 
has a combined wastewater and stormwater system and costs for 
stormwater are integrated with wastewater. The City was engaging 
in a multi-billion dollar capital improvement program that would 
have significant impact on rates. The City has unique microcli-
mates and Raftelis analyzed the water usage characteristics of 
single family and multi-family users to develop a rate structure 
that would provide incentives for conservation. Raftelis evaluated 
incentives to encourage low impact development, reviewed storm-
water practices to provide credits for best management practices to 
reduce stormwater generation. Raftelis performed an overhead cost 
allocation study consistent with federal requirements of OMB Cir-
cular A-87 to assign costs appropriately to different departments in 
order to obtain federal reimbursement for projects that are eligible 
for federal assistance.

Napa Sanitation District (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager for a recycled water rate study 
for the District. The District was required to restrict summer 
discharge of its wastewater into the river. The District had made 
improvements to its treatment plant to produce recycled water and 
provided incentives to recycled water customers to use the water. 
Agreement with customers were to end within a couple of years and 
the District wanted to enlarge the recycled water facilities and enroll 
new customers into the recycled water program. The District wanted 
to review the economics of the improvements and determine the 
impacts resulting from implementing new recycled water rates. Raft-
elis developed a financial and rate model that considered the new 
customers and revised rates and the impact of providing discounted 
rates on wastewater customers. The District held meeting with the 
recycled water users and obtained input on issues of concern to 
them. Raftelis provided support to the District and evaluated the 
results of the surveys conducted to define the rates.

City of Henderson (NV)
Mr. Pardiwala served as Project Manager for the engagement with 
the City of Henderson (City). In Phase I, Raftelis assisted the City 
in conducting a water and wastewater financial assessment. Raftelis 
developed a financial vision which will ultimately shape the utilities 
for the next ten years. As part of our conceptual design process, 
Raftelis recommended several alternative rate philosophies to be 
evaluated as part of Phase II. The Model was also developed to evalu-
ate certain rate philosophies and user charge structure modifications 
focused on improving the equitable recovery of costs from different 
user classes, legal defensibility of the rates and system development 
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charges, revenue predictability, and conservation incentives. Raftelis 
developed an allocation or budget for different meter sizes to ensure 
that the tiered rates set up would fairly collect revenues from cus-
tomers. Raftelis updated the City’s financial plan by participating in 
the City’s rate implementation process. This included presentations 
of final findings and recommendations to City Council and the 
Citizen’s Advisory Committee.

City of North Las Vegas (NV)
Mr. Pardiwala was the Project Manager for the water and sewer 
financial planning and rate study conducted for the City of North 
Las Vegas (City). At the time, the City had experienced rapid 
growth and had a significant amount of capital projects including 
construction of their own treatment plant. The City faced many 
financial challenges at a time when there were signs of a slow-
ing economy. Raftelis conducted a multi-year financial plan that 
examined various customer growth, capital funding, and rate 
revenue assumptions. Raftelis prepared rate models for both water 
and wastewater and trained City staff on their use. The models 
provided dashboards for ease of use and decision making.

City of Portland (OR)
The City of Portland (City) wanted a financial planning and rate 
model to determine rates for its wholesale and retail customers. 
Mr. Pardiwala served as Project Manager for this study. The City
provided wholesale water to 19 agencies under old agreement that 
were expiring soon. The City was finalizing long-term agreements 
with explicit terms on rate setting. The City wanted to develop 
rates consistent with the new agreement for the wholesale agencies, 
review rate structure alternatives for its retail customers, review 
impacts and provide flexibility for planning for the next 20 years.

The City’s existing retail rate structure consisted of an increasing 
3-tier rate structure for all customers with fixed tiers for single 
family customers and tiers based on the average usage in the 
preceding 12-month period for the remaining customers. The cur-
rent retail rates applied to all classes and did not take into account 
peaking which factors can vary significantly from class to class. 
Raftelis developed alternative rate structure options for retail cus-
tomers and explore the creation of more classes to increase equity 
and fairness and encourage conservation. Alternative rate struc-
tures included uniform volume rates, seasonal rates, increasing 
and “V” or “U” shaped block rates, and a range of individualized 
block rates with cutoffs based on average account usage, seasonal 
usage, or customer characteristics. Raftelis provided the City with 
the computer model and provided training and a manual in the 
user of the model.

In 2012, Mr. Pardiwala managed a bond feasibility study for the 
City’s Bureau of Environmental Services. The City needed to issue 
bonds for several hundred million dollars to meet regulatory 
requirements related to its wastewater and stormwater systems. 
Raftelis met with City staff and reviewed the CIP, business processes, 
rates and rate setting procedures, and provided a certificate of parity 
showing that the City could meet its coverage requirements under 
the current rates so that the City could sell bonds with a good rating.

City of Tacoma (WA)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager for a study to develop finan-
cial plans and rate models for the City’s Environmental Services 
including wastewater, surface water and solid waste utilities. 
The study involved development of user friendly financial and 
rate planning models that would allow the City to update rates 
on an annual basis, quickly make changes, and review rates. The 
model also provided capability to compare the status of the CIP, 
and actual revenues and expenses against budgets on a month by 
month basis. To make this process easy, the model was integrated 
with the City’s SAP and E Builder system. The financial plan and 
rates were reviewed with input from the City’s Environmental 
Services Commission. Raftelis turned over the models to the City, 
provided training and computer manuals in the use of the models.

Mr. Pardiwala also provided financial planning models to the 
City’s water utility, which included user-friendly features and 
benchmarking tools to maximize improvements in operations 
and management.

City of Los Angeles (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager on studies to develop rates 
and rate models for solid waste and wastewater utilities. The City 
wanted to have a planning tool in-house to evaluate what if sce-
narios, impacts and determine rates for various customers. The 
model incorporated many user friendly features to assist the City 
update rates and prepare financial plans on an annual basis. Solid 
waste rates included non-residential customers based on size of 
containers and frequency of collection.

Wastewater rates to the 27 subscribing agencies discharging to the 
City’s wastewater treatment facilities were also determined. This 
involved complex calculations and allocations to wastewater load-
ings, conveyance distance, etc. Connection or impact fees were also 
included in the model. User training, model documentation, regular 
updates and ongoing service were also included in this project.

Mr. Pardiwala also served as Project Manager on a wheeling 
charges study for the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power. 
The City was interested in determining the appropriate charges 
to be levied on various customers that may wish to use the extra 
capacity in the City’s system—from the Los Angeles Aqueduct to 
the distribution network—to transfer water.

City of Pasadena (CA)
Mr. Pardiwala was Project Manager for a study for the City of Pas-
adena (City) to determine roll-out charges for solid waste services 
provided by the City. Certain customers in the City needed assis-
tance with rolling out their containers and replacing them again. 
Mr. Pardiwala analyzed the costs associated with this service and 
set up a charge for it.

OTHER RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
 • City of Anaheim (CA) – Water Rate Study
 • City of Atwater (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate Study
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 • City of Banning (CA) - Recycled Water Revenue Program
 • Beaumont Cherry Valley Water District (CA) - Water Rate and 

Connection Fee Study
 • Carpinteria Sanitary District – Wastewater Rate Study
 • Casitas Municipal Water District – Water Rate Study
 • Castroville Water District (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rate 

Study
 • City of Brea (CA) - Water Rate Study, Connection Fees and 

Related Fees and Charges Study
 • City of Brentwood (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • City of Buenaventura (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • City of Burbank (CA) - Bond Feasibility Study, Reclaimed 

Water Study, and Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • City of Carlsbad (CA) - Asset Replacement Study and Water, 

Wastewater and Reclaimed Water Revenue Program
 • City of Chino (CA) - Valuation Study and Water Rate Study
 • City of Chowchilla (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rates Study
 • Clark County Water Reclamation District (NV) - Cost of Ser-

vice Study
 • City of Cloverdale (CA) - Water and Wastewater Connection 

Fees and Rate Study
 • City of Corona (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • El Toro Water District (CA) – Water Budget and Wastewater 

Rate Studies and Connection Fees
 • City of Encinitas (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • City of Escondido (CA) - Valuation Study, Water and Waste-

water Rate Study
 • City of Glendora (CA) - Water and Wastewater Financial Plan-

ning and Rate Study
 • La Canada Irrigation District – Water Rate Study
 • La Crescenta Water District – Water and Wastewater Rate 

Study
 • City of Livingston (CA) – Water, Wastewater and Solid Waste 

Rates Study and Litigation Support
 • City of Los Angeles (CA) - Wheeling Charge Review
 • Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (CA) – Water 

Rate Study and Wheeling Charge Review
 • City of Madera (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate Study
 • Mammoth Community Water District (CA) – Water and 

Wastewater Rate Study
 • Metropolitan Wastewater Joint Powers Authority (CA) - 

Wastewater Valuation Study and Capacity Valuation Study
 • City of North Las Vegas (NV) – Water and Wastewater Rates 

Study and Model
 • Ojai Valley Sanitary District – Wastewater Rate Study
 • Palmdale Water District (CA) – Water Budget Rate Study
 • City of Palo Alto (CA) – Water Rate Study
 • City of Poway (CA) – Wastewater Rate Structure Analysis
 • Ramona Municipal Water District (CA) – Water Rate Study
 • Rainbow Municipal Water District (CA) - Water, Wastewater 

Rate and Capacity Fee Studies
 • City of Rialto (CA) – SRF Funding and Water and Wastewater 

Rate Study
 • County of San Bernardino (CA) - Water and Wastewater Rate 

Study and Connection fees
 • City of San Diego (CA) - Recycled Water Rate Study, Valuation 

Study, and Water and Wastewater Financial Plan, Rate and 
Connection Fees Study, Litigation Support

 • City of San Fernando (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rates 
Study

 • San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency (CA) - Financing Plan
 • City of San Jose (CA) - Sewer Service Related Fees and Charges
 • City of San Luis Obispo (CA) - Stormwater Financial Feasibility 

Study
 • City of Santa Fe springs – Water Rate Study
 • Santa Fe Irrigation District (CA) - Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Cost Evaluation, Water Connection Fees Study, and Water Rate 
Study and Update

 • City of Santa Monica (CA) - Wastewater Rate Study
 • City of Scottsdale (AZ) - Impact Fee Study
 • City of South Pasadena (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rate 

Study
 • City of Springfield (OR) – Wastewater Rates Model
 • Sweetwater Authority (CA) - Water Rate Study
 • City of Upland (CA) - Valuation Study
 • City of Vallejo (CA) - Water Financial Plan
 • Valley County Water District (CA) - Water Rate Study
 • Town of Windsor (CA) - Impact Fee Review, State Revolving 

Fund Loan Application Assistance, Water and Wastewater 
Connection Fees and Rates Study, and Water and Water Rec-
lamation Rate Studies
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SPECIALTIES
• Utility cost of service and rate 

structure studies
• Financial planning studies
• State revolving fund assistance 

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Manager (2017-present); 

Senior Consultant (2009-2016); 
Staff Consultant (2007-2009)

• Merati Economic Group: 
Economics Analyst (2006-2007)

EDUCATION
• Master of Business Administration 

- California State University, Los 
Angeles (2007)

• Bachelor of Science, Business 
Administration – California State 
University, Los Angeles (2006)

Hannah Phan
Project Manager
Manager

Ms. Phan has more than 11 years of consulting experience in financial planning and cost 
of service studies. She has worked on numerous water, wastewater, and recycled water rate 
studies, cost of service studies, connection fee studies, and valuation studies. Her experience 
has primarily focused on utility agencies on the West Coast, including many in California 
and the Pacific Northwest. Ms. Phan has an MBA and is an experienced modeler with strong 
analytical skills.

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Olivenhain Municipal Water District (CA)
Ms. Phan assisted the Olivenhain Municipal Water District (District) in conducting a water 
financial plan study and a recycled water rate study to determine the recycled water rates 
charged to customers. The water financial planning model was developed to assist the District 
in evaluating different financing alternatives to minimize rate impacts and ensure financial 
stability. The water model was effectively used in Board meetings and presentations to evaluate 
the impacts of various scenarios. The recycled water rate study was conducted to determine 
the recycled water rates charged to customers given that the District obtains recycled water 
from four different sources: the City of San Diego, Vallecitos Water District, Rancho Santa 
Fe Community Services District, and the 4S Regional Recycled Water System. The existing 
agreements defined the costs of different sources of recycled water to the District. To address 
all of those issues and concerns, Raftelis developed a recycled water financial and rate model 
to determine the costs of providing service and the required revenue to be collected from 
customers. In addition, the model is built to evaluate when the District is able to take over the 
4S Regional Recycled Water System, as stated in the agreement with the developer. 

City of Brentwood (CA)
Ms. Phan served as Lead Consultant for a water and wastewater rate study for the City of 
Brentwood (City) that involved a comprehensive review of the City’s financial plan and rate 
structure. The City has a total of over 17,500 water and wastewater accounts. Water is supplied 
through two main sources: local groundwater, from the City’s groundwater wells, and surface 
water that originates from rivers within the Sierra mountain range and flow into the Delta. 
Surface water is treated at the City of Brentwood Water Treatment Plant (Brentwood TP) and 
the Randall Bold Water Treatment Plant (RBWTP). Wastewater services are provided by the 
City’s Wastewater Treatment Plant with a capacity to treat 5.0 million gallons of wastewater 
per day (MGD). The study included a comprehensive review of the City’s revenue requirements 
and allocation methodology, a review of City’s user classification, a cost of service analysis, and 
rate design for City users. The resulting rates were fair and equitable and met the fiscal needs 
of the City’s utilities in the context of the City’s overall policy objectives and were designed 
for simplicity of administration, cost effective implementation and ease of communication to 
customers. The study also included drought surcharges that vary based on the water shortage 
level that the City can implement as necessary to recover the revenue shortfall that occurs 
as a result of demand reduction during water shortage situations. Raftelis developed a user 
friendly model so that various scenarios could be evaluated on the fly. The City appreciated 
the flexibility of using this model during the course of the study. Raftelis calculated wastewater 
rates based on flow and strength for differ classes of customers. Raftelis assisted with the 
Proposition 218 notice and the public hearing.
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City of San Diego (CA)
Raftelis assisted the City of San Diego (City) in conducting a water, 
wastewater, and recycled water rate study to evaluate the costs 
of providing utility services and the rates to charge customers. 
The study included a comprehensive review of the City’s revenue 
requirements and allocation methodology, review of the City’s 
user classification, an analysis of cost-of-service and rate design 
for City users. The rate structure was modified to provide a more 
equitable sharing of costs consistent with regulatory requirements. 
The recycled water rate study involved evaluation of various sce-
narios involving capital projects with increased sales, cost sharing 
between water and wastewater, phasing in rates, repayment of past 
costs incurred by water to fund the recycled water program. Ms. 
Phan assisted in building the rate models, preparing the scenarios 
and conducting economic analyses of the alternative scenarios. 

Central Contra Costa Sanitary District (CA)
Ms. Phan served as Lead Consultant for a comprehensive waste-
water cost of service study for Central Contra Costa Sanitary 
District (District). As part of the study, Raftelis thoroughly exam-
ined the District’s customer classification, cost structure, analyzed 
wastewater flow and strength data, and evaluated alternative rate 
structures to develop an equitable rate structure that meets Prop-
osition 218 requirements and the District’s goals and objectives. 
The District’s Board of Directors was engaged throughout the 
study process via workshop presentations. Several changes were 
recommended to the District’s rate structure to enhance equity to 
customers. Additionally, Raftelis reviewed recycled water rates and 
developed a wholesale rate for sales to the local water district. Ms. 
Phan developed the financial plan and cost of service model for 
the District that allowed the District to quickly review scenarios 
and evaluate alternatives in workshop settings. This tool proved 
invaluable when presenting the results in a graphical format to the 
District Board of Directors because it enabled them to easily see the 
impacts of different policy decisions on wastewater rates and cus-
tomer impacts in real-time. As a results, the Board unanimously 
adopted the proposed wastewater rates for the next two fiscal years, 
effective July 1st of 2015 and 2016. 

Napa Sanitation District (CA) 
Ms. Phan served as lead analyst for a recycled water rate study for 
the Napa Sanitation District (District). The District was required to 
restrict summer discharge of its wastewater into the river. The Dis-
trict made improvements to its treatment plant to produce recycled 
water and then provided incentives to customers to use the recy-
cled water. The agreement with customers was ending in two years, 
but the District wanted to enlarge the recycled water facilities and 
enroll new customers into the recycled water program. The District 
also wanted to review the improvements and determine the impact 
of the new recycled water rates. Raftelis developed a financial and 
rate model that considered the new customers and revised rates 
and the impact of providing discounted rates on wastewater cus-
tomers. The District held a meeting with the recycled water users 
and obtained input on issues of concern to them. Raftelis provided 
support to the District and evaluated the results of the conducted 
surveys to define the rates.

East Bay Municipal Utility District (CA)
Ms. Phan served as Lead Consultant for a comprehensive waste-
water cost of service study for East Bay Municipal Utility District 
(District). The last comprehensive cost of service study was done 
in 2000 for the wastewater treatment charges. As part of the 
study, Raftelis thoroughly examined the District’s cost structure, 
analyzed wastewater flow and customers data, and evaluated alter-
native rate structures to develop an equitable rate structure that 
meets Proposition 218 requirements and the District’s goals and 
objectives. While the proposed treatment rates retain the current 
rate structure, which includes a fixed monthly service and strength 
charge and a variable flow charge with a cap at 10 hundred cubic 
feet (hcf) per dwelling unit per month for residential customers, 
and a fixed monthly service charge and a variable flow charge per 
hcf based on customer classification for apartment buildings and 
non-residential customers, the individual rates are realigned to 
reflect the cost of service. The District’s current rate structure also 
includes a fixed annual charge per dwelling units (up to five dwell-
ing units) for single- and multi-family customers and per parcel 
for non-residential customers for wet weather facilities. This rate 
structure was developed in late 1980s. Raftelis and District staff 
evaluated various alternatives for the wet weather facilities charge 
to ensure equity amongst customer classes. The proposed wet 
weather facilities charge will be based on the average parcel size 
for each customer class, which has a stronger cost of service basis 
than the current rate structure. 

Castaic Lake Water Agency (CA) 
Ms. Phan served as lead analyst for a financial plan wholesale water 
rate study for the Agency. As part of the project, Raftelis developed 
a comprehensive financial plan that evaluated various financial 
alternatives to minimize financial risks to the Agency. The Agency 
received a significant portion of its revenue stream from property 
tax, which it used to fund capital improvement projects and costs 
related to its Buena Vista/ Rosedale Rio Bravo (BV/RRB) water 
supply. The current wholesale water rate only recovered operat-
ing costs of the system. The Agency was concerned that property 
tax revenue would significantly decrease in the future, which 
would severely impact its operations and require significant rate 
increases. Thus, Raftelis analyzed several alternatives to gradually 
fund more of the BV/RRB costs from the wholesale water rate so 
that it wouldn’t be as dependent on property tax revenues. Raftelis 
also reviewed and evaluated numerous alternative wholesale water 
rate structures to enhance revenue stability and promote conjunc-
tive water use in the Santa Clarita Valley among the four purveyors 
within the system. Since the current wholesale water rate was 100% 
variable, one of the objectives of the Agency was to enhance reve-
nue stability by incorporating a fixed charge in its wholesale rate 
structure to ensure recovery of a portion of its fixed costs. Raftelis 
presented four rate structure alternatives to the Board, and the 
Agency implemented a fixed and variable rate structure in which 
the fixed costs were recovered based on each purveyor’s previous 
three-year average of total water demand.

City of Santa Barbara (CA)
Ms. Phan has been assisting the City of Santa Barbara (City) with 
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their water and wastewater financial plans and cost of service rates 
studies involving rates for different customer classes including 
agriculture, outside City, tiered residential, commercial etc. Ms. 
Phan has also been assisting the City with drought rates to address 
the water shortage conditions during the drought. Wastewater 
rates were developed for various funding sources including grants 
and SRF loans. 

City of South Pasadena (CA)
Ms. Phan assisted the City in conducting a financial plan and rate 
study for its water and wastewater enterprises as the lead analyst. 
The City had expressed some concerns about financial stability and 
anticipated significant capital expenses associated with water and 
sewer line replacement in the upcoming years, as well as necessary 
improvements to meet state regulations. As a part of the financial 
plan development process, Raftelis evaluated the City’s existing 
accounts and consumption patterns as well as its existing rate 
structure to evaluate and project revenues. These revenues were 
compared to existing and projected revenue requirements, includ-
ing operating and capital expenses as well as existing debt service 
obligations. The results of the study included a financial plan dash-
board which allowed the City to evaluate various financial plan 
scenarios, including the necessary levels of revenue adjustments 
required and capital funding options available in order to meet its 
required coverage ratios and target reserve balances.

Tacoma Environmental Services (WA)
Raftelis is currently conducting a comprehensive wastewater, sur-
face water, and solid waste financial plan and cost of service study 
for Tacoma Environmental Services (Tacoma). A key objective of 
the project is to provide Tacoma with a financial model that can be 
linked with the SAP system so that future annual updates can be 
automatic. The model also has ability to conduct sensitivity anal-
yses on several different issues, such as debt refinancing, varying 
levels of increases in assessments costs, etc. The study also included 
a long-range financial plan to ensure financial stability for all three 
utilities. Ms. Phan served as the lead consultant on this project, 
responsible for building the rate models, preparing presentations 
and conducting sensitivity analyses. 

City of Ventura (CA)
Raftelis completed a water, wastewater, and recycled water cost 
of service and rate study for the City of Ventura (City). The City 
had not updated its rate structure in 20 years. Additionally, the 
City was under a cease and desist order that required the City 
to carry out improvements estimated at more than $55 million, 
and which the City wanted to start funding to mitigate impacts. 
The study included a comprehensive review of the City’s revenue 
requirements and allocation methodology, review of the City’s 
user classification, usage patterns, a cost of service analysis, and 
rate design for City users. Raftelis developed long-range fi-nancial 
plans so that the water and wastewater utilities could be financially 
stable and save costs in the long run. We also assisted the City 
with developing different water and wastewater rate alternatives 
with various scenarios as well as calculating outside-city rates. Ms. 
Phan served as the lead consultant for this project, responsible for 

building the rate models, preparing the scenarios and conducting 
economic analyses of the alternative scenarios.

City of Palo Alto (CA)
The City of Palo Alto (City) engaged Raftelis to conduct a water 
cost of service and rate study. The study included a comprehensive 
review of the City’s revenue requirements and allocation method-
ology, review of the City’s user classification, usage patterns, a cost 
of service analysis, and rate design for City users. The study also 
included a review of the peaking characteristics of different cus-
tomer classes, an analysis of the master-metered MFR customers, 
and a review of separate charge for higher elevations customers. 
Raftelis conducted the study with input from the Utilities Advisory 
Commission made up of City residents. Ms. Phan assisted in con-
ducting the cost of service analysis and customer impacts. 

City of Beverly Hills (CA)
The City of Beverly Hills (City) engaged Raftelis to develop a rate 
and financial planning model that would be used to review cus-
tomer classes, evaluate alternative rate structures and to provide 
more detailed forecasts to assist in the preparation of updating 
rates in future years. 

The City’s water rate structure consisted of a three-tiered increasing 
block water rate structure with no differentiation among customer 
types. Raftelis modeled numerous alternative rate structures and 
reviewed customer and revenue impacts before recommending that 
the City modify its current three tiered rate structure to include a 
fourth tier that targets large irrigation usage. The City’s wastewater 
rates were restructured to more equitably recover the costs of ser-
vicing the different customer classes to conform to EPA regulations. 
Raftelis continues to provide updates to the City so that the enter-
prise funds can continue to be financially stable. Ms. Phan assisted 
in conducting the pricing objectives to determine the objectives 
most important to the City’s stakeholders and developed the water 
and wastewater rate models to determine the appropriate rates and 
rate structure for the City’s utility services.

City of Anaheim (CA)
The City of Anaheim (City) engaged Raftelis to conduct a water 
cost of service rate study. To address the financial objectives of 
the City and identify a water rate structure that is fair and equita-
ble while sufficiently recover the costs of providing water service, 
Raftelis developed a water rate and financial planning model to cal-
culate and forecast cost justified water rates appropriate to recover 
the operating and capital costs of the wastewater enterprise over a 
20-year planning period. 

Goleta West Sanitary District (CA)
The Goleta West Sanitary District (District) was evaluating several 
alternatives regarding constructing their own wastewater treat-
ment plant and expanding the current facility at Goleta Sanitary 
District, where the District has been sending their wastewater for 
treatment. Raftelis built a financial planning model for the District 
to find the most economically effective option. Furthermore, the 
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District engaged Raftelis in conducting a miscellaneous fee study 
to evaluate the current fee structures to better represent the cost 
of service. Ms. Phan assisted in conducting economic analyses of 
the alternatives and developing the miscellaneous fee model for 
the District. 

OTHER RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
 • City of Banning (CA) – Water, Wastewater, and Recycled Water 

Rate and Connection Fees Study
 • Beaumont-Cherry Valley Water District (CA) – Water Rate 

Study
 • City of Beverly Hills (CA) - Rate and Financial Planning Model
 • Carpinteria Sanitary District (CA) – Wastewater Rate Study 
 • Clark County Water Reclamation District (NV) – Sewer Cost 

of Service Study
 • City of Escondido (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rate and Fees 

and Connection Fees Study, and Water Budget Study
 • Goleta West Sanitary District (CA) - Financial Planning Model 

and Miscellaneous Fee Study
 • Jurupa Community Services District (CA) – Water and Waste-

water Rate Study
 • City of North Las Vegas (NV) – Water and Wastewater Rate 

Studies
 • City of Ontario (CA) – Water, Wastewater, and Solid Waste 

Rate Studies
 • City of Palo Alto (CA) – Water Cost of Service Rate Study
 • City of Redlands (CA) – Water, Wastewater and Connection 

Fees Cost of Service Study
 • City of Santa Monica (CA) – Wastewater Cost of Service Study
 • City of South Pasadena (CA) – Water and Wastewater Rate 

Study
 • Tacoma Water Department (WA) – Water Financial Plan Study
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TECHNICAL SPECIALTIES
• Utility cost of service and rate structure 

studies
• Conservation rate studies
• Economic feasibility studies
• Capital Budgeting Studies
• Wastewater rate studies
• Capital recovery/Capacity fee studies
• Survey research of water and wastewater 

utility characteristics and rates

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Manager (2017-present); Senior 

Consultant (2014-2016)
• APTwater, Inc. (Now Ultura): Project Manager 

(2011-2014)
• PBS&J (now ATKINS): Project Manager – 

Utility Finance (2005-2011)
• Earth Tech (now AECOM): Senior Project 

Manager (2004-2005)
• Malcolm Pirnie, Inc. (now ARCADIS): 

Consultant (2002-2003)
• National Parks Conservation Association 

– Business Plan Initiative: Business Plan 
Consultant (2000)

• U.S. Army Corps of Engineers – New England 
Division: Project Manager (1995-1999)

• Geophex, Limited: Graduate Research 
Assistant (1994)

EDUCATION
• Master of Business Administration - 

University of Southern California (2001)
• Master of Science in Environmental 

Engineering - University of Massachusetts 
(1995)

• Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering - 
University of Massachusetts (1994)

PROFESSIONALCERTIFICATIONS
• Registered Professional Environmental 

Engineer in Arizona
• Series 50 Municipal Advisor Representative

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS
• American Water Works Association er Works 

Association

Steve Gagnon, PE (AZ)
Technical Reviewer
Manager 

Mr. Gagnon has 20 years of experience in financial analysis and environmental engi-
neering. He has worked for leading engineering consultants as well as the federal 
government. His broad range of experience includes water and wastewater pricing 
studies, capacity fees and utility valuations. His financial experience includes water 
and wastewater rate studies for the City of Redlands, CA, Santa Fe Springs, Hender-
son, NV, City of Anaheim, La Habra Heights County Water District, Rowland Water 
District, Walnut Valley Water District, Sweetwater Authority, Helix Water District 
and Otay Water District. He has also performed strategic financial analysis of water 
sourcing alternatives and costing of ground water remediation alternatives, asset 
inventory and condition assessments, utility performance metrics, earned value 
analysis. He has also managed the construction and installation of water treatment 
equipment and oversaw Superfund remediation for the US Army.

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Olivenhain Municipal Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon created a drought rate model to help the Olivenhain Municipal Water 
District (District) develop a drought rate ordinance. The model calculated com-
modity rate adjustments for four drought stages. It allowed for customer voluntary 
cutbacks in consumption as well as cutbacks due to higher water prices using the 
price elasticity of water. The model will help ensure the District maintains adequate 
revenue in times of drought.

Mr. Gagnon helped the District update their wastewater rates and developed a cus-
tomized model for its unique rate structure. The District’s residential rates are a 
flat charge per Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) and the commercial rate structure 
includes a service charge per EDU and a variable rate based on measured water 
consumption. 

Mr. Gagnon also prepared valuation calculations for the system capacity required 
for update of water and wastewater connection and annexation fees for the Dis-
trict. The analysis showed that the District would benefit by changing capacity fee 
calculation methodologies from a growth method to a combined method, thereby 
imposing less restrictions on the use of capacity fee revenue.

Mr. Gagnon modeled the long-term cost of several different water sources for the 
District. Options included purchasing treated water, expanding their water treat-
ment plant and purchasing untreated water from the Metropolitan Water District or 
partnering with other local agencies to desalinate ocean water. The model contained 
many variable inputs to allow “what-if” scenario analysis. Although purchasing 
treated water was the least costly option, the authority favored plant expansion due 
to other benefits such as reliability of water supply.

City of Encinitas (San Dieguito Water District, CA) 
Mr. Gagnon helped the City establish water rates that are based on cost of service 
principles.  Cost of service based rates creates large bill impacts for the agricultural 
class.  Mr. Gagnon worked with City staff and the Board rate setting committee 
to evaluate rates and explain rate setting basics to the committee and public in a 
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Proposition 218 public hearing. 

Sweetwater Authority (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon is evaluated water rates, including drought rates, for the 
Sweetwater Authority in light of recent legal concerns over their cur-
rent rate structure.  The evaluation includes a cost of service study to 
clearly demonstrate the nexus between the rate for each single family 
tier and the associated costs to serve that tier.  The study started by 
soliciting input from Board members regarding their water pricing 
objectives so that rates could be designed accordingly.  Mr. Gagnon 
concluded the study with presentations to the District Board of 
Directors and the Public.

Encina Wastewater Authority
Mr. Gagnon is helping the Authority analyze the Net Present Value 
of three large capital investments: 1) their co-generation facility, 
2) the heat dryer and 3) the fats, oils and greases (FOG) receiving 
facility that supports Encina’s co-digestion facility operation.  For 
the co-gen facility, the analysis involves calculating the Net Present 
Value of electricity purchase costs with and without the co-gen 
facility.  The heat dryer analysis involves calculating the equivalent 
annual cost of operating solely the centrifuge (with the associated 
disposal cost of sludge) versus operating the heat dryer and its 
reduced sludge disposal costs.  Lastly, he is helping the Authority 
analyze its options for alternative digester fuels for co-digestion to 
enhance digester gas production – FOG versus beer waste – based 
on the tipping fees and associated maintenance costs of each.  

Hi-Desert Water District
Mr. Gagnon is helping the District establish defensible and afforda-
ble water rates for a District with a high number of low income 
residents. The study includes an update of their miscellaneous fees.  
The District has one main source of water, which limits the rate dif-
ferentiation between tiers.  The study includes an extensive outreach 
program to educate customers as to the need for rate adjustments.  

City of Port Hueneme
The City of Port Hueneme has some of the highest water rates 
in the area due to the amount of capital reinvestment needed to 
maintain the system.  Mr. Gagnon is helping City Council and 
Staff assess the impacts of their decisions, including capital rein-
vestment, loan refinancing and fixed charge pricing on customer 
bills.  The study included a rate workshop with City Council to 
show Council the effects of their decisions.  

Mesa Water District
Mesa Water District prides itself on the fact that it is no longer 
dependent on imported water.  Mr. Gagnon helped the District 
revise their water and recycled water rates in a few months during 
a fast-paced rate study.  The study included over 10 financial plan 
options for the Board to select from.  

City of Pomona (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon is currently helping the City establish water, recycled 
water and wastewater rates.  He is establishing defensible tiered 
rates based on the City’s multiple sources of water and use char-
acteristics.  He is also establishing pumping charges based on the 

costs associated with serving water to high elevation customers. The 
engagement includes working with rate committee members, Staff 
and council members to ascertain their rate setting goals.  It also 
includes a 10-year financial plan and modeling rates under industry 
standard reserve targets.  

City of Lakewood (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon helped the City develop cost of service based tiered 
water rates.  Of note, Mr. Gagnon recommended revising the cur-
rent practice of providing free water for the first four units of water 
in single family first tier.  To ease the impacts of this change, the 
City decided to transition the rates over a 5-year period.  The study 
included a full five-year financial plan and a review and recommen-
dations on reserve levels.  

City of Orange (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon is helping the City update its water rates and rate struc-
ture to ensure that rates are based on cost of service principles.  The 
study includes a financial plan to fully fund operational and capital 
expenses and reserves.  Mr. Gagnon also helped the City establish 
wastewater rates for its sanitation enterprise.  The rates were revised 
to reflect sewer whereas they were previously based on water use.  

Channel Islands Beach Community  
Services District (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon helped the District establish equitable water and waste-
water rates.  Particularly noteworthy in this study was a class of 
customers that required the District to reserve capacity in the water 
treatment plant for possible future growth.  Mr. Gagnon explained 
the cost causation based rate for this customer class at Board meet-
ings and the Public Hearing.  Mr. Gagnon also held special web 
based workshops with this customer class to explain cost of service 
principles and the basis for the rates.

City of Shasta Lake (CA) 
The City of Shasta Lake’s water revenue dropped significantly 
during the recent drought – while their water costs increased due 
to emergency water purchases from expensive sources.  In addition, 
the City’s infrastructure was over 80 years old which necessitated 
significant capital expenditures.  Mr. Gagnon worked with City staff 
to develop a water financial plan that fully funded their capital pro-
gram, reserves and operational expenses.  The financial plan called 
for a 30% revenue increase in one year.  Mr. Gagnon presented the 
basis for revenue adjustments and rate development at a well-at-
tended public hearing at City Hall.       

Santa Fe Irrigation District (CA) 
Santa Fe Irrigation District has one of the largest per capita water use 
rates in the State due to its large lots, many of which have orchards 
and other agriculture requiring irrigation.  Mr. Gagnon worked 
with City Staff and Board members to establish water cost of service 
based rates which included a complete restructuring of their fixed 
charges so that the District could pass through their fixed wholesaler 
charges.  The consumption rates were based on the peaking charac-
teristics of each class.  Mr. Gagnon presented at a contentious Public 
Hearing, in which that rates were adopted, to answer Board and the 
Public’s questions.  
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Trabuco Canyon Water District (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon helped the District establish water, wastewater and 
recycled water rates.  The Trabuco Canyon Water District’s revenue 
plummeted significantly during the recent drought.  Mr. Gagnon 
helped the District established rates, including drought rates, that 
fully funded operations, capital expenses and reserves.  The District 
previously had a 7-tier rate structure.  Mr. Gagnon helped the dis-
trict establish a 4-tier rate structure in which the rates were based 
on the supply costs and peaking costs to serve water in each tier 
– as required by Proposition 218.  The study started with a pricing 
objectives exercise so that the Board could communicate its most 
important rate setting goals.  Mr. Gagnon presented financial plan 
options and rate study results and a public hearing.  

Moulton Niguel Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon prepared water and wastewater capacity fees and mis-
cellaneous fees in June of 2016.  The water and wastewater capacity 
fees were calculated using the buy-in methodology and varied by 
meter size.  The District also decided to implement a water demand 
offset fee for new water connections based on the premise that the 
recycled water system offsets potable water use and benefits potable 
water users.  Mr. Gagnon attended Board meetings to help staff 
explain the rationale and basis for the capacity fees. 

Mr. Gagnon also helped calculate miscellaneous fees by interview-
ing staff to assess the time and effort involved with the fees, benefit 
burden rates and material charges to properly calculate over three 
dozen fees for the water and wastewater systems.  The deliverable 
included an excel model with which the District could update the 
miscellaneous fees in the future. 

City of Henderson (NV) 
Mr. Gagnon is creating water and wastewater rate and financial 
planning models for the City as well as updating their water and 
sewer system development charges.  The models will be used over the 
next 5 to 10 years not only to calculate water and wastewater rates 
but also to create yearly financial statements.

City of Redlands (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon updated the City’s water and wastewater rates and 
development impact fees.  The rate study process included work-
shops with the City’s Utility Advisory Committee in which he 
presented the basics of rate setting and the financial environment 
of the utilities.  The interactive workshops solicited input from com-
mittee members and staff regarding revenue adjustments and rates.

Rainbow Municipal Water District (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon created water conservation based sewer rates to 
complement the Rainbow Municipal Water District’s (District) 
conservation based water rate structure. These rates will be based 
on the actual water usage of each customer within the District. In 
addition, appropriate sewage strengths will be incorporated into the 
District’s sewer user rates.

County of San Diego (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon prepared integrated financial models for a landmark 

study for the County of San Diego. The study will not only be 
updating the sewer user, capacity, and annexation fees for the nine 
dependent sewer districts but will also include the economic analy-
sis of creating one “super sanitation district”. Long-range financial 
plans will be prepared for all of the districts as well as the super 
district including 10 years of operational and capital costs. 

Town of Quartzsite (AZ)
Mr. Gagnon performed a third party rate review of a recently com-
pleted water and wastewater rate study for the Town of Quartzsite 
(Town). The Town is concerned with insuring that their winter RV 
population is paying their fair share of the water and sewer expenses. 

Town of Parker (AZ)
Mr. Gagnon updated the Town of Parker’s (Town) water rates.  One 
of the Town’s main concerns was the fairness and equity of water 
system cost distribution given the Town’s large population of Native 
Americans who do not pay sales or utility taxes yet benefit from 
Town parks and other Town amenities.  He also helped the Town 
establish operating and capital reserves.

Walnut Valley Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon performed the Walnut Valley Water District’s (District) 
first professional rate study which included updating the rate struc-
ture.  Mr. Gagnon created a three-tier residential rate structure to 
help decrease discretionary consumption and ensure the District 
avoids or reduces water purchase surcharges from the Metropolitan 
Water District.  He presented his findings to District staff and the 
District’s Board of Directors.

Fallbrook Public Utility District (CA)
With water shortages looming in Southern California, this pro-
gressive water and sewer district asked for help creating water 
conservation-based sewer rates to complement their conservation 
based water structure. Mr. Gagnon created rates based on the actual 
water usage of each customer within the Fallbrook Public Utility 
District (District). In addition, appropriate sewage strengths were 
incorporated into the District’s sewer user rates.

Otay Water District (CA)
The Otay Water District (District) performs an update to their 
capacity and annexation fees every five years. In this update they 
changed their capacity fee from an incremental fee based on future 
costs to a combined fee structure using replacement costs less depre-
ciation. They are also revised their annexation fee to recover taxes 
and availability charges paid by existing users who are currently 
inside the District’s boundaries. In addition, they added a new water 
supply fee to recover the expansion costs of their water system. This 
is a new fee that addresses the issue of new development bringing 
their own water supply or pay for offsets.

Mr. Gagnon was also the lead economist on a fast track study to 
assist the District in adding further conservation incentives into 
their potable and reclaimed water user rates. Specifically, he added 
rate blocks into their non-residential and landscaping user rate 
structures based on specific base extra capacity cost allocations per 
user class.  In addition, he assisted the District in the preparation of a 
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drought/shortage rate structure that overlays their new conservation 
rate structure. This drought rate structure is based on the guidelines 
provided by the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California 
and the San Diego County Water Authority.

Rowland Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon updated the Rowland Water District’s (District) water 
rates for the second time. The District had several concerns for the 
most recent study which included a large debt issue for a recycled 
water system as well as staff increases and wholesale water rate 
increases. The model helped the district size its debt issue by per-
forming a rate sensitivity analysis to the size of the debt issue.

City of Poway (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon completely rebuilt the City of Poway’s water and waste-
water rate models to reflect the latest rate setting practices. 

Helix Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon created an economic model to add life-line and a water 
waster tier to the Helix Water District’s (District) three-tier rate 
structure. In addition, budget-based water rates were created for all 
irrigation accounts. The District is transitioning slowly to budget-
based rates due to staffing limitations. In 2010 they will implement 
budget-based rates for all commercial accounts.

Mr. Gagnon also performed all of the economic modeling in the 
preparation of the District’s first Capacity Fee Study. The capacity 
fee was designed to collect a buy-in portion based on replacement 
costs of the District’s current water system and the incremental cost 
of adding a new water supply, the El Monte Valley Ground Water 
Recharge project.

City of Anaheim (CA)
Mr. Gagnon prepared a commercial and residential wastewater rate 
study for the City of Anaheim (City).  The proposed rate structure 
was based on water consumption to replace the antiquated structure 
based on the number of toilets.  Proper water use and wastewater 
return to sewer analysis is required to ensure proper revenue gen-
eration for the City.

City of Coronado (CA)
Mr. Gagnon is helping restructure the City of Coronado’s wastewater 
rates from a flat parcel-based fee for residential users to one with a 
consumption-based charge and a fixed charge.

City of Lemon Grove (CA)
Mr. Gagnon helped update the commercial and residential wastewa-
ter rates for the City of Lemon Grove. The rate structure included 20 
different user classes for residential, commercial, and institutional 
customers.

Western Municipal Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon prepared a long-range financial plan to help ensure the 
Western Municipal Water District’s (District) financial health. Based 
on the District’s five-year CIP, inflationary water rate adjustments, 
and reserve policies, the plan showed that a debt issue was needed 
to execute the CIP and maintain adequate reserves. 

Julian and Pine Valley Sanitation Districts (CA)
Mr. Gagnon updated the wastewater rates and connection fees for 
both sanitation districts. The wastewater fees had not been updated 
for several years in one district and over 15 years in the other neces-
sitating large rate increases. He developed a few different scenarios 
which included postponing CIP projects or lowering reserve bal-
ances, to ease ratepayers into higher rates. 

San Antonio Water System (TX) 
Mr. Gagnon prepared a sewer impact fee economic model and study 
for the City of San Antonio. This included a valuation of the system’s 
facilities using several asset based approaches. Ultimately the total 
net book value without depreciation was selected as the basis for 
the valuation of the System’s assets. In addition, an equity residual 
model was prepared that included the allocation of the present value 
of past and future debt service payments. The study also analyzed 
a number of impact fee structures to determine the most fair and 
equitable fee.

La Habra Heights County Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon assisted with the update in water user rates, capacity 
charges, and long-range financial plan for the La Habra Heights 
County Water District (District). The 2001 study set the District’s 
user rates for five years and expired in 2005. The District had recently 
completed an updated Water Master Plan and wished to incorporate 
the new cost of replacement capital facilities for the next ten years 
into their long-range financial plan and user rates.

City of La Habra (CA)
Mr. Gagnon helped prepare the City of La Habra’s (City) first 
professional sewer user rate study. This study followed industry 
standards and an EPA approved rate structure. The City plans to 
create a formal enterprise fund for their sewer utility to properly 
finance their sewer operations and maintenance. He developed the 
long-range financial plan modeled year-end cash reserves to ensure 
execution of the City’s $21 million capital improvement program 
and to fund operations and maintenance. 

City of Webster (TX)
Mr. Gagnon is constructing a stormwater model for the City of 
Webster (City). The rates are based on the impervious surface of 
each parcel.  The City plans using water meters to bill customers.

City of Norman (OK)
Mr. Gagnon is constructing a stormwater rate model for the City of 
Norman. The model is constructed in several different ways to allow 
the city council to choose from alternative rate structures, includ-
ing the contentious issue of whether or not Oklahoma University, 
which owns large parcels of impervious surface area, will support 
the stormwater utility.  

Boxelder County (CO)
Mr. Gagnon assisted Boxelder County (County) in the determination 
of how they will finance their required stormwater improvements. 
They plan to create a stormwater utility through diverse funding 
sources including impact and user fees, a community financing 
district, and grants and loans. The goal of this study was to identify 
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and size a system of improvements which will achieve the greatest 
defined economic benefit (both local and regional) per dollar of cost, 
based on the 100-year floodplain extents.

City of Fullerton (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon conducted a field audit to determine appropriate return 
to sewer flows as well as fats, oils and greases surcharge rates for the 
top 50 industrial water customers in the City of Fullerton. 

UTILITY AND WATER RIGHT VALUATIONS 
EXPERIENCE

Blue Plains Wastewater Treatment (DC)
Mr. Gagnon is valuing the largest advanced wastewater treatment 
plant in the world (370 MGD) using several different valuation 
methods for Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. 
The study values capacity rights in a treatment plant shared by 
several users. Valuation methodologies include original cost, 
reproduction cost, and market comparables. 

Metro Wastewater Joint Powers Authority (CA)
Mr. Gagnon updated a prior valuation study which values treat-
ment capacity in the San Diego Metropolitan Wastewater System. 
The valuation study considered several different valuation 
methodologies including the asset approach, prior sale (market 
comparables); buyer’s avoided cost, seller’s potential future cost 
and alternative investment value.

City of Pico Rivera (CA)
Mr. Gagnon is slated to help the City of Pico Rivera value ground-
water pumping rights. Groundwater pumping rights will likely be 
valued using both a market comparables approach and a buyer’s 
avoided cost approach.

OTHER FINANCIAL AND  
MANAGEMENT STUDIES

Town of Parker (AZ)
Mr. Gagnon is performing a benchmarking analysis of the Town 
of Parker’s (Town) water, parks and recreation and streets depart-
ments due to efficiency concerns. The study will compare the 
Town’s cost efficiency with other small towns. 

Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton (CA)
Mr. Gagnon led an asset inventory and condition assessment of the 
water and wastewater systems on Marine Corps Base Camp Pen-
dleton. The inventory included field visits and literature reviews 
to document and describe the extent and condition of all utility 
assets. Asset data was compiled in a database and linked to GIS 
mapping.

Olivenhain Municipal Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon developed an economic model that evaluates the cost 
benefit analysis of four different water supply options including 
desalinization, increased use of recycled water, and expansion of 

their existing water treatment plant using membrane technology. 
Proposed funding levels were prepared for the long-range finan-
cial plan to match projects against the revenue levels necessary to 
support them.

Confidential Fortune 500  
Aerospace Corporation (CA)
Mr. Gagnon created an excel based financial model to cost and 
budget one of the largest corporate environmental liabilities – a 
nine-mile long plume of rocket fuel-related contamination – under-
lying several cities in southern California. Remediation strategies 
were constantly changing and, thus, the model simulated costs for 
numerous remediation alternatives. The model also allowed for 
monthly and yearly budgeting and total clean-up expenditures. 

Earth Tech (CA) 
Mr. Gagnon developed an Operation Excellence Plan to ensure 
client satisfaction on the execution of a multimillion dollar Master 
Services Agreement with a Fortune 500 Aerospace Corporation. 
The plan provided guidance in many areas including QA/QC, 
client feedback, staff allocation, etc. The plan also included perfor-
mance measures to evaluate client satisfaction, program success, 
and failures.

Otay Water District (CA)
Mr. Gagnon assisted in facilitating performance metric workshops 
with the Otay Water District management staff. The workshops 
discussed performance metric basics, analyzed dozens of perfor-
mance metrics, how to calculate them, and eventually helped staff 
narrow down the metrics they believed were best for their utility.

Keweenaw National Historical Park, National Park 
Service (MI)
Mr. Gagnon coauthored a business plan submitted to the U.S. 
Congress to seek additional funding to expand a national park in 
Michigan. The business plan included a historical cost accounting 
analysis of prior fund use and projected future fund needs.

U.S. Army Sudbury Annex Superfund Site (MA)
Mr. Gagnon was the Project Manager for the remediation and 
real estate transfer of a 2,000-acre army ammunition depot 
and research installation in central Massachusetts. Mr. Gagnon 
oversaw project funds, environmental studies, and construction 
contracts with consulting firms and partnered with the U.S. EPA 
to determine clean-up goals and strategies.
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SPECIALTIES
• Financial modeling
• Utility rate studies
• Data analysis

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Consultant 

(2018-present); Associate 
Consultant (2016-2017)

• Microsoft Corporation – Partner 
Account Specialist (2015-2016)

EDUCATION
• Bachelor of Arts in Business 

Economics – University of 
California, Irvine (2015)

Nancy Phan
Staff Consultant
Consultant 

Ms. Phan has a background in business economics with a focus on data analysis, writing, 
and communication. Her expertise in working with large data sets brings efficiency and 
refinement to her financial modeling, and her emphasis on writing establishes a clear and 
concise communication style. She is particularly interested in improving established pro-
cesses to increase efficiency and provide creative solutions for her clients. Her experience in 
working with water, wastewater, and stormwater agencies across the nation have informed 
her approach to working with utility agencies. 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Contra Costa Water District (CA)
Ms. Phan served as the consultant for Contra Costa Water District’s water rate study. The 
study involved developing a new rate structure for the District’s treated and untreated 
water systems. The project involved a complete restructuring of the District’s treated and 
untreated water rates to sustain operational and capital needs, enhance equity and fairness 
amongst the different customer classes, and minimize customer impacts to the extent 
possible. The water rates were calculated according to cost of service principles and are 
compliant with Proposition 218.

County of Ventura (CA)
Ms. Phan assisted the County of Ventura in developing water rates for four different dis-
tricts in the County’s service area. The rate study included unique issues related to serving 
agricultural customers. The proposed rate structure modified the current structure to 
provide for greater simplicity and ease of implementation. Ms. Phan developed the four 
financial models and wrote their corresponding reports to explain the process. She also 
wrote a model manual for the County to update and use the model in the future and 
assisted in developing bill calculators for each of the districts.

La Habra Heights County Water District (CA)
Ms. Phan developed water rates for the La Habra Heights County Water District. She pro-
jected the District’s ten-year financial plan, analyzed the costs of the system, and allocated 
those costs to determine the proposed water rates. In addition, she developed a capital 
financing plan for the District to help plan for its large capital obligations during the study 
period. A formal reserve policy was recommended for this study. The resulting water rates 
were based on cost of service principles and minimized customer impacts.

Zone 7 Water Agency (CA)
Ms. Phan served as the consultant for the Zone 7 Water Agency’s wholesale water rate 
study update. The update included projecting a long-range financial plan, developing a cost 
of service analysis, and determining fair and equitable rates for the Agency’s direct and 
retail customers. The Agency was experiencing revenue shortages due to low water usage, 
and to enhance revenue stability, she assisted in developing a modified rate structure that 
is both beneficial and fair to the Agency and its customers. 

City of Escondido (CA)
Ms. Phan assisted the City of Escondido with developing water and wastewater rates. The 
rate study included determining a long-term financial plan, analyzing and distributing the 
City’s costs to each customer class, and determining rates that are fair and equitable for 
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both systems. The study also involved determining pass-through 
rates for Metropolitan Water District and San Diego County Water 
Authority costs. The proposed rates are compliant with Proposi-
tion 218 and maintain the City’s financial sufficiency in light of 
changing water supply conditions.

Selma-Kingsburg-Fowler County Sanitation 
District (CA)
Ms. Phan served as the consultant for the Selma-Kingsburg-Fowler 
County Sanitation District’s wastewater rate study. The District 
operates the treatment facilities and oversees the collection systems 
owned by the Cities of Selma, Kingsburg and Fowler. The study 
involved developing wastewater rates for the District and indi-
vidual fixed charges to fund each of the three cities’ replacement 
and refurbishment capital projects. The proposed rates are based 
on cost of service principles, are complaint with Proposition 218, 
and maintain the financial sufficiency of the District and its three 
member Cities.

City of La Habra (CA)
Ms. Phan assisted the City of La Habra in developing wastewater 
rates and connection fees. The rate study involved an update of the 
current rate structure to enhance fairness and equity for the City’s 
wastewater customers. She developed four rate structure scenarios 
to best meet the City’s objectives. The revenue requirements, which 
includes operating and capital expenses, were allocated to each 
customer class using wastewater flow, which is more defensible 
for a collection only system. The resulting rates are compliant with 
Proposition 218, are fair and easy to understand for the City’s cus-
tomers, and recover sufficient revenue for the system’s operations.

Rainbow Municipal Water District (CA)
Ms. Phan served as the consultant for the Rainbow Municipal 
Water District’s wastewater system. She developed four rate struc-
ture options for wastewater rates to be simple for customers to 
understand and better align with cost of service principles. The 
study involved projecting the District’s long-range financial plan, 
which included large capital expense obligations. Ms. Phan ana-
lyzed funding scenarios for these projects and their effects on the 
District’s wastewater rates. The cost of service based rates allow the 
District to fund its operating costs and necessary capital projects.

OTHER RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
 • City of Monterey Park (CA)
 • County of Kauai, Department of Water (HI)
 • City of Port Hueneme (CA)
 • City of South Pasadena (CA)
 • City of Torrance (CA)
 • Antelope Valley East Kern Water Agency (CA)
 • Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (CA)
 • City of Chino (CA)
 • Temescal Valley Water District (CA)
 • City of Benicia (CA)
 • City of San Gabriel (CA)
 • City of Pomona (CA)
 • Vallejo Flood and Wastewater District (CA)
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SPECIALTIES
• Financial projections and 

modeling
• Rate design
• Impact fees
• Rate surveys
• Data collection and analysis

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Consultant 

(2018-present)
• Bartle Wells Associates: Financial 

Analyst I (2016-2017); Financial 
Analyst II (2017-2018)

EDUCATION
• Bachelor of Arts, Economics – 

University of California, Davis 
(2016)

CERTIFICATION
• Series 50 Municipal Advisor 

Representative

Abigail Seaman
Staff Consultant
Consultant 

Ms. Seaman has a background in public finance advising and financial planning. Her expertise 
lies in financial planning and rate design. She joined Raftelis in 2018 after two years at Bartle 
Wells Associates, where she drafted water and wastewater rate studies, impact fee studies, engi-
neer’s reports, and feasibility studies. 

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

City of Calistoga (CA)
Ms. Seaman was the lead analyst for the City of Calistoga’s 2017 water and wastewater rate study. 
She conducted a financial plan with several potential capital expenditure and debt scenarios. She 
also re-allocated costs to the City’s utility customers to ensure equitable collection of revenue. She 
gave multiple presentations to the City’s Ad Hoc Committee for the rate study and incorporated 
their ongoing feedback into the model. The Committee ultimately advised the City Council 
to increase water and wastewater rates more than 10% each year for the next 5 years to ensure 
financial sustainability of each enterprise, update the water rate structure to collect more fixed 
revenue, and update the wastewater rate structure to reflect current usage trends. Once the rates 
were approved, Ms. Seaman helped the City compile financial data to receive an updated credit 
rating and refinance two existing debt issuances.

City of American Canyon (CA)
Ms. Seaman served as the lead analyst for the City of American Canyon’s 2017 water rate study. 
The City was heavily impacted by the 2014 drought as their rate structure was dependent on tiered 
volumetric rates. The City created a Water Rate Advisory Committee to advise the direction of 
the rate study and Ms. Seaman led each meeting’s presentation and subsequent discussion. Using 
her financial plan and revised rate design scenarios, the Committee chose to adopt a new rate 
structure which would allow for more stable revenue collection gradually over a 5-year schedule. 
She prepared City Staff to present the Committee’s decisions to the Council, who adopted the 
rates with a revised schedule.

City of Pacifica (CA)
Ms. Seaman was the lead analyst for the City of Pacifica’s 2017 wastewater rate and capacity fee study 
which included an updated financial plan, asset valuation, and rate design. She provided ongoing 
consulting and data analysis services to the City after rates were adopted by the Council in order to 
provide support to the public works department, answer questions from community members and 
advise the City Council as they considered adopting lower rates than originally noticed. 

Town of Yountville (CA)
Ms. Seaman updated the Town’s 2015 Water and Wastewater Rate Study which eliminated the 
Town’s reliance on general fund revenue to subsidize water and wastewater rates. The goals of 
the rate study update were to re-allocate costs to ensure stable revenue collection, justify the 
Town’s outside city surcharges, and consider several rate increase scenarios for capital funding 
including the return of general fund subsidy to the water and wastewater enterprises. The Council 
ultimately chose to adopt the rates without general fund subsidy in order to ensure the financial 
sustainability of both enterprises. 
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OTHER RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
 • Bodega Bay Public Utility District (CA) - Water/Wastewater 

Rates and Capacity Fees
 • City of Davis (CA) - Water Rate Study
 • City of Davis (CA) - South Davis Channel Storm Drain Tech-

nical Memo
 • Yolo County (CA) - Assessment Engineer’s Report, North 

Davis Meadows
 • Eastern Sierra Community Services District (CA) - Wastewater 

Capacity Fee Study
 • Sonoma County Water Agency (CA) - Wastewater Rate Study
 • Yuba City (CA) - Storm Drain Technical Memo
 • City of Alameda (CA) - Capital Improvement Plan Assistance, 

General Fund Revenue Manual
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SPECIALTIES
• Geophysical data analysis
• Groundwater sustainability 

analysis
• Excel modeling
• Database management
• Technical report writing and 

review

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Associate Consultant 

(2017-present)
• GEOVision Geophysical Services: 

Senior Staff Geophysicist (2007-
2017)

• GeoConcepts, Inc.: Staff 
Geologist (2005-2007)

EDUCATION
• Bachelors in Geology–California 

State University, San Bernardino 
(2012)

Lauren Demine
Staff Consultant
Assocate Consultant

Ms. Demine has a background in geology and geophysics. Her expertise includes geophysical data 
analysis, processing and modeling, and technical report writing and review. During her time as a 
geophysicist, she has worked with private firms and water districts to address capital infrastructure 
needs, mitigate the potential of groundwater contaminates, and evaluate the integrity of ground-
water basins/well locations.

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Lake Hemet Municipal Water District (CA)
The District commissioned Raftelis in 2017 to develop financial plans and cost of service studies 
for the water and wastewater services. The main objectives of the study were to ensure financial 
sufficiency, meet operation and maintenance costs, and to ensure funding for both capital and 
reserves. Ms. Demine was responsible for gathering and analyzing data, creating the Garner Valley 
enterprise financial plan, developing the cost of service model and rate model, and assisted in 
drafting the detailed report highlighting the decisions made and the explaining the calculation of 
the final rates. As part of the study, Raftelis evaluated interfund loans between enterprises with 
varying repayment terms and modeled various rate structures. 

Helix Water District (CA)
The Helix Water District (District) hired Raftelis to conduct a comprehensive cost of service analysis 
and financial plan update. The last cost of service study was conducted back in 1988 and needed to 
be updated to be in compliance with Government Code Section 54999.7(c). Rates for a five-year 
period were adopted in October of 2015. Additionally, the District hired Raftelis to perform annual 
updates of the financial plan. Ms. Demine worked with the District and Project Manager to assist 
with completing the 2018 annual update.
 
Leucadia Wastewater District (CA)
The district hired Raftelis to update its financial plan for both its wastewater and recycled water 
enterprises and to update the capacity fee for its wastewater utility. The main objectives of the 
study were to ensure long-term financial sufficiency, meet operation and maintenance costs, and 
to ensure funding for both capital and reserves over a 20-year planning period. The Study was led 
by Andrea Boehling, who served as the Project Manager for the Study. Ms. Demine assisted with 
data collection and model development for both enterprises. 

Monterey County Water Resources Agency (CA)
Ms. Demine assisted in the preparation of the 2017 new source waters study report for Monterey 
County Water Resources Agency. In this report, she documented the cost analysis for the operation 
and maintenance of new source waters as well as the capital costs of the new source waters. New 
source waters included additional agricultural wash, pond water, and new treated effluent from 
industrial users.

Sierra Madre (CA)
Ms. Demine assisted in the preparation of the 2018 comprehensive water and wastewater cost 
of service study report for the City of Sierra Madre. The purpose of this study was to develop a 
financial plan and design rates for the City’s utilities over the next five years.
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OTHER RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE
As a geophysicist for GEOVision Geophysical Services, Ms. Demine 
was responsible for conducting subsurface investigations. She was 
also involved in helping to determine the best geophysical method 
to meet the client’s needs. Ms. Demine was responsible for effi-
ciently managing and organizing the data collection, analysis, and 
processing phases of the geophysical investigation. She has worked 
on projects ranging from determining the depth and lateral extent 
of groundwater tables in various basins, gathering data on bedrock 
properties for the construction or repair of various infrastructure 
projects (e.g. dams, tunnels, and pipelines), relocating abandoned 
water wells, locating the depth and/or lateral extent of contami-
nation plumes or seawater intrusion, and determining the best 
location for the placement of new water wells. 

Related Geophysical experience:
 • Monterey Interlake Tunnel 
 • Cadiz Inc. Pipeline
 • Stringfellow Acid Pits 
 • Hinkley, CA Chromium Cleanup
 • Catalina Seawater intrusion analysis 
 • Oroville Dam
 • Sierra Madre Dam
 • San Vicente Dam
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SPECIALTIES
• Utility Financial Analysis
• Data Collection and Analysis
• Statistical Analysis

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY
• Raftelis: Associate Consultant 

(2017-present)
• UC Santa Barbara Department of 

Economics: Teaching Assistant 
(2017)

• UC Santa Barbara Earth Research 
Institute: Graduate Student 
Assistant (2015-2017)

• The Nature Conservancy: Science 
& Stewardship Practitioner (2013-
2015)

EDUCATION
• Master of Environmental Science 

& Management (Water Resources 
Management) – UC Santa 
Barbara (2017)

• Bachelor of Science in 
Environmental Economics & 
Policy – UC Berkeley (2013)

Charles Diamond
Staff Consultant
Assocate Consultant

Mr. Diamond has a background in natural resource economics and water resources manage-
ment. His expertise lies in financial modeling and data analysis. He joined Raftelis initially in 
2017 as an associate consultant upon receiving a master’s degree from UC Santa Barbara’s Bren 
School of Environmental Science & Management. Mr. Diamond has developed financial models 
and conducted analyses for water and wastewater rate studies as well as capacity fee studies.

RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE

City of Brentwood (CA)
The City of Brentwood engaged Raftelis to conduct a water and wastewater rate study. In 2017, 
Raftelis helped the City evaluate the current water and wastewater utilities’ cost of service 
and adjusted rates accordingly. Recently Mr. Diamond updated a financial plan model and 
performed a cost of service analysis for the City’s wastewater utility. Mr. Diamond assisted 
with the update of existing rates as well as the development of a proposed alternative rate 
structure and rates. 

City of Dixon (CA)
The City of Dixon engaged Raftelis in 2018 to conduct a water rate study to develop updated 
water rates for the City’s water utility. Mr. Diamond developed a ten-year financial plan model, 
performed a cost of service analysis, and developed a five-year schedule of proposed water 
rates. Mr. Diamond also assisted in the preparation of presentation materials for water rate 
workshops with the City Council. 

La Cañada Irrigation District (CA)
La Cañada Irrigation District engaged Raftelis to conduct a water rate study. Since the last 
rate study was performed in 2008, Raftelis helped the District evaluate the cost of service and 
adjusted rates accordingly. In 2017, Mr. Diamond developed a financial plan model for the 
District to support the financial plan development for fiscal years 2018 to 2027. Mr. Diamond 
also recently performed a cost of service analysis to assist with the update of the District’s rates.

Rancho California Water District (CA)
Rancho California Water District (District) engaged Raftelis in 2017 to conduct a water capacity 
fees study. Raftelis reviewed and updated the existing methodology for calculating the District’s 
water capacity fees, developed a water capacity fee model for use in calculating updated capac-
ity fees. As part of the study, Mr. Diamond developed the water capacity fee model, calculated 
updated water capacity fees, and drafted the study report.

The District engaged Raftelis in 2018 to conduct a two-year water, recycled water, and waste-
water rate study. Raftelis developed a cost of service rate model to allocate costs and calculate 
rates for fiscal years 2019 and 2020. Mr. Diamond assisted with rate model revisions, prepared 
presentation materials for meetings with the District’s Board of Directors, and drafted the rate 
study report. 

Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority (CA)
The Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority engaged Raftelis in 2017 to develop a rate model 
for the Inland Empire Brine Line, which is a pipeline used to divert non-reclaimable waste-
water of high brine content from the upper Santa Ana River Basin. Raftelis reviewed and 
recommended changes to the Authority’s reserve policies, developed a ten-year financial plan 
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for the Brine Line Enterprise Fund, performed a multi-year cost of 
service analysis, and developed a rate model for use in calculating 
rates assessed to the Brine Line’s dischargers. Additionally, Raftelis 
assessed and recommended potential methodologies to be used 
in the development of long-term capacity leasing rates and rental 
charges. Mr. Diamond developed the financial plan, assisted with 
the cost of service analysis and rate calculation, drafted the study 
report, and attended multiple meeting with the Authority’s staff.

City of Sonoma (CA)
The City of Sonoma engaged Raftelis in 2018 to conduct a water 
rate study for the City’s water utility. The Study included the devel-
opment of a five-year financial plan, a cost of service analysis, and 
the development of proposed water rates for fiscal years 2019-
2023. Mr. Diamond processed and analyzed account level billed 
water consumption data, assisted in development of the water rate 
model, and drafted the water rate study report.
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PROPOSAL FOR COMPREHENSIVE 
COST OF SERVICE STUDIES FOR 

WATER (POTABLE AND RECYCLED) 
AND WASTEWATER 

OCTOBER 2018

OLIVENHAIN MUNICIPAL 
WATER DISTRICT



 

 
 5355 Mira Sorrento Place, Suite 270, San Diego, California 92121 
 P. 858.505.1020  F. 858.505.1015 

300.21.OMW001 | OMWDCoverLetter 

October 18, 2018 
 
Rainy Selamat, Finance Manager 
Olivenhain Municipal Water District 
1966 Olivenhain Road 
Encinitas, CA  92024 

Subject: Proposal for Water and Wastewater Rate Cost of Service Studies 

Dear Ms. Selamat: 

Olivenhain Municipal Water District (District/OMWD) is requesting assistance to conduct Comprehensive Cost 
of Service Studies for Water (Potable and Recycled) and Wastewater Services. Since the last study, customer 
usage characteristics have significantly changed with the 2016 California’s historic drought. Water demand has 
not returned and is not likely to return to pre-drought levels. The District needs a trusted and tested advisor to 
develop a defensible cost of service analysis and to maintain fiscal sustainability, ratepayer equity, and 
environmental stewardship.  

Carollo Engineers (Carollo) is not only a leader in cost of service rate setting, but also possesses the knowledge, 
resources, and capabilities to provide the engineering backstop required to support this complex undertaking. 
By carefully addressing several key issues and challenges, Carollo will develop studies that provide a cohesive 
roadmap for the equitable recovery of costs from water, recycled water, and wastewater customers. As part of 
the studies, we will answer the following questions: 

• What are the impacts of the recent Proposition 218 and 26 court cases and how does the District 
continue to achieve customer equity through its rates? 

• What future fiscal, operational, capital, and regulatory considerations must be addressed? 
• How do water demands continue to evolve and what financial safeguards are available?  

Our selected team members have provided rate studies to more than 300 agencies and, for each, successfully 
defined cost of service. Carollo has worked with not only your peer agencies such as Santa Fe Irrigation District, 
Del Mar, Oceanside, Carlsbad, and the San Diego County Water Authority, but have successfully led rate 
structure innovation with agencies such as Irvine Ranch Water District and Eastern Municipal Water District. 

We value this opportunity to further develop our relationship with the District and look forward to proving our 
record of service by providing a clear, defensible, and comprehensive cost of service/rate study. Should you 
have any questions in regard to this proposal, please contact us at 972-763-4466. 

Sincerely, 
 
CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. 
 
 
 
Jennifer R. Ivey Alexander T. Bugbee 
Principal-in-Charge/Vice President Project Manager 
 
JRI/ATB:alh 
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Rate studies are increasingly under public scrutiny. That is why it is important to have 
a trusted advisor with a proven track record of not just avoiding this scrutiny, but 
listening to stakeholder concerns and developing a rate plan that balances them with 
the financial needs of the agency. This approach has made Carollo the leading rate 
consultant in California, a state that is marked by constant rate challenges at both 
the courts and the ballot. Despite this, Carollo’s cost of service work has never been 
successfully challenged; instead, it has been affirmed for its clear and defensible cost of 
service principles—something that most other rate consultants cannot claim.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYA

Legal Name and Address:

Carollo Engineers, Inc. 
Corporate Headquarters 
2700 Ygnacio Valley Road, Suite 300
Walnut Creek, California 94598

Legal Form:

Corporation.

Parent Company:

None.

Offices Working on this Project:

5355 Mira Sorrento Place, Suite 270 
San Diego, California 92121

3150 Bristol Street, Suite 500
Costa Mesa, California 92626

707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 3920
Los Angeles, California 90017

Signature Place II, 14785 Preston Road, 
Suite 950
Dallas, Texas 75254

Proposal Contact:

Jennifer Ivey, Vice President
Signature Place II, 14785 Preston Rd, 
Suite 950
Dallas, Texas 75254
P. 972-763-4466 | jivey@carollo.com

Project Manager:

Alex Bugbee
707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 3920
Los Angeles, California 90017 
P. 213-279-3314 | abugbee@carollo.com
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

OVERVIEW

As outlined in the Request for Proposals 

(RFP), our proposal contains the following 

sections to provide you with a cost of 

service analysis that meets your financial 

objectives.

Project Understanding and 
Approach

Carollo’s rate development process is 

truly different. We base our approach 

on grounded policy and localized 

conditions—not simply generic industry 

standards. We are keenly aware of the 

high caliber of finance, administrative 

services, and engineering staff employed 

by the Olivenhain Municipal Water 

District (OMWD/District) and view this as 

a partnership between the District’s team 

and Carollo. Our proposed approach for 

evaluating and developing the District’s 

new rate structures incorporates the 

District’s unique operating, capital, policy, 

and other financial needs. The Studies 

are an opportunity to intellectually 

engage with District staff and the local 

community to collaboratively address 

your financial objectives.

Our project team will create a rate 

program that is defensible and clearly 

documents the basis for the study 

recommendations. We will provide the 

District with a financial planning tool that 

allows District staff to continually monitor 

and adjust to changing economic 

conditions.

Project Organization and Key 
Personnel

A successful project team demonstrates 

practical and relevant experience in all 

of the technical aspects of the project, 

a well-conceived project approach, and 

a commitment to the project goals. Our 

dedicated team is comprised of local 

industry leaders in cost of service and 

utility rate setting and will fulfill these 

requirements in totality.

Our proposed project manager, 

Alex Bugbee, has assisted numerous 

agencies in California deliver and 

implement the optimal rate structure 

to its stakeholders and customers. His 

combined experience in engineering and 

financial analyses focused on California 

agencies will be a key attribute to the 

Studies. 

Experience and Technical 
Competence

Carollo has developed financial programs 

for agencies of all sizes, demographics, 

geographies, and hydrological 

conditions. Our comprehensive financial 

studies for public agencies include 

cost of service rate setting, financial 

planning, financial modeling, cost 

allocations, resource economic studies, 

and asset management. Combining our  

financial expertise with our engineering 

perspective allows Carollo to take our 

analysis further and to provide our clients 

with detailed, supportable rates based 

on the functional design of the utility 

system.

Schedule

Carollo is committed to providing a 

timely and responsive schedule in 

order to implement the recommended 

rates and fees by March 2020 (water) 

and July 2021 (wastewater). Per the RFP, 

Carollo assumes a start of February 

2019, following award of the contract in 

January. Our preliminary project schedule 

is included in the Schedule section. 

Carollo will collaborate with the District 

to formalize the project schedule.

Cost Estimate

We have provided two detailed cost 

spreadsheets in the Cost Estimate section 

of this proposal—one for water and the 

other for wastewater. Our estimated costs 

are $82,604 for the Water Cost of Service 

Study, and $45,782 for the Wastewater 

Cost of Service Study.
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Our approach is simple: understand our clients’ unique challenges, allocate costs 
in a fair and equitable manner, and keep all stakeholders engaged throughout the 
processes. This approach helped us be the leading rate consultant in several states, and 
helped us exceed our clients’ needs.

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACHB

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING

Olivenhain Municipal Water District 

(District/OMWD) is requesting assistance 

to conduct Comprehensive Cost of 

Service Studies (Studies) for Water 

(Potable and Recycled) and Wastewater 

Services. The District’s current potable 

and recycled rate structures are based 

on Water Financial Plan and Cost of 

Service Rates performed in 2014. The 

wastewater rate structure is based on 

the 2016 Wastewater Rate Study. Since 

then, customer usage characteristics have 

significantly changed with California’s 

historic drought of 2016. Water demand 

has not returned and is not likely 

to return to pre-drought levels. The 

Studies will provide the District with a 

roadmap to invest in continued financial 

stability and resiliency while mitigating 

risks, minimizing rate fluctuations, and 

maintaining the District’s AAA credit 

rating.  

Identifying Varying Demands

The District’s service area is more than 

48 square miles, serving a diverse group 

of customers in the northern region of 

San Diego County. Based on the existing 

data, about 70% of water delivered 

is for domestic use, 23% for irrigation 

use, 3% for agricultural use, and 4% for 

commercial/industrial use. In fiscal year 

2018, the District billed 20,600 acre-

feet (AF) of potable and recycled water 

through 28,563 service connections. 

In cost of service analyses, it is critical 

to understand how each customer or 

group of customers may uniquely benefit 

from the services provided. Carollo has 

extensive experience developing cost of 

service rates for districts that face similar 

challenges, and the Studies will provide 

the District with a fair and appropriate 

methodology that is catered to the 

District’s diverse customer base.

Earlier this year, the California governor 

signed into law the Long-Term Water 

Use Efficiency/Conservations bills 

(Assembly Bill 1668 and Senate Bill 606), 

which impose on water agencies and 

local water suppliers the requirement to 

calculate and comply with their water 

use objectives. This dramatically affects 

how agencies plan for and achieve water 

use efficiency within their service areas. 

As growth in the District is projected at 

less than 1% each year, it is increasingly 

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\B-Approach.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: PROJECT UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACH

important to consider a potential decline 

in future water sales and to develop 

alternatives how to mitigate the long-

term financial impacts through rates and 

charges.

Water Supply Goals

The San Diego County Water Authority 

(SDCWA) serves as the sole source of 

untreated water to the District, and the  

David C. McCollom Water Treatment 

Plant (DCMWTP) provides the majority of 

the District’s treated supply. In addition, 

the District owns the 4S Wastewater and 

Reclamation Facility (4S WRF), which 

produces about 1 mgd of California 

Title 22 treated recycled water to meet 

demand. When necessary to supplement 

demand, the District purchases additional 

recycled water from City of San Diego, 

San Elijo Joint Power Authority, and 

Vallecitos Water District.

The District’s long-term goal for water 

supply is to at a minimum obtain a 

20 -percent increase of its supply portfolio 

from recycled water and other local 

water sources by 2025. To achieve this 

ambitious goal, the District is exploring 

groundwater as a new potable source, 

as well as the operation of a new 1-mgd 

brackish groundwater desalination 

facility. To finance the desalination plant, 

the District plans to issue a total of $19 

million in water revenue bonds in 2023. 

The Studies will assist the District in 

meeting their 2025 targets and help the 

District maintain their AAA credit rating 

in order to continue issuing debt service.

The District is currently funding its 

capital improvement program (CIP) 

using pay-as-you-go (PAYGO) financing 

through user rates and charges and 

capacity/annexation fees collected from 

developers. The District also has two 

outstanding water revenue bonds, 2015A 

and 2016A bonds. Carollo will collaborate 

with the District to evaluate the CIP and 

financing activities in order to avoid rate 

spikes, maintain stability in the District’s 

cash reserves, and mitigate risks.

Hillsborough County FL
Bond Advisory Support

City of Sacramento CA
Water, Wastewater, and 
Storm Drainage Rate Study 
and Bond Issuance

Austin TX
Water Treatment Plant 
Financial Feasibility Analysis

State of Oklahoma
100-Year Water Lease to 
State of Texas

King County WA
County-wide 
Stormwater Rate Study

Coeur d'Alene ID
Stormwater Utility Formation

Corpus Christi TX
Water Resources 
Alternatives Study

Lee County FL
Bond Compliance Support

Orange County Sanitation District CA
Rate and Connection Fee Study

Honolulu HI
Wastewater Bond 
Issuances

Wastewater Design-Build 
Financial Feasibility Review

Las Vegas NV
Rate and Connection Fee Study

San Antonio TX
Organization Assessment

Billings MT
Connection Fee Analysis

Omaha NE
Capital Project Alternative 
Analysis and Impact Fee Study

Denver Metropolitan CO

Clackamas County OR
County-wide Utility Formation

Sacramento Regional
County Sanitation 
District CA
Rate and Connection Fee 
Update

San Francisco Public Utilities 
Commission CA
Water and Wastewater Rate Update 
and Connection Fee Development

Seattle Public Utilities WA
Water, Wastewater, and 
Stormwater Impact Fee Study

San Diego County Water 
Authority CA
Wholesale Rate and 
Connection Fee Update

City of San José CA
Connection Fee Study for 
Wastewater, Recycled Water, 
Sanitary Sewer, and Storm Sewer

Sacramento County 
Water Agency CA
Rate Study and 
Organization Assessment

Having successfully performed rate studies and financial planning for utilities of all sizes 

while undertaking complex legal and uncertain demand challenges, Carollo has become one of the largest and most 

successful rate consultants in California. Combined with the technical expertise, Carollo has provided its clients with 

added confidence in the rate studies that will provide long-term support for the District and its community.
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Based on the District’s RFP and Carollo’s understanding of the District’s needs, Carollo will perform a full cost of service 

study to allocate water, recycled, and wastewater costs and appropriately recover rate revenues tailored for the District. 

The Studies will include the following:

As part of this project, Carollo will 

work with the District to develop a 

user-friendly, flexible rate model that 

generates sufficient revenue under 

varying conditions to cover all internal, 

external, fixed and variable costs as well 

as to provide funding for capital projects 

and reserves. The developed model will 

be capable of running different scenarios 

and calculations including, but not 

limited to:

 • Rate and cost of service impacts with 
various factors

 • Different operating expense levels 
with varying costs and percentage 
input

 • CIP financing on a PAYGO, funding 
sources, and debt services

Short- and long-term demand and financial forecasting

Review of existing rates and charges:

 9Non-shortage tiered water rate structure

 9Shortage tiered water rate structure

 9Wastewater rate structures for 4S Ranch Sanitation District and Rancho Cielo Sanitation District

Flexible and adaptive rate structure to account for the operations cost, purchase cost, debt service 
obligation, and capital need of:

 9Potable water service

 9Recycled water service

 9Wastewater service

A fair and equitable cost allocation methodology for potable water and recycled common 
expenses, and water and wastewater operations 

Assist with the training of internal District staff to update, maintain, and analyze the rate models

 9 Inclusion of a user-friendly management dashboard

Assist the District with the rate setting and customer outreach process 












 • Pass-through charges and water 
purchases based on demand changes

 • Measurements of future debt capacity 

 • Level of changes in revenues and 
expenditures with different rate 
increase input

By understanding your capital needs, not 

only will the project define the needs, 

but our Engineering Advisor will work 

with the District and our team to define 

the impacts of delaying or eliminating 

capital projects and the potential 

changes to cost of service. This depth of 

resources and expertise is only provided 

by a true financial and engineering firm 

that is focused only on water.

At the project onset, Carollo will meet 

with District staff to determine the 

best approach for evaluating rate 

structures. Carollo will also identify 

potential District Board and additional 

stakeholder outreach alternatives based 

on input from staff. Combining our 

financial expertise with our engineering 

perspective allows Carollo to take our 

analysis further and to provide our clients 

with detailed, supportable rates based 

on the functional design of the utility 

system. 

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\B-Approach.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: PROJECT UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACH

APPROACH

Rate studies cannot be performed in a 

vacuum and equally cannot be blindly 

founded on industry standards. We 

have developed a scope of work that is 

tailored to your project needs, which is 

included in Appendix A. We will perform 

a full cost of service study to allocate and 

collect appropriate water, recycled water, 

and wastewater costs from appropriate 

users. We will perform an extensive 

customer billing analysis to understand 

existing trends and to determine how 

demands may impact expenditures. We 

will also analyze expenditures based on 

functions, determined by an engineering 

analysis—not generic factors published 

in the M1 Manual. 

Our financial expertise combined with 

our engineering perspective allows 

Carollo to take our analysis further and 

to provide our clients with detailed 

and supportable rates based on the 

functional design of the utility system. 

This approach ultimately provides equity 

and defensibility to the rate analysis. 

Once the analysis is completed, Carollo 

will work with the District to develop 

a successful implementation plan and 

assist in the initiation of the Proposition 

218 process.

In the light of increasingly litigious rate 

environment (Proposition 218), uncertain 

demand forecasting, and rate payer 

awareness/sensitivity, it is absolutely 

necessary to have a team who can 

undertake the following challenges:

PROVEN LEGAL UNDERSTANDING 
We understand Proposition 218 and recent legal opinions and the 
potential implications of these challenges. Our combined financial 
and engineering approach is necessary to achieve the District’s 
desired result of detailing a defensible cost-of-service framework and 
validating the District’s existing work. With a true engineering basis 
providing the foundation of the analysis, the District can pinpoint the 
specific attributes of the system related to providing various water 
demands. This approach sets us apart as a winning team. Over the last 
5 years, Carollo has become one of the most successful rate consultants 
in California.

Challenge 1. California Legal Standing

The District needs a trusted and tested advisor to develop defensible cost of service 

analysis and transparent rates for its customers. Recent cases, such as Glendale and San 

Juan Capistrano, and the recent recall at Yorba Linda Water District, are prime examples 

of the potential challenges facing the District. Unlike some other firms, Carollo and 
our clients have not lost a case on the grounds of cost of service (Proposition 218 

or 26) and rather have been the firm that agencies have leaned on to help navigate the 

legal landscape.

Challenge 2. Cost of Service Nexus

Necessary to the cost of service process is the development of a nexus, which details 

how costs incurred relate to the benefits received. Too often, cost of service rate 

structures are only approached from a single (financial) lens. While this is a critical 

piece, this lens only explains the needs (costs), but not the why. Our team and 

approach address the full picture by combining both engineering and financial lenses.

COMPREHENSIVE UNDERSTANDING AND EXPLANATION 
While this approach creates the foundation for the cost of service 
nexus as required by Proposition 218, it also helps explain the original 
question of “who pays how much and why?” We do not simply rely on 
“the numbers” to tell the story to your ratepayers and Council. With our 
sound engineering basis to explain “why,” ratepayers can understand 
the complexities the water, recycled, or wastewater systems, which 
could be easily ignored.
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Challenge 3. Level of Service in 
Various Service Areas

As the District’s service area includes  a 

range of customers, it is necessary that 

the rate consultant understands the 

importance of a unique level of service 

for each individual area.  

EXTENSIVE EXPERIENCE 
Our team has performed a cost 
of service, rate, and charge 
study for SDCWA to affirm the 
appropriateness and legality of 
their water rates and fees. Carollo 
determined if the existing cost 
allocation methodology was 
appropriate, and made the 
recommendation that all rates 
and charges be allocated to 
SDCWA’s member agencies on a 
fair and logical basis regardless 
using a “postage stamp” 
approach. 

In contrast, our team has also 
performed a cost of service 
rate study for Eastern Municipal 
Water District (EMWD) that 
maintains various water sources 
and more than 40 unique water 
rate codes. Carollo collaborated 
with EMWD to align each 
water source with its rates 
and provided a cost of service 
basis for each rate component. 
Carollo recommended several 
alternatives to simplify and 
consolidate existing rates and 
also helped EMWD to achieve 
a smooth transition for all 
customer classes. 

TRUSTED EXPERTS AND COMMUNICATORS 
Beyond providing a strong technical basis, our team is comprised of 
industry leaders in cost of service and rate design. Our Principal-in-
Charge, Jennifer Ivey, is active in industry associations including the 
AWWA Rates and Charges Committee and the WEF Utility Management 
Committee. She was a contributing author for AWWA’s M1: Principles of 
Water Rates, Fees, and Charges, Seventh Edition, and she was on the task 
force to review and update WEF’s Manual of Practice 27: Financing and 
Charges for Wastewater Systems, Fourth Edition. In addition to her roles 
on these national committees, she is serving in her third year of a three-
year term on the Utility Management Conference Program Committee 
and will be co-chair of the 2019 conference in Nashville. 

In addition, our Project Manager, Alex Bugbee is a senior analyst with 
more than nine years of experience in utility rates, financing, and asset 
management. He has provided rate consulting services to numerous 
agencies in California and assisted them in delivering and implementing 
optimal rate structures to their stakeholders and customers. His 
combined experience in engineering and financial analyses focused on 
California agencies will be a key attribute to the Studies.

The proposed study team presented within this proposal has worked 
with more than 300 agencies and their councils and boards to clearly 
communicate complex issues by translating them into laymen’s terms. 
We have also presented to large committees and facilitated workshops 
to provide clarity, transparency, and understanding of existing and 
developing trends. Additionally, our team has published extensively 
on cost of service rate setting and regularly presents at industry 
conferences.  

These two examples provide evidence that our team is capable of tackling the 

challenge of levels of services in various service areas that are specifically catered 

to a utility’s need. Carollo will work with the District to determine the appropriate 

methodology that meets the needs of the District’s unique range of customers.

Challenge 4. Communication

The final piece is to present the recommendations and garner Council and public 

support. This component, while the last step of the process, cannot be ignored until 

the end. Building on the earlier challenges, if the team can explain the “why” from 

both a financial and engineering basis to all stakeholders, the communication is largely 

defined. Our team is exceptional, even in challenging environments, at communicating 

and getting large increases and rate redesigns passed.

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\B-Approach.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND KEY PERSONNEL

While the qualifications of the firm you hire are important, your project team will 
dictate the success of your project. You need a committed team with both financial and 
engineering expertise to provide sound solutions to align with your utility’s long-term 
financial goals and stability.

PROJECT ORGANIZATION AND KEY PERSONNELC

The success of this project lies in the 

experience and abilities of the project team. 

A successful project team must demonstrate 

practical and relevant experience in all of 

the technical aspects of the project, a well-

conceived work plan and project approach, 

and a commitment to the project goals. We 

have dedicated a team to your project that 

will fulfill these requirements in totality. This 

team will not be reassigned without prior 

written approval from the District and will 

keep information learned about the District’s 

water and wastewater facilities and systems 

fully confidential.

A comprehensive team and integrated 

approach provides for added synergies and 

enhanced project clarity. We have listed team 

members on the right and provided resumes 

in Appendix B.

ALEX BUGBEE
PROJECT MANAGER

JENNIFER IVEY
PRINCIPAL-IN-CHARGE

MARK PANNY JEFF WEISHAAR, PE

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS ENGINEERING ADVISOR

MADDIE ATKINS

LEAD ANALYST
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Project Manager - Alex Bugbee
Office: Los Angeles, CA

Alex is a senior analyst with more than 

nine years of experience in utility rates 

and financing and asset management. 

His primary expertise includes assisting 

water and wastewater agencies develop 

financial and econometric models, 

program funding and implementation 

strategies, asset management plans, 

rehabilitation and replacement programs, 

as well as compiling and analyzing the 

necessary background data.

Alex has provided rate consulting 

services to numerous agencies 

in California and assisted them in 

delivering and implementing optimal 

rate structures to their stakeholders and 

customers. His combined experience 

in engineering and financial analyses 

focused on California agencies will be a 

key attribute to the Studies.

Lead Analyst - Mark Panny
Office: Costa Mesa, CA

Mark has experience in cost of service 

analysis and rate design for water 

and wastewater utilities. He also has 

significant experience in statistical 

analysis for water usage planning. 

Mark has contributed to a variety of 

financial analyses and has served as lead 

analyst on many cost of service rate 

studies projects for municipal utilities 

throughout California, including San 

Clemente, Irvine Ranch Water District, 

Inland Empire Utilities Agency, and Marin 

Municipal Water District.  

Analyst - Maddie Atkins
Office: Costa Mesa, CA

Maddie specializes in financial analysis 

and modeling, water utility management, 

hydrology modeling, project 

management, and data analytics. She 

previously served as the president of the 

Duke Water Network and is a founding 

member of the Nicholas School Financial 

Initiative Working Group.

Engineering Advisor - 
Jeff Weishaar, PE
Office: San Diego, CA

Jeff is a civil and environmental engineer 

with 14 years of extensive experience in 

various wastewater projects including 

elements of analysis, design, and 

construction. As engineering advisor, 

he will support the team by drawing 

from his engineering experience and 

knowledge of the District’s infrastructure 

and operations. This will allow Carollo to 

integrate the cost/financial evaluation 

and our engineering expertise on this 

project. 

KEY STAFF QUALIFICATIONS

Principal-in-Charge - 
Jennifer Ivey
Office: Dallas, TX

Jennifer is a vice president at Carollo 

with 20 years of extensive experience 

in multi-year financial planning, 

development impact fee, bond 

feasibility, and cost of service, rate, and 

charge studies throughout the U.S., as 

well as civil and environmental design 

engineering. Her combined financial and 

engineering expertise provides her with 

an in-depth understanding of water and 

wastewater utility cost causation, leading 

to transparent and defensible study 

recommendations.

Jennifer is active in industry associations 

including the AWWA Rates and 

Charges Committee and the WEF Utility 

Management Committee. She was a 

contributing author for AWWA’s M1: 

Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and 

Charges, Seventh Edition, and she was on 

the task force to review and update WEF’s 

Manual of Practice 27: Financing and 

Charges for Wastewater Systems, Fourth 

Edition. In addition to her roles on these 

national committees, she is serving in 

her third year of a three-year term on the 

Utility Management Conference Program 

Committee and will be co-chair of the 

2019 conference in Nashville.

WHAT SETS US APART: INDUSTRY EXPERTS IN RATE STUDIES
Over the course of many successful projects, our team has become a leader in cost of service rate 
design and financial planning for agencies of all sizes and in all regions. Our team regularly presents 
at national conferences and publishes in industry journals, placing us at the forefront of this ever-
changing field. Our Financial Management Group Lead, Jennifer Ivey, is active in industry associations 
including the American Water Works Association (AWWA) National Rates and Charges Committee 
and Water Environment Federation (WEF) Utility Management Committee. She is also a contributing 
author for AWWA’s updated Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and Charges M1 Rates Manual.

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\C-Team.indd



10
V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\D-Experience.indd

COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXPERIENCE AND TECHNICAL COMPETENCE

Carollo is a privately held environmental engineering firm specializing in water 
and wastewater system planning, design, construction, and financial services. With 
more than 1,000 employees in 44 offices throughout the United States, Carollo has 
successfully completed more than 25,000 projects for public sector clients. Founded in 
1933, our singular commitment has been to the water industry. Water is all we do—it’s 
our focus, our business, and our passion.

EXPERIENCE AND TECHNICAL COMPETENCED

To achieve success in the cost-conscious 

and results-driven modern utility market, 

it’s important for utilities to provide 

creative, technical solutions executed 

within the context of sound business 

practices. Combined with the technical 

expertise in water and wastewater 

system, Carollo has been successfully 

helping its clients like no other consultant 

in the industry. Carollo works with utility 

managers to effectively administer 

business operations with creative 

solutions to evolving challenges.

As a leading environmental consulting 

firms specializing in the water industry, 

our experts understand the unique 

hurdles that agencies face. The solutions 

must be executed within the context 

of sound, innovative business practices 

to be successful. Our goal is to provide 

you with the information and advice 

to implement the best solutions for 

your needs. Carollo’s financial services 

include revenue program analyses, rate 

and impact fee studies, cost allocations, 

project financing, and general financial 

planning services for water and 

wastewater clients.

On the following pages, you will 

find projects that highlight our past 

experience and what we have to offer 

the District.

As requested in the RFP, Carollo 

Engineers and our assigned staff are 

properly registered/licensed to practice 

in the State of California.
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S SS
S

Capital 
Planning

Capital 
Funding 
Strategy

Cost-of- 
Service Rate 

Structure 
Analysis

Revenue 
Requirements

Fiscal 
Policy 

Review

Connection
/Impact Fee

Financial 
Modeling

Bond 
Coverage 

Evaluation

Stakeholder 
Involvement

/Public 
Outreach

City of Carlsbad, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of Chula Vista, CA • • • • •  • • •
City of Las Vegas, NV • • • • • • • • •
City of Los Angeles, CA • • • • • • • •
City of Modesto, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of Oceanside, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of Omaha, NE • • • • • • • •
City of Portland, OR • • • • • • • • •
City of Riverside, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of Sacramento, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of San José, CA • • • • • • • • •
City of Scottsdale, AZ • • • • • • • • •
City of Seattle, WA • •  • • • • • •
City of Simi Valley, CA • • • • • • • •
City of Upland, CA • • • • • •
City and County of Honolulu, HI • •  • •  • • •
Clean Water Service, OR • • • • • • • •  
Contra Costa Water District, CA • • • • • • •
Delta Diablo Sanitation District, CA • • • • • •
East Bay Municipal Water District, CA • • • •
Eastern Municipal Water District, CA • • • • • • • •
El Paso Water Utilities Public Service Board, TX • • • • • • • • •
El Toro Water District, CA • • •
Inland Empire Utilities Agency, CA • • • • • • • • •
Irvine Ranch Water District, CA • • • • • •
King County, WA • • • • • • • • •
Marin Municipal Water District, CA • • • • • • • • •
Marina Coast Water District, CA • • • • • • • • •
Monte Vista Water District, CA • • • • • •
Orange County Sanitation District, CA • • • • • • • • •
Sacramento County Department of Water Resources, CA • • • • • • • •
Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District, CA • • • • • • • • •
San Diego County Water Authority, CA   • • • • • • •
San Francisco Public Utility Commission, CA • • • • • • • • •
Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority, CA • • • • • • • • •
Santa Margarita Water District, CA • • • • • • • • •
West County Sanitation District, CA • • • • • • • •  
Western Riverside County Regional Wastewater Authority, CA • • • • • • •  •

Abbreviated Comprehensive Financial Planning Experience

Our financial and engineering expertise provides us with the unique ability to efficiently allocate rates in a fair and equitable 

way, thus reducing potential Proposition 26 and 218 concerns. Our technical expertise, paired with proven financial strategies, 

allows us to anticipate the specific objectives for these studies. While an abbreviated list, the matrix below demonstrates the 

breadth and depth of our financial services expertise. Project experience and references for some of our most relevant projects 

are located on the following pages.
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXPERIENCE AND TECHNICAL COMPETENCE

COST OF SERVICE, RATE DESIGN, AND CONNECTION 
FEE STUDY FOR WATER AND WASTEWATER SERVICES
City of Del Mar, California

The City of Del Mar hired Carollo to update 

the City’s comprehensive cost of service, 

rate design, and connection fee study 

for the water and wastewater utilities in 

accordance with Proposition 218 and 

California Government Code Sections 

§54999 and §66000. Carollo collaborated 

with City staff and used the existing 

water and wastewater financial models to 

increase cost and time efficiencies. 

This Cost of Service Study (COSS) 

involved the determination of actual 

cost of service to be recovered from 

the different classes of users through 

rates and the development of various 

water and wastewater rate design 

options to fund revenue requirements. 

The COSS evaluated the allocation 

among customer categories, charges to 

future customers for connecting to the 

water and wastewater systems, reserve 

requirements, and appropriate fund 

target levels.

Carollo also updated connection fees for 

the City’s water and wastewater systems 

that comply with the State of California’s 

requirements. The calculated fees were 

based on the current replacement value 

of each of the systems (estimated using 

the City’s fixed assets register), projected 

CIP projects, outstanding debt service, 

and applicable fund balances. 

The newly updated Microsoft Excel® 

based financial models incorporated 

revenue requirement, cost allocation, 

and rate design analysis, as well as 

SDCWA Supply cost projections, water 

or wastewater demand projections, and 

wastewater transportation and treatment 

cost calculations. 

CLIENT REFERENCE:
Ms. Kristen Crane, Assistant City Manager 
City of Del Mar 
1050 Camino Del Mar, Del Mar, CA 92014 
P: 858-755-9313  

TYPE OF WORK: Cost of Service, Rate Design, and Connection Fee Study

PROJECT DATES: 2014 - ongoing

PROJECT COST: $92,200

TEAM INVOLVEMENT:
Jennifer Ivey - Principal-in-Charge; Alex Bugbee - Project Manager
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXPERIENCE AND TECHNICAL COMPETENCE

COMPREHENSIVE RATE STUDIES 
AND ONGOING FINANCIAL SUPPORT
City of Oceanside, California

Carollo developed near- and long-term 

financial forecasts, updated the capital 

facilities charges, and analyzed the retail 

and wholesale rate structures for water, 

wastewater, and recycled water for the 

City of Oceanside. The rate structures 

were developed in compliance with 

Proposition 218 and wholesale contract 

requirements. The project included a 

Citizen’s Advisory Committee process 

designed to provide an overview of the 

facilities master plan and financial and 

rate program, facilitate open discourse, 

and garner buy-in from the Utilities 

Commission and Council.

Carollo worked with City staff to prioritize 

projects based on sound engineering 

judgment, funding availability, and to 

optimize bond issuances. The team 

developed a financial planning model 

in close collaboration with staff. An 

optimization module was incorporated in 

order to facilitate holistic decisions with 

respect to water resources, wastewater 

treatment and disposal, and energy 

demands and production. The model 

incorporates wholesale user allocations 

and invoices, reducing the administrative 

burden for annual invoicing.

Since the initial study, Carollo has 

continued to support the City in 

performing annual rate adjustments, 

periodic cost-of-service validations, 

and connection fee updates, as well as 

providing ongoing financial support.

CLIENT REFERENCE:
Ms. Cari Dale, Water Utilities Department Director 
City of Oceanside 
300 North Coast Highway, Oceanside, CA 92054 
P: 760-435-5827  

TYPE OF WORK: Cost of Service, Rate Design, and Connection Fee Study

PROJECT DATES: 2013 - ongoing

PROJECT COST: Total Fees: $570,000 (~$125,000 for each Study)

TEAM INVOLVEMENT:
Jennifer Ivey - Principal-in-Charge; Alex Bugbee - Project Manager/Lead 
Financial Analyst

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\D-Experience.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: EXPERIENCE AND TECHNICAL COMPETENCE

COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE  
AND WATER RATE STUDY
Santa Fe Irrigation District, California

The Santa Fe Irrigation District 

(District) retained Carollo to perform 

a Comprehensive Cost of Service and 

Water Rate Study (Study). The intent of 

the Study was to independently assess 

and evaluate the District’s existing 

water rates and charges and provide 

recommendations. The broad objective 

of the Study is to adequately cover 

revenue requirements in compliance 

with industry best practices, legal 

parameters, debt service rate covenants, 

and District policies. However, the Study 

presented two unique challenges: (1) the 

availability of local water from Lake 

Hodges, and (2) the change in water use 

demands since the previous study. 

Carollo worked with District staff, legal 

counsel, and the Board in developing 

a consensus throughout the process 

and on proposed financial plan and rate 

structures. Carollo used workshops to 

clearly communicate and illustrate the 

needs of the system and the benefits 

to various users. To facilitate this study, 

Carollo held numerous workshops—

including a Rate Setting 101—and 

personal meetings with Board members 

(in accordance with the Brown Act) that 

enabled a better understanding and 

open transparency.

The proposed rates maintained the 

existing inclining block rate structure, 

but proposed two, rather than four 

tiers to streamline the rate structure 

and to reflected the District’s existing 

and forecasted demand levels. Carollo 

developed a 3-year rate schedule 

supported by a 10-year revenue 

requirement analysis. The Study reviewed 

and evaluated reserve policies and 

capital funding strategy with staff, 

discussing the District’s goals and 

potential rate impacts.

CLIENT REFERENCE:
Mr. Seth Gates, Administrative Services Manager 
Santa Fe Irrigation District 
5920 Linea del Cielo, Rancho Santa Fe, CA 92067 
P: 858-756-5970 

TYPE OF WORK: Cost of Service and Rate Design Study

PROJECT DATES: 2018

PROJECT COST: $112,774

TEAM INVOLVEMENT:
Jennifer Ivey - Principal-in-Charge; Mark Panny - Lead Analyst; Alex Bugbee - QA/QC
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: SCHEDULE

We are committed to address the proposed scope of work. Carollo assumes a start of 
February following award of the contract in January. Our proposed project schedules 
are presented on the following page. While the District outlined separate time lines 
for Water and Wastewater COSS, it is important to view the results in totality, rather 
than isolation. Carollo will work with the District to see what data, assumptions, 
forecasts, and recommendations should be analyzed or presented in parallel. For key 
variables or factors, like debt coverage or rate payer impacts, viewing the results in 
a comprehensive fashion (rather than by enterprise) may yield different results or 
comments from the Board/Stakeholders. 

SCHEDULEE

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\E-Schedule.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: SCHEDULE

Task Name FEB MAR APRIL MAY JUN JUL AUG

Task 1: Cost of Service Analysis 

2019

SEPT

Task 2: Rate Model Functionality

Task 3: Additional Meetings

     Board / Public Workshops

Task 4: Project Management

OCT NOV

LE
G

E
N

D
 Draft Report

Final Report
Board Workshops

Estimated Water Rate Study Schedule (Rate to be Implemented as of 03/01/2020)

Preliminary Rate 
and Charge Options

Preliminary Recommendations

Task Name FEB MAR APRIL MAY JUN JUL AUG

Task 1: Cost of Service Analysis 

2020

SEPT

Task 2: Rate Model Functionality

Task 3: Additional Meetings

     Board / Public Workshops

Task 4: Project Management

OCT NOV

Estimated Wastewater Rate Study Schedule (Rate to be Implemented as of 07/01/2021)

Preliminary Rate and Charge Options Proposed and Recommended Rate and Charge Options

MAY...

2019

DEC JAN

2021

Preliminary Results
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: COST ESTIMATE

The proposed budgets reflect the necessary level of effort to satisfy the requirements 
of Proposition 218, as well as to work collaboratively with District staff and the 
Board. Development of the Cost of Service Study Reports requires a comprehensive 
understanding of the District’s water and wastewater systems and facilities, as well as 
the ability to define the nexus of how the developed rate structure links to the District’s 
revenue requirements. As per the San Juan Decision, the calculations required by 
Proposition 218 may be “complex,” but “such a process is now required by the California 
Constitution.” The proposed hours shown on the tables on the following pages reflect 
the required customer data and cost allocation analyses. This level of effort is necessary 
to satisfy the requirements of Proposition 218.

COST ESTIMATEF

The proposed budget and schedule 

reflects the objectives detailed in the 

District’s RFP. However, should the District 

be able to perform the Studies in parallel, 

in whole or in part, then Carollo could 

realize greater efficiencies, notably in 

meetings and presentations, and adjust 

our proposed budget accordingly.

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\F-Cost.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: COST ESTIMATE
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 Task  $274  $196  $155  $231 $11.70

Task 1: Cost of Service Analysis  16.0  80.0  104.0  8.0  $38,032  $2,433  $-    $40,465 

Task 1.1 - Cost of Service Analysis  4.0  16.0  24.0  4.0 

Task 1.2 - Rate Scenarios & Report  12.0  64.0  80.0  4.0 

Task 2: Rate Model Functionality  -    24.0  64.0  -    $14,624  $1,029  $-    $15,653 

Development of tailored Financial Plan and Rate setting model

Task 3: Additional Meetings  40.0  40.0  18.0  -    $21,590  $1,146  $3,750  $26,486 

Meetings and presentations (and development of related materials) in order to receive/develop staff and Council input and garner support 
for recommendations

Presentations/Workshops(each):  8.0  8.0  4.0  -    $4,380  $234  $750  $5,364 

Council 2x2 (per day)  8.0  8.0  2.0  -    $4,070  $210  $750  $5,030 

Total  56.0  144.0  186.0  8.0  $74,246  $4,608  $3,750 $82,604 

Deliverables: Rate Model (Excel) and Draft and Final Summary Cost of Service Report
Presentations: Assumes a total of 4 on-site presentations/workshops (may include Board, Public Hearing, Ad Hoc Committee, etc.)
Board 2x2: Assumes a series of 2x2x1 meetings with the Board Member in compliance with Brown Act. Assumes single day of meetings
Staff Meetings: Task 1 assumes 3 working/review meeting with staff

ESTIMATED FEE: 
WATER COST OF SERVICE STUDY
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDY: COST ESTIMATE
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 Task  $274  $196  $155  $231 $11.70

Task 1: Cost of Service Analysis  8.0  44.0  68.0  4.0  $22,280  $1,450  $-    $23,730 

Task 1.1 - Cost of Service Analysis  4.0  12.0  20.0  -   

Task 1.2 - Rate Scenarios & Report  4.0  32.0  48.0  4.0 

Task 2: Rate Model Functionality  -    16.0  48.0  -    $10,576  $748  $-    $11,324 

Development of tailored Financial Plan and Rate setting model

Task 3: Additional Meetings  16.0  16.0  8.0  -    $8,760  $468  $1,500  $10,728 

Meetings and presentations (and development of related materials) in order to receive/develop staff and Council input and garner support 
for recommendations

Presentations/Workshops(each):  8.0  8.0  4.0  -    $4,380  $234  $750  $5,364 

Council 2x2 (per day)

Total  24.0  76.0  124.0  4.0  $41,616  $2,666  $1,500  $45,782 

Deliverables: Rate Model (Excel) and Draft and Final Summary Cost of Service Report
Presentations: Assumes a total of 2 on-site presentations/workshops (may include Board, Public Hearing, Ad Hoc Committee, etc.)
Board 2x2: Not seperately scoped for Wastewater (would address both all enterprises at single meeting)
Staff Meetings: Task 1 assumes 2 working/review meeting with staff

ESTIMATED FEE: 
WASTEWATER COST OF SERVICE STUDY
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: COST ESTIMATE

                                                    CAROLLO ENGINEERS, INC. 
FEE SCHEDULE 

 
As of January 1, 2018 

California 
 

 Hourly Rate 
Engineers/Scientists  
 Assistant Professional $155.00  
 Professional 196.00  
 Project Professional 231.00  
 Lead Project Professional 250.00  
 Senior Professional 274.00  
Technicians  
 Technicians 131.00  
 Senior Technicians 183.00  
Support Staff  
 Document Processing / Clerical 115.00  
   
Project Equipment Communication Expense 
(PECE) Per DL Hour 

11.70  

  
Other Direct Expenses  
 Travel and Subsistence at cost  
 Mileage at IRS Reimbursement Rate 

     Effective January 1, 2018                                                                              
 

          $.545 per mile 

 Subconsultant cost + 10%  
 Other Direct Cost cost + 10%  
 Expert Witness Rate x 2.0  

 
 
 
 
 
 

This fee schedule is subject to annual revisions due to labor adjustments. 
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: COPY OF MOST RECENT COST OF SERVICE STUDY REPORTS

As requested in the RFP, Carollo has provided recent cost of service study reports (water 
and wastewater) for the District’s review. The water report provided is for the Santa Fe 
Irrigation District’s Water Rate Study and was finalized in October 2018. The wastewater 
report provided is Orange County Sanitation District’s Cost of Service Rate Study and 
Financial Analysis finalized in December 2017. The cost of service study reports are 
provided only in the electronic submittal of this proposal, as instructed in the RFP.

COPY OF MOST RECENT COST OF SERVICE STUDY REPORTSG

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\G-StudyReports.indd
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Santa Fe Irrigation District (SFID or District) is a California irrigation district providing retail water 

and recycled water service in northern San Diego County, California. SFID retained Carollo 

Engineers, Inc. (Carollo), an independent rate consultant, to perform a Cost of Service Rate 

Study (Study) for the District’s water and recycled water rates. This cost of service report 

(Report) summarizes the recommendations from that analysis. 

Study Goals  

Several key opportunities and challenges for SFID shaped this analysis. Like many agencies in 

California, SFID has seen fluctuating water demands over the past several years. This trend is 

largely driven by the state’s focus on water conservation over the last decade, and in response to 

a historic multi-year drought that impacted California through 2016.  

This planning uncertainty underscores the need for the Study. At the outset of the Study, Carollo 

and SFID outlined a set of objectives for arriving at a rate structure recommendation. The rates 

developed must be: 

1. Based on a detailed cost of service analysis of each potable and recycled water system 

2. Developed in accordance with relevant legal and industry guidelines 

3. Equitable across customer classes and users 

4. Simultaneously easy for customers to understand, and for SFID staff to administer 

5. Built with financial resiliency and stability in mind, and assist in the promotion of 

conservation 

6. Affordable for a typical SFID customer 

These objectives balance the legal, operational, and financial objectives that SFID must consider 

when setting rates. 

Study Framework and Methodology 

Carollo used a methodology that is first and foremost consistent with California laws and 

regulations, namely, California Constitution article XIII D, section 6 (commonly referred to as 

Proposition 218) and its proportionality requirements. Carollo’s approach is based on the 

foundational guidance of this law’s language, and from relevant legal precedent. Carollo also 

developed this analysis with a rate-setting framework, Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and 

Charges, Manual of Water Supply Practices M1 (M1 Manual), published by the American Water 

Works Association (AWWA). Finally, Carollo tailored its rate-setting approach to the policy 

guidance of the District and its Board of Directors. 

Legal Compliance 

SFID periodically initiates cost of service analyses to review the alignment of costs with rates and 

charges. In the State of California, water agencies must establish rates in accordance with the 

substantive requirements defined by California Constitution article XIII D, section 6. In addition, 

agencies must harmonize these requirements with article X, section 2, which mandates that 

water suppliers work to conserve the water resources of the State of California. 

The goal of this Report and the underlying analysis is to document the nexus of costs and the 

corresponding rates and fees charged to customers.  
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While this document does not establish any legal opinions on behalf of either Carollo or SFID, the 

analysis in the Study has been conducted based on a review and interpretation of these stated 

legal guidelines, as well as relevant case law. 

Industry Standards 

Carollo’s approach is built upon industry best practices for rate-setting. The American Water 

Works Association (AWWA) publishes several guidance documents for utilities setting rates and 

charges, the primary guidance being the M1 Manual. The M1 Manual provides a comprehensive 

outline of best practices and methods for rate-setting for water and wastewater utilities, utilizing 

a multi-step approach that has been utilized for this Study. 

Revenue Requirement 

The revenue requirement analysis compares SFID’s forecasted revenues to its forecasted 

operating and capital reserve costs. This determines the adequacy of existing rates to fund 

SFID’s costs of providing service. If a shortfall exists, or other funding goals are not met, 

additional funding through either rates or additional bond issuances are reviewed and 

recommended based on strategic goals and funding availability. Through its annual budgeting 

process, the District performs a detailed review of its costs, including operations expenditures, 

capital needs, and funding requirements. 

Water Demand Analysis 

Forecasting water sales and purchases is a critical component in the rate setting process. The 

District's forecast process includes a multi-year evaluation of system demands both on a 

customer class and system-wide basis. As the District does not have enough local supplies to 

meet all of its demands, it is necessary for the District to purchase imported water and expand 

recycled water at a significantly higher cost. As part of the budget process, the District forecasts 

the expected cost of water based on historical demands, proposed changes to rates, regulatory 

impacts, and even the weather. These forecasted water purchases are then compared against 

forecasted revenues and rates are developed to adequately recover costs. 

Cost Allocation 

After assessing the revenue requirements of the District, costs are allocated to specific functional 

categories. This allocation to functional categories is based on several key operating functions, 

such as customer service, capacity, and water supply. This process takes each item in SFID’s 

budget and organizes the items collectively based on what function is served. Organizing the 

budget in terms of end function allows direct correlation between the budget item and the rate, 

coupling the cost incurred by SFID, and the benefit delivered to the customer or the demand the 

customer places on the system and its resources. 

Rate Design 

The rate design involves developing a rate structure that proportionately recovers costs between 

customer classes (e.g., residential/non-residential and private fire protection customers), as well 

as from customers within their designated customer class. The rate design takes the allocated 

totals and calculates a unit cost for each customer. This unit cost can be either a fixed monthly 

fee per account, or commodity charge for each unit of water. Where appropriate, tiered rate 

adjustments are also calculated during this step. The tier recommendations must match SFID’s 

cost of providing potable water service. 
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Finally, the rate design step reviews financial impacts to the District’s customers, as well as the 

ease of understanding and administration of the final rate structure. The fundamental structure 

of this analysis has been built from the approach outlined in the M1 Manual and has been 

developed with industry best practices in mind. 

Results and Methodology 

Carollo used a methodology that is first and foremost consistent with California laws and 

regulations, including Proposition 218. Carollo also developed this analysis with a rate-setting 

framework published by the American Water Works Association (AWWA). Finally, Carollo 

tailored its rate-setting approach to the policy guidance of the District and its Board of Directors. 

Recommendations 

After a series of workshops with the Board of Directors and SFID management staff, Carollo 

recommended an approach that best fits SFID’s existing and forecasted cost drivers and 

customer profile.  

Revenue Requirement 

SFID is projected to meet its cash flow objectives for operating costs. However, SFID will need 

additional revenue should it want to continue funding its capital program without debt financing 

or drawing down reserve funds. Therefore, annual 3 percent revenue increases, effective January 

1st of each year beginning in fiscal year ending (FYE) 2019, are recommended to fully fund the 

capital program and maintain sufficient reserve fund balances.  

Table ES1.1 Adjusted Cash Flow and Recommended Revenue Requirement 1 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Total Revenue $35,553  $37,399  $35,162  

Operating Expenses + Debt $27,616  $28,432  $27,713  

Capital Improvement Plan $10,385  $9,957  $8,618  

Baseline Cash Flow with CIP ($2,448) ($990) ($1,169) 

Recommended Revenue Increase 3% 3% 3% 

    

Additional Rate Revenue $465  $1,276  $2,122  

Adjusted Cash Flow Post-Increase  ($1,984) $286  $953  

Reserve Funds Above / (Below) Target $535  $629  $1,437  

Adjusted Revenue Requirement 2 $27,241  $28,357  $29,431  
Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars unless noted. All numbers are rounded. 
(2) Baseline rate revenue from Table 3.14, plus Additional Rate Revenue 

The rates are assumed to go into effect midway through the Fiscal Year on January 1st, as such, 

the District is forecasted to only net roughly half the revenue requirement increase in the Fiscal 

Year. In addition to the forecasted revenue adjustments, the District will pass through direct rate 

(cost) increases from the San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA) and the Metropolitan 

Water District of Southern California (MWD). SDCWA historically adjusts rates at the start of the 

calendar year (January 1st); however, rates can be adjusted at any point of the year. Any pass-
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through adjustments are in addition to the proposed 3 percent revenue adjustments for FYE 

2020 and 2021.  

Cost of Service Allocation 

Carollo reviewed each line item in SFID’s budget and allocated each item to an individual cost of 

service functional category. The cost percentages in each category, along with the allocation of 

future revenue requirements in each category, are outlined in Table ES1.2.  

Table ES1.2 Cost Allocation Results 

Category 
Allocation 

Results 
Imported & 

Recycled Deducted 
FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Customer 1% 3% $413  $437  $463  

Capacity 15% 27% 4,206 4,453 4,719 

Local Water 4% 7% 1,072 1,135 1,202 

Imported Water 40% Direct cost 11,115 11,200 11,254 

Base 18% 31% 4,853 5,137 5,445 

Peak 18% 32% 4,913 5,201 5,512 

Recycled 3% Direct cost 874 916 959 

Fire 0.4% 1% 109 115 122 

Total   $27,554  $28,683  $29,769  
Notes: 
(1) Costs are in thousand dollars. All numbers are rounded. 

Rate Design 

SFID’s potable water rate structure consists of two primary charges: 

 Metered Fixed Charge – Bi-monthly fixed charge that varies by the size of the meter 

served 

 Commodity Charge  – Per unit charges imposed for each unit of water used – one unit 

equals one hundred cubic feet (HCF). For most customers, SFID currently uses a tiered 

rate structure, where increasing usage is billed at increasingly higher rates, bracketed by 

several tier breakpoints based on the amount of usage. 
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Recommended Rates for Meter Fixed Charge  

Table ES1.3 Recommended Meter Fixed Charge ($/Meter Size) 

Meter Size Meter Ratio Existing CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

5/8" 1.0 $85.08  $82.54   $87.02   $91.86  

3/4" 1.0 85.08  82.54   $87.02   $91.86  

1" 1.6 136.32  125.65   132.45   139.79  

1 1/2" 3.0 263.83  226.24   238.44   251.60  

2" 5.2 419.96  384.31   405.01   427.32  

3" 9.6 779.88  700.45   738.13   778.75  

4" 16.4 1,297.12  1,189.03   1,252.96   1,321.86  

6" 30.0 2,569.80  2,166.19   2,282.61   2,408.09  

8" 52.0 4,131.19  3,746.89   3,948.23   4,165.23  

10" 78.0 5,954.82  5,614.99   5,916.69   6,241.85  
Notes: 
(1) Rates are bi-monthly and have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

 

Recommended Rates for Potable Water Commodity Charge  

The recommended volumetric rates for the Commodity Charge propose a shift in SFID’s rate 

structure based on current and forecasted demands and usage profiles. . Except for private fire 

protection customers (i.e., customers who have private fire suppression systems/hydrants), 

Carollo recommends that SFID consolidate its four current tiers for potable water service fees 

into two tiers for all residential and non-residential customers. By using its water supply portfolio 

as the foundation of the rates, SFID can employ a layering approach, where each element of the 

rate corresponds to a specific cost driver, and can be “layered,” or added, to the other 

appropriate cost drivers that correspond to that tier. The new tier 1 would be limited to 37 HCF 

bi-monthly, which is based on the availability of local water supplies, as well as the average 

winter usage for SFID customers. 

The proposed potable water rate structure would also consolidate the existing single-family 

residential, multi-family residential, non-residential, and irrigation/commercial agriculture 

classes into one residential/non-residential customer class with one rate structure. Private fire 

protection customers, customers with temporary water meter service, and recycled water 

customers are proposed to continue to be subject to a uniform rate structure.  

The proposed rates are outlined in Table ES1.4 and the three-year rate schedule is summarized 

in Table ES1.5. 
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Table ES1.4 Recommended Rates for Commodity Charge ($/HCF) 

Existing Rate Structure Proposed Rate Structure 

Rate Category Rate Rate Category 
CY 2019 

Rate 

SFR – Tier 1 (1 – 15 HCF) $2.40 All classes – Tier 1 (1 – 37 HCF)  $3.00  

SFR – Tier 2 (16 – 37 HCF) 2.92 All classes – Tier 2 (> 37 HCF)  5.85 

SFR – Tier 3 (38 – 165 HCF) 5.47 Temporary/Fire  5.85  

SFR – Tier 4 (> 165 HCF) 6.36 Recycled  3.66  

MFR 4.60   

Non-Residential 4.62   

Irrigation / Commercial Agriculture 5.26   

Temporary/Fire 5.46   

Recycled 3.45   
Notes 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 

Table ES1.5 Forecasted Rates for Commodity Charge 

 HCF CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

Tier 1 2 0 – 37 $3.00 $3.13 $3.25 

Tier 2 2 >37  5.85   6.02   6.18  

Temporary / Fire All  5.85   6.02   6.18  

Recycled All  3.66   3.81   3.97  

Notes 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 
(2) Applies to all classes, except recycled water and temporary/private fire service. 
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Chapter 1 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1   About Santa Fe Irrigation District 

SFID is a retail water supplier providing water and recycled water service to approximately 

21,500 residents in northern San Diego County, California.  

SFID serves the communities of Solana Beach (approximately 13,800 residents), Rancho Santa 

Fe (5,800), and Fairbanks Ranch (1,900), and is governed by an elected board of five directors. 

Historically, 30 percent of its potable water supply is local water delivered from Lake Hodges, 

located to the east of SFID’s service area boundary and just south of the City of Escondido. Any 

additional incremental water used for potable purposes is purchased from the San Diego County 

Water Authority, a regional wholesaler of imported water from the Colorado River Aqueduct. 

1.2   Study Purpose and Key Drivers 

SFID retained Carollo in 2018 to conduct a cost of service rate study analysis of its retail water 

and recycled water rates. Previously, SFID finalized a cost of service water rate study in 2016 

(2016 Study) that made recommendations for SFID’s water rates. Resulting from the 2016 

Study, the SFID Board approved rate recommendations for calendar year (CY) 2016, 2017, and 

2018.  

During the interval since the previous cost-of-service analysis, changes in demand patterns 

among customer categories usually occur, which will affect the factors that are used to allocate 

costs.  The costs to which the allocation factors are applied also change.  Hence, there will 

usually be differences between the previous and current cost-of-service analyses.  Adjustments 

are made to reflect the differences and rates are set accordingly. The purpose of this Study is to 

assess the District’s current and forecasted financials and water demands and provide updated 

recommendations starting with CY 2019. Similar to the 2016 Study, Carollo proposes future 

revenue and rate adjustments for the next three years (CY 2019 – CY 2021). 

1.3   Rate-Setting Process 

Carollo’s rate-setting methodology is consistent with industry guidelines established by the M1 

Manual, which is published by the AWWA, a national industry trade group that makes 

recommendations on generally accepted practices in the water industry. An overview of this 

approach is outlined in Figure 1-1. 

1.3.1   Revenue Requirement Analysis 

The revenue requirement analysis compares the forecasted revenues of the District (under 

existing rates and forecasted water demands) to its forecasted operating and capital reserve 

costs to determine the adequacy of the existing rates to recover the District’s costs. Should any 

shortfalls exist, rates (rate revenue) would be increased to provide financial stability.  
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1.3.2   Water Demand Analysis/Revenue Projection  

Forecasting water sales and purchases is a critical component in the rate setting process. As part 

of the budget process, the District forecasts the expected water usage based on historical 

demand, proposed changes to rates, regulatory impacts, weather, water resources and water 

availability, and other variables. Future demands are based on historic sales and escalated for 

projected growth and per capita demand changes. These forecasted water demands are then 

compared against forecasted revenue requirements and rates are developed to recover costs. 

1.3.3   Functional Cost Analysis 

The Study presents the basis for the rates proposed to be adopted in compliance with 

Proposition 218.After determining the revenue requirement, the next step in the analysis is to 

outline the cost to deliver each unit of water and to serve each customer. This process takes each 

item in the water system’s budget and allocates the items based on what function is served. For 

example, some cost items 

support the ability to deliver 

additional, more expensive 

water, while other costs are 

incurred to provide customer 

service or to fund capital 

replacement. Organizing the 

budget in terms of end 

function allows the creation of 

a direct nexus between the 

budget item and the rate, 

bridging the cost incurred by 

the District and the unique and 

varied benefits delivered to 

each customer.  

1.3.4   Rate Design & 

Calculation 

The rate design involves 

developing a rate structure 

that proportionately recovers 

costs from customers, relative 

to their use of the system. The 

rate structure must be tailored 

to the customer demand and 

account profile.  

The rate design requires a fine 

balance of objectives. Rates 

should be resilient and flexible 

enough to handle changing 

cost and demand scenarios, 

yet stable enough to avoid 

year-to-year swings. For 

Revenue Requirement Analysis
Compares existing revenues of the 

district to its operating, capital 
reserves, and policy driven costs to 

establish the adequacy of the existing 
cost recovery levels.

Functional Cost Analysis
Identifies and apportions annual 

revenue requirements to functional 
rate components based on its 

application to the district system.

Water Demand Analysis
Forecasts water sales based on 

historical billings, modifications to the 
rate structure, and any regulatory 

restrictions.

Rate Design Analysis & Calculation
Considers both the level and structure 

of the rate design to collect the 
distributed revenue requirements 

from each class of service

Rate Adoption
The Study presents the basis for the 

rates proposed to be adopted in 
compliance with Proposition 218

Figure 1-1 Conceptual Overview of the Rate-Setting Process 
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example, in the potable water system, water supply costs are recovered based on the units of 

water sold (demand), while service costs are recovered based on the size of a customer's meter 

and, therefore, allocated based on the total number of meter equivalents, which accounts for the 

number and hydraulic capacity of the meters served.  

By collecting different cost drivers from different rate components, the agency can strike this 

balance of stability, predictability, and flexibility, while still proportionately allocating the costs 

of service among the various customers. 

The final part of the rate design analysis is the rate calculation. This provides the nexus between 

the revenue requirements, the functional cost allocation, and the final rates that customers are 

charged. This process connects planned expenditures to the designed rates by establishing rates 

to match the estimated revenue generation with expenditures.  

1.3.5   Rate Adoption 

Following the rate design and calculation, there are several procedural requirements under 

Proposition 218. First, the agency should complete the revenue requirement analysis, functional 

costs analysis, water demand analysis, and rate design analysis. These steps are documented in 

this Study to provide the rationale and justifications for the proposed rate changes and the 

anticipated financial impacts.  

Second, the District must hold a public hearing for considering the adoption of the proposed 

rates and provide a written notice at least 45 days in advance of the hearing. During this 45-day 

notice period, and up until the close of the public hearing, any owner of property proposed to be 

subject to the proposed rates and any tenant directly liable for the payment of water service fees 

(i.e., persons who are not property owners but who are customers of record) may submit a 

written protest to the proposed rate increases. If written protests against the proposed rate 

increases are not presented by a majority of affected property owners or tenants that are 

customers of record, the Board of Directors will be authorized to adopt the rate increases. 

As the following sections of this Study will demonstrate, this step-by-step approach creates a 

fair and equitable foundation for each charge and rate that the District levies to proportionally 

recover system costs from the District's customers. 

1.4   Cost of Service Principles and Objectives 

Rate studies in California are driven by several guidelines, including legal precedent, industry 

guidance, and agency-specific policies. 

1.4.1   Legal Requirements 

All water rates in California must meet the requirements outlined in the California State 

Constitution, Article XIII, section 6, which was approved by the voters of California by 

Proposition 218 in 1996. Proposition 218 establishes procedural and substantive requirements 

for the adoption of property-related fees, such as water service fees. Substantively, "(1) revenues 

derived from the fee or charge shall not exceed the funds required to provide the property 

related service; (2) revenues derived from the fee or charge shall not be used for any purpose 

other than that for which the fee or charge was imposed; (3) the amount of a fee or charge 

imposed upon any parcel or person as an incident of property ownership shall not exceed the 

proportional cost of the service attributable to the parcel;. (4) no fee or charge may be imposed 
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for a service unless that service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the 

property in question; (5) No fee or charge may be imposed for general governmental services...” 

1.4.2   Board of Directors Survey of Rate Objectives 

These objectives were considered during this Study and were frequently discussed by Carollo 

with SFID staff, and Board directors. 

 

Table 1.1 SFID Rate Priorities 

Objective Description 

Equitability  
(Cost of Service Based Allocations) 

Provide that each customer class is contributing equitably 
towards revenue requirements based upon the costs of 

providing service to each customer class. 

Minimization of Customer Impacts Be developed such that adverse rate impacts on each 
customer class are minimized. 

Rate Stability Minimize dramatic rate increases or decreases over the 
planning period. 

Affordability Not overly burden low volume customers. 

Simple to Understand and Explain 
(Customer Understanding) 

Easy for District customers to understand, utilizing a 
moderate level of educational tools.  

Administrative Ease/Ease of 
Implementation 

Compatible with District’s existing billing system.  
Should also allow for the continuation of existing 

management and system reports. 

Revenue Stability Provide for a steady and predictable stream of revenues to 
the district such that the district is capable of meeting its 

current financial requirements. 

Conservation Should encourage water use efficiency and conservation. 

Legal Requirements Comply with the provisions of California law governing 
water rates and service fees. 
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Chapter 2 

CUSTOMER PROFILE AND DEMAND ANALYSIS 

2.1   System Connections and Growth 

The District’s service area is comprised of distinctly differing communities. The coastal region 

contains medium-density, single-family dwellings with several multiple-family residences. The 

inland section is primarily low-density residential with large single-family estate lots. Both areas 

are considerably built-out, with minimal infill. Thus, the District’s capital improvement plan 

focuses on replacement and improvement rather than system expansion. Approximately 73 

percent of the District’s accounts and 75 percent of total water demand is single-family 

residential. Multi-family residential is the next largest with accounts and usage of approximately 

6 percent. The remainder of usage is distributed between all other customers ─ e.g., 

commercial, irrigation, agricultural, private fire protection, and recycled water customers. 

2.1.1   Baseline Connections 

Based on a detailed review of the District’s customer billings, the number of accounts by meter 

size is shown by class.  

Table 2.1 Baseline Water System Connections 

Meter 
Size SFR MFR 

Non-
Residential 

Irrigation & 
Ag Recycled Fire Total 

5/8" 10 1 1 - - - 12 

3/4" 3,176 152 168 35 - 104 3,635 

1" 1,549 80 95 43 16 672 2,455 

1 1/2" 626 136 76 45 3 110 996 

2" 60 91 45 36 29 66 327 

3" 2 2 5 - 3 - 12 

4" - - 5 2 2 - 9 

6" - - 5 2 - - 7 

8" - - 3 - - - 3 

10" - - - - 1 - 1 

Total 5,423 462 403 163 54 952 7,457 

To reflect the impact of larger meters on the system, the meters are scaled based on the 

hydraulic capacity of the meter. Larger meters have the potential to demand more capacity, or 

said differently, exert a greater instantaneous demand on the system. The potential capacity 

demand is proportional to the potential flow through each meter size as established by AWWA 

hydraulic capacity ratios. These ratios, provided below and known as meter equivalent units or 

MEUs, are based on the industry standards as set forth in AWWA’s Manual M22, Sizing Water 

Service Lines and Meters, and are consistent with those utilized by the SDCWA.   
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Table 2.2 Baseline Water System Meter Equivalents 

Meter 
Size 

MEU 
SFR MFR 

Non-
Residential 

Irrigation 
& Ag Recycled Fire Total 

5/8" 1 10 1 1 - - - 12 

3/4" 1 3,176 152 168 35 - 104 3,635 

1" 1.6 2,478 128 152 69 26 1,075 3,928 

1 1/2" 3 1,878 408 228 135 9 330 2,988 

2" 5.2 312 473 234 187 150 343 1,700 

3" 9.6 19 19 48 - 28 - 115 

4" 16.4 - - 82 32 32 - 147 

6" 30 - - 150 60 - - 210 

8" 52 - - 156 - - - 156 

10" 78 - - - - 78 - 78 

Total  7,874 1,181 1,219 519 325 1,852 12,970 

2.1.2   Forecasted Connections 

Due to the aforementioned lack of infill opportunities and state of build-out in the District, there 

are no additional connections projected over the course of the Study. The figures for the number 

of equivalent meters presented in Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 will be used for all future years. 

2.2   Customer Demands 

2.2.1   Historical and Baseline Demand 

Like many California agencies, SFID has seen drastic changes in its demand profile over the past 

five years. Leading up to 2015, customer demands were gradually declining, as indoor water 

fixtures became more efficient and outdoor watering and landscape irrigation systems became 

more precise.  

Table 2.3 Annual Potable Acre-Feet Produced, FYE 2014-2018 

Fiscal Year Ending Acre-Feet1 

2014 12,391 

2015 10,716 

2016 8,009 

2017 9,422 

2018 10,481 

Notes: 
(1) Annual production levels provided by District staff. 

In April 2015, the Governor Jerry Brown issued Executive Order B-29-15 mandating statewide 

water conservation in response to persistent severe water shortage conditions.  Under water 

shortage regulations established pursuant to the Executive Order, SFID was ordered to reduce 

its water consumption by 36% compared to its 2013 water use.  The State’s compliance period 

began on June 1, 2015.  SFID took action to reduce water consumption by adopting mandatory 

water use restrictions that reduced the amount of water that customers could use on a monthly 
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basis and included volumetric penalties for violating the district’s water use regulations. SFID 

customers responded to this call for conservation, decreasing the peak month demand from 

Summer 2014 to Summer 2015 by 36 percent. 

Precipitation during the 2015/16 winter improved water shortage conditions in California, and 

SFID anticipates a gradual rebound in water use following the water shortage period. SFID 

customers have slowly begun to return to their previous water usage habits. This so called 

bounce-back has been realized across the State as water use restrictions and calls for 

conservation were removed. While some rebound will occur, the rebound may be attenuated by 

several factors:  present and future State, regional, and local water conservation regulations; 

permanent conservation actions and measures taken during the water shortage, such as the 

installation of low-water use landscaping; and the installation of advanced metering 

infrastructure (AMI) 

As the impact of this conservation crosses over fiscal years, it is easier to illustrate and discuss 

these fluctuations on a calendar year basis. In CY 2016 and CY 2017, the peak month demand 

increased by 34 percent in both years when compared with CY 2015. However, this is still 15 

percent below the peak month of CY 2014, indicating that customers may have adopted some of 

these habits for the long-term (demand hardening).  

Demand planning is a crucial necessity for any water agency. It defines how each unit of water 

will be priced. While taking a conservative estimate on demands will leave the agency with 

additional revenue, if demands come in drastically below expectations, as they did in 2015 and 

2016, the District will find itself in a far worse situation, falling short of needed revenues and 

potentially dipping into reserves to maintain operations.  

 

Because of this delicate balance, accurate demand planning can prove difficult. California could 

find itself amid another drought and quickly need additional conservation. California’s water 

supply is highly dependent on winter rain and snowpack in the Sierra Nevada. Similarly, SFID’s 

local water supply is also dependent on local winter rain. While precipitation during the winter of 
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CY 2018 was not as dire as that of CY 2015 and 2016 when the drought reached its nadir, it still 

was significantly below average. At the same time, California could see more winters like CY 

2017, when precipitation both along the coast and in the Sierra Nevada broke records and left 

the state with ample snowpack and local runoff, and topped off reservoirs in dire need of rain.  

Figure 2-1 demonstrates the fluctuations in demands exhibited by SFID customers. Peak 

demands fell precipitously from CY 2014 to 2015, with the peak demand month falling nearly 

40 percent year-over-year, and the 12-month moving average falling 20 percent.1 While 

demands showed a moderate bounce-back, they were still 16 percent lower in CY 2017 versus 

2014. 

Due to a dry summer and minimal rainfall, this analysis assumes that household water demand 

will remain flat in FYE 2019 and then gradually increase at a rate of 0.5 percent per year after 

that. This approach recognizes that demands are unlikely to decrease without some unforeseen 

circumstance like another drought and mandatory cutback in water usage. But it also assumes 

that most of any bounce back in demand has already occurred, and current demand patterns are 

likely to continue in the future. 

2.2.2   Forecasted Demand 

The actual and projected water demands are shown in Table 2.4.  

Table 2.4 Actual and Projected Water Demand 

Fiscal Year Ending Acre-Feet 

2017 (actual) 8,899 

2018 (actual) 10,022 

2019 10,022 

2020 10,072 

2021 10,122 

                                                                    
1 12-month moving average measures the mean of the preceding twelve months on a rolling basis. 
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Chapter 3 

REVENUE REQUIREMENT ANALYSIS 

3.1   Introduction 

The adequacy of the existing rate structure can be measured by comparing revenue requirement 

projections against revenue projections under existing rates. If revenue projections under 

existing rates do not meet forecasted requirements, rates need to be adjusted.  

3.1.1   Revenue Requirement Purpose and Components 

The first step in a rate analysis is to prepare a revenue requirement forecast. This analysis has 

three primary purposes: 

 To evaluate the District’s fiscal health  

 To test the adequacy of current rate levels 

 To set the basis for near- and long-term rate planning. 

Four major cost components are considered in the revenue requirement analysis.  

 Operations and Maintenance (O&M) 

 Annual Debt Service 

 Capital Expenditures 

 Offsetting Revenues 

Two tests are then utilized to evaluate the District’s fiscal health and test the adequacy of 

current rates. If revenues are not sufficient enough to satisfy one or both tests, the greater 

deficiency (shortfall) drives the planned rate increase. This analysis also looks at reserve fund 

balances and determines if the forecasted revenues are sufficient to meet reserve policies. 

3.1.2   Revenue Requirement Tests 

3.1.2.1   Cash Flow Sufficiency Test 

The cash flow sufficiency test defines the amount of annual revenues that must be generated to 

meet annual expenditure obligations of the District. Cash requirements include O&M expenses, 

debt service payments, policy-driven additions to working capital, miscellaneous capital outlays, 

replacement funding, and rate-funded capital expenditures. These expenses are compared to 

total annual projected revenues. Shortfalls are then used to estimate needed rate increases. 

3.1.2.2   Bond Coverage Sufficiency Test 

Bonded debt service coverage refers to the collection of revenues to meet all operating expenses 

and debt service obligations, plus an additional multiple of that debt service. Debt service 

coverage is dictated by the agency’s bond covenants, and establishes a threshold above basic 

debt service that the agency must collect in revenues. For example, the District's current bonds 

require it maintain fees and charges for the sale of water at levels sufficient to enable it to collect 

in each year the amount necessary to pay all of its water system operating expenses, debt 

service on the bonds, plus an amount equal to 15 percent of debt service on the bonds. The 
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additional 15 percent is referred to as coverage. In order to maintain more favorable bond ratings 

and prevent dropping below its legal bond coverage requirement, the bond coverage test for this 

analysis aims at achieving an annual bond coverage ratio of 1.50x, or 50 percent of debt service, 

to provide a more conservative estimate.  

3.2   Expenditures 

3.2.1   Water Costs 

Approximately 44 percent of SFID’s FYE 2019 budget is related to the water supply portfolio. 

SFID’s water portfolio includes three sources of water, outlined in Table 3.1. 

Table 3.1 SFID Water Supply Portfolio and Cost Summary 

Water Supply  Description FYE 2019 Budget 1 

Local supplies 
Delivered from Lake Hodges and treated at the R.E. 

Badger Filtration Plant (REB Plant), which is 
operated jointly with San Dieguito Water District 

$101 

Treated imports  
Purchased from San Diego County Water Authority 

(SDCWA) 
653 

Untreated imports 
Raw water purchased from SDCWA and  

treated at the REB Plant 
10,462 2 

Total  $11,216 
Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Includes SDCWA fixed charges. 

Each of these sources of water has differing costs associated with them, and total availability 

differs between the sources as well. The history of SFID’s water purchases is demonstrated in 

Figure 3-1, and detailed costs are outlined in this section.  

3.2.1.1   Water Supply Portfolio  

Table 2.4 outlines the projected potable water demands based on the assumption of flat account 

growth, along with modest increases in per account demands. This projection forms the basis of 

estimating deliveries from each of SFID’s water sources.  

Local Supply Availability 

The District’s water supply from Lake Hodges has varied throughout the years. SFID has 

delivered approximately 3,200 acre-feet per year (AFY) from Lake Hodges over the last 16 years, 

but those annual deliveries have ranged from a maximum of 5,545 acre-feet (AF) in FYE 2013, to 

a minimum of just 812 AF in FYE 2015 (Figure 3-1). The median amount of Lake Hodges water 

delivered is 3,200 AF. 

For this analysis, it is recommended that SFID look at recent deliveries for rate-setting purposes. 

With the recent drought, and the potential for lower supplies to be available in future years due 

to climate change, 2,800 AFY is a reasonable estimate for local water availability during this 

Study period. This is based on the annual average production of 2,718 AF from 2013 to 2018.  
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Imported Supply Availability 

SFID purchases both 

treated and untreated 

water from SDCWA. Both 

supplies are available on 

demand, without a true 

“limitation” like that of the 

local supply from Lake 

Hodges.2  

Based on historic and 

projected demands, SFID 

estimates the need for 

treated water at 

approximately 500 AFY. 

This water is used for 

treatment plant 

maintenance. The 

remaining water supply 

needs are assumed to come 

from SDCWA untreated 

water purchases. 

Recycled Water 

The District currently purchases recycled water from the San Elijo Joint Powers Authority and 

distribute it to customers in Solana Beach. The District is forecasted to deliver 550 AF in FY 2019 

with a slight annual growth rate of 0.5 percent. 

Projected Water Supply by Source 

Table 3.2 Projected Water Supply by Source (AFY) 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Projected Potable Demand 10,022 10,072 10,122 

Non-Revenue Potable Water 2  431   433   435  

Total Potable Supply Needed 10,453  10,505  10,557  

Local Water from Lake Hodges 2,800 2,800 2,800 

SDCWA Treated  500  500  500 

Remainder from SDCWA Untreated 7,153 7,205 7,257 

Recycled Water 574 580 585 

Total Water Supplies Available 11,027  11,085  11,142  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in acre-feet per year and are rounded. 
(2) Based on assumed 4.3 percent system loss rate. 

                                                                    
2 MWD and SDCWA may limit water delivers in coordination with their Water Surplus and Drought 
Management (WSDM) Plan and Water Shortage Contingency Plan, respectively.  

Figure 3-1 SFID Historical Water Production by Source 
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Based on the projected local supply availability of 2,800 AFY, the forecasted need for 500 AFY of 

SDCWA treated water, and the availability of SDCWA untreated water to provide remaining 

water supply needs, the projected water supply from each source is calculated in Table 3.2. This 

analysis also assumes a system loss rate of 4.3 percent, based on recent non-revenue water 

estimates from SFID staff. As such, the District is forecasting the need to secure an additional 

431 AF of water, the cost of which will be recovered by potable water rate payers.  

3.2.1.2   Local Water Cost 

This analysis assumes annual availability of 2,800 AF from Lake Hodges. This is based on the 

historic average supply availability from Lake Hodges between FYE 2013 and 2018, which is a 

reasonable sample of the recent range of deliveries that SFID has been able to receive from Lake 

Hodges. 

Estimates for local water supply costs are based on recent actual end of fiscal year costs reported 

by SFID and are outlined in Table 3.3. Costs are projected with an annual inflation rate of 

3 percent from Budget FYE 2019 based on historical inflationary levels.  

Table 3.3 Local Water Cost Projection 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Local Water Costs $100,757  $103,780  $106,894  

Total $100,757  $103,780  $106,894  

Notes: 
(1) All values are rounded. 

3.2.1.3   Imported Water 

Imported water from SDCWA, both treated and untreated, makes up the remaining balance of 

SFID’s water supply each year. SFID plans to purchase 500 AF of treated water each year from 

SDCWA, with the remainder of its demands being met with untreated water purchases. 

Fixed Charges 

SDCWA has several fixed charges for its imported water deliveries. Some of these are pass-

throughs from Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (MWD), SDCWA’s wholesale 

water purveyor, while others maintain SDCWA’s system capacity and infrastructure. The 

budgeted line item costs are outlined in Table 3.4. 

Table 3.4 Baseline SDCWA Fixed Charges 

SDCWA Fixed Charge Adopted CY 2019 Allocation 1 

Supply Reliability Charge $573 

Infrastructure Access Charge 378 

Customer Service Charge 457 

Emergency Storage Charge 1,262 

MWD Capacity Charge 183 

MWD Readiness-to-Serve Charge 281 

Total SDCWA Fixed Charges $3,133 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. Figures provided by the SDCWA. 
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Volumetric Costs 

SDCWA charges a volumetric rate for each unit of water sold, and several fixed charges based on 

total water purchased by each member agency. For CY 2018, SDCWA’s treated and untreated 

water rates are $1,309 and $1,009 per AF, respectively, including the cost of transportation. 

Those rates are adopted at $1,305 and $1,029 for CY 2019, respectively. Future rate adjustments 

from SDCWA will be addressed through authorizing the District to automatically pass-through 

such increases if the District chooses to adopt the proposed rates. Currently, SFID is authorized 

to pass-through wholesale water increases through 2018. Historically, SDCWA implements 

planned rate adjustments on January 1 of each year; however, rates can be adjusted at any point 

in the year. At that time, if adopted, SFID would adjust the appropriate rates and charges as 

necessary to account for the change.  

As a result, no cost escalation was included in the volumetric or fixed costs from SDCWA, 

excluding any increase in costs stemming from changes in per household demand. All SDCWA 

charges are based on the SDCWA’s adopted CY 2019 rate schedule. While wholesale water 

increases are assumed, the total cost for SDCWA Untreated water is increasing due to the 

assumed 0.5 percent demand (water sales) growth.   

Table 3.5 SFID Water Production Cost Projection 

Expense Category FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Local Water $101  $104  $107  

SDCWA Fixed Charges 3,190 3,133 3,133 

SDCWA Volumetric Charges     

   Treated 653 653 653 

   Untreated 7272 7414 7468 

Recycled Water 874 916 959 

Total Water Costs $12,090  $12,220  $12,320  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) From District’s 2019 Budget.  

3.2.2   Operations and Maintenance 

Approximately half of SFID’s FYE 2019 budget prior to capital expenses is related to: 

 Personnel (27 percent) 

 Administrative (3 percent) 

 Engineering (1 percent) 

 Operations (6 percent) 

 Joint Facilities (14 percent) 

The projected expenses in these categories are summarized in Table 3.6. These figures are 

derived from the District’s Budget for FYE 2019 and projected to increase by 3 percent annually 

based on historical inflation. A more complete breakdown of the budget projections is included 

in Appendix A.  
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Table 3.6 O&M Budget Projection 

Expense Category FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Personnel $7,578  $8,063  $8,390  

Administrative 809 833 858 

Engineering 175 180 186 

Operations 1,731 1,783 1,836 

Joint Facilities 3,887 4,003 4,123 

Total O&M Costs2 $14,180  $14,863  $15,394  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Excludes Depreciation and Water Costs 

3.2.3   Annual Debt Service 

SFID has one remaining outstanding debt service for the 2007 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds. 

Debt service for this bond will be retired in FYE 2020, at which point SFID will have no debt 

service budgeted. The remaining interest and principal payments are outlined in Table 3.7. The 

debt service is recovered from potable water customer only.  

Table 3.7 Annual Debt Service 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Interest $77  $25   $-    

Principal 1,270 1,325  -    

Total Debt Service $1,347  $1,350   $-    

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars. 

3.3   Revenues 

3.3.1   Operating Revenues 

SFID’s operating revenues are primarily derived from rates and charges for either potable water 

service or recycled water service. The District’s water rate revenue comes from either volumetric 

rates multiplied by metered usage; or from meter fixed service charges. Both charges are 

assessed on a bi-monthly basis. 

Other operating revenues come from various sources, including reimbursements by San 

Dieguito Water District (SDWD) for operations at the joint facility. 

The projected baseline revenues through FYE 2022 are outlined in Table 3.8 and are based on the 

District’s adopted FYE 2019 budget. Forecasted figures account for the proposed rate structure 

adjustments (not increases) as well as the projected demand (water sales) growth from Table 

3.2.   
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Table 3.8 Baseline Operating Revenue Projection 

Revenue Category FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Potable Water Sales $20,795  $21,033  $21,186  

Recycled Water Sales $827  $916  $959  

Fixed Charges $5,154  $5,132  $5,164  

Hydroelectric Revenue $30  $31  $32  

SDWD Local Water Reimbursement $75  $77  $80  

SDWD Treatment Reimbursement $2,463  $2,537  $2,613  

Other Operating Revenue $122  $126  $129  

Total Operating Revenue $29,466  $29,852  $30,163  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 

3.3.2   Non-Operating Revenues 

Non-operating revenues are accounted for separately because they are dedicated to one of 

SFID’s three reserve funds. Capacity charges are restricted in their use to funding of capital 

enhancements and upgrade projects. Interest income is based on projected 1 percent interest 

earned on funds held in SFID’s reserve funds. Property tax revenues and capital reimbursements 

from SDWD are included in the Capital Improvement and Replacement Fund. Other remaining 

non-operating revenues are included in the Operating Reserve Fund. 

Table 3.9 Baseline Non-Operating Revenue Projection 

Revenue Category FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Capacity Charges $100  $131  $135  

Interest Income 186 196 190 

Property Tax 2,300 2,369 2,440 

SDWD Capital Reimbursement 3,358 3,315 2,073 

Other Non-Operating Revenue 144 1,536 153 

Total Non-Operating Revenue $6,087  $7,547  $4,990  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) FYE 2019 based on the District’s FYE 2019 budget. Additional years forecasted to keep pace with inflation. Capacity 

Charges reflect a proposed change to the District’s current charges.  

3.4   Reserve and Capital Funding 

3.4.1   Reserve Funds 

SFID maintains three distinct unrestricted reserve funds. Each of these funds covers different 

purposes and has a different target balance based on that purpose.  

SFID also maintains a restricted Capacity Charge fund, which is not part of this analysis because 

the revenues and funds in that reserve are legally dedicated to capital enhancements and 

upgrade projects. Furthermore, because revenues are typically expended in the year received, 

the beginning and ending balances each year are $0. 
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3.4.1.1   Operating Fund 

The Operating Fund functions much like SFID’s checking account. Because revenues do not 

overlap perfectly with expenses, SFID needs to maintain an operating fund to cover expenses as 

they come due, rather than when revenues come in. For that reason, the Operating Fund target 

balance is equal to 90 days of budgeted O&M expenditures (totals from Table 3.5 and Table 3.6).  

3.4.1.2   Capital Improvement and Replacement Fund 

SFID operates under a pay-as-you-go (paygo) capital funding basis. Under a paygo approach, 

capital obligations are funded either through rate revenue in that fiscal year, or from reserves, 

which are maintained through rate revenue over a longer time span. 

The Capital Improvement Fund is an unrestricted fund established to support SFID’s paygo 

funding program. Primary contributions to this fund are property tax revenues, SDWD joint 

facility contributions, and interest earnings. 

The target ending fund balance is based on a projection of capital project needs over the next 

three years. This target equals the sum of: 

 100 percent of the first following year’s capital improvement program (CIP) 

 50 percent of the CIP in the second year 

 25 of the CIP in the third year.  

The CIP projections are found in Table 3.12 in the following section. 

3.4.1.3   Rate Stabilization Fund 

As the name of the fund implies, the Rate Stabilization Fund’s (RSF) primary purpose is to 

stabilize rates and prevent rate spikes in the event of unforeseen financial scenarios, including: 

 Revenue increase needs that exceed inflation 

 Drastic declines in water sales revenue, such as that seen in 2015 and 2016 

 Unanticipated operating and/or capital expenditures 

 Variance in local water availability / utilization as compared to projects 

The target balance for the RSF is based on several criteria that cover some of SFID’s more 

volatile revenue sources and cost drivers. It equals the sum of: 

 8 percent of the current fiscal year’s budgeted property tax revenues (from Table 3.9) 

 10 percent of the current fiscal year’s budgeted variable water sales revenues (from 

Table 3.8) 

 5 percent of the current fiscal year’s budgeted wholesale water (from Table 3.5). 

By having these figures on hand, SFID could mitigate impacts of unplanned financial challenges, 

such as another drought and conservation mandate, or an economic downturn that would 

impact property tax revenues. 

3.4.2   Reserve Fund Summary 

The target reserve balances over the next four years are summarized in Table 3.10. The targets 

are based on the criteria outlined in the preceding section. The criteria are defined in the Board 

adopted January 2010 Reserve Funds Policy.   
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Table 3.10 Annual Reserve Fund Targets 

Reserve Fund FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Operating  $6,477  $6,678  $6,833  

Capital Improvement  9,936 9,837 9,746 

Rate Stabilization  2,660 2,696 2,720 

Total $19,074  $19,211  $19,299  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 

Based on the beginning balances as of July 1, 2019, the target reserve balances, and the 

forecasted revenues and expenditures, the ending fund balances and the total cash on hand are 

outlined in Table 3.11. The baseline reserve forecast demonstrates the impacts to reserves 

without any revenue adjustments. 

Table 3.11 Baseline Reserve Funds Forecast 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Ending Reserves Balance $19,144  $18,149  $16,963  

Total Reserves Target 19,074 19,211 19,299 

Above / (Below) Target 70 -1,062 -2,336 

Days of Cash on Hand 266 245 223 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars, except for Days of Cash on Hand, and are rounded. 

Without any additional rate revenue (revenue increases), SFID is unable to maintain (or exceed) 

target reserve levels. As such, revenue adjustments are necessary to support and bolster existing 

reserve levels.  

3.4.3   Capital Improvement Plan 

3.4.3.1   Capital Expenses 

SFID’s annual CIP includes three categories of funding obligations: 

 Capital Acquisitions 

 SFID System Projects and Improvements 

 Capital projects at the REB Plant, which are shared with SDWD funding contributions 

Based on the District’s adopted 10-year capital improvement plan, the overall CIP through FYE 

2021 is outlined in Table 3.12. 
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Table 3.12 Capital Improvement Plan Summary 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Capital Acquisitions $1,291 $1,000 $1,030 

SFID Projects  1,225   1,185   2,730  

Joint Facility - SFID  4,512   4,457   2,785  

Joint Facility - SDWD  3,358   3,315   2,073  

Total $10,385 $9,957 $8,618 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Projects and values are based on the District’s adopted 10-year CIP and are rounded. 

3.4.3.2   Capital Funding Plan 

The four-year capital plan funding approach is outlined in Table 3.13. SFID uses funds from 

capacity charges, existing reserves, rate revenue, and contributions from SDWD to cover their 

allocated share of projects at the REB Plant and in the District’s distribution system. 

Funding Approach Policies 

As discussed in the reserve fund analysis, SFID operates under a paygo capital funding basis, 

where capital obligations are funded either through rate revenue in that fiscal year, or from 

reserves, which are maintained through rate revenue over a longer time span.  

Earlier in 2018 and prior to the beginning of this Study, SFID’s Board of Directors discussed the 

feasibility of capital financing for all or a portion of the CIP. SFID staff recently completed its 

analysis of that topic, using the results of the Revenue Requirement analysis in this Study. While 

staff does not rule out the feasibility of debt funding in the future, it is not recommended at this 

time. 

The CIP funding overview is outlined below. 

Table 3.13 Capital Improvement Plan Funding 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Capacity Charges $100  $131  $135  

SDWD Contributions to Joint Facility 3,358 3,315 2,073 

Reserve Funding  3,785 2,763 1,981 

Bond Funding - - - 

Rate Funding 3,143 3,748 4,429 

Total $10,385 $9,957 $8,618 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 

A large component of reserve funding and rate funding is secured by the District’s current 

practice to direct property taxes and depreciation / amortization charges to paygo (rate or 

reserve funding). The District is forecasting nearly $2.4 million in property taxes annually, which 

is currently being directed toward the capital improvement reserve for paygo funding of the CIP, 

with an additional estimated annual revenue component of $2.8 million in depreciation / 

amortization of assets 
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3.5   Cash Flow Test 

SFID’s projected baseline revenues satisfy the Cash Flow Test for operating expenses and debt 

service, achieving positive operating cash flow in each year through FYE 2021 to cover these 

expenses. However, current revenues are insufficient to fully cover capital obligations, resulting 

in withdrawals from reserve funds to cover shortfalls. 

Table 3.14 Cash Flow Test 

  FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Baseline Rate Revenue A $26,776  $27,081  $27,309  

Other Operating Revenues B 2,690 2,771 2,854 

Non-Operating Revenues C 6,087 7,547 4,990 

Total Operating Revenue D = A+B+C $35,553 $37,399 $35,153 

Operating Expenses + Debt E $27,616 $28,432 $27,713 

Operating Cash Flow  F = D- E $7,937 $8,967 $7,449 

Capital Improvement Plan G $10,385 $9,957 $8,618 

Cash Flow after CIP  H = F-G ($2,448) ($990) ($1,169) 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 

3.6   Bond Coverage Test 

At existing rate levels, SFID is projected to meet its bond coverage obligations. The bond 

coverage test requires that SFID revenues exceed operating expenses, debt service, and an 

additional 50 percent of annual debt service. The results of this test are summarized in Table 

3.15. 

Table 3.15 Bond Coverage Test 

  FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Allowable Revenues 2 A $29,909  $31,672  $30,973  

Operating Expenses B $26,270  $27,082  $27,713  

Debt Service3 C 1,347 1,350 N/A 

Debt Service Coverage 4 D 673 675 N/A 

Total Coverage Expenses E = B+C+D $28,290 $29,107 $27,713 

Bond Coverage  
Surplus / (Deficit) 

F = A-E $1,557 $2,470 N/A 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Allowable revenues are all revenues, excluding capacity charges and SDWD capital reimbursements. 
(3) Debt is fully paid off in FY 2020. As such, the Bond Coverage Test is not applicable in subsequent years.  
(4) 1.5x Coverage or 50 percent of debt service. 

3.7   Recommended Revenue Requirements 

SFID’s projected baseline revenues are sufficient to pass both the Operating Cash Flow and Bond 

Coverage Tests. However, the projected reserve fund balances over the next four years do not 
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meet target balances. In FYE 2020 through 2021, the total reserve fund balance at the end of 

each fiscal year falls short of the total reserve fund target balance (figure below). 

As a result, Carollo 

recommends that SFID 

increase total revenues by 

3 percent annually. This is 

intended to keep pace with 

inflation of costs, as well as 

prevent further declines in end 

of year reserve fund balances.  

By increasing revenues by 

3 percent annually (effective 

January 1), SFID maintain 

reserve levels, meeting target 

levels, without drastically 

impacting rates. SFID tracks 

Days of Cash on Hand as one 

fiscal performance metric, 

calculated as operating 

expenses divided by total 

reserve fund balances. Over the last eight years, this metric has fallen from 572 days of cash on 

hand down to its current value of 381 at the end of FYE 2018. Without increases, this is projected 

to fall to 223 days by FYE 2021, but with 3 percent revenue increases each year, this metric could 

stabilize at approximately 275 days. 

The recommended revenue increases are outlined in Table 3.16, along with the adjusted cash 

flow projections, and the reserve fund balances in excess of the fund targets. The adjusted 

revenue requirement in this table will form the basis of the cost of service analysis and rate 

design in the following chapters. 

Table 3.16 Adjusted Cash Flow and Recommended Revenue Requirement 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Baseline Cash Flow with CIP ($2,448) ($990) ($1,169) 

Recommended Revenue Increase 3% 3% 3% 

Additional Rate Revenue 465 1,276 2,122 

Adjusted Cash Flow Post-Increase (1,984) 286  953  

Reserve Funds Above / (Below) Target 535 629 1,437 

Adjusted Revenue Requirement 2 $27,241 $28,357 $29,431 

Notes: 
(1) Unless noted, all values are in thousands of dollars unless noted and are rounded. 
(2) Baseline rate revenue from Table 3.14, plus Additional Rate Revenue 

 

 -

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

 700

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

D
ay

s 
o

f 
C

as
h

 o
n

 H
an

d
 (

as
 s

h
ar

e 
o

f 
O

&
M

)

Fiscal Year Ending

Days of Cash on Hand -
No Increase

Days of Cash on Hand -
With Increase



COST OF SERVICE RATE STUDY REPORT | SANTA FE IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

 FINAL | SEPTEMBER 2018 | 4-1 

Chapter 4 

COST OF SERVICE ANALYSIS 

4.1   Cost of Service Approach 

4.1.1   Cost of Service Purpose  

With the District’s revenue requirements outlined—including any recommended revenue 

increases—the next step in the rate-setting process is to link each cost item with the specific 

system function that it supports, and then allocate the resulting totals to each customer, in 

accordance with the demand the customer places on the potable and recycled water treatment 

and distribution systems.  

Taking the Revenue Requirement analysis outlined in the previous chapter, the Cost of Service 

analysis “functionalizes” each budget item by tracing it to a specific capital or operating function 

(i.e., classified corresponding to the function they serve), or in some cases, to multiple functions 

allocated appropriately. Each function’s costs are allocated to each component of the rates in 

proportion to the level of service (i.e., demand) by each customers. Thus, each cost is translated 

into a specific rate component.  

4.1.2   Legal and Policy Guidance 

All water rates in California must meet the requirements outlined in the California State 

Constitution, Article XIII, section 6. The rates recommended in this Report are developed based 

on the guidance from the recent decision by the Court of Appeal in Capistrano Taxpayers 

Association v. City of San Juan Capistrano, as well as other legal opinions and the provisions of 

the Constitution.  

In San Juan Capistrano, the court stated that any rates, including tiered rates, must “correspond 

to the actual cost of providing service at a given level of usage.” Furthermore, the court stated: 

“And, we emphasize, there is nothing at all in [California Constitution Article XIII D, section 

6,] subdivision (b)(3) or elsewhere in Proposition 218 that prevents water agencies from 

passing on the incrementally higher costs of expensive water to incrementally higher users. 

That would seem like a good idea. But subdivision (b)(3) does require they figure out the true 

cost of water, not simply draw lines based on water budgets...Our courts have made it clear 

they interpret the Constitution to allow tiered pricing; but the voters have made it clear 

they want it done in a particular way.” 

This statement from the court outlines several fundamental principles for this rate analysis: 

 Rates must be based on the cost of providing water service. 

 Tiered pricing is an acceptable methodology under Proposition 218. 

 Increasing block rates that pass incrementally higher costs of expensive water onto 

incrementally higher demand users is an acceptable methodology of proportionately 

allocation the costs of service under Proposition 218. 
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4.1.2.1   Industry Guidance 

While Proposition 218 is the ultimate test for rates, industry guidance and commonly accepted 

rate-setting practices can serve as a template for achieving cost of service-based rates. The 

AWWA M1 Manual outlines the two most widely used methods for allocation of costs:  

 Base-Extra Capacity Method, where costs are allocated among: (1) a base category to 

provide baseline water service; (2) an extra capacity category to provide peak demand 

service; (3) a customer category to provide services that do not vary with water usage, 

such as customer service and billing; and (4) direct fire protection. 

 Commodity-Demand Method, where costs are allocated among: (1) a commodity 

category for costs that are directly driven by demand; (2) a demand/capacity category 

for building and maintaining system capacity; (3) a customer category to provide 

services that do not vary with water usage, such as customer service and billing; and (4) 

direct fire protection. 

Both methodologies recognize that cost of service “depends not only on the total volume of 

water used, but also on the rate of use, or peak-demand requirements.”3 Costs incurred by the 

district are not incurred uniformly, or simply based on the total volume of water used. The cost 

of service changes based on when water is used. Both methodologies account for this by 

including an extra capacity, or peak, category, to cover costs associated with capacity that is not 

used consistently and that impact operating costs and capital asset related costs to 

accommodate peak flows. 

The key fundamental difference between these two approaches is how they handle the 

allocation of variable costs that fluctuate with demands. These include costs such as water 

purchases, chemical, energy, and other commodity-based operating costs. The Commodity-

Demand Method separates these costs as an individual category prior to allocating operating 

costs, while the Base-Extra Capacity Method combines these costs with all other operating costs 

and then allocates them. 

The choice between these two methods is entirely dependent on the nature of the district’s 

system and its specific water supply portfolio. Furthermore, a district is not necessarily 

constrained solely to these two approaches and may adjust the methodology used as necessary 

to better fit the district’s unique cost drivers. Such is the case in this Report. 

                                                                    
3 American Water Works Association, Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and Charges – M1 Manual, 7th Ed. 
(2017), p. 61. 



COST OF SERVICE RATE STUDY REPORT | SANTA FE IRRIGATION DISTRICT 

 FINAL | SEPTEMBER 2018 | 4-3 

4.1.2.2   SFID Cost of Service Analysis: Commodity-Demand Method 

For this analysis, the 

Commodity-Demand 

Method was selected as a 

starting point as it 

reflects SFID’s multiple 

water source portfolio, 

and the peaking profile of 

its customers. Some 

adjustments were made 

to this methodology, 

specifically: 

 Splitting the 

commodity 

allocation into 

two categories 

for local and 

imported water 

 Splitting the 

capacity 

allocation 

between fixed and volumetric rate components charged to customers (M1 advocates 

determining fixed and variable costs as a step within the cost allocation process). 

Figure 4-1 outlines the various cost allocation categories used in this analysis, beginning with the 

total revenue requirement, and allocating costs to each of the functions outlined in the 

Commodity-Demand Method.  

The resulting analysis provides a rational basis for distributing the full costs of the District’s 

services to each customer in proportion to the demands each customer places on the system. As 

an example, customer service costs are typically allocated on a per account basis because the 

function of this category rarely changes from one customer to the next, regardless of meter size 

or demand. In contrast, water purchase costs can be allocated based on demand because there is 

a clear connection between the amount of water demanded by a customer and the amount of 

water purchased by the District: i.e., increased demand results in increased purchase costs.  

Source of Supply Based Commodity Allocation 

Based on AWWA guidance, the separation of commodity costs from other system costs is the 

key differentiator between the Commodity-Demand methodology and the Base-Extra Capacity 

methodology. In this analysis, local water supply costs are separated from SDCWA purchases 

apart from base and peak system costs, and capacity and customer service costs. 

This analysis also recommends a continuation of the tiered (inclining block) rate structure 

approach that SFID currently uses, with some adjustments. SFID’s current rate structure uses 

four tiers for its SFR customers. Carollo recommends that SFID adopt a two-tier rate structure 

and that this rate structure apply to all customers, with the exception of recycled water and 

temporary system connections. The two-tier structure reflects the current and forecasted 

Revenue Requirement

Commodity

Local Water

Imported 
Water

Demand

Fixed

Capacity

Variable

Base

Peak

Other 
Functions

Customer 
Service

Recycled 
Water

Fire 
Protection

Figure 4-1 SFID Cost Allocation Hierarchy 
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natural level of service break points of the system – (1) availability of local water and (2) baseline 

(winter quarter average) use.  

The M1 Manual provides several approaches to calculating the differential between tiers. Some 

of these approaches can only be used with a Base-Extra Capacity allocation because they are 

based on the calculated cost differential between the two rate tiers. Because this analysis uses 

Commodity-Demand and separates the commodity costs from other cost elements, this analysis 

also separates the commodity costs one step further into the distinct source of supply 

categories.  

This approach closely aligns the final calculated rates with the SFID’s current and projected cost 

drivers, particularly given the cost differential between Lake Hodges and SDCWA water supplies. 

For FYE 2019, the budgeted local raw water supply from Lake Hodges is approximately $36 per 

AF, compared with the CY 2019 SDCWA raw water rate of $1,009 per AF.4 

This approach is consistent with both AWWA guidance published in the M1 manual, as well as 

guidance from legal precedent in California. In the San Juan Capistrano decision discussed earlier 

in this report, the court wrote: 

“We see nothing in article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (b)(3) that is incompatible with water 

agencies passing on the true, marginal cost of water to those consumers whose extra use of 

water forces water agencies to incur higher costs to supply that extra water. Precedent and 

common sense both support such an approach.” 

This guidance has directly shaped this analysis, leading to the recommendation of two tiers 

based on the direct source of supply costs. 

4.1.3   Functional Cost Categories 

Based on the design and operation of the system, Carollo developed various cost allocation 

categories. These categories are designed to mirror how costs are incurred and service is 

provided. Each of the cost categories are described below. 

4.1.3.1   Commodity 

Local Water 

Local water includes any costs associated with SFID’s raw water deliveries from Lake Hodges. 

These deliveries are the baseline water supply for SFID, at an estimated 2,800 AFY.  

Additionally, SFID’s forecasted 500 AFY treated water purchases from SDCWA are included in 

this category because they are needed for treatment plant maintenance, as well as supply. 

Because the baseline water treatment volume would necessitate these treated water purchases, 

this cost is included in the local water category. 

Imported Water 

Imported water includes any costs associated with SDCWA water deliveries. This includes the 

volumetric per acre-foot rate for untreated water deliveries, and the fixed charges assessed for 

SFID.   

                                                                    
4 Local supply rate is based on anticipated deliveries of 2,800 AFY. 
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4.1.3.2   Capacity 

Base 

Base costs support baseline demand for the District’s service area. These costs include 

treatment, distribution, and storage, up to a level that meets the baseline demands throughout 

the year. Baseline demands are reflective of current and projected average winter use (winter 

quarter average) per account. It also includes a portion of indirect costs that support these 

functions, such as administrative and engineering costs. 

Peak 

System capacity is a water system’s ability to supply water to all delivery points at the time when 

demanded. The time of greatest 

demand is known as peak system 

demand. Peak system demand 

can take several forms. The first 

and most basic is simply due to 

diurnal demand patterns—

customers use more water early in 

the morning, and again in the 

evening. When this happens in 

aggregate across all customers, it 

generates a peak demand period 

on the system.  

Another form of peak occurs 

seasonally. Customers use more 

water in the hot, dry summer 

months than they do in the cooler, 

wetter winter months. This has 

been observed across virtually every agency’s customer base.  

All water systems are designed with peak in mind as the district must meet the highest period of 

demand, not the average. Because no water system has constant, unchanging demands through 

any period of time, there will inevitably be system capacity that is unused some or most of the 

time. This capacity exists to provide reliable water service throughout the days and seasons. This 

concept is illustrated in Figure 4-2 on a seasonal scale.  

In the functional cost allocation, peak costs primarily cover the cost of conservation and portions 

of the water system that were specifically identified as providing system peak. Examples of this 

include system elements such as pipes, storage reservoirs, treatment facilities, and pump 

stations. These facilities are sized to meet peak demand and cost more to operating and 

maintain as a result of meeting peak demand. Stated differently, peak demand necessitates that 

these assets are sized larger than merely meeting baseline demand. The incremental costs of 

meeting peak demand are therefore allocated to those customers whose demand necessitate 

sizing the facilities larger and cause the district to incur the additional costs of operating and 

maintaining the larger facilities. 
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Fixed Capacity 

Service costs are fixed expenditures that include meter and capacity related costs, such as meter 

maintenance and some peaking costs that are included based on the meter’s hydraulic capacity 

or reserved capacity in the system. 

4.1.3.3   Other Functional Cost Categories 

Customer 

Customer costs are fixed expenditures that relate to operational support activities, including 

accounting, billing, customer service, and administrative and technical support. These 

expenditures are essentially common to all customers, regardless of meter size or volume of 

water used. 

Recycled Water 

SFID purchases deliveries approximately 550 AFY of recycled water from the San Elijo Joint 

Power Authority, primarily to landscaping customers. Costs associated with this service are 

allocated directly to this category. 

Fire Service 

Fire service costs are costs associated with the District’s providing of water for private fire 

protection. This reflects the actual system costs associated with providing sufficient capacity to 

deliver water in the event of a fire and not the cost of fire protection itself.  

4.2   Cost Allocation  

4.2.1   Cost Allocation Factors 

The cost allocation requires that individual line items are allocated to the functional cost 

categories based on their use of the system. To accommodate this process, several functional 

categories are developed to cover some of the more common costs. These functional categories 

and their corresponding functional cost percentages are shown in Table 4.2. During the cost 

allocation process, each line item is assigned one of the factor categories shown in the rows of 

this table. There are several factors with multiple category allocations. 

4.2.1.1   Net Plant Investment 

Carollo reviewed SFID’s fixed asset registry (see Table 3A in the Appendix) and allocated each of 

these assets to a specific functional category. The overall results of this allocation are 

summarized in the Net Plant Investment factor. This factor is used to allocate costs that 

proportionally serve the system, such as administrative or engineering costs. For instance, the 

engineering staff spends its time largely in accordance with the physical makeup of the system. 

The allocation of assets therefore serves as a useful proxy for these functions. This allocation is 

outlined in the appendix. The summary results are found in Table 4.1. This table shows the initial 

percentage allocation of assets to each function. The capacity category is then further allocated 

to base, peak, capacity, and fire based on the Capacity Reallocation percentages. The base 

category is also reallocated to those same categories, apart from fire. The final percentage 

allocation after this reallocation is shown in the last column.  
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Table 4.1 Allocation of SFID Net Plant Investment (Potable System) 

Function 
Book 

Value1 
% of Total 

Capacity 
Reallocation 

Base 
Reallocation 

Final1  $ Final % 

Customer  $3,621  5.6%    $3,621  5.6% 

Capacity  $35,466  55.1% 30% 30%  $15,543  24.3% 

Local Water  $8,472  13.2%    $8,472  13.2% 

Imported 3  $-    0.0%    $-    0.0% 

Base  $16,343  25.4% 34% 35%  $17,779  27.8% 

Peak  $-    0.0% 34% 35%  $17,779  27.8% 

Pass Through  $-    0.0%    $-    0.0% 

Fire  $427  0.7% 2%   $709  1.1% 
Notes: 
(1) Values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Percentages may not sum due to rounding. 
(3) None of the District’s assets are allocated to imported water. 

 

4.2.1.2   Base and Peak 

After functionalizing costs, the next step is to allocate the functionalized costs to cost causation 

components. Several factors have a portion of their costs allocated to base and peak functional 

cost categories. Specifically, the Treatment Facility and Capacity / Peaking cost allocations are 

split between Fixed Capacity, Base, and Peak, with the latter also including a Fire cost allocation. 

Base and Peak cost allocations are split using SFID specific peaking factors (demand profiles). 

Peaking factors express the ratio of the peak demand period to a measure of a base demand 

period. In this analysis, this base demand period has been defined as the average demand during 

the winter months (January through March), also known as the winter quarter average (WQA) 

demand. This is used as the minimum month demand can fluctuate drastically from year to year, 

while winter average demand changes less.  

The WQA peaking factor averaged from FYE 2015 to 2017 is 2.0. Therefore, these two categories 

are roughly 1/3rd Base 2/3rd Peak. 

The Peak cost allocation was further split between the Peak and Capacity functional cost 

categories. The split between Fixed Capacity and Peak is a policy decision by the District based 

on its desire to balance fixed cost recovery and revenue stability with cost at low usage. By 

design, the system is there to serve water, much like a copy machine is there copy. While the 

cost of the machine is fixed, when trying to determine a “cost per page” it is reasonable to 

recover the cost per page (volumetrically) from someone using the copier.  
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Table 4.2 Cost Allocation Factors 

Factor Category Description 
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Local Water Relates to production or maintenance of local surface water 
supply 

- - 100% - - - - - - 

Imported Water Relates to the purchase of water, future adjustments to be 
managed via rate pass-through 

- - - 100% - - - - - 

Conservation Relates to efforts to minimize wasteful or excessive water 
use and peaking 

- - - - - 100% - - - 

Recycled Water Relates to the production of Recycled Water - - - - - - 100% - - 

Treatment Facility Relates to the production or use of the District treatment 
facility. The plant serves drinking water to the District’s 

service area, including Solana Beach, Fairbanks Ranch and 
Rancho Santa Fe. The District also uses the plant to meet 

peak summer irrigation demands.1  

- 30% - - 35% 35% - - - 

Capacity / Peaking Relates to seasonal peaking (sizing of reservoirs) or providing 
of capacity in the system 

- 30% - - 34% 34% - 2% - 

Net Plant 
Investment 

Allocation based on review of the Fixed Asset Schedule 
(potable system); provides that selected costs and operations 

will reasonably mirror how the overall system is designed 
6% 24% 13% - 28% 28% - 1% - 

Notes: 
(1) Integrated Water Resources Plan (page 3-6). 
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4.2.2   Cost Allocation Results 

Table 4.3 shows the summary results of the functional cost allocation analysis based on the five-

year average of the forecasted expenses for FYE 2019 through FYE 2023. Relying on a single 

year’s projection could lead to the functional allocation being abnormally impacted by a one-

time expenditure or operation. By using an average of several years of projections, this analysis 

yields an appropriate method for allocating costs that could be sustained into the future 

assuming that there are no substantial changes in cost drivers or customer consumption patterns 

than otherwise projected in this Report.  

There are two results shown in Table 4.3: one with imported and recycled, and one without. The 

percentages without imported and recycled water are used in subsequent steps because those 

line items are passed directly onto their rate components, while the other categories encompass 

several line items. This fits with SFID’s pass-through policy for SDCWA costs. 

Table 4.3 also includes the allocation of the revenue requirements (from Table 3.16) to each 

category based on the allocation results. 

The detailed allocation of each line item to the categories outlined in Table 4.2 is provided in 

Appendix A to this report. Table 4.3 provides a summary of this detailed allocation table. 

Table 4.3 Cost Allocation Results 

Category 
Allocation 

Results 

Imported & 
Recycled 
Deducted 

FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Customer 1% 3% $413  $437  $463  

Capacity 15% 27% 4,206 4,453 4,719 

Local Water 4% 7% 1,072 1,135 1,202 

Imported Water 40% Based on  
direct cost 

11,115 11,200 11,254 

Base 18% 31% 4,853 5,137 5,445 

Peak 18% 32% 4,913 5,201 5,512 

Recycled 3% Based on  
direct cost 

874 916 959 

Fire 0.4% 1% 109 115 122 

Revenue Requirement 2   $27,554  $28,683  $29,769  

Notes: 
(1) Costs are in thousand dollars and are rounded. 
(2) From Table 3.16. Revenue Requirement assumes a full year of revenue adjustments. 

4.3   Changes from Previous Analysis 

The 2016 Study used the Base-Extra Capacity allocation methodology, resulting in some 

different approaches to the allocation of costs. Some of the more significant differences involve 

the allocation of costs from SDCWA; the allocation of peak costs; and the allocation of costs to 

individual customer classes. 
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4.3.1   Shifting SDCWA Costs 

Aside from the volumetric costs for water deliveries, several SDCWA costs were allocated to the 

fixed charge in the 2016 Study, under the capacity portion of the charge.  

The proposed cost allocation shifts those costs to the Imported Water category, which would be 

collected through a volumetric rate. This is in line with how the charges are assessed by SDCWA, 

as shown in Table 4.4. SDCWA determines SFID’s cost obligation based on varying usage 

metrics. Therefore, it is appropriate for SFID to correlate cost recovery for this line item based on 

customer usage. 

Furthermore, moving these costs to the volumetric charge is in keeping with the Commodity-

Base methodology and closely follows how the costs are incurred by the District. Because these 

costs preserve system capacity with SDCWA that all customers may use, these costs are 

allocated to the volumetric rates for all customers in this analysis, regardless of tier. 

The Infrastructure Access Charge will remain part of the meter fixed charge assessed by SFID 

because it is directly driven by how many meter equivalent units are connected to SFID. 

Table 4.4 outlines the specific SDCWA and MWD fees that are shifted in the proposed allocation. 

Table 4.4 SDCWA Cost Allocation Changes 

SDCWA Charge SDCWA Methodology 
Current SFID 

Allocation Proposed Allocation 

Supply Reliability 
Charge 

5-yr Rolling Average 
of Usage 

Meter Fixed Charge Volumetric for All 
Usage 

Storage Charge 
3-yr Rolling Average 

of Usage 
Meter Fixed Charge Volumetric for All 

Usage 

Customer Service 
3-yr Rolling Average 

of Usage 
Meter Fixed Charge Volumetric for All 

Usage 

MWD CRC 
5-yr Rolling Average 

of Peak Usage 
Meter Fixed Charge Volumetric for All 

Usage 

MWD RTS 
10-yr Rolling Average 

of Usage 
Meter Fixed Charge Volumetric for All 

Usage 

Infrastructure Access Meter Equivalents Meter Fixed Charge Meter Fixed Charge 

4.3.2   Shifting Capacity Costs 

SFID’s current rate structure allocates some of its capacity based costs to its volumetric 

commodity rates. This analysis reallocates those costs away from the volumetric categories and 

into the meter-based capacity category.  

Unlike the SDCWA fixed cost shift outlined above, the costs related to meter-based capacity are 

related to how much water SFID could potentially use and how much system capacity SFID 

maintains and makes available.  

Connections of different meter sizes have different capacities based on their maximum assumed 

flow rate. Larger meters can sustain a higher flow rate due to their greater capacity. For instance, 

when a 1-1/2” meter connects to the system, it has the potential to instantaneously use 

approximately three times as much water compared with a typical 3/4" meter connection. 
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Because of this differential, SFID must create and maintain sufficient capacity to meet this 

demand, despite the fact that this 1-1/2” meter connection may have an identical usage profile 

to the smaller meter connection and never actually use this instantaneous capacity. 

Creating and maintaining this capacity is a fixed cost that SFID incurs. Therefore, Carollo 

recommends collecting a larger share of these costs through the meter fixed charge. 

4.3.3   Customer Class Allocations 

The 2016 Study preserved the customer class designations that were part of SFID’s previous rate 

structure: Single-Family Residential (SFR); Multi-Family residential (MFR); Non-Residential 

(which includes commercial industrial, and institutional customers); Private Fire Protection 

customers (i.e., customers who have private fire suppression systems/hydrants); Temporary 

Water customers; and Irrigation/ Commercial Agricultural customers. In order to do this, the 

2016 Study allocated costs from each category to each customer class based on key metrics, 

including number of connections, number of meter equivalents, total demand, and estimated 

max day and max hour demands. 

While this is a widely accepted practice in water rate-setting, this analysis elected to consolidate 

the rate structure into one that applied for all customer classes. This recommendation is made 

for several reasons.  

First, customer demand profiles have changed substantially year-over-year in the past five years 

for SFID. As such, the proposed rates include updates to allocations to reflect changed 

conditions and demand profiles. 

This volatility in 

peaking factors is 

demonstrated by all 

customer classes. 

Figure 4-3 details 

the District’s three 

largest classes, SFR, 

MFR, and non-

residential.5 This 

year-over-year 

change in peaking 

behavior makes it 

advantageous to 

update allocations 

of peak costs.  

Second, SFID bills on 

a bi-monthly basis. While the District is implementing advanced metering infrastructure (AMI) 

that may provide sub-hourly meter reads, the current metering infrastructure results in an 

average of 61 days between reads. While this is the best information available, with that much 

time between reads, it is difficult to determine robust peaking profiles with a high level of 

confidence.  

                                                                    
5 Peaking factors are based on the ratio of the maximum month demand for the class to the average 
month demand for the class. 

Figure 4-3 Year-Over-Year Change in Peaking Factors by Class 
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Chapter 5 

RATE DESIGN 

5.1   Existing Rate Structure 

The District’s existing rate structure has been adjusted at various times to reflect the 

continuously evolving service population, hydrological patterns, demands, and regulatory 

environment. In the 2016 Study, the District elected to implement a four-tier inclining block rate 

structure for single-family and uniform rates (varied by class) for other classes. The District also 

maintained its application of a bi-monthly meter charge. These charges, effective January 1, 

2018, are detailed below in Table 5.1 and Table 5.2.  

Table 5.1 Bi-Monthly Meter Charge by Size ($/Meter Size) 

Meter Size CY 2018 

5/8" $85.08 

3/4" 85.08 

1" 136.32 

1 1/2" 263.83 

2" 419.96 

3" 779.88 

4" 1,297.12 

6" 2,569.80 

8" 4,131.19 

10" 5,954.82 
Notes: 
(1) Rates are bi-monthly. 

Table 5.2 Volumetric Rates by Customer Class ($/HCF) 

Category CY 2018 

SFR – Tier 1 (1 – 15 HCF) $2.40 

SFR – Tier 2 (16 – 37 HCF) 2.92 

SFR – Tier 3 (38 – 165 HCF) 5.47 

SFR – Tier 4 (> 165 HCF) 6.36 

MFR 4.60 

Non-Residential 4.62 

Irrigation / Commercial Agriculture 5.26 

Temporary 5.46 

Recycled 3.45 
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5.2   Recommended Fixed Rates 

The District currently collects fixed revenue from a bi-monthly service charge. The District’s goal 

is to maintain revenue stability, while still allocating costs attributable to higher water usage, 

and incidentally promoting conservation for all customers, through a volumetric rate.  

There are three components to the fixed charge. The first part of the fixed charge is derived from 

the costs allocated to customers in the preceding cost allocation. To define this rate, the total 

cost allocated to customers was divided by the number of bi-monthly bills forecasted for FYE 

2019.  

Table 5.3 Customer Component Calculation for Meter Fixed Charge 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Allocated Customer Costs 1  $413   $437   $463  

Total Accounts 2 6,445 6,445 6,445 

Bi-Monthly Component ($ / account) 3  $10.69   $11.31   $11.99  

Notes: 
(1) Costs are in thousand dollars, from Table 4.3 and are rounded. 
(2) Excludes fire, temporary meter, and recycled water customer accounts. 
(3) Rates have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

The second part of the fixed charge is derived from the costs allocated to Capacity. The Capacity 

costs are split through the use of the Meter Equivalent Unit (MEU). The MEU is an industry wide 

standard calculated by the AWWA which is used to compare the capacity of different sized 

meters. A rate per MEU is then defined by dividing the Capacity costs by the total number of 

MEUs.  

Table 5.4 Capacity Component Calculation for Meter Fixed Charge 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Allocated Capacity Costs 1  $4,206   $4,453   $4,719  

Total Accounts 2 10,650 10,650 10,650 

Bi-Monthly Component ($ / MEU) 3  $65.83   $69.69   $73.85  

Notes: 
(1) Costs are in thousand dollars from Table 4.3 and are rounded. 
(2) Excludes fire, temporary meter, and recycled water customer accounts. 
(3) Rates have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

The capacity component of the fixed charge varies based on meter size. Each meter is scaled by 

a defined safe maximum operating capacity standard flow rate. Larger meters have higher 

serviceable flow rates, and therefore, reserve greater potential flow within the system. 

The industry standard method of comparing meter sizes is based on MEUs. This provides a ratio 

to compare two different meter sizes based on their capacity reservation in the system. For 

instance, a 1-1/2” meter is rated at 3 MEUs because it has three times the potential flow rate of a 

standard 5/8” meter.  

The meter ratios used by SFID are defined by SDCWA’s capacity charge structure. These ratios 

are presented in Table 5.5. This table also scales the capacity component in Table 5.4 based on 

these ratios. 
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Table 5.5 Capacity Meter Fixed Charge Component by Meter Size 

Meter Size Meter Ratio FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

5/8" 1.0  $65.83   $65.06   $64.44  

3/4" 1.0  $65.83   $65.06   $64.44  

1" 1.6  $105.33   $104.10   $103.11  

1 1/2" 3.0  $197.49   $195.18   $193.32  

2" 5.2  $342.32   $338.32   $335.09  

3" 9.6  $631.97   $624.58   $618.63  

4" 16.4  $1,079.62   $1,066.99   $1,056.82  

6" 30.0  $1,974.90   $1,951.80   $1,933.20  

8" 52.0  $3,423.16   $3,383.12   $3,350.88  

10" 78.0  $5,134.74   $5,074.68   $5,026.32  
Notes: 
(1) Rates are bi-monthly and have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

The third and final portion of the fixed rate is based on the allocated SDCWA fixed costs in the 

Infrastructure Access Charge. This charge comes directly from SDCWA and will be $6.02 bi-

monthly for CY 2019.The proposed rates include adoption of a pass-through of wholesale 

increases, meaning the District would be authorized to directly pass-through any increases by 

SDCWA at the time they take effect.  

The recommended fixed charges are outlined in Table 5.6. These rates are the combination of: 

 Customer service component in Table 5.3. 

 Capacity component in Table 5.5. 

 SDCWA IAC of $6.02 bi-monthly (CY 2019). 

Table 5.6 Recommended Bi-Monthly Meter Fixed Charges ($/Meter Size) 

Meter Size CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

5/8"  $82.54   $87.02   $91.86  

3/4"  $82.54   $87.02   $91.86  

1"  $125.65   $132.45   $139.79  

1 1/2"  $226.24   $238.44   $251.60  

2"  $384.31   $405.01   $427.32  

3"  $700.45   $738.13   $778.75  

4"  $1,189.03   $1,252.96   $1,321.86  

6"  $2,166.19   $2,282.61   $2,408.09  

8"  $3,746.89   $3,948.23   $4,165.23  

10"  $5,614.99   $5,916.69   $6,241.85  
Notes: 
(1) Costs are in thousand dollars from Table 4.3. 
(2) Excludes fire, temporary meter, and recycled water customer accounts. 
(3) Rates have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

Although the Study is calculated on the fiscal year basis, the District is planning to implement 

the proposed rates half way through the fiscal year on January 1st of each year. Thus the 

proposed rates (Metered Fixed and Commodity Charges) are effective at the beginning of the 

calendar year.  
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5.3   Recommended Commodity Charges 

5.3.1   Recommended Structure Changes 

5.3.1.1   Tier Structure 

Based on the District current and forecasted demand profiles, the recommended volumetric 

rates propose a shift in SFID’s rate structure. Carollo recommends that SFID consolidate its four 

current tiers into two tiers. From a cost of service standpoint, this provides a nexus between 

SFID’s water supply portfolio, which consists of two primary sources, and the rates charged to 

customers. By using the supply portfolio as the foundation of the rates, SFID can employ a 

layering approach, where each element of the rate corresponds to a specific cost driver, and can 

be “layered,” or added, to the other appropriate cost drivers that correspond to that tier. The 

consolidated tiers also provide the District greater revenue stability and reflect sales of 10,000 

rather than 14,000 AF.  

Recommended Tier Breakpoints 

The current rate structure has four tiers, with bi-monthly breakpoints at 15, 37, and 165 HCF for 

tiers 1, 2, and 3, respectively. The tier structure recommended in this analysis consists of just one 

breakpoint between tiers 1 and 2 of 37 HCF bi-monthly. This figure is based on two different 

metrics that align with the sizing of SFID’s system and its water portfolio: 

The first is based simply on available water supplies. Local water supply from Lake Hodges and 

treated SDCWA purchases are considered tier 1 water supplies. Local water supplies are 

projected at 2,800 AFY based on recent availability. Combined with the planned 500 AFY of 

treated purchases, tier 1 water availability is approximately 3,300 AFY. This equates to 37 HCF bi-

monthly when spread across the 6,450 metered potable water connections. 

The second metric used is related to SFID’s demand profile. As discussed previously in the 

Report, base costs cover baseline demands throughout the year, while peak costs cover the 

higher demand periods that occur on seasonal or daily time spans. 

For this analysis, this base demand has been defined as the average demand during the winter 

months (January through March), also known as WQA demand. This is used because the 

minimum month demand can fluctuate drastically from year to year, while winter quarter 

average demand changes less. This approach of winter demand is consistent with the M1 

Manual.6 

For FYE 2017, average potable metered water demand in these months came to 37 HCF bi-

monthly for all customers. This aligns with the available supplies from tier 1 and forms the basis 

for determining rates. 

5.3.1.2   Customer Classes 

Carollo also recommends that SFID consolidate the rate structures for the SFR, MFR, Non-

Residential, and Fire Protection customer classes into one single rate structure that applies to all 

of these customer classes, with the exception of recycled water and temporary system 

connections. This determination is based on observed and forecasted usage patterns and 

behaviors.  

                                                                    
6 American Water Works Association. Manual of Water Supply Practices - M1: Principles of Water 
Rates, Fees, and Charges. 7th ed. Denver: AWWA, 2017. 126. 
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5.3.2   Rate Calculation 

The recommended rate calculation approach is based on a rate component “layering” 

methodology. This determines the unit cost for each system component—local supply, imported 

supply, SDCWA, base, and peak—and then layers the unit costs to develop the fully loaded rate 

for water service at each tier. This is in contrast to a frequently used approach that allocates 

costs to a specific tier, and then divides that cost allocation by the projected usage at each tier.  

The recommended layering approach directly correlates costs incurred by SFID with the rates 

assessed to customers. There is a clear nexus between the cost of service, and the rate assessed. 

The approach used in the SFID’s tiered rates is outlined in Figure 5-1. There are three categories 

of unit cost layers that are included: 

 Unit costs that are common to both tiers, covering base system costs and SDCWA fixed 

costs 

 Supply unit costs, with tier 1 receiving the local supply rate and tier 2 receiving the 

SDCWA untreated supply rate 

 Peak unit costs allocated to tier 2 to cover the increased and underutilized system 

capacity that must be developed to serve tier 2 water. 

 

5.3.2.1   Common Unit Cost Components 

Base Unit Costs 

Base unit costs apply to all units of water regardless of tier. These costs cover the ability of the 

system to meet baseline demand that does not fluctuate based on season or month. This is the 

constant demand that the district can expect to deliver.  

These costs have been allocated as part of the cost of service allocation outlined in this report 

and are presented in Table 5.7. 

 

 

Base 
Component

Imported 
Component

Peak 
Component

SDCWA
Component

Tier 2

Base 
Component

Local 
Component

SDCWA
Component

Tier 1

Figure 5-1 Conceptual Overview of Layered Tier Methodology 
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Table 5.7 Base Unit Cost Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Base Allocated Costs 2 $4,853  $5,137  $5,445  

Water Loss Costs3 $356  $446  $448  

Total Base Unit Costs $5,208  $5,583  $5,892  

Total Demand (HCF) 4,343,703 4,365,421 4,387,249 

Base Rate Component ($ / HCF) $1.20 $1.28 $1.35 

Notes: 
(1) All figures are in thousand dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Table 4.3 
(3) Water loss of 4.3% (Table 3.2) is assumed at the cost of Untreated Imported 

SDCWA Fixed Costs 

The allocation of costs from SDCWA is one of several changes in this analysis compared to the 

2016 Study. As outlined in the cost of service analysis section of this Report, SDCWA costs were 

previously allocated to the meter fixed charge. 

Carollo recommends incorporating these costs as a component of the volumetric rate. As shown 

in Table 4.4, the Supply Reliability, Storage, Customer Service, MWD Capacity Reservation, and 

MWD Readiness-To-Serve charges are all allocated to the volumetric rate now, as opposed to 

the fixed charge. The Infrastructure Access charge remains allocated to the fixed charge in the 

proposed rates.  

Table 3.4 outlines the CY 2019 costs for each of these charges. Because these charges are 

proposed to be directly passed onto customers as SDCWA changes its rates, only the CY 2019 

rate is calculated. This rate calculation is outlined in Table 5.8.  

This rate applies to all usage because these costs cover capacity in the SDCWA. While SDCWA 

volumetric costs will only apply to tier 2, as will be discussed further in this section, the capacity 

portion of SDCWA costs apply to all customers because it preserves the ability of all customers 

to enter tier 2. 

The demand projections shown in Table 5.8 will differ from the demand projections used 

elsewhere in this rate analysis because they are based on the calendar year as opposed to fiscal 

year (July 1 to June 30). SDCWA rate increases take place on January 1 of each year, and this 

calendar year approach aligns with that. 

Table 5.8 SDCWA Fixed Charges Unit Cost Calculation 

 CY 2019 

SDCWA Fixed Charges 2 $2,756 

Total Demand (HCF) 4,605,212 

SDCWA Fixed Rate Component ($ / HCF) 3 $0.60 

Notes: 
(1) All values are in thousands of dollars and are rounded.  
(2) From Table 3.4, Excludes IAC. 
(3) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01. 
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5.3.2.2   Tier 1 Cost Components 

Local Supply 

There are two primary costs included in the local supply category: local water deliveries from 

Lake Hodges and purchases of treated water from SDCWA, which are used for plant 

maintenance. Other costs, such as District administration and engineering and a portion of 

materials and supplies, are included because they support the maintenance of this water source. 

The rate for the local supply component is based on an assumed production of 2,800 AFY.  

In the local supply analysis, rates are calculated over the next four years using 2,800 AFY from 

Lake Hodges, plus 500 AFY of SDCWA treated water, for a total of 3,300 AFY, or 1.4 million HCF. 

The results of the unit cost calculation for local supplies are outlined in Table 5.9. 

Table 5.9 Local Supply Unit Cost Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Allocated Local Costs 2 $1,072  $1,135  $1,202  

Treated SDCWA 3 653 653 653 

Total Costs  $1,724  $1,787  $1,855  

    

Local Water (HCF) 4 1,219,680 1,219,680 1,219,680 

Treated Water Supply (HCF) 5 217,800 217,800 217,800 

Total Demand (HCF) 1,437,480 1,437,480 1,437,480 

Local Water Rate ($ / HCF) 6  $1.20   $1.24   $1.29  

Notes: 
(1) Figures are in thousand dollars and are rounded. 
(2) From Table 4.3. Figures are in thousand dollars  
(3) From Table 3.5. Figures are in thousand dollars. 
(4) Based on annual assumed production of 2,800 AFY. 
(5) Based on annual assumed deliveries of 500 AFY 
(6) Total costs divided by total demands. 

5.3.2.3   Tier 2 Cost Components 

Imported Supply 

Imported supply from SDCWA makes up the remaining balance of SFID’s water portfolio after 

local water deliveries from Lake Hodges. The total water purchased from SDCWA is shown in 

Table 3.2. 

Table 5.10 Imported Supply Unit Cost Calculation 

 CY 2019 

SDCWA Water Costs ($/AF)1 $1,029 

HCF per Acre-Foot 435.6  

SDCWA Rate Component ($ / HCF) 2  $2.37  

Notes: 
(1) Unit cost reflects SDCWA adopted CY 2019 Rate and Charges (Untreated Melded M&I Supply Rate ($909/AF)+ 

Transportation Rate ($120/AF)). As future rates are adopted, any changes will be passed-through per the District’s 
adopted Pass-Through provisions.  
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Rates have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. Table 5.10 outlines the calculation of the 

imported supply unit cost. Because SDCWA untreated purchases make up the balance of the 

water supply portfolio after local supplies and treated purchases, this source covers non-revenue 

water; however, this cost is recovered on the Base rate component. Imported supply costs from 

SDCWA are passed on directly as a unit cost to customers, and future rate increases from 

SDCWA will automatically be included in future rates. Therefore this analysis only looks at one 

year of rates and assumes that it will remain constant. The costs from Table 5.10 form the basis 

of the unit costs for SDCWA deliveries. 

Peak Unit Costs 

Peak demand is usage in excess of the baseline system demand, which is defined as winter 

quarter average in this analysis. For FYE 2017, the WQA for SFID potable water customers was 

37 HCF bi-monthly. Usage in excess of this is considered peak demand because it is not a 

consistent year-round level of demand. 

Peak unit costs have been allocated as part of the cost of service analysis preceding this chapter.  

Table 5.11 Peak Unit Cost Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Peak Allocated Costs 2 $4,913  $5,201  $5,512  

Peak Demand (HCF)3 2,927,968 2,949,795 2,971,731 

Peak Rate Component ($ / HCF)  $1.68   $1.77   $1.86  

Notes: 
(1) Figures are in thousand dollars. 
(2) Table 4.3 
(3) Demand above the District’s WQA 

5.3.3   Rate Summary 

5.3.3.1   Tier 1: Local Supply 

Under the proposed rate structure, SFID’s tier 1 rate would be developed with local water supply 

as its cost foundation. Base cost and SDCWA fixed cost components are then added. 

Table 5.12 Tier 1 Rates 

 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

Local Water Rate (Table 5.9)  $1.20   $1.24   $1.29  

Base Rate Component (Table 5.7) $1.20 $1.28 $1.35 

SDCWA Fixed Component 2 (Table 5.8)  $0.60   $0.60   $0.60  

Tier 1 Rate 3 $3.00 $3.13 $3.25 
Notes: 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 
(2) Rates reflect the SDCWA adopted CY 2019 Rate and Charges schedule. Future rates are not known at this time and will be 

increased automatically through the District’s Pass-Through Provision. 
(3) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

5.3.3.2   Tier 2: Imported Supply 

Under the proposed rate structure, SFID’s tier 2 rate would be developed with imported water 

supply as its cost foundation. Similar to the tier 1 rate, base cost components are then added, 
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along with the SDCWA fixed cost component. The peak rate component is also added to the tier 

2 rate because larger water users drive the peaking costs. 

Table 5.13 Tier 2 Rates 

 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

Imported Supply Component2  (Table 5.10)  $2.37  $2.37  $2.37  

Base Component (Table 5.7) $1.20 $1.28 $1.35 

Peak Component Table 5.11  $1.68   $1.77   $1.86  

SDCWA Fixed Component2 (Table 5.8)  $0.60   $0.60   $0.60  

Tier 2 Rate 3  $5.85   $6.02   $6.18  
Notes: 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 
(2) Rates reflect the SDCWA adopted CY 2019 Rate and Charges schedule. Future rates are not known at this time and will be 

increased automatically through the District’s Pass-Through Provision. 
(3) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

5.3.3.3   Recommended Rates 

Table 5.14 provides the recommended tiered rates for the four-year period FYE 2019 through 

FYE 2022. 

Table 5.14 Recommended Tiered Rates ($/HCF) 

 HCF CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

Tier 1 0 – 37 $3.00 $3.13 $3.25 

Tier 2 >37  $5.85   $6.02   $6.18  

Notes: 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 

5.3.4   Recycled Water 

5.3.4.1   Recycled Water Fixed Service Charge 

Similar to the Meter Fixed Charges for the potable system, a meter fixed charge is collected from 

recycled water customers. However, there are a few notable differences between the potable 

and recycled water systems. First, recycled water customers are billed monthly, as opposed to 

bi-monthly. Second, the service charge is less as it reflects recycled water capacity and asset 

costs, rather than that of the full potable system. The proposed charges are shown below and 

reflect a 3 percent rate adjustment to maintain cost recovery with inflation.  
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Table 5.15 Recommended Monthly Recycled Water Meter Fixed Charges 

Meter Size CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

5/8" $29.26 $30.14 $31.05 

3/4" 29.26 30.14 31.05 

1" 43.87 45.19 46.55 

1 1/2" 80.40 82.82 85.31 

2" 124.23 127.96 131.80 

3" 226.51 233.31 240.31 

4" 372.62 383.80 395.32 

6" 737.90 760.04 782.85 

8" 1,176.23 1,211.52 1,247.87 

10" 1,687.63 1,738.26 1,790.41 
Notes: 
(1) Rates have been rounded up to the nearest $0.01. 

 

5.3.4.2   Recycled Water Commodity Charge 

Recycled water costs are allocated directly based on the contractual costs of the recycled water 

system. The recycled water rate is a uniform rate and does not change based on how much water 

is used.  

Based on the projected costs and demands for the recycled water system, the proposed recycled 

water rates are outlined in Table 5.16. These rates reflect the current forecasted rates from 

SEJPA. Any adjustments to SEJPA may be adjusted as in accordance with the District’s pass-

through procedures. 

Table 5.16 Recycled Water Unit Cost Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Recycled Water Direct Costs 2 $874 $916 $959 

Total Demand (HCF) 239,765 240,963 242,168 

Recycled Water Rate ($ / HCF) 2  $3.66   $3.81   $3.97  

Notes:  
(1) From Table 4.3. All figures are in thousand dollars and are rounded. 
(2) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

5.3.5   Private Fire Lines 

5.3.5.1   Fixed Service Charge 

The fixed service charge for private fire line service is based on the costs allocated to the fire 

capacity allocation category. The calculation process is similar to the typical potable water fixed 

service charge calculation, with the exception that it is entirely MEU based, with no customer 

service component. This assumes that all private fire line accounts are supplemental to a typical 

potable water meter, and that the customer receives the customer service benefits associated 

with the primary account. 
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Table 5.17 Private Fire Line Fixed Service Charge Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Allocated Costs 1 $108   $111   $117  

Total MEUs 1,852 1,852 1,852 

Bi-Monthly Private Fire Charge ($ / MEU) 2  $9.76   $10.00   $10.53  

Notes:  
(1) From Table 4.3. All figures are in thousand dollars. 
(2) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

The final fixed service charges at each meter size are shown below, based on the results in Table 

5.17. 

Table 5.18 Private Fire Line Bi-Monthly Fixed Service Charges 

Meter Size MEUs CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

3/4" 1.0  $9.76   $10.00   $10.53  

1" 1.6  $15.62   $16.00   $16.85  

1 1/2" 3.0  $29.28   $30.00   $31.59  

2" 5.2  $50.76   $52.00   $54.76  

Notes:  
(1) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

5.3.5.2   Private Fire Line and Temporary Meter Commodity Water Rate 

In addition to the fixed service charge, private fire line connections are charged for actual water 

used. This rate also applies to SFID’s temporary meters, typically used for construction. This rate 

is a uniform rate but uses a supply-based approach similar to the tiered water meters. The rate is 

the addition of base and peak components, a supply unit cost, and a portion of SDCWA fixed 

costs.  

Given these connections are irregular and not prone to regular water use, they are not allotted 

any local water. Private fire service is an emergency connection for unpredictable needs, and 

temporary connections vary significantly based on construction activity. Therefore, demands 

from these connections cannot be adequately forecasted, and any water that serves these 

demands is assumed to be service from non-local sources. As a result, the supply unit cost 

portion of this rate is based on the SDCWA supply rate from above.  

As these customers are irregular, defining a class specific peak is not reasonable. Therefore, 

these customers are allocated the system peak and thus pay the same proportional share of 

peak as typical customers.  

Finally, the base and SDCWA unit costs are the same as the tiered rates because those are a 

system-wide allocation, regardless of water source. The total rate for these accounts is outlined 

in Table 5.19. 
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Table 5.19 Private Fire Service and Temporary Rates 

 CY  2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

Imported Supply Component2 (Table 5.10)  $2.37  $2.37  $2.37  

Base Component (Table 5.7) $1.20 $1.28 $1.35 

Peak Component (Table 5.11)  $1.68   $1.70   $1.78  

SDCWA Fixed Component2  (Table 5.8)  $0.60   $0.60   $0.60  

Tier 2 Rate 3  $5.85   $5.95   $6.10  
Notes: 
(1) All values are in $ / HCF. 
(2) Rates reflect the SDCWA adopted CY 2019 Rate and Charges schedule. Future rates are not known at this time and will be 

increased automatically through the District’s Pass-Through Provision. 
(3) Rates have been rounded to the nearest $0.01, and components may not foot as a result. 

5.4   Demand Management Rates 

Demand management rates, often called drought rates, are surcharges that can be implemented 

to bolster cost recovery during periods of decreased demand. Many of SFID’s costs are fixed in 

nature, and do not change substantially based on customer demands. Labor and administrative 

costs are largely unchanged and could reasonably be expected to increase during a drought, as 

many agencies need greater resources to effectively plan for and respond to a drought. SDCWA 

water purchases can be curtailed to respond to demands, but the fixed costs recovered within 

the commodity rate would not decrease.  

Demand management rates can be an effective tool in responding to this situation. The District 

will implement Demand Reduction Rate Adjustments for the potable water Commodity Charge 

as necessary, with formal Board adoption, depending on the level of potable water use cutbacks 

required, to ensure that it recovers sufficient revenues to meet its expenses. Under the proposed 

Demand Reduction Rate Adjustments, the rates for the Commodity Charge then in effect will be 

adjusted in accordance with the District’s projected losses in revenues due to the 

implementation of applicable water use reduction levels.   

5.4.1   Methodology 

When calculating demand management rates, the adjusted demand scenario determines both 

the reduced revenue and any cost savings due to reduced operational needs. This analysis 

reviewed 5, 10, 20, 30, and 40 percent demand reduction scenarios for FYE 2019 demands and 

cost recovery needs. 

The process for calculating the rate surcharge at each benchmark followed these steps: 

1. Determine the percentage of revenues and costs categorized as fixed. If the fixed costs 

exceed the fixed revenues (which is typical for most agencies), those costs are 

considered Revenue at Risk because they are collected through variable rates and thus 

can be lost during a demand reduction period. 

2. Divide this Revenue at Risk by the total projected water sales. This is the portion of each 

unit of water sold that is potentially lost in a demand reduction. 

3. Calculate the total volume reduced for each of the five scenarios. 

4. Calculate the total projected revenue lost for each scenario by multiplying the Revenue 

at Risk unit cost calculated in step 2 by the total volume reduced calculated in step 3. 

5. Calculate the Demand Management Rate Surcharge by dividing the total projected 

revenue lost calculated in step 4 by the total volume lost from step 3. 
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Steps 2, 3, and 4 are outlined in Table 5.20, Table 5.21, and Table 5.22, respectively. 

Table 5.20 Revenue at Risk Unit Cost Calculation 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Fixed Expenditures $9,081  $9,670  $8,843  

Fixed Revenues $4,625  $4,797  $4,986  

Revenue Risk 2 $4,455 $4,873 $3,857 

Projected Demand (HCF) 4,605,212 4,628,238 4,651,379 

Equivalent Unit Cost ($/HCF) $0.97 $1.05 $0.83 
Notes: 
(1) All figures are in thousand dollars, unless otherwise noted, and are rounded. 
(2) Fixed expenditures minus fixed revenues. 

Table 5.21 Decreased Demand in Demand Reduction Scenarios (HCF) 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

5% Demand Reduction 230,261 231,412 232,569 

10% Demand Reduction 460,521 462,824 465,138 

20% Demand Reduction 921,042 925,648 930,276 

30% Demand Reduction 1,381,564 1,388,471 1,395,414 

40% Demand Reduction 1,842,085 1,851,295 1,860,552 
Notes: 
(1) All figures are in HCF. 

Table 5.22 Revenue at Risk in Demand Reduction Scenarios 

 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

5% Demand Reduction $223  $244  $193  

10% Demand Reduction $446  $487  $386  

20% Demand Reduction $891  $975  $771  

30% Demand Reduction $1,337  $1,462  $1,157  

40% Demand Reduction $1,782  $1,949  $1,543  
Notes: 
(1) All figures are in thousand dollars. 

5.4.2   Recommended Demand Management Rates 

The recommended demand management rates are outlined in Table 5.23. These are calculated 

by dividing the revenue at risk from Table 5.22 by the reductions in Table 5.21. Rate surcharges 

are calculated as revenue at risk from Table 5.22 divided by demand reductions in Table 5.21. 
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Table 5.23 Demand Management Rate Surcharges ($/HCF) 

 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 

5% Demand Reduction $0.05 $0.05 $0.04 

10% Demand Reduction $0.10 $0.11 $0.09 

20% Demand Reduction $0.24 $0.26 $0.20 

30% Demand Reduction $0.41 $0.45 $0.35 

40% Demand Reduction $0.64 $0.70 $0.55 
Notes: 
(1) All figures are in $ / HCF. 
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Appendix A 

Table 1A Functional Allocation – Line Item Allocation and Cost Factor Percentages 
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Table 1A Functional Allocation – Line Item Allocation and Cost Factor Percentages (continued) 
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Table 1A Functional Allocation – Line Item Allocation and Cost Factor Percentages (continued) 
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Table 2A Functional Allocation – Five Year Average Cost Results 
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Table 2A Functional Allocation – Five Year Average Cost Results (continued) 
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Table 2A Functional Allocation – Five Year Average Cost Results (continued) 
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Table 3A Fixed Asset Registry Allocation 
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Table 3A Fixed Asset Registry Allocation (continued) 
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Table 4A Budget Projections 

 

  

Line Escalation Factor FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021

1 Revenues
2 Operating Revenues

3 Potable Water Sales --Rate Sheet-- 20,795,004$              21,574,650$              22,295,001$              

4 Recycled Water Sales --Rate Sheet-- 827,188                       916,129                       959,140                       

5 Fixed Charges --Rate Sheet-- 5,153,713                   5,383,043                   5,675,691                   

6 Hydroelectric Revenue Operations 30,000                         30,900                         31,827                         

7 SDWD Local Water Reimbursement Operations 74,993                         77,243                         79,560                         

8 SDWD Treatment Reimbursement Operations 2,463,105                   2,536,998                   2,613,108                   

9 Misc Operating Revenue Operations 122,000                       125,660                       129,430                       

10 Rate Stabilization +Withdrawal/-Deposit --Reserve Sheet-- -                                -                                -                                

11 Total Operating Revenue 29,466,003$              30,644,623$              31,783,756$              

12 Non-Operating Revenue

13 Capacity Charges Operations 100,000$                    131,000$                    134,930$                    

14 Interest Income --Reserves Sheet-- 185,500                       196,084$                    198,941$                    

15 Property Tax Operations 2,300,000                   2,369,000                   2,440,070                   

16 SDWD Capital Reimbursement --Funding & CIP Sheet-- 3,357,500                   3,314,849                   2,072,574                   

17 Misc Non-Operating Revenue Operations 143,977                       1,536,101                   152,745                       

18 Total Non-Operating Revenue 6,086,977$                 7,547,035$                 4,999,260$                 

19 Total Revenues 35,552,980$              38,191,658$              36,783,016$              

20 Expenses
21 Water Costs

22 Imported Water:

23 Variable Costs --Source of Supply Sheet-- 7,925,621$                 8,066,326$                 8,120,374$                 

24 Fixed Costs

25 Supply Reliability Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 542,604$                    572,916$                    572,916$                    

26 Infrastructure Access Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 377,418                       377,676                       377,676                       

27 Customer Service Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 477,324                       456,804                       456,804                       

28 Emergency Storage Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 1,301,040                   1,261,500                   1,261,500                   

29 MWD Capacity Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 195,017                       183,064                       183,064                       

30 MWD Readiness-to-Serve Charge --Source of Supply Sheet-- 296,394                       281,340                       281,340                       

31 Local Water --Source of Supply Sheet-- 100,757                       103,780                       106,894                       

32 Recycled Water --Source of Supply Sheet-- 873,600                       916,129                       959,140                       

33 Total Water Cost 12,089,775$              12,219,535$              12,319,707$              

34 Personnel Costs

35 District Administration Salary 1,884,594$                 1,978,823$                 2,038,188$                 

36 Water Conservation Salary -                                -                                -                                

37 District Engineering Salary 633,737                       665,424                       685,387                       

38 District Operations Salary 2,264,639                   2,377,871                   2,449,207                   

39 Joint Facilities Operations Salary 1,103,013                   1,158,164                   1,192,909                   

40 Joint Facilities Maintenance Salary 887,765                       932,153                       960,118                       

41 Joint Facilities Laboratory Salary 164,930                       173,176                       178,372                       

42 Joint Facilities Administration Salary 125,065                       131,318                       135,257                       

43 Direct Labor Charged to CIP Salary (198,290)                     (208,205)                     (214,451)                     

44 Annual OPEB Trust Contribution

45 District Status Quo 531,283                       636,855                       719,385                       

46 Plant 181,458                       217,516                       245,704                       

47 Total Personnel Costs 7,578,200$                 8,063,100$                 8,390,100$                 

48 Administrative Costs

49 Labor Expenses:

50 Salaries & Benefits Salary

51 Non-Labor Expenses:

52 Board Support Operations 42,335                         43,605                         44,913                         

53 Property & Liability Insurance Operations 150,000                       154,500                       159,135                       

54 Office Supplies Operations 27,000                         27,810                         28,644                         

55 Information Technology Operations 233,800                       240,814                       248,038                       

56 Other Office Expense Operations 101,500                       104,545                       107,681                       

57 Conservation Operations 57,700                         59,431                         61,214                         

58 Contract/Professional Services Operations 408,710                       420,971                       433,600                       

59 Training & Development Operations 38,000                         39,140                         40,314                         

60 Interdepartmental Allocations Operations (249,982)                     (257,481)                     (265,206)                     

61 Total Administrative Costs 809,063$                    833,335$                    858,335$                    

62 Engineering Costs

63 Labor Expenses:

64 Salaries & Benefits Salary

65 Non-Labor Expenses:

66 Drafting & Mapping Operations 3,000                           3,090                           3,183                           

67 Engineering Services Operations 150,000                       154,500                       159,135                       

68 Other Expenses Operations 37,120                         38,234                         39,381                         

69 Interdepartmental Charges Operations (14,950)                       (15,399)                       (15,860)                       

70 Total Engineering Costs 175,170$                    180,425$                    185,838$                    
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Line Escalation Factor FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021

71 Operations Costs

72 Labor Expenses:

73 Salaries & Benefits Salary

74 Non-Labor Expenses:

75 System Operations Operations 431,400                       444,342                       457,672                       

76 Facilities Maintenance Operations 274,300                       282,529                       291,005                       

77 Construction Operations 818,000                       842,540                       867,816                       

78 Meter & Backflow Services Operations 150,200                       154,706                       159,347                       

79 Safety Operations 56,800                         58,504                         60,259                         

80 Interdepartmental Charges Operations -                                -                                -                                

81 Total Operations Costs 1,730,700$                 1,782,621$                 1,836,100$                 

82 JF Costs

83 Labor Expenses:

84 Salaries & Benefits Salary

85 Retiree Health Care Salary

86 Non-Labor Expenses:

87 Local Water & Transport Operations 1,046,350                   1,077,741                   1,110,073                   

88 Operations Operations 1,284,400                   1,322,932                   1,362,620                   

89 Maintenance Operations 821,000                       845,630                       870,999                       

90 Laboratory Operations 49,000                         50,470                         51,984                         

91 Administrative Operations 521,715                       537,366                       553,487                       

92 Interdepartmental Charges Operations 264,932                       272,880                       281,066                       

93 SFID Local Water Reimbursement Operations (100,757)                     (103,780)                     (106,894)                     

94 Total JF Costs 3,886,640$                 4,003,239$                 4,123,336$                 

95 Total Operating Expenses w/o Depreciation 26,269,542$              27,082,252$              27,713,392$              

96 Capital Contribution

97 Depreciation & Amortization Capital 2,800,000                   2,884,000                   2,970,520                   

98 Total Capital Contribution 2,800,000$                 2,884,000$                 2,970,520$                 

99 Total Operating Expenses w/ Depreciation 29,069,542$              29,966,252$              30,683,912$              

100

101 Other Expenses

102 Debt - Principal --Debt Sheet-- 1,270,000$                 1,325,000$                 -$                             

103 Debt - Interest --Debt Sheet-- 76,875                         24,975                         -                                

104 Total Other Expenses 1,346,875$                 1,349,975$                 -$                             

105 Total Expenses 30,416,417$              31,316,227$              30,683,912$              

Table 4A Budget Projections (continued) 
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Table 5A Annual Escalation Factors for Budget Projections 

Escalation Factor FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 

Operations 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

Salary 3.0% 5.0% 3.0% 

Benefits 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 

Benefits - Medical 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 

Benefits - CalPERS 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 

Utilities 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 

Chemicals 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 

Capital 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

Water Cost 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

JF Costs 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

SDCWA Purchases 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Account Growth 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Household Metered 
Demand 

0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 

Recycled Water 
Demand 

0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 

SEJPA 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 

No Inflation 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Interest 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 
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SANTA FE IRRIGATION DISTRICT 
RESERVE FUNDS POLICY  

 
 
1. Policy Statement 

 
A key element of prudent financial planning is to ensure that sufficient funding is 
available for current operating, capital, and debt service needs. Additionally, fiscal 
responsibility requires anticipating the likelihood of and preparing for unforeseen events. 
The Santa Fe Irrigation District (District) will at all times strive to have sufficient funding 
available to meet its operating, capital, and debt service cost obligations. Funds will be 
accumulated and maintained to allow the District to fund expenditures in a manner 
consistent with all District Master Plans and avoid significant rate fluctuations due to 
changes in cash flow requirements.  
 
The Board of Directors may designate specific fund accounts and maintain minimum fund 
balances consistent with statutory obligations that it has determined to be in the best 
interest of the District. The Policy directives outlined in this document are intended to 
ensure the District has sufficient funds to meet current and future needs. The Board of 
Directors will annually review the level of Funds. 

 
2. Definitions   
 

There are two types of net Funds: 
 
I. RESTRICTED FUNDS: Restrictions on the use of these funds are imposed by an 

outside source such as creditors, grantors, contributors, laws, or regulations 
governing use. 
 

II. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS: These funds have no externally imposed use 
restrictions. The use of Unrestricted Funds is at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors. Unrestricted Funds are designated for a specific purpose, which is 
determined by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also has the 
authority to redirect the use of these funds as the needs of the District change. 

 
3. General Provisions 
 

The District will maintain operating and capital funds in designated accounts. The target 
fund balances are considered the minimum necessary to maintain the District’s credit 
worthiness and adequately provide for: 
 
 Compliance with applicable statutory requirements  
 Financing of future capital facilities 
 Cash flow requirements  
 Economic uncertainties, local disasters, and other financial hardships or downturns 

in the local or national economy 
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 Contingencies or unforeseen operating or capital needs 
 
Through a variety of policy documents and plans, including the District Administrative 
Code, District Master Plans, Long Range Financial Plans, and District Strategic Plan, the 
Board of Directors has set forth a number of long-term goals for the District. A 
fundamental purpose of the District’s policy documents and plans is to link what must be 
accomplished with the necessary resources to successfully do so. 
 
The District has established and will maintain the following Fund accounts: 
 
 Capacity Charge  
 Capital Improvement and Replacement  
 Operating  
 Rate Stabilization 

 
Actual fund balances will be reviewed on an annual basis at the close of the fiscal year to 
reconcile the fund balances and assess the District’s financial capacity to accomplish 
identified activities and projects.   In the event the Rate Stabilization Fund or Operating 
Fund balances exceed the established maximum targets, excess monies will be transferred 
annually into the Capital Improvement Fund. In the event the Capital Improvement Fund 
balance exceeds the established maximum target, the Board of Directors will make a 
determination regarding the reallocation of excess monies. 
 
The minimum target balance established for each Fund represents the baseline financial 
condition that is acceptable to the District from a risk management and financial planning 
perspective.  Maintaining Funds at appropriate levels is an ongoing business process that 
consists of a periodic assessment of revenues and expenditure levels. This assessment 
includes  (either alone or in combination with each other), but is not limited to, a review of 
fees and charges, water usage, capital financing methods, rate of return on investment of 
funds, and levels of capital expenditures.     
 
The Board of Directors shall approve any reallocation of funds or any transfers among 
Funds, including an annual reconciliation at the close of the fiscal year. 
 

4. Santa Fe Irrigation District Funds     
 
I. RESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
a. Capacity Charge Fund:  The Capacity Charge Fund is a Restricted Fund governed by 

state law. The District collects capacity charge revenue and allocates expenditures in 
accordance with Government Code Section § 66013.   

 
Source of Funds: 
 Prior year ending balance carried forward 
 Interest income on Fund balance 
 Capacity Charge revenues 
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Designation of Expenses: 
 Growth/expansion related Capital Improvements 
 System upgrades/enhancements  

 
II. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
a.  Capital Improvement and Replacement Fund: The Capital Improvement and 

Replacement Fund is an Unrestricted Fund, which is designated by the Board of 
Directors for capital improvements to meet regulatory requirements, system reliability, 
facility replacement projects, and future infrastructure upgrades. These capital 
improvements are identified in the Asset Management Master Plan (“AMMP”) . The 
funds are accumulated and drawn down in a manner consistent with this Policy. The 
Board of Directors approves utilization of the Capital Improvement and Replacement 
Funds.    

 
Source of Funds: 
 Prior year ending balance carried forward 
 Allocation of funds by Board of Directors’ action 
 Annual contribution from Operating Revenue in an amount equal to 

depreciation expense  
 SDWD contributions – RE Badger Capital Expenses 
 Interest Income from any of the Unrestricted Funds 
 Property Tax revenue 

 
Designation of Expenses: 
 Capital Improvement Projects 
 Capital Repairs and Replacement Projects 
 Major equipment acquisitions 
 Office fixtures and furnishings, computer equipment and collateral items 
 Emergency capital repairs and replacement 

 
Target Fund Balance: The Capital Improvement Fund target balance shall not exceed 
100% of the total of the ten-year Capital Improvement Program costs as identified in 
the Asset Management Master Plan. The Capital Improvement Fund target balance 
shall at all times equal or exceed 100% of the Pay-Go portion of the current fiscal 
year’s CIP, 50% of the Pay-Go portion of the following fiscal year’s CIP, and 25% of 
the Pay-Go portion of the succeeding CIP.   

 
Pay-Go is defined as the portion of capital expenditures that are not funded through 
debt issuance. 

 
b. Operating Fund :  The Operating Fund  is an Unrestricted Fund that is designated by 

the Board of Directors to maintain working capital for current operations and to meet 
routine cash flow needs.  
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Source of Funds: 
 Prior year ending balance carried forward 
 Allocation of funds by Board of Directors’ action 
 Transfers from Rate Stabilization Fund  
 Interest Income from any of the Unrestricted Funds 
 Net operating income 
 
Designation of Expenses: 
 Cash flow requirements 
 Transfers to Rate Stabilization Fund or Capital Improvement and Replacement                            
Fund 
 Debt Service 

 
Target Fund Balance:  The Operating Fund target balance shall be a minimum of sixty 
(60) days and a maximum of ninety (90) days of the current fiscal year’s operating 
budget.  

 
c.  Rate Stabilization:  The Rate Stabilization Fund is an Unrestricted Fund utilized to 

avoid unacceptable rate increases and fund unanticipated operating expenditures.  
 

Source of Funds: 
 Prior year ending balance carried forward 
 Allocation of Funds by Board of Directors’ action 
 Interest Income from any of the Unrestricted Funds 

 
Designation of Expenses: 
 Transfers to Operating Fund or Capital Improvement and Replacement Fund 
 Provide operating revenue to offset unacceptable rate increases 
 Contingencies, unforeseen operating needs or disruptions to revenues or 

service  
 Offset water sales revenue loss  
 
Target Fund Balance:  The Rate Stabilization Fund target balance shall not exceed the 
sum of the following: 
 100% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted property tax revenues 
 30% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted variable water sales revenues  
 25% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted wholesale water costs 

 
And shall not at any time be less than the sum of the following: 
 8% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted property tax revenues 
 10% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted variable water sales revenues  
 5% of the current fiscal year’s budgeted wholesale water costs 
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5. Delegation of Authority 
 

The Board of Directors of the Santa Fe Irrigation District has sole authority to amend or 
revise the District’s Reserve Funds Policy. Management responsibility for the Reserve Funds 
Policy is hereby delegated to the General Manager, who through approval of this Policy has 
established written procedures for the management of the District’s Funds.  

 



 

Orange County Sanitation District 

Cost of Service Rate Study and Financial Analysis 

 

Final Report and Recommendations on Wastewater Rates, 

Fees, and Charges 

 

December 2017 
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Abbreviations 
AF Acre foot / Acre feet, 1 AF = 435.6 CCF, 326,000 gallons 

AFY Acre foot per year 

AWWA American Water Works Association 

Brine Line 
Inland Empire Brine Line, administered by SAWPA (previously referred to as the 
Santa Ana Regional Interceptor, or SARI, line) 

BOD Biochemical oxygen demand 

Carollo Carollo Engineers, Inc. 
CFCC Capital Facilities Capacity Charge 

CIP Capital Improvement Plan 

COP Certificate of Participation 
CY Calendar Year 

District Orange County Sanitation District 

EDU 
Equivalent dwelling unit. A unit of measure for comparing a parcel’s wastewater 

demand relative to a typical single-family dwelling unit. 
Flow Influent or effluent flow of wastewater from the District’s treatment facilities 

FYE 
Fiscal Year Ending. The District’s fiscal year runs from July 1 to June 30. FYE is the 
calendar year in which the fiscal year ends (i.e. FYE 2017 covers the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2017). 

GPCD Gallons per capita/person per day 

GPD Gallons per day 

I&I Inflow and infiltration 
IRWD Irvine Ranch Water District  

M1 Manual 
“Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and Charges: Manual of Water Supply Practices 
M1," published by AWWA 

MFR Multifamily Residential 
MG Million gallons 

MGD Million gallons per day 

mg/L Milligrams per liter 
O&M Operations and Maintenance 

OCSD Orange County Sanitation District  

PAYGO Pay-As-You-Go Capital Funding 
SAWPA Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority 

SFR Single Family Residential Customer 

Sq. Ft. Square feet 
TSS Total suspended solids 

WEF Water Environment Federation 
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1 Introduction 

1.1   Purpose 

Orange County Sanitation District (District or OCSD) retained Carollo Engineers, Inc., (Carollo) to conduct a five-

year financial review and cost of service rate study (Study) for the District’s rates, fees, and charges, covering 

fiscal years ending (FYE) 2019 through 2023. The Study evaluated the District’s wastewater utility revenue needs, 

and developed sewer service rates and wastewater capital facilities capacity charges to equitably distribute costs 

among utility customers. This report outlines the baseline assumptions, methodologies used, and 

recommendations and results of Carollo’s analysis. 

1.2   Scope of Work and Deliverables 

The District outlined a scope of work for Carollo’s analysis that covered several important topics and key 

deliverables. 

1.2.1   Project Tasks 

Allocation of Unit Cost Expenditures 

OCSD has historically allocated costs to its three 
chief treatment criteria—Flow, Biochemical Oxygen 

Demand (BOD), and Total Suspended Solids (TSS). 

Each of the District’s costs can be allocated in part 

or in whole to these three categories, and the 

subsequent cost allocations form the basis of 

individual rates for distinct parcel types. 

Carollo’s analysis has reviewed the District’s 

operations and maintenance budget (O&M), capital 

improvement plan (CIP), current plant-in-service, 

and debt service to allocate the District’s cost 

drivers to these three treatment constituents. 

Five-Year Financial Projection 

Carollo reviewed the District’s proposed FYE 2018 

operating budget and CIP, and tested the 

reasonableness of the District’s rates to cover these 

funding needs. Where needed, revenue adjustments 

are recommended. 

Capital Facility Capacity Charges Calculation 

The District is concluding a Facilities Master Plan 
that outlines needed capital projects throughout the 

collection system and the two treatment plants. 

With this new data for needed facilities upgrades, 

repairs, and rehabilitation, the District is initiating a 

recalculation of its fees for connecting to the 

District’s system. These fees are calculated based on 

the projected funding needs for the next several 

decades, and the corresponding customer growth 

projections, and help fund past and future capital 

projects. 

Rebate Process Review 

The District maintains a rebate process for 

commercial customers able to provide evidence that 

their actual demand (typically based on water 

consumption) deviates from the District’s adopted 

rate ordinance use code assumptions. Each use type 

has an estimated flow and loading associated with 

it. If a customer is able to show that their system 

usage is below these estimates, the District provides 

a rebate for that portion of the flow. 

Over the last several years, the historic statewide 

drought has resulted in substantially reduced flows 

across OCSD’s service area. Subsequently, 

numerous commercial customers have applied for 

and received rebates by showing their reduced 

potable water bills—typically on the order of 20 

percent or greater below the District’s estimates. 

This trend has had a substantial financial impact on 

the District, spurring the need for a review of this 

process. 
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Public School Fee Review 

The District requested that Carollo review the 

current rate structure for public schools. The District 

currently charges public schools by school district, 

based on average daily attendance (ADA). Private 

schools, colleges, and some other educational 

institutions are billed based on 1,000 square feet, 

like all of OCSD’s other commercial customers. 

Carollo has reviewed the efficacy of this rate 

structure and has collected data on methods used 

by peer agencies. 

Use Code and Loading Factor Review 

Related to the District’s request to review the rebate 

process, Carollo is also reviewing the District’s 

assumptions for flow and loadings for each parcel 

use type. This has been an ongoing process, and is 

concurrent with other efforts at the state level to 

reassess estimates for flow and loadings by parcel 

use type. This report includes data analysis results 

and recommendations for updated use type 

estimates. 

Miscellaneous Fee Calculation 

The District requested that Carollo review and 

validate various miscellaneous fees for service. 

Many of these fees cover permitting applications, 

such as waste hauler and fats, oils, and grease 

(FOG). 

Rate Survey 

To provide additional context and comparison, 
Carollo has developed a rate survey of peer 

agencies. While every agency has different 

operational, capital, and funding circumstances that 

should be considered, a rate survey is useful for 

identifying effective rate structure alternatives. 

1.3   Project Findings and Recommendations 

Based on the analyses performed for this rate study, Carollo recommends the following: 

• Increase the regional user rate 1.2 percent, from $331.00 to $335.00 per equivalent dwelling unit (EDU) in 

FY 2019.  

• Following the FY 2019 adjustment, it is recommended that OCSD implement additional annual 

adjustments of 1.2 percent for the subsequent four years (through FY 2023). 

• Over the proposed five-year recommendation, update the industrial rates based on unit costs developed 

though this analysis.  

• In line with staff recommendations, during the forecasted period, the District is projected to draw upon 

available reserves, reducing reserves to its policy target levels. This approach is recommended to avoid 

larger annual rate increases. As the District anticipates reducing reserve levels to fund continued capital 

investment, all recommendations should be reviewed and updated periodically to confirm continued 

compliance with the District’s Reserve Policy. 

• Wastewater customers may request a rate adjustment by providing water consumption records that 

demonstrate lower sewer discharge levels than defined without the District ’s ordinance (Ordinance No. 

OCSD-41). The District should consider implementing a loadings criteria (sampling) for rate adjustments, 

rather than merely basing the adjustment on water meter information. This would require the customer 

to perform and pay for discharge sampling and provide the District with results prior to a rate charge 

adjustment. The current District ordinance allows sampling information to be required under Article II – 

Section 2.03B. 

• Over a five-year period, it is recommended the District increase the residential Capital Facilities Capacity 

Charge (CFCC) from $3,855 to $5,719 per EDU, and increase the commercial-industrial CFCC from $2,000 

to $3,639 per 1,000 square feet by FY 2023.  

• Over a five-year period, gradually increase the Supplemental Capital Facilities Capacity Charge to 

$0.001996 per gallon, $0.481 per lbs. of BOD, and $0.271 per lbs. of TSS by FY 2023.   
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• Adjust the fee rebate program to require that flow and loadings data be provided by applicants in order 

to receive a rebate on the full fee. Otherwise, applicants that only provide flow data should only be 

rebated on the flow portion of their fee. 

• Additional recommended changes to the rebate program include implementing a flow reduction 

threshold in order to process an application, and setting a lower flow assumption for parcels with 

significant square footage. 

1.4   Background 

1.4.1   About Orange County Sanitation District 

Formed in 1948, OCSD provides wastewater collection, treatment, and 
disposal for approximately 2.6 million residents and businesses in 

central and northwest Orange County. OCSD is a special district that is 

governed by a Board of Directors consisting of 25 board members 

appointed from 20 cities, two sanitary districts, two water districts, and 

one representative from the Orange County Board of Supervisors. The 

District’s service area spans 479 square miles, and includes nearly 400 

miles of pipes and 15 pump stations to convey wastewater to its two 

wastewater treatment/reclamation plants, which collectively treated 

approximately 188 million gallons per day (MGD) in FYE 2017. The 

District also treats flow and loadings from Irvine Ranch Water District 

and the Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority.   

Since the last rate study review, in 2016, OCSD transferred 176 miles of 

local sewers serving parts of Tustin and the unincorporated area of 

Orange County to East Orange County Water District. 

1.5   Project Drivers 

Financial Feasibility 

First, the rate study can be useful to affirm revenue requirements, and test if current rates will meet funding 

needs (both operational and capital). This analysis uses a multi-step approach to test the resiliency and feasibility 

of the rate structure, looking at cash flow, reserve balances, and bond coverage.  

Legal Compliance 

Second, cost drivers change over time and it is necessary to regularly revisit the allocation of costs to specific rate 
elements. The District periodically initiates cost of service analyses, typically every three to five years, in order to 

review the alignment of costs with rates and charges. In the State of California, water and wastewater agencies 

must establish rates in accordance with the substantive requirements defined by California Constitution Article 

XIII D, Section 6, commonly referred to as Proposition 218. Therefore, when cost drivers change, OCSD must test 

the reasonableness of the current rates for each customer. 

In light of the requirements of Proposition 218, the goal of this report and the underlying analysis is therefore 

twofold: 

1. Outline the nexus of costs with the corresponding rates and fees that fund those costs  

2. Discuss the strategic goals and initiatives supported by the District ’s rates and fees 

Figure 1 OCSD Service Area and Cities 
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While this document does not establish any legal opinions on behalf of either Carollo or OCSD, the analysis in the 

study has been conducted based on the review and interpretation of these stated legal guidelines, as well as 

relevant case law. 

1.6   Organization of this Report 

This report is organized into seven chapters in order to address each of the District ’s scope items for this project. 

• Baseline Data and Assumptions 

• Revenue Requirements and Financial Forecast  

• Cost of Service Analysis and Rate Design 

• Peer Rate Survey 

• Capital Facilities Capacity Charge 

• Miscellaneous Fees 

• Rebate Procedures Review 

Each chapter builds on analyses and inputs from prior chapters, but is intended to address each scope item in a 

standalone section. 
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2 Baseline Data and Assumptions 

2.1   System Profile and Planning Assumptions 

2.1.1   Current Rate Approach 

The District’s equivalent dwelling unit (EDU) approach provides a straightforward basis for assessing charges for 

wastewater service. Users are billed a flat wastewater service charge based on the property-use classification 

maintained by the County Assessor. The District maintains a listing of average flow and wastewater strength 

discharges for each property type, which is used to develop the user rates. The single-family residential (SFR) user 

rate is based on typical flow and loadings for an average 3-bedroom home and serves as the base rate to calculate 

rates for other users. Multi-family residential users are charged 70 percent per unit of the SFR rate. Commercial 

and the majority of industrial users are charged a percentage of the SFR rate as specified in the Fees and Charges 

Ordinance, Ordinance No. OCSD-41. These use factors are based on the average flow and strength 

characteristics for the type of property, charged on a 1,000-square-foot basis. Users with unusually high flows 

and/or strength of wastewater, known as “Permit Users,” pay individually calculated charges, based on measured 

wastewater flows and strengths. The District currently has 114 different residential and commercial use code 

rates, which are outlined in the appendix of this report. 

2.1.1.1   Current Rates  

The full rate schedule is outlined in the appendix of this report, with the annual rate per EDU for each use code 

summarized. The baseline SFR rate that is adjusted based on the appropriate EDU factor is $331 annually for FYE 

2018, up from $327 and $322 in FYE 2017 and FYE 2016. 

Permitted dischargers that have flows and loadings inconsistent with any standard use code—typically industrial 

dischargers with a unique effluent profile—are billed on a unit constituent basis. For FYE 2018, flow is billed at 

$1,377.56 per million gallons, while BOD and TSS are billed at $654.79 and $696.47 per thousand pounds, 

respectively. 

Table 1 OCSD FYE 2017 and FYE 2018 Sewer Service Charges and Industrial Rates 

Rate FYE 2017 FYE 2018 (Current) 

Residential Annual Service Charges 

SFR (1 EDU) (1) $327.00 $331.00 

MFR (0.7 EDU) 228.90 231.70 

Class I and II Permittee and Special Purpose Discharge Permittee Rates 

Flow (per MG) 1,361.09 1,377.56 

BOD (per thousand lbs.) 646.96 654.79 

TSS (per thousand lbs.) 688.15 696.47 

Notes: 
(1) Commercial rates are scaled based on the EDU factor for a given use type, and the building square footage. The use codes and 

corresponding EDUs are found in the appendix.  
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2.1.2   Equivalent Dwelling Units 

An EDU is an industry standard method of developing rates and fees for wastewater service. An EDU measures 

the relative demand of a parcel of a given use type compared with a single-family residential parcel, taking into 

account the flow, BOD, and TSS demands of a typical parcel of that use type. EDUs for commerc ial customers are 

expressed in 1,000 square feet. 

In FYE 2018, OCSD began the year with approximately 925,000 residential and commercial EDUs, with 

approximately 2,700 additional EDUs projected by the end of the year. Modest growth of 0.3 percent annually is 

projected through the study planning horizon. In addition, the District has approximately 45,000 industrial EDUs. 

No growth is projected. The five-year forecast of EDUs is outlined in Table 2. 

Table 2 Projected Residential and Commercial EDUs 

Class FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

Residential  527,867   529,451   531,039   532,632   534,230   535,833  

 Added EDUs  1,584   1,588   1,593   1,598   1,603   1,607  

Commercial EDUs  394,316   395,499   396,686   397,876   399,069   400,266  

 Added EDUs  1,183   1,186   1,190   1,194   1,197   1,201  

Subtotal   924,950   927,725   930,508   933,300   936,099  938,908 

Industrial EDUs  44,981   44,981   44,981   44,981   44,981  44,981 

Added EDUs  -    -    -    -    -   - 

Total  969,931   972,706   975,489   978,281   981,080  983,889 

2.1.3   Flow and Loadings Projections 

2.1.3.1   District Service Area  

California has experienced significant drought over the past five years. While winter 2017 brought higher than 

average precipitation throughout the state, residents and businesses have been slow to reverse the substantial 

conservation efforts that were undertaken. In many areas of California, water demand fell by more than 30 

percent. While most of that conservation occurred outdoors, wastewater flows were similarly affected. In 2005, 

the District’s two plants treated a combined 244 MGD on average from the OCSD service area1; by 2014, influent 

flow had fallen by nearly 20 percent to 198 MGD, followed by an additional 5 percent the next year to 188 MGD. 

This decrease was in spite of service area population growth of approximately 87,000 people (4 percent) over 

those ten years. Based on these factors, household gallons per person per day (GPCD) fell from 100 GPCD in 

2005, to 75 GPCD in 2015. 

Going forward, the OCSD service area population is expected to grow modestly, at 0.5 percent annually through 

2020, and then slower at 0.3 percent beyond that. Additional conservation is expected, decreasing influent flows 

by 0.5 percent annually, and bringing GPCD down to 70 GPCD by 2022.  

                                                             
1 Excludes any flows from IRWD or SAWPA 
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Figure 2 Historical and Forecasted Tributary Flows (MGD) 

 

Despite the ongoing drop in flow, total pounds of BOD and TSS have remained relatively consistent and have not 

shown a discernible trend either up or down. Therefore, the current pound per day observation remains 

unchanged and reflects an overall increase in concentrations.  

2.1.3.2   IRWD and SAWPA 

Flows from IRWD have declined sharply in recent years, due to additional recycled water treatment capacity at 

IRWD facilities. In 2008, IRWD conveyed over 10 MGD of raw sewage flows to OCSD facilities, but conveyed only 

4 MGD the following year. In 2015, IRWD raw sewage flows had fallen to 2 MGD. In addition to the raw sewage 

flows, IRWD conveys sludge to OCSD facilities. However, due to additional solids handling facilities projected to 

be completed in late 2017, IRWD will soon no longer send sludge to OCSD. No change to BOD or TSS is expected 

from the raw sewage flow. 

SAWPA sends wastewater flows from the Inland Empire region to OCSD facilities for treatment in order to 

protect Orange County’s groundwater resources. SAWPA’s brine line primarily delivers concentrated byproducts 

from groundwater desalter facilities, but also carries wastewater discharge from several Inland Empire 

wastewater agencies. SAWPA has contracted 17 MGD of treatment capacity at OCSD facilities, and may 

discharge up to 30 MGD into the brine line. Influent flows have held relatively consistent , at an average of 11 MGD 

over the last decade, and are projected to grow modestly in the years ahead. 

2.1.3.3   Urban Runoff 

OCSD also takes and treats drainage diversion flows from 19 local diversion systems within the OCSD service 
area. For 2015, average flow was 1.5 MGD. BOD and TSS loads from this flow are minimal and assumed to be 

negligible for any projections.  
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Table 3 Projected Influent Flow 

Influent Flow (MGD) CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 CY 2022 

OCSD 168.4 167.6 166.7 165.8 164.6 163.5 

IRWD 5.5 5.7 5.9 6.1 6.3 6.5 

SAWPA 13.0 13.5 14.0 14.5 15.0 15.9 

Urban Runoff 2.4 2.8 3.3 3.7 4.1 4.5 

Total 189.4 189.6 189.8 190.1 190.0 190.3 

Table 4 Projected BOD Loads 

BOD (lbs / day) CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 CY 2022 

OCSD  435,267   437,309   439,351   441,391   442,650   443,902  

IRWD – Raw Sewage  11,468   11,857   12,261   12,677   13,633   14,096  

IRWD – Sludge 37,000 18,000     

SAWPA  5,244   5,484   5,723   5,963   6,186   6,408  

Total  488,978   472,650   457,334   460,031   462,468   464,406  

Table 5 Projected TSS Loads 

TSS (lbs / day) CY 2017 CY 2018 CY 2019 CY 2020 CY 2021 CY 2022 

OCSD  487,714   490,002   492,290   494,576   495,987   497,390  

IRWD – Raw Sewage  13,761   14,229   14,713   15,213   16,254   16,807  

IRWD – Sludge  71,000   36,000   -     -     -     -    

SAWPA  12,585   13,161   13,736   14,311   14,845   15,379  

Total  585,060   553,392   520,739   524,100   527,087   529,576  

2.2   Cost Allocation Data 

The purpose of a cost of service analysis is to provide a rational basis for distributing the full costs of the District ’s 

utility service to each class or customer in proportion to the demands they place on the system. Detailed cost 

allocations help determine the degree of equity that can be achieved in the design of the resulting unit rates. This 

analysis yields an appropriate method for allocating costs, which could be sustained unless substantial changes in 

cost drivers or customer discharge patterns occur. 

The Functional Cost Allocation apportions the annual revenue requirement for a select test year by major 

function of the utility. For the District, the primary functions are related to flow, BOD, and TSS. These function 

cost pools include the system's existing operations and maintenance (O&M) expenditures, debt service, and rate-

funded capital costs. 

It is necessary to allocate costs to billable constituents that can be both measured at the treatment facilities and 
estimated or measured for each user. O&M expenditures and the capital cost for each project were assigned to 
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each associated billable constituents: flow and strength (BOD and TSS). The District applies separate allocations 

for O&M and capital costs in order to more accurately reflect appropriate cost relationships. This process allows 

the District to recover a proportionate share of capital and O&M costs from each user through the annual user 

rate based on flow and loading discharges. 

Although, the wastewater system has undergone significant change, the unit process allocations presented in the 

1998 Determination of Financial Rates and Charges Report are still applicable and provide a strong foundation for 

establishing cost-of-service based rates. At the time of this study, the District conducted an extensive review of 

the District’s costs and respective relationship to flow, BOD, and TSS. For each cost category (e.g., collection and 

diversion), a defined percentage share of those costs are allocated to flow, BOD, and TSS. Over time, the 

expenditures associated with each cost category change, but the percentage allocations to billable constituents 

should remain consistent. The allocation percentages for O&M are presented in Table 6 and the allocations for 

capital costs by unit process are presented in Table 7. The percentages vary slightly between O&M and capital to 

reflect the differences in design, sizing, and operational criteria. In particular, the allocations for the primary and 

secondary sedimentation categories differ between O&M and capital allocations because operating costs are 

driven by different functions than the capital costs. 

Table 6 Functional Cost Allocation Categories and Percentages – O&M 

Category Flow BOD TSS 

Collection 90% 5% 5% 

Interplant 90% 5% 5% 

Headworks 75% 5% 20% 

Primary Sedimentation 15% 25% 60% 

Activated Sludge Process  100%  

Oxygen Activated Sludge Process  100%  

Blower Equipment and Structures  100%  

Aeration Equipment and Structures  100%  

Trickling Filters  100%  

Secondary Sedimentation  100%  

Sludge Thickening  25% 75% 

Digestion  25% 75% 

Solids Handling  25% 75% 

Solids Disposal  45% 55% 

Effluent Disposal 100%   
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Table 7 Functional Cost Allocation Categories and Percentages - Capital 

Category Flow BOD TSS 

Collection 90% 10%  

Interplant 90% 10%  

Headworks 75% 5% 20% 

Primary Sedimentation  30% 70% 

Activated Sludge Process  100%  

Oxygen Activated Sludge Process  100%  

Blower Equipment and Structures  100%  

Aeration Equipment and Structures  100%  

Trickling Filters  100%  

Secondary Sedimentation  70% 30% 

Sludge Thickening  25% 75% 

Digestion  25% 75% 

Solids Handling  25% 75% 

Solids Disposal  45% 55% 

Effluent Disposal 100%   
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3 Revenue Requirement and Financial Forecast 

3.1   Revenue Requirement Analysis 

The revenue requirement analysis determines the amount of rate revenue needed in a given year to meet a 

utility’s expected financial obligations. Three separate tests must be met in order for rates to be sufficient: 

1. Cash Flow Test: Annual utility revenues must be adequate to meet general cash needs (operating 

expenses) 

2. Bond Coverage Test: Annual rate revenues must satisfy debt coverage obligations on Certificates of 

Participation (COPs) 

3. Reserve Test: End of year reserve balances must meet minimum balance requirements 

Revenues must be sufficient to satisfy all three tests. If revenues are found to be deficient through one or a 

combination of tests, then the greater deficiency (shortfall) drives the rate increase. With the exception of the 

bond coverage test, the District could elect to limit the revenue adjustments, however, the bond coverage is a 

legal obligation.  

3.1.1   Operational Funding Sources and Needs 

3.1.1.1   Revenue Sources  

User Rates 

User rate revenue is the District’s largest source of revenue, totaling approximately $291.2 million budgeted in 

FYE 2018. By FYE 2023, user rate revenue is projected to be $294.9 million, assuming no adjustments to the 

current rates. 

Capital Facilities Capacity Charges 

Capital Facilities Capacity Charges (CFCCs) are a one-time charge imposed on new development or expansion of 
existing users that increase demand on the system. They provide for equitable cost recovery of growth related 

costs. Based on the projected growth, CFCC revenue is expected to increase from $9.9 million in FYE 2018 to 

$11.2 million in FY 2022 (with assumed annual inflationary adjustments). 

Tax Revenues 

The District received approximately 21 percent of its total budgeted revenue for FYE 2017, or $93.7 million, in 

property tax revenue from Orange County. This source of revenue has grown beyond projection in recent years as 

the economy and housing market has recovered. The previous rate analysis assumed that property tax revenue 

would not surpass $90 million until FYE 2021, chiefly due to the severe impact that the economic recession had 

on Orange County and surrounding regions. Based on input from staff, the forecast assumes continued 5 percent 

annual growth in its property tax revenue. 

Debt Financing 

Based on the on-going update to the District’s Master Plan, the forecasted CIP is focused on rehabilitation and 

replacement (R&R) projects primarily, which the District intends to fund mostly through a mixture of direct rate 

funding and use of reserves. Consequently, the District does not anticipate issuing additional debt during the 

forecast period of this analysis.  
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The District has contractual covenants within the existing COP indenture agreements, which require minimum 
coverage ratios of 1.25 times. The coverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of net annual revenues available for 

debt service payments to total annual debt service requirements. The District is projected to maintain a minimum 

bond coverage ratio of 2.3 over the forecast period. 

3.2   Cash Flow and Debt Coverage Tests 

The cash flow test identifies projected cash requirements in each given year. Cash requirements include O&M 

expenses, debt service payments, policy-driven additions to working capital, miscellaneous capital outlays, 

replacement funding, and rate-funded capital expenditures. These expenses are compared to total annual 

projected revenues. Shortfalls are then used to estimate needed rate increases. 

The bond coverage test measures the ability of a utility to meet legal and policy-driven revenue obligations. 
Given the District’s existing debt obligations, it is required to collect sufficient funds through rates to meet all 

ongoing O&M expenses, as well as 1.25 times the total debt-service requirements due in a year. The coverage 

factor is set by policy in order to maintain the District ’s current bond rating. As the District continues its pay-as-

you-go capital-replacement cycle, the bond coverage test will not be a driver of rate increases. 
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Table 8 Projected Revenues and Expenses with Revenue Increases 

Budget Category (1) FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

Operating Revenues       

General User Fees  $306.2   $307.0   $307.8   $308.7   $309.6   $310.6  

Permitted User Fees  12.9   12.9   12.9   12.9   12.9   12.9  

IRWD O&M and Solids 
Assessments 

 10.4   10.8   11.1   11.5   11.8   12.2  

SAWPA Assessments  3.3   3.4   3.5   3.6   3.7   3.8  

Interest Revenues  8.3   8.6   8.9   9.2   9.5   9.8  

Subtotal  $341.1   $342.7   $344.2   $345.9   $347.6   $349.3  

       

Non-Operating Revenues        

Property Taxes  $93.7   $98.3   $103.3   $108.4   $113.9   $119.5  

Capital Facilities Capacity 
Charges 

 9.9   10.2   10.5   10.9   11.2   11.6  

Other Non-Operating 
Revenues (2) 

 8.1   10.5   15.7   16.1   24.8   24.5  

IRWD Capital Assessment  5.4   5.5   5.7   5.9   6.1   6.3  

Total Revenues  $458.2   $467.3   $479.5   $487.2   $503.6   $511.3  

       

O&M  $166.9   $161.9   $167.1   $172.5   $178.0   $183.7  

CIP   154.9   179.9   183.6   261.7   317.0   333.0  

Debt Service  82.0   80.5   80.0   76.0   72.5   72.5  

Other Funding Requirements (2)  3.6   2.4   2.4   2.4   2.4   2.4  

Total Revenue Requirements   $407.4   $424.7   $433.0   $512.6   $569.8   $591.5  

       

Cash Flow  $50.7   $42.6   $46.4   $(25.4)  $(66.3)  $(80.2) 

Debt Service Coverage (3) 3.4x 3.7x 3.8x 4.0x 4.3x 4.4x 

Notes: 
(1) All figures are in million dollars. No revenue increases are included in these figures.  
(2) Includes equity purchases from RA-7 and/or RA-14, and share of SFI requirements.  

(3) Calculated as revenues, less CFCC revenue and O&M, divided by debt service.  

3.3   Reserve Fund Test 

The reserve test is met through the cash flow test in many instances if reserve funding is included as a policy-

driven expense. Nonetheless, it is helpful to consider this test separately, given the complex funding needs an 

individual agency maintains, including capital, operating, and rate stabilization reserves as examples. The District 
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maintains several reserve funds to support its capital programs, enable consistent funding of operations and 

maintenance, and respond to unexpected funding needs, such as emergency repairs. 

Table 9 outlines the reserve fund targets with each individual policy objective delineated, and   
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Table 10 forecasts the District’s end of year reserve balances. For FYE 2018, the District must maintain a 

minimum reserve balance of $530.5 million at the end of the fiscal year. Based on the results of the cash flow 

analysis, and accounting for capital project funding and revenue from the CFCC, the District is projected to 

exceed its reserve balance objective by $53.0 million. The District is projected to fall short of its reserve targets 

without any revenue increases.  

Table 9 Reserve Balance Objectives 

Reserve Fund (1) FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

Cash Flow Reserve       

50% Operating Expenditures $83.5  $81.0  $83.6  $86.2  $89.0  $91.8  

100% Next Year AUG COP Svc.  82.0   80.5   80.0   76.0   72.5   72.5  

Operating Contingency  -     -     -     -     -     -    

10% Operating Expenditures  16.7   16.2   16.7   17.2   17.8   18.4  

Capital Improvement Reserve  -     -     -     -     -     -    

50% Annual Average CIP  117.8   122.8   128.5   134.0   141.0   143.0  

Self-Insurance  57.0   57.0   57.0   57.0   57.0   57.0  

Debt Service Reserve  -     -     -     -     -     -    

10% of Outstanding COPs  100.5   96.6   92.5   88.7   85.1   81.4  

less: Reserve for Debt 
Retirement 

 -     -     -     -     -     -    

Repl & Refurb @ 2%/yr  66.0   67.3   68.6   70.0   71.4   72.8  

Total Reserve Funds Target $523.4  $521.3  $526.9  $529.2  $533.8  $536.9  

Notes: 
(1) All figures are in million dollars. 
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Table 10 Reserve Balance Forecast 

Reserve Fund (1) FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

Beginning Reserve Balance $535.3  $586.0  $628.6  $675.0  $649.6  $583.4  

CFCC Revenue  9.9   10.2   10.5   10.9   11.2   11.6  

Capital Funding  (154.9)  (179.9)  (183.6)  (261.7)  (317.0)  (333.0) 

Cash Flow from O&M  195.7   212.3   219.5   225.5   239.5   241.1  

End of Year Balance $586.0  $628.6  $675.0  $649.6  $583.4  $503.1  

Over/(Under) Target $62.6  $107.3  $148.1  $120.4  $49.6  ($33.8) 

Notes: 
(1) All figures are in million dollars. 

3.4   Recommended Revenue Requirements 

Based on the review of the three financial tests, the District is projected to collect sufficient revenue to fund 

operations and capital in the near-term. With modest inflationary increases of 1.2 percent annually, the District 

will be above the aggregate reserve targeted amount through FYE 2022, and is projected to fall slightly under by 

$33.8 million, or 6.3 percent, in FYE 2023. This will be the starting point in future cash flow and sewer rate 

analyses. 
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4 Cost of Service Analysis and Rate Design 

The rate design analysis takes a four 

step approach, building off of the 

financial forecast and baseline data 

inputs discussed above. The first 

step—Revenue Needs Forecast—

has largely been completed, and 

forms the basis of the Functional 

Cost Allocation and Unit Cost 

Calculation processes. 

4.1   Revenue Needs Forecast 

Section 3 of this report outlined 

much of the data that will be used in 

this step. The revenue needs are the 

amount of revenues that must be 

recovered through user rates and 

permit user charges in order to 

cover annual expenditures, less 

any offsetting revenues. 

Offsetting revenues can include 

interest earnings, IRWD and SAWPA payments, and other non-operating revenues. Expenditures and offsetting 

revenues for the forecast period are presented in Table 11. The 1.2 percent revenue increase recommended in the 

prior section is included in the Policy Driven Rate Increases/(Decreases) line item. 

  

•Define the annual revenue that must be recovered from user 
rates and permit users.

Revenue Needs Forecast

•Determine the percentage allocation of O&M and capital costs 
to the billable constituents (flow, BOD, and TSS), based upon 
the existing allocation methodology.

Functional Cost Allocation

•Develop unit costs for each billable constituent by dividing the 
total cost allocated to that constituent by the total wastewater 
flow or loadings of that constituent.

Unit Cost Calculation

•Develop rates for each customer category by applying unit costs 
to estimated flows and related loadings for each category.

Customer Category Rate Design

Figure 3 Step-by-Step Approach to Cost of Service and Rate Design Process 
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Table 11 FYE 2019 Revenue Needs Forecast 

Expense Item FYE 2019 Forecast 

Ongoing Operating Expenses   

Operating Expenses  $172.3  

Other Operating Expenses   

Self-Insurance  2.8  

Debt Service  80.5  

Bond Coverage (above Cash Flow Needs)  -    

Policy Driven Rate Increases / (Decreases)  192.7  

Less Off-Setting Revenues  

Revenues from other Districts and Urban Runoff  (10.8) 

Other Operating Revenues  (10.7) 

Non-Operating Revenues  (96.7) 

Intra-District Revenues  -    

Local Sewer Operating Revenue  (0.01) 

Self-Insurance  (2.8) 

Total Revenue Needs   $327.3  

For FYE 2019, the District must raise $327.3 million in rate revenue to meet the revenue needs forecast. This 

target will be allocated to each of the unit constituents of the rate and form the basis of the rate calculation.  

4.2   Functional Cost Allocation 

Table 12 outlines the District’s four primary cost allocation categories. The percentage allocation of treatment 

expenditures was based upon an analysis of the District ’s unit process expenditures and the allocation of each line 

item expense to one of the unit processes presented in Table 6. For instance, expenses related to preliminary 

treatment at Plant #1 were allocated to the Headworks category, with 75, 5, and 20 percent of those costs 

allocated to flow, BOD, and TSS, respectively. The final treatment expenditures percentages in Table 12 are the 

average of these expense allocations, weighted based on the magnitude of the cost. 

Plant-in-service is also a weighted allocation, based on the District ’s land, systems, and other assets. For instance, 

the collection and treatment systems, the effluent and solids disposal assets, and other system assets are 

included in this allocation. 

The CIP category is based on an allocation of the District ’s capital projects among flow, BOD, and TSS, based on 
the factors outlined Table 7. Like the treatment expenditures, each project was matched with the appropriate 

unit process of the OCSD system and allocated accordingly, weighted by total cost. 

A fourth allocation category is included in the cost allocation factors. “As All Others” is used for expenses and 

projects that do not benefit a single or majority unit process and affect multiple processes, or they are used for 

administrative or other departments such as IT that cannot be easily allocated across the three primary factors. 

At the end of the cost allocation process, these costs are reallocated based on the results of all other cost drivers.  
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Table 12 Cost Allocation Percentage Bases 

Allocation Item Flow BOD TSS 

Treatment Expenditures 26.7% 29.7% 43.6% 

Plant-in-Service 34.0% 29.9% 36.1% 

20 year CIP 34.9% 29.3% 35.7% 

All Others 31.9% 31.9% 36.2% 

Compared with the results of the previous rate study completed in 2013, the treatment expenditures are mostly 

unchanged (25, 31, and 44 percent to flow, BOD, and TSS, respectively, in 2013), while the CIP and plant -in-

service have shifted from BOD to more TSS-driven projects and costs. More projects in the latest capital plan are 

dedicated to the sludge thickening, digestion, and solids handling and disposal processes, which have a larger 

allocation to TSS. 

  



COST OF SERVICE STUDY| REPORT | ORANGE COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

 SEPTEMBER 2018| 4-4 

Table 13 Cost Allocation Results 

Expenditure Item (1) FYE 2019 Flow BOD TSS Allocation Basis 

Ongoing Operating Expenses       

Operating Expenses  172.3  27% 30% 44% As Treatment 
Expenditures 

Other Operating Expenses   -    0% 0% 0%  

Self-Insurance  2.8  34% 30% 36% As Plant-in-Service 

New Debt Service  -    35% 29% 36% Total CIP 

Existing Debt Service  80.5  38% 41% 21% 2013 Debt Service 
Weighting 

Miscellaneous Capital  -    35% 29% 36% As CIP 

Replacement Funding  -    34% 30% 36% As Plant-in-Service 

Rate Funded Capital Improvements  -    35% 29% 36% Total CIP 

Bond Coverage (above Cash Flow Needs)  -    35% 29% 36% Total CIP 

Policy Driven Rate Increases (Decreases)  192.7  34% 30% 36% As Plant-in-Service 

Less Off-Setting Revenues      

Revenues from other Districts and Urban 
Runoff 

 (10.8) 0% 0% 0% As all others 

Other Operating Revenues  (10.7) 0% 0% 0% As all others 

Non-Operating Revenues  (96.7) 0% 0% 0% As all others 

Intra-District Revenues  -    0% 0% 0% As all others 

Local Sewer Operating Revenue  (0.01) 0% 0% 0% As all others 

Self-Insurance  (2.8) 0% 0% 0% As all others 

Total (with “As All Others” reallocated)  327.3   104.4   104.3   118.6   -    

Percentage Total  -    31.9% 31.9% 36.2%  -    

Notes: 
(1) All dollar figures are in millions. 

 

The District’s O&M operating costs are largely driven by TSS (44 percent), and then BOD (30 percent), while flow 

related costs take a much larger portion of allocated capital and plant -in-service line items. The overall resulting 

allocation of 32, 32, and 36 percent to flow, BOD, and TSS, respectively, represents a noticeable shift compared 

with the previous cost of service study (36, 33, and 31 percent, respectively to flow, BOD, and TSS).  

As discussed above, this largely due to a shift in capital spending needs into the future, with more capital projects 

planned supporting functions directly related to TSS removal, such as secondary sedimentation, solids handling 

and disposal, and digestion, rather than more BOD or flow oriented processes, such as primary sedimentation, 

headworks, or activated sludge processes. 
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4.3   Unit Cost Calculation 

Taking the allocated costs to flow, BOD, and TSS from Table 13, the unit cost calculation assigns a unit cost to 

each of those three categories based on the projected demand for the year. The results of this calculation are 

found in Table 14.  

Table 14 Unit Cost Calculation of FYE 2019 Rates 

Calculation Step Flow BOD TSS 

Cost Allocation (millions) $104.4 $104.3 $118.6 

Annual Demand 66,000 MG  162,000 lbs.  155,900 lbs. 

Unit Cost $1.58 per 1,000 gallons $0.64 per lb. $0.76 per lb. 

Unit Demand per EDU 185 GPD 288 mg/L 290 mg/L 

Annual Demand per EDU 67,500 gallons  162.5 lbs. 163.3 lbs. 

Annual Charge per EDU $106.69 $103.99 $124.09 

Total Annual Charge per EDU $335.00 

Permittee Rate 
$1,580  
per MG 

$640  
per thousand lbs. 

$760 
per thousand lbs. 

The projected rates for the next five years are outlined in Table 15. The per EDU rate increases by 1.2 percent, 

while the flow, BOD, and TSS permittee rates change by 15, -2, and 9 percent , respectively. While new rates have 

been calculated for permittees, the District may elect to phase-in the rate change in order to prevent rate shock 

as it has done in previous years. The rates in Table 15 outline the forecasted rates through FYE 2023.  

Table 15 Five-Year Rate Recommendation 

Rate (1) FYE 2018 (Current) FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

SFR / 1 EDU $331.00   $335.00   $339.00   $343.10   $347.20   $351.40  

Flow ($ / MG) 1,377.56  1,580.00   1,599.30   1,618.61   1,637.91   1,657.22  

BOD ($ / 1,000 lbs.) 654.79  640.00   647.82   655.64   663.46   671.28  

TSS ($ / 1,000 lbs.) 696.47  760.00   769.29   778.57   787.86   797.14  

Notes: 
(1) All figures are in million dollars. 
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5 Peer Rate Survey 

Rate surveys are a helpful tool for agencies to stay aware of the latest industry rate trends, and to see how other 

utilities manage cost recovery. These surveys do have limited usefulness though, and should not be taken as a 

rate target. Surveyed agencies should be reviewed in the context of unique characteristics such as their service 

area size, geography and location, age, and system functions. As such, making comparisons against others 

agencies is challenging and may not reflect OCSD’s system characteristics. Regardless, a comparison survey is an 

important tool to gauge how rates line up with others.  

Carollo surveyed seven “peer” agencies in order to provide a reasonable gauge against OCSD’s rates. Below is a 
brief summary of each agency’s rate structure and key highlights of system. 

5.1   Results of Peer Agency Survey 

5.1.1   East Bay Municipal Utilities District 

EBMUD's wastewater treatment plant provides service for 685,000 people along the eastern shore of San 

Francisco Bay. Similar to OCSD, EBMUD provides secondary treatment for a maximum flow of 168 million gallons 

per day (MGD). Primary treatment is provided for up to 320 MGD. Storage basins provide plant capacity for a 

short-term hydraulic peak of 415 MGD. On average, about 63 million gallons of wastewater is t reated daily. 

EBMUD’s wastewater customers are charged monthly. Residential rates are comprised of a fixed service charge, 
a fixed strength charge, and a variable flow component (per hundred cubic feet or ccf with a max of 9 units). Also, 

included in the bi-monthly charge are unit treatment rates for chemical oxygen demand filtered (CODf) and total 

suspended solids (TSS). 

 Currently, for a single family residential (SFR) customer with one equivalent (EDU), an annual service charge is 

$69.96 and strength charge is $166.20 minimum. Additionally, monthly unit treatment rates are $1.139 per ccf 

(flow), $0.337 per pound of discharge for CODf, and $0.492 per pound for TSS. 

Non-residential customers are assessed a fixed service charge and a variable rate (per ccf) that varies among 36 

different business classifications (similar to OCSD’s use codes). EBMUD is able to assess wastewater charges 

based on water usage as they provide water service in parallel to wastewater service.  

5.1.2   San Francisco Public Utilities District 

SFPUC maintains a 900 mile long combined sewer system and 17 pump stations that collect sewage and storm 

water, transfer the wastewater to the three treatment plants for treatment and discharge it to the San Francisco 

Bay and the Pacific Ocean. While average flow is over 80 MGD, San Francisco is the only coastal city in California 

with a combined sewer system that collects and treats both wastewater and stormwater in the same network of 

pipes – thus it can treat up to 500 MGD during storm events.  

Similar to EBMUD’s rate structure, SFPUC charges water and wastewater fees on a monthly basis. Residential 
customers' wastewater charges are 100 percent flow based. SFPUC recently transitioned from a two-tiered 

volumetric structure to a uniform rate. Non-residential customers are grouped, based on a Standard Industrial 

Classification (SIC) code, into one of twelve SIC groups. Wastewater service charges are calculated by multiplying 

water consumption by an assigned flow factor. The flow factor is the percentage of metered water use returned 

to the sewer system as wastewater.  



COST OF SERVICE STUDY| REPORT | ORANGE COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

 SEPTEMBER 2018| 5-2 

For the purpose of determining applicable charges, the percentage of water use returned to the sewers (flow 
factor) is assumed to be 90 percent for SFR users and non-residential users and 95 percent for multifamily 

residential (MFR) users.  

For SFR customers, wastewater rates are based on typical strengths for domestic wastes with all SFR customers 

designated one dwelling unit per account. Currently, Tier 1 SFR customers have a maximum of four discharge 

units where a discharge unit equals one ccf. The annual Tier 1 charge per discharge unit is $148.80 per dwelling 

unit with a typical customer using 3 ccf per month. 

5.1.3   Eastern Municipal Water District 

EMWD provides wastewater services to approximately 239,000 customers within its service area and currently 

treats approximately 43 million gallons per day of wastewater at its four active regional water reclamation 

facilities, through 1,813 miles of sewer pipelines. 

EMWD is a water and wastewater provider and thus bil ls on a monthly basis in coordination with water usage. 
EMWD’s rates are comprised of two charges, a rate fixed monthly charge for capital projects and a fixed daily 

service charge per EDU. EMWD has several service areas each with a different daily service rate. Annual service 

rates per EDU plus fixed sewer charge per EDU are as follows for SFR customers that are served and billed by 

EMWD: Area 1 is $321.56, Area 2 is $329.59, Area 3 is $331.78, Area 4 is $376.31, and Area 5 is $428.50.  

Residential customers are bil led in “sewer blocks” based on the number of people in a household and pay a 

proportionate rate of a standard EDU. The default rate is based on a 3 -4 person household. 1-2 person households 

are charged 70 percent of the full  residential rate for the appropriate geographic area, while 5-6 and 7+ person 

household are charged 125 and 170 percent, respectively. 

5.1.4   Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District 

Regional San owns and operates the regional wastewater conveyance system and the Sacramento Regional 

Wastewater Treatment Plant located near Elk Grove, California. Regional San’s contributing agencies include the 

Sacramento Area Sewer District and the cities of Folsom, Sacramento and West Sacramento. These agencies 

collect and channel wastewater to Regional San’s interceptor pipelines. Region San serves a population of about 

1.4 million residents in the region. Approximately 130 million gallons of wastewater are treated each day and 

discharged to the Sacramento River. 

SFR customers are charged a flat monthly rate per EDU, and MFR customers are charged per dwelling unit. The 

Regional San monthly basic rate currently encompasses costs for the existing treatment and conveyance process 

as well as the costs for permit-mandated upgrades. Each SFR is charged an annual flat rate of $432 per EDU. 

Commercial customers are charged per adjusted EDU factors stemming from 43 categories and are based on 

Region San-specific loading factors. The commercial categories are charged on a square footage basis, 

station/stall basis, and other similar measures based on the type of business.  

5.1.5   City of Sacramento 

The City of Sacramento provides wastewater service to more than 75,000 customers in the portion of the city that 

is not served by the Sacramento Area Sewer District. The wastewater system consists of combined sewer pipes 

which convey wastewater and storm drain runoff in a single pipe, as well as separated sewer pipes for wastewater 

only. 

The combined sewer system serves many of the older parts of Sacramento, while the separated sewer system 

serves the newer sections of the city. The sewage collected in the wastewater system pipes is pumped to a 

treatment plant in Elk Grove where it is treated and released back to local rivers. The treatment process is 
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performed by the Sacramento Regional County Sanitation District and the City of Sacramento collects the 

charges for this service on the District’s behalf.  

The City of Sacramento customers are billed monthly and the charge is comprised of the minimum unit charge 
and service rate. The minimum unit charge is based on water meter size and monthly metered water use per ccf, 

while the service rate follows an inclining six-block rate structure. For SFR, service rate blocks are based on the 

number of rooms and, for MFR, each dwelling unit is charged the same as an SFR. Currently, an SFR customer 

within Bock 3 is charged a $319.68 annual service rate in addition to the minimum monthly metered water use 

charge of at least $156.96. 

Commercial rates are a fixed/variable hybrid. The City has a commodity rate per CCF ($1.09 for FYE 2018). It also 

has a minimum monthly charge set for each meter size ($22.89 for a 1” meter in FYE 2018), if the customer does 

not use enough water to meet the minimum monthly charge. 

5.1.6   Napa Sanitation District 

The Napa Sanitation District is located in the Napa Valley and provides wastewater collection, treatment and 

disposal services to over 80,000 customers in the City of Napa and surrounding unincorporated areas of Napa 

County. Napa San is an independent special district created by a local community to meet the specific need of 

wastewater treatment and disposal. It treats an average of 10 MGD of wastewater, and produces recycled water 

and biosolids for reuse. 

Napa San charges a fee for connection to the sewer system, and then charges an annual rate for sewer service. 

These rates and fees vary depending on the type of sewer service connections for customers classified as 

residential, commercial, or industrial. 

The sewer service charge is billed annually or monthly for collection and treatment of waste. The charge is based 

on the typical volume and strength of the wastewater generated by a single family home or EDU, where one EDU 

is equivalent to 210 gallons of wastewater per day or 76,650 gallons per year, with a strength factor of 1.0. 

Currently, a single family dwelling with one EDU is assessed $638.10 for an annual sewer service charge. 

For commercial businesses, the sewer service charge is billed annually based on the gallons of potable water used 

in the previous year divided by the product of the strength factor, the current rate per EDU, and 76,650 gallons 

per year. Strength factors are based on the State Water Resources Control Board Revenue Program. For 

industrial businesses, a permit is required to discharge process waste to the sewers. Industrial users are charged 

monthly for a minimum of one service unit plus a sewer use fee based on a multiplier for high-strength flows. 

Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) in mg/L and TSS in mg/L are determined based on a Napa san -specific flow 

factor, strength factor, and current rate per EDU. 

5.1.7   Central Contra Costa Sanitation District 

Central Contra Costa Sanitary District is a special district responsible for the collection and treatment of 

wastewater in a 146 square mile area of central Contra Costa County. Central San collects and cleans an average 

of 32 MGD of water for over 484,000 residents and 3,000 business. 

Sewer service charges are billed annually and rates are based on the customer type. The customer groups are 

residential, commercial/non-industrial, industrial, institutional, and mixed use (parcels with shared water meters). 

Residential customers are only charged a rate per residential unit, while other customers are assessed an 

additional minimum annual charge. Currently, the annual SFR sewer service charge is $530.00 per residential unit.  

Commercial/non-industrial and institutional customers are charged rates per ccf plus their respective minimum 

annual charge. Industrial customers are charged rates that are fixed, per ccf, or per 1,000 pounds. Mixed use 

customers are charged rates per ccf plus a minimum annual charge. 
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A prorated portion of the first year’s Sewer Service Charge is paid within the connection fee based on the month 
that the fee is paid (the sewer service year runs from July through June). Subsequent sewer service charges are 

paid on the county property tax bill.  

5.2   Public School Rate Alternatives 

As part of this survey, Carollo reviewed each agencies approach for billing public schools. As OCSD cannot obtain 
square footage for the schools from the county assessor, as they do for all other non-residential customers), 

public schools are assessed based on average daily attendance (ADA). This information is garnered at the school 

district level and validated by the State. This methodology is only applied to public schools as private schools are 

assessed a methodology consistent with all other commercial uses. According to the results of the survey, the 

annual cost per student varies across agencies. However, the ADA methodology for assessing wastewater fees 

for schools is a very common practice utilized by multiple peer agencies.  
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6 Capital Facilities Capacity Charge 

A Capital Facilities Capacity Charge (CFCC) is a one-time fee paid at the time property is developed and 

connected to the wastewater system. The fees are levied to pay a portion of the District ’s capacity costs and for 

access to capacity in the system. Currently, the District has a CFCC of $3,855 per residential unit (three-bedroom) 

and $2,000 per 1,000 square feet for commercial and industrial users. Under the current industrial use ordinance, 

additional CFCCs, referred to as Supplemental Capacity Facilities Capacity Charges (SCFCC), can be imposed on 

industrial users who place larger than average demands on the system. The CFCC is updated periodically to 

reflect the changes in the value of the wastewater system to which a new customer is connecting.  

Capacity charges are designed to recover a proportionate share of system capacity costs from future users. The 

District’s system currently has unused capacity that is available to serve future users. In addition, the District will 

also continue to maintain, improve, and expand the system with future capital improvements. The CFCC 

methodology implemented by the District in 2006 only accounted for the benefit that future users will receive 

from future improvements. Now that many of those projects are completed, Carollo is reevaluating available 

methodologies.  

In order to provide the wastewater system capacity and resources to serve these customers, OCSD has 

constructed some excess capacity within the existing wastewater system and will be further expanding those 

systems. Consistent with California Government Code §66013, public facilities in existence at the time a charge is 

imposed or charges for new public facilities to be acquired or constructed in the future that are of proportional 

benefit to the person or property being charged. The CFCC, as presented within this report, does not exceed the 

estimated reasonable cost of providing the service for which the CFCC and SCFCC are being imposed and product 

provided directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged. 

Absent such charges, existing customer would be required to bear the burden of all capital costs, including 
capacity related costs, through rates. Consequently, new customer would receive the benefit of sewer 

availability, without themselves paying for that capacity.  

6.1   Approach 

Similar to the District’s sewer service charges, the base CFCC is equal to the capital costs required to support the 

wastewater flow and loadings estimated for an average 3-bedroom single-family residence or per EDU. Other 

residential rates are calculated relative to this base charge, based upon the assumed flows and loadings. 

Commercial and industrial CFCCs are calculated in units of CFCC per 1,000 square feet.  

Permit Users are subject to a supplemental charge based on the expected flows and loadings in excess of the 

maximum allowed under based commercial/industrial CFCCs. The supplemental charge is equal to the unit costs 

of flow, BOD, and SS capacity. Permit Users are also subject to increases in CFCCs should flows and/ or loadings 

significantly exceed the amount of capacity previously allocated and paid for, at the same rate as the 

supplemental charges described above.  

Pursuant to an agreement with IRWD, IRWD is not required to pay CFCCs. In exchange, IRWD provides fund ing to 

the District for the construction costs of certain wastewater collection, transmission, treatment, and disposal 

facilities to be use by IRWD and is obligated to make certain payment to the District for certain service arising 

from the wastewater system (including any standby or availability charges).  
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6.2   Methodology 

Two general types of Capacity Charges are used to recover system costs from new users. There is the system 

Buy-in (or existing cost basis) approach and the Incremental (or future cost basis) approach. Additionally, utilities 

can elect to use a hybrid approach that combines these two approaches. The existing CFCC, last evaluated in 

2006, was calculated using the future costs basis approach.  

While all methods are valid, the best approach is dictated by each system’s specific characteristics. As the District 

has both existing capacity and identified capital needs to support future growth, Carollo recommends that the 

District implement a hybrid approach.  

For the purposes of this study, the term “buy-in component” shall refer to the value of existing system assets (i.e. 

facilities already in service) that may be recovered through the capacity charge. The term “future component” 

shall refer to future facilities (i.e., facilities in the CIP) that may be recovered through the CFCC. 

The buy-in component of the capacity charge is to be based on replacement cost new less depreciation (RCNLD). 

Outstanding debt principal and monetary reserves are also accounted for in this cost basis as described below. 

The future component incorporates the present value (in 2017 dollars) of the District’s CIP. Costs are fairly and 

reasonably spread over both existing and future users by dividing the total system value by the total number of 

EDUs that are projected to receive service through 2036. The methodology for calculating both the System and 

Treatment Capacity Charges is illustrated in Figure 2.1 below:  

 

𝐶𝐹𝐶𝐶 =
𝐴𝑑𝑗𝑢𝑠𝑡𝑒𝑑  𝑅𝐶𝑁𝐿𝐷 𝑜𝑓 𝐸𝑥𝑖𝑠𝑡𝑖𝑛𝑔 𝑆𝑦𝑠𝑡𝑒𝑚 + 𝑃𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝑉𝑎𝑙𝑢𝑒  𝑜𝑓 𝐹𝑢𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑒  𝐶𝐼𝑃

𝐸𝑥𝑖𝑠𝑡𝑖𝑛𝑔 + 𝐹𝑢𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑒  𝐶𝑢𝑠𝑡𝑜𝑚𝑒𝑟𝑠
 

Equation 1 Overview of Capacity Charge Calculation 

 

6.2.1   Buy-In Cost Basis 

Utilities often construct excess infrastructure capacity to meet projected future demands. The purpose of the 

buy-in component of the proposed CFCC is to recover costs that have already been incurred by OCSD. Existing 

customers have paid for this system over time through their user rates (through direct capital financing or retired 

debt). The buy-in component of a capacity charge provides a mechanism to reimburse existing system users for 

the carrying costs of constructing system capacity that is available to be used by future users.   

There are further considerations when calculating the buy-in component of the capacity charge. Given that the 

existing system was constructed over time, the original cost of constructing the system does not accurately 

reflect its current value nor the cost to construct the facilities today. Consequently, Carollo used the replacement 

cost of the existing system defined in the 2017 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)  

Replacement costs alone might not be the best estimate of system value, as system assets have a finite lifespan 
and must be replaced and/or rehabilitated in time. By accounting for accumulated depreciation in the buy-in cost 

basis, OCSD may recover a proportionate value of capital improvements that will replace depreciated assets or 

will be undertaken to extend the useful lives of these assets through the future cost component of the CFCC.  

The existing cost basis should not include costs of assets that were grant -funded or donated and should only 

include those costs incurred by the District’s ratepayers for the development of the existing system. For this 

reason, contributed assets are removed from the existing cost basis.  
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Finally, the buy-in component is reduced by outstanding debt principal on existing assets net of available 
reserves. While there is no statutory requirement to do so, Carollo recognizes that customers connecting to the 

system will pay for these assets through the debt service component of their utility rates and therefore deducts 

outstanding debt principal from the existing cost basis. However, as the District maintains reserves that are 

essentially assets in the form of cash that could also be used to retire outstanding debt service, reserves are 

accounted for as a credit against the outstanding debt principal.  

6.2.2   Future Cost Basis 

In addition to the value of the existing system, it is appropriate for the District to recover a proportionate share of 

future capital improvements that will benefit future customers. Projects included in the District’s CIP have two 

primary purposes – maintain reliability of existing infrastructure and increase system capacity. Existing and future 

users will benefit generally in the same manner and to the same extent from these projects. As noted above, 

accumulated depreciation is deducted from the buy-in component of the CFCC. This allows for the inclusion of 

future rehabilitative and upgrade projects, in order to equitably recover system value from future users and 

prevent a double counting of assets through the buy-in and future components of the capacity charges. 

The future cost basis accounts for capital improvements that will be constructed through 2028. The costs of these 

projects are estimated based on mid-point of construction and stated in future dollars. Costs are brought back to 

present value terms (2017 dollars) using a 3.5 percent capital discount rate.  

6.2.3   Existing and Future Customer Base 

The CFCC methodology spreads the buy-in and future cost bases over the projected number of EDUs (existing 

and future) through 2036. Using the same annual growth assumptions as with the 5-year rate forecast, OCSD is 

expected to add an additional 54,000 EDUs for a total of nearly 1,021,200 EDUs.  

6.3   Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Calculation 

The CFCC is applicable to any new development requiring service or additional treatment capacity within the 

OCSD’s service area. The charge is designed to recover a proportionate share of the capital costs associated with 

providing wastewater service.  

6.3.1   Existing System Cost Basis 

The cost to buy into the existing system is determined based on the total value of existing assets, net of liabilities 

(the buy-in cost basis). The following items are included as part of the buy-in cost basis. 

6.3.1.1   Value of Infrastructure in Service 

The infrastructure portions of existing capital assets are valued based on the replacement cost of existing 

infrastructure, less accumulated depreciation. The District’s capital assets were pulled from the latest CAFR for 

the following asset types:  

• Sewage Collection Facilities 

• Sewage Treatment Facilities 

• Effluent Disposal Facilities 

• General and Administrative Facilities 

• Excess Purchase Price over Book Value 

Based on the current infrastructure replacement value and accounting for depreciation, the identified a value of 
the system is $3.7 billion 

6.3.1.2   Adjustments to Value of Water Infrastructure in Service 

The value of system infrastructure in service is adjusted to account for land value and construction work in 

progress. 
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• The value of land owned by the District is added to the value of the existing system. 

• Construction in Progress is separately tracked and added to the value of the existing system to avoid 

double counting with the CIP. 

• Contributed Capital, assets that were not funded by existing users, if applicable, is deducted from 

existing assets to provide equal footing with existing users.  

The total value of these adjustments is $515 million.  

6.3.1.3   Liability and Asset Related Adjustments  

The District’s outstanding debt principal is deducted from the asset base, as it represents an outstanding liability 
that will be paid by both existing and future ratepayers through the District’s annual rates and charges. As an 

offset to these deductions, and as applicable, the District’s existing cash assets were added back. This approach 

assumes that the District could retire or defease the outstanding debt with their reserves/cash on hand. Existing 

cash assets include the following funds:  

• Debt Service Reserve Fund 

• Cash Flow Contingency Reserve 

• Self-Insurance Reserve 

As of June 30, 2016, there are $571 million in total liability and asset related adjustments. 

6.3.2   Future System Cost Basis 

The future system cost basis of the CFCC is based on the preliminary CIP being developed as part of the updated 

Master Plan and extends through 2038 (20-year plan). These CIP projects include a mix of new facilities that will 

add capacity to existing conveyance and treatment facilities, as well as repair and replace aging infrastructure. 

Based on the existing information, future CIP accounts for nearly $2.2 billion in costs.  

6.3.3   CFCC Calculation 

The table below summarizes the various inclusions and adjustments related to the development of the updated 

CFCC. The total value of the system is allocated to billable constituents – flow, BOD, and TSS. This process 

mirrors the cost allocation previously discussed in section 2.2   .  

Table 16 Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Cost Summary 

 CFCC Total (1) Flow BOD TSS 

A RCNLD of Water Infrastructure in Service   $3,736   $1,411   $1,549   $775  

B Sub-Total of Adjustments  $515   $180   $151   $184  

C Total Value of Capital Assets (A + B)  $4,251   $1,591   $1,700   $959  

D Total Liability and Asset-Related Adjustments   $(571)  $(236)  $(300)  $(35) 

E Total Value of Existing Assets Net of Liabilities (C + D)  $3,680   $1,355   $1,400   $925  

F Infrastructure Related Future CIP Costs  $2,210   $772   $648   $789  

G Total Value of Existing and Future Assets  
(E + F) 

 $5,889   $2,127   $2,048   $1,714  

Notes: 
(1) All dollar figures are in millions. 
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In order to create a more clear and understandable basis, Commercial-industrial CFCCs are recovered on a 1,000 
square foot basis rather than an EDU basis. Had this different rate basis not been defined each EDU would equate 

to roughly 1,571 commercial square feet. The unit costs for each CFCC were developed by dividing the costs for 

each functional cost category by the number of projected units.  

Table 17 Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Calculations 

 CFCC Total (1) Flow BOD TSS 

A Residential Cost Allocation ($M) $3,214 $1,161 $1,118 $935 

B Percent Share of System Value  54.6% 54.6% 54.6% 

C Total Residential EDUs   562,140   562,140   562,140  

D CFCC per EDU  $5,718   $2,065   $1,989   $1,664  

      

E Commercial-Industrial Cost Allocation ($M) $2,675 $966 $930 $778 

F Percent Share of System Value  45.4% 45.4% 45.4% 

G Total Commercial-Industrial Square Footage 
(1,000 sq. ft.)  

  735,246   735,246   735,246  

H CFCC per 1,000 sq. ft. $3,638  $1,314   $1,265   $1,059  

The CFCC methodology presented within this report reflects a hybrid approach consisting of both a buy-in and 

future basis component. The future basis reflects the projected 20-year CIP being developed as part of the 

updated Master Plan. The presented fees reflect the legal maximum that the District can charge new or expanded 

connections to the system.  

Based on the change of methodology and the resulting increases, it is recommended that the CFCC be increased 

gradually over the five-year rate program. The proposed increases are reflected in the table below.  

Table 18 Proposed Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Smoothing Schedule 

CFCC Smoothing Schedule Existing FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 
SFR EDU $3,855  $4,228  $4,601  $4,973  $5,346  $5,719  

Commercial EDU $2,000  $2,328  $2,656  $2,983  $3,311  $3,639  

Notes: 
(1) FYE 2023 CFCC target was rounded up from the calculated values in Table 17. 
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6.4   Supplemental Capital Facilities Capacity Charge  

As discussed above, permit users that exceed designated flow and loading discharges are subject to a 

supplemental CFCC. The SCFCC is intended to recover the costs of providing capacity to these customer, not 

recovered through the initial CFCC that is imposed upon the industrial users at the time it is connected to the 

wastewater system. The initial CFCC is collected at the time of building permit application, by the local cities and 

sanitary districts that are tributary to the OCSD system. It is based on the square footage of the new 

improvements on the site. Given the various agencies and districts and service area, this is the most expeditious 

wat for both the industry to pay and OCSD to collect the CFCC. However, as the costs that the CFCC is meant to 

pay for are incurred and accounted based on the flow and strength of the wastewater treated, there has to be an 

adjustment to reconcile the differences between the levied square footage charge and the actual costs incurred 

that are related to the flow and strength of the treated wastewater. In addition, industrial users typically have a 

higher flow and strength wastewater than the initial square footage charge is meant to compensate for. The 

SCFCC reconciles these differences. It is commensurate with a rental rate, in which the user is required to pay an 

equitable rental charge for capacity used within the system beyond the initial purchased capacity. 

The alternative would be for each industry to apply directly to OCSD for an up-front CFCC charge based on the 

anticipated flow and strength of the wastewater that they will discharge into the system. For an industry that has 

a high flow and/or strength discharge into the system, an up-front fee would not accurately capture the actual 

impact on the system. Thus, most of the time industry would be either over paying or under paying.  

The SCFCC allows the industry to only pay for the capacity they require and to do it on a yearly basis. This makes 
the charge more accurate and reduces the large up-front cash outlay that would be necessary for a one-time 

CFCC. 

The SCFCC is calculated on the same methodology as the CFCC. The District ’s total value (existing and future) are 

divided by the total number of EDUs serviced. These costs are then amortized over a thirty-year period at a 5-

percent interest rate. Finally, amortized costs are divided by the base flow and loading contributed per EDU. The 

SCFCC calculation is shown below. Like the CFCC, there is a significant increase over the current SCFCC and 

reflects the proposed utilized of hybrid approach.  

Table 19 Supplemental Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Calculation 

 SCFCC Total (1) Flow BOD TSS 

A Total Value of Existing and Future Assets ($M)  $5,889   $2,127   $2,048   $1,714  

B Total Future EDUs   1,027,038   1,027,038   1,027,038  

C SCFCC per EDU 
(A ÷ B) 

  $2,071   $1,995   $1,669  

D 30-Year Amortized SCFCC 
C amortized at 5% for 30-years 

  $135   $130   $109  

E EDU Basis  185  
gpd 

0.4452 
lbs/day 

0.4473 
lbs/day 

F SCFCC  
(D ÷ E ÷ 365) 

 $0.001996 
per gallon 

$0.798521 
per lb. 

$0.664784 
per lb. 
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As such and given the SCFCC is recovered on a lease basis, rather than purchased capacity basis, Carollo is 
proposing to further smooth the annual adjustments. This measure is appropriate and reasonable as costs and 

functions will continue to change over time. The proposed SCFCC charges through 202 3 are presented below.  

Table 20Supplemental Capital Facilities Capacity Charge Calculation 

SCFCC Constituent FYE 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 

Flow (Per Gallon) 0.001936 0.001948 0.00196 0.001972 0.001984 0.001996 

BOD (Per Pound) 0.4151 0.42828 0.44146 0.45464 0.46782 0.481 

TSS (Per Pound) 0.22261 0.232288 0.241966 0.251644 0.261322 0.271 

OCSD will continue to review the SCFCC on a regular basis to review potential capital cost shifts and to maintain 

SCFCC rate payer equity.  
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7 Miscellaneous Fees 

Similar to the periodical review of rates and charges, it is necessary to revisit the calculation of the District’s 

administrative fees and charges related to permitees. Earlier this year, OCSD staff performed an internal fee 

review for services provided by its Resource Protection Division. The District administers a permit program 

through the Resource Protection Division to provide a means for protecting the public and environment through 

the regulation of industrial wastewater discharges. The permit program limits the discharge of specific pollutants 

from industrial facilities by establishing numeric discharge standards, discharge requirements, self-monitoring 

requirements, and report requirements. The permits are divided into four categories: 

• Industrial Wastewater Discharge Permit:  Limits the discharge of specific pollutants from industrial 
facilities by establishing numeric discharge standards, discharge requirements, self-monitoring 

requirements, and report requirements.  

• Special Purpose Discharge Permit: Issued by OCSD for water and wastewater discharges to the 

sewerage system when no alternative discharge points exist other than the sewer system and/or 

alternate discharge methods pose an environmental impact or threat.  

• Wastehauler Permit: OCSD operates a wastehauler station at Plant No. 1 for the disposal of septage, 

chemical toilet, and grease trap wastes only. Liquid waste pumpers must register with the Orange 

County Health Care Agency and obtain a Wastehauler Permit from OCSD. 

• Fats, Oil, & Grease (FOG) Wastewater Discharge Permit: OCSD established a program to eliminate the 

discharge of FOG-containing wastewater from food service establishments and commercial kitchens. 

Restaurants are now required to store fats, oils, and grease in containers that are picked up by permitted 

recycling and rendering facilities. 

These fees are in place to recoup the costs of providing these services. Based on this notion, staff utilized an 

industry- standard cost build-up approach to define the full cost of service. Each permit or service was divided 

into various tasks and corresponding staff and/or material costs were identified. The result of this process 

identifies the maximum fee amount that can be charged.   

 

Figure 4 User Fee Calculation Methodology  

 

While this sets a legal maximum (cost ceiling), the district is not required to implement at these levels. As there 
are permit related fees, the District wants to set rates at levels that encourage full and maximum participation. 

This is common for fees or service related to public health and safety. As such, for some permit fees, the District 

outlined various options of cost recovery – ranging from “fully burdened costs” to subsidized options. While fully 

burdened costs reflects multi-year office staff and field staff operations (not previously considered), the increase 

Staff's Fully-
Burdened 

Hourly Rate

Estimated / 
Known Time 

to Provide 
Service

Discrete 
Costs of 

Materials or 
Services 
Incurred

Maximum 
Fee Amount
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would represent a significant increase over the existing charges. Alternatively, excluding internal costs (under the 

subsidized option) would represent a drop in most cases and is not recommend.  

Based on the review of the District’s 2017 internal fee review, Carollo finds that the District ’s methodology and 
calculation of fees to be fair and reasonable, and in-line with industry standards. Carollo recommends that the 

fees at a minimum recover a portion of the District’s internal costs and 100 percent of external costs.  

 

7.1   Wastehauler Fees 

There are three cost components to the calculation of the wastehauler fees. 

1. Cost of treatment for trucked septage 

2. Cost to administer and process manifests submitted by the wastehaulers 

3. Portion of capital costs for facilities 

The capital cost portion varies between wastehaulers inside and outside of Orange County. The different rate 
covers the portion of capital funding that in-county wastehaulers cover through annexation and connection fees. 

In order for the District to adequately recover capital costs, it is recommended that a portion of annexation and 

connection fee costs be allocated to out-of-county wastehaulers to cover their portion of capital buy-in. 

7.1.1   Wastehauler Treatment Charge 

The treatment cost portion of the fee is based on the rate paid by industrial users per unit constituent (flow, BOD, 

and TSS). This is allocated based on an estimated volume of flow and assumed concentration of loadings per unit 

of wastewater brought to OCSD facilities by each wastehauler. This calculation is demonstrated below in Table 

21. 

Table 21 Wastehauler Treatment Charge Calculation 

Constituent Estimate Industrial Rate Revenue Requirement  

Flow (1) 14.2 MGY $1,580 / MG $22,436 

BOD (Assumed) 5,000 mg/L $640 / 1,000 lbs $379,197 (2) 

TSS ( Assumed) 5,000 mg/L $760 / 1,000 lbs $450,296 

Total Revenue Requirement  $851,929 

Treatment Charge (3)   $0.06 

Notes: 
(1) Taken from OCSD Annual Report FY 2015/16, p. 7.2.  
(2) BOD and TSS revenue requirements calculated based on assumed annual flow, multiplied by assumed loadings concentrations and a 

conversion factor to calculate annual loadings in pounds, and then multiplied by the industrial rate per 1,000 lbs.  

(3) Total revenue requirement divided by the estimated annual flow received.  

 

7.1.2   Wastehauler Administration and Processing Charge 

OCSD must recoup its administrative costs to manage and administer the wastehauler program. The associated 

costs and the calculation of the fee is outlined in . This fee is developed by first calculating the staff time 

associated with administering each manifest, or delivery, by wastehaulers. The associated staff cost to the 
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District is estimated from this, and then converted to a per unit of flow rate based on estimated flow per 

manifest, and the total number of manifests estimated each year. 

Table 22Cost to Administer and Process Manifests Submitted by Wastehaulers 

Division Employee Title Hours Task Hourly (1) OH (2) Cost per Manifest 

Source Control Environmental 
Technician 

0.5 Receive manifest at 
station, review 

manifest, record / log 
in. Verbal verification 
with hauler. Test pH. 

$32.99 $10.89 $21.94 

Source Control Program 
Assistant 

0.5 Input field data 
(volume, in-county or 
out-of-county, decal, 

etc.). File. 

29.17 9.63 19.40 

Source Control Source Control 
Supervisor 

0.1 Review, instruct staff 
for further action. 

55.98 18.47 7.45 

Total Cost per Manifest    $48.78 

Notes: 
(1) Based on midpoint salary. 

(2) Assumed at 33 percent of hourly rate 

 

Table 23 Administration and Processing Charge per Unit Flow from Wastehaulers 

Calculation Step Calculation Input 

Average number of waste hauled deliveries per month (1) 662 

Total number of waste hauled deliveries per year 7,945 

Average manifests per delivery 1 

Cost to administer manifest (2) $48.78 

Cost per delivery / truck (@ 1 manifest per truck) $48.78 

Total cost per year (3) $387,571 

Manifest program cost per gallon (4) $0.03 per gallon 

Notes: 
(1) Taken from OCSD Annual Report FY 2015/16, p. 7.2.  
(2) From Table 22. 

(3) Cost per delivery multiplied by 7,945 annual deliveries.  

(4) Total cost per year divided by 14.2 MGY (from Table 21). 
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7.1.3   Wastehauler Capital Charge 

The final portion of the wastehauler fee is the capital charge to cover buy-in of OCSD facilities. Only wastehaulers 

from outside the District’s service area pay this portion of the fee because local wastehaulers will have already 

paid an annexation and/or connection fee to buy-in to District facilities. Outside users on the other hand have not 

contributed to the capital cost of District facilities, and therefore must pay a portion of these costs with each unit 

flow of sewage delivered. 

Table 24Outside Wastehauler Capital Fee 

Calculation Step Calculation Input 

Total Capital Charge for SFR to Connect (1) $8,718.18 

Annual Recovery (2) $405.83 

Assumed Septic Tank Volume 2,000 gallons 

Annual Capital Charge (3) $0.17 per gallon 

Notes: 
(1) Annexation fee plus Capital Facilities Connection Charge from Table 18. The annexation fee excludes any capital buy-in portion from 

the District’s current fee because this is incorporated into the CFCC portion of the calculation. 
(2) Amortization of total capital charge, assuming 4 percent interest and 50 year repayment. 
(3) Annual recovery divided by assumed septic tank volume, with the collection system percentage of facilities deducted. This deduction 

is based on the percentage of plant-in-service dedicated to the collection system (17 percent).  

 

7.1.4   Total Wastehauler Fee 

Combining the three fee components, the final wastehauler fee is outlined in Table 25. 

Table 25 Total Wastehauler Fee 

Type of Charge Within Service Area Outside of Service Area 

Treatment Charge $0.06 per gallon $0.06 per gallon 

Manifest Admin 0.03 0.03 

Capital Charge - 0.20 

Total $0.09 per gallon $0.29 per gallon 

The District is planning to phase the rate increase for these users gradually over time, like the other capital fees. 

The District has not updated this fee since 2007, and as a result, will implement the increase over five years.  

Table 26Wastehauler Fee Phase-In 

Location FYE 2018 (Current) FYE 2019 FYE 2020 FYE 2021 FYE 2022 FYE 2023 

Local $0.05 $0.06 $0.07 $0.08 $0.09 $0.09 

Outside Service Area $0.12 $0.14 $0.16 $0.18 $0.20 $0.22 
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8 Rebate Procedures Review 

8.1   Background 

OCSD administers a rebate program for its customers that can provide evidence that their actual system usage 

and demand is lower than the assumed billing formula for that customers use type. In recent years, the District 

has seen a considerably uptick in the number of rebates that have been issued, particularly to commercial 

customers. These customers have reduced their water usage in response to calls for conservation from the state 

and their local water utility. Because OCSD has not updated its assumed flow for each use type in a number of 

years, it takes only a nominal amount of conservation in some cases to fall below the assumed flow from the 

billing formula. 

8.2   Preliminary Findings 

Carollo and the District began researching this increase in 2015. From that analysis, a number of preliminary 

recommendations were developed, which are summarized and expanded upon here. During that review, the 

basic methodology of the program was reviewed, and several years of rebate data was analyzed. 

Currently, the District calculates the rebate issued by adjusting the annual fee by the percentage flow decrease. 

For instance, if the annual fee is $331, and the customer shows a 25 percent reduction in flow, the rebate is 

$82.75—25 percent of $331. This program is causing significant revenue loss for the District. In FYE 2014, the 

District issued nearly 4,000 rebates, totaling $14.6 million. With the proposed recommendations made in 2015, 

those rebates would have fallen to $5.9 million after recalculating the fee rebates issued. 

8.3   Recommended Rebate Calculation Changes 

8.3.1   Separate Flow and Loadings Rebates 

While flows have been decreasing 

across California in recent years, 

there is inconclusive evidence to 

suggest that OCSD’s influent 

loadings have decreased 

significantly on a per capita basis. 

As shown in Figure 5, flows have 

decreased steadily from 2000 to 

2015, by nearly 30 percent. 

However, BOD and TSS have not 

shown the same decline.  

Therefore, it is reasonable for the 

District to only issue rebates on 

the portion of the fee that is 

shown to have decreased. While a 

reduction in flow can correspond 

with similar reductions in loadings 
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for a specific parcel, the influent wastewater at OCSD’s plants does not show this trend on an aggregate level. 

A recommended alternative approach for the District ’s rebate program is illustrated in Table 27. In this example, a 

customer of 1 EDU applies for a rebate after demonstrating a 25 percent reduction in flow. Rather than issuing a 

25 percent rebate of the annual fee, the alternative approach would calculate 25 percent of the flow portion only 

(for FYE 2019, $104.22), and issue a rebate on that. This approach would be in keeping with the District ’s 

ordinance, which allows the District to require sampling information for rate adjustments (Article II – Section 

2.03B). 

 Table 27 Flow Rebate Recommended Alternatives 

Calculation Step Flow BOD TSS 

Annual Charge per EDU $104.22 $109.52 $121.67 

Baseline Annual Charge per EDU $335.50 

Current Rebate Approach – Adjusted Annual Fee $251.63 

Recommended Rebate Approach – Adjusted Fee Portions $80.08  $106.48   $122.23  

Recommended Rebate Approach – Adjusted Annual Fee $308.79 

Net Difference to OCSD $57.16 

 

8.3.2   Tiered Rebate Structure 

In addition to only issuing the rebate on the flow portion of the fee, the District could follow an approach used by 

Los Angeles County Sanitation Districts (LACSD) and implement a tiered rebate structure. This tiered structure 

does not issue the rebate in proportion to the conservation demonstrated. Instead, rebates are calculated based 

on a conservation tier corresponding to the exact usage reduction. This approach achieves multiple goals. It 

simplifies the rebate process for both the customer and the District. Furthermore, it acknowledges the variability 

in flow from year to year, and accounts for the uncertainty inherent  in estimating wastewater flows. 

The tier structure used by LACSD has five tiers. Customers must demonstrate a ten percent usage reduction at 

minimum to qualify for a rebate. 

Actual Average Daily Flow ÷ Baseline Assumed Discharge Fee Reduction 

90% or greater 0 

70% to 89% 20% 

50 to 69% 40% 

30 to 49% 60% 

29% or less 80% 

There are downsides to this approach. A customer with a 30 percent reduction in usage would fall within the same 
tier as someone with only a 12 percent usage reduction. Both of these customers would receive a 20 percent fee 

reduction, despite having nearly a 20 percentage point difference in their conservation rates. As a result, this 

approach does lack some of the precision of using the actual conservation rate.  
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Ultimately, the District would be best served using the actual conservation rate initially. Using only the flow 
portion of the fee will provide a sufficient modification to the rebate program, and implementing a tiered 

approach may unnecessarily complicate matters with other changes taking place. 

8.4   Recommended Administrative Changes to the Rebate Program 

8.4.1   Minimum Flow Reduction Thresholds 

Currently the District accepts rebate applications from all users, regardless of how large of a flow deviation is 

claimed. It is recommended that the District implement a flow (or loadings, when data is provided by the 

customer) threshold in order to process the rebate application. This recommendation is based on several reasons. 

First, the District does not meter wastewater flows itself, and does not maintain any of this data. Furthermore, 

the flow reduction data provided by each customer comes from potable water agencies, which will always show a 

higher level of usage than true wastewater flows. While the District ’s use code assumptions for flow and loads are 

a reasonable approximation of typical demands of a parcel of that type, they are an average and intended to fit a 

broad array of parcels of a given characteristic. It is inevitable that certain parcels will fall outside of the normal 

distribution of parcels of a similar classification. For these parcels that truly fall outside of the typical usage 

profile, a rate adjustment is a logical course of action. Conversely, parcels that demonstrate a nominal amount of 

conservation likely do not significantly deviate from the mean for similar parcels, and it would not make sense to 

provide these parcels a rate adjustment. 

The second reason for a flow reduction threshold is administrative. Requiring flow and loadings data for a full 

rebate, as discussed above, would substantially reduce the revenue loss that the District is currently experiencing. 

Aside from the financial impact however, the District also experiences administrative burdens due to the rebate 

program. With the increase in rebate activity, the District needed to devote additional resources to handling all of 

the applications and addressing questions, placing additional staff time requirements that were not always 

adequately planned. 

In order to address these issues, a reduction threshold is recommended. This would require that rebated parcels 

demonstrate a flow that is significantly different from a typical parcel of that class. This threshold could be 

determined on a class by class basis by reviewing the standard deviation and distribution of each class, or it could 

be applied for all classes uniformly. 

8.4.2   Adjusted Usage Lock-In 

Other agencies offering a wastewater flow 

rebate also offer a “lock-in” period to 

applicants. This allows the customer to 

automatically have their fee adjusted for a set 

amount of time following the processed rebate, 

typically three to five years. By offering this 

type of adjustment, the District could 

substantially cut down on its administrative 

burden, given that a significant number of 

rebates are submitted by repeat applicants. 

Based on an analysis of rebate applications 

from FYE 2012 to 2017, over 80 percent of all 

rebates were from customers with rebate 

applications in multiple years. 
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8.4.2.1   Customer Opt-In for Lock-In 

It is also recommended that the lock-in program be optional for the customer. The customer may be in the 

process of make property upgrades that could further reduce their water usage. Therefore, the District should not 

mandate that the customer cannot apply again in order to receive the rebate. However, the customer will likely 

be best served by opting into to the lock-in to save time and paperwork each year.  

Data Requirements and Review Process 

It is important that the District verify the accuracy of the water usage data associated with any rebate, 

particularly if that data has the potential to impact the fee for three or more years. Therefore, the District should 

collect a minimum of three years of historic usage data for any lock-in request, and the usage data should have a 

limited variance. No single year of data should be more than 25 percent above or below the three-year mean 

usage on the rebate application. This is in line with the procedures used by LACSD, which also uses 25 percent.  

Additionally, the District’s rebate data supports this benchmark. Based on the rebate data from FYE 2012 to 2017, 
a typical customer with multiple rebate applications had a variability in reported usage of approximately 25 

percent.2  

Going one step further, the District should base the rebate lock-in on the highest of the three years of data 

provided. Single year rebates would be based on the single year of data provided. If the customer decides that the 

max of the three years of data provided does not reflect the actual usage patterns, they can apply again the 

following year. 

 

                                                             
2 Based on the available data from the customer, the variability was defined as: the absolute value of the difference 
between the mean and the minimum and maximum of usage for a customer, then divided by the mean. 
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9 Findings and Recommendations 

Based on the analyses performed for this rate study, Carollo recommends the following: 

• Increase the regional user rate 1.2 percent, from $331.00 to $335.00 per equivalent dwelling unit (EDU) in 

FY 2019.  

• Following the FY 2019 adjustment, it is recommended that OCSD implement additional annual 

adjustments of 1.2 percent for the subsequent four years (through FY 2023). 

• Update the industrial rates based on unit costs developed though this analysis.  

• In line with staff recommendations, during the forecasted period, the District is projected to draw upon 

available reserves, reducing reserving to its policy target levels. This approach is recommended to avoid 

larger annual rate increases. 

• As the District anticipates reducing reserve levels to fund continued capital investment, all 

recommendations should be reviewed and updated periodically to confirm continued compliance with 

the District’s Reserve Policy. 

• Wastewater customers may request a rate adjustment by providing water consumption records that 

demonstrate lower sewer discharge levels than defined without the District’s ordinance (Ordinance No. 

OCSD-41). The District should consider implementing a loadings criteria (sampling) for rate adjustments, 

rather than merely basing the adjustment on water meter information. This would require the customer 

to perform and pay for discharge sampling and provide the District with results prior to a rate charge 

adjustment. The current District ordinance allows sampling information to be required under Article II – 

Section 2.03B. 

• It is recommended the District update the existing CFCC methodology to a hybrid approach to recover 

costs associated with the existing system and no longer simply future components. Given the change in 

methodology, it is recommended that the District adjust the increases over the proposed five-year rate 

program. 

• Adjust the Capital Facilities Capacity Charge (CFCC) from $3,855 to $5,718 per EDU and commercial-

industrial Capacity Facilities Capacity Charge from $2,000 to $3,638 per 1,000 square feet by FY 2023. In 

subsequent years, it is recommended that the District continue to annually adjust the CFCC by inflation. 

• Increase the Supplemental Capital Facilities Capacity Charge to $0.001996 per gallon, $0.481 per lbs. of 

BOD, and $0.271 per lbs. of TSS by FY 2023.   

• Adjust the fee rebate program to require that flow and loadings data be provided by applicants in order 

to receive a rebate on the full fee. Otherwise, applicants that only provide flow data should only be 

rebated on the flow portion of their fee. 

• Additional recommended changes to the rebate program include implementing a flow reduction 

threshold in order to process an application, and setting a lower flow assumption for parcels with 

significant square footage. 
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Appendix 

1 Use Codes and Rate Schedule 

Code Use Type EDU % Flow (1) BOD TSS FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 

000 Conversion-Rural 100%          $331.00  $335.00  $339.00  

1 Vacant Land 0%          0.00 0.00 0.00 

2 One Residence             100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

3 Two or More SFR    70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

4 Misc. Improvement 100%  206   219   177  331.00 335.00 339.00 

5 Common Area Parcel        0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

6 "Hold" Parcel 0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

7 Mobile Home                50%  206   219   127  165.50 167.50 169.50 

8 Equiv. To Vacant 0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

10 Duplex Only               70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

11 Triplex Only              70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

12 04-Units Only             70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

13 5 To 16 Units 70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

14 17 To 25 Units 70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

15 26-40 Units Only          70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

16 41-99 Units Only          70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

17 100 or More Units         70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

18 A Mix Of Forms 70%  206   219   177  231.70 234.50 237.30 

19 SFR With 1 or 2 Rentals 85%  206   219   177  281.35 284.75 288.15 

20 Amusement Parks 144%  214   240   347  476.64 482.40 488.16 

21 Automobile Dealership     41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

22 Auto Repair Shop          41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

23 Automotive Service        41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

24 Used Car Lot              41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

26 Airport and Related  53%  230   210   140  175.43 177.55 179.67 

28 Bowling Alleys 112%  586   390   149  370.72 375.20 379.68 
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Code Use Type EDU % Flow (1) BOD TSS FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 

29 Conventional Car Wash     796%  17   133  3,930  2,634.76 2,666.60 2,698.44 

30 Coin Operated Car Wash    151%  17   133   694  499.81 505.85 511.89 

32 Cemetery & Related 101%  664   712   99  334.31 338.35 342.39 

33 Church Buildings          20%  210   234   50  66.20 67.00 67.80 

34 Dormitory                 97%  220   220   250  321.07 324.95 328.83 

35 Entertainment Center 144%  214   240   347  476.64 482.40 488.16 

36 Financial Buildings       27%  215   245   99  89.37 90.45 91.53 

37 Fraternal Buildings       51%  216   234   124  168.81 170.85 172.89 

38 Funeral Home              101%  664   712   99  334.31 338.35 342.39 

39 Golf Course 41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

40 Health Club               29%  151   183   85  95.99 97.15 98.31 

42 Hospital                  97%  206   219   253  321.07 324.95 328.83 

43 Hotel                     97%  151   183   283  321.07 324.95 328.83 

44 Lumber/Constr. Mat’l. 
Yard 

17%  206   219   45  56.27 56.95 57.63 

45 Marinas 53%  230   210   140  175.43 177.55 179.67 

47 Supermarket               151%  666   708   149  499.81 505.85 511.89 

48 Convenience Market        151%  215   245   99  499.81 505.85 511.89 

50 Single Medical Bldgs. To 
3 Stories 

124%  215   241   297  410.44 415.40 420.36 

51 Small Medical Center 124%  215   241   297  410.44 415.40 420.36 

52 Medical Center Complex 124%  215   241   297  410.44 415.40 420.36 

53 High Rise Medical 124%  215   241   297  410.44 415.40 420.36 

54 Converted Residence To 
Medical 

124%  215   241   297  410.44 415.40 420.36 

55 Mobile Home Park           50%  220   220   130  165.50 167.50 169.50 

56 Motels and Motor Hotels   70%  151   183   283  231.70 234.50 237.30 

57 Motorcycle/Small Vehicle 
Bldg. 

41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

58 Nurseries (Plants) 10%  222   261   23  33.10 33.50 33.90 

60 Nursing Home 102%  216   238   260  337.62 341.70 345.78 

61 Convalescent Hospitals    102%  216   238   248  337.62 341.70 345.78 

62 Converted Res Used As 
Nursing 

102%  216   238   260  337.62 341.70 345.78 
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Code Use Type EDU % Flow (1) BOD TSS FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 

63 Low Rise Retirement 
Building 

70%  151   183   283  231.70 234.50 237.30 

64 High Rise Retirement 
Building 

70%  151   183   283  231.70 234.50 237.30 

65 Single Office Bldgs. To 3 
Stories 

41%  215   239   100  135.71 137.35 138.99 

66 Small Office Center       41%  215   239   100  135.71 137.35 138.99 

67 Office Complex            41%  215   239   100  135.71 137.35 138.99 

68 High Rise Office          30%  215   239   100  99.30 100.50 101.70 

69 Converted Residence To 
Office 

41%  215   239   100  135.71 137.35 138.99 

71 Parking Garage            17%  220   220   45  56.27 56.95 57.63 

72 Paved Parking Lot         17%  220   220   45  56.27 56.95 57.63 

73 Recreation                144%  214   240   347  476.64 482.40 488.16 

74 Recreation Vehicle Park 27%  309   270   55  89.37 90.45 91.53 

76 Restaurant - Take Out     300%  480   269   480  993.00 1,005.00 1,017.00 

77 Restaurant - Coffee Shop  600%  480   269   960  1,986.00 2,010.00 2,034.00 

78 Restaurant - Dinner 
House 

600%  480   269   960  1,986.00 2,010.00 2,034.00 

79 Restaurant - Conversion 
From SFR 

600%  480   269   960  1,986.00 2,010.00 2,034.00 

81 Pre-Schools, Nursery or 
Care 

82%  220   220   200  271.42 274.70 277.98 

82 Private Schools           82%  220   220   200  271.42 274.70 277.98 

83 Automotive Service 
Station 

41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

84 Marine Service Station 41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

85 Combined Service 
Station/Restaurant 

100%  215   245   99  331.00 335.00 339.00 

86 Combined Service 
Stn./Convenience Mkt. 

41%  215   245   99  135.71 137.35 138.99 

88 Convenience Shopping 
Center 

53%  500   354   79  175.43 177.55 179.67 

89 Neighborhood Shopping 
Center 

139%  500   354   200  460.09 465.65 471.21 

90 Community Shopping 
Center 

226%  500   354   325  748.06 757.10 766.14 
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Code Use Type EDU % Flow (1) BOD TSS FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 

92 Skating Rinks 112%  586   390   149  370.72 375.20 379.68 

94 Department Store          23%  215   245   55  76.13 77.05 77.97 

95 Discount Store            23%  215   245   55  76.13 77.05 77.97 

96 Unattached Single Store   23%  215   245   55  76.13 77.05 77.97 

97 Strip Store               23%  215   245   55  76.13 77.05 77.97 

98 Store With Offices or Liv. 
Qtr. 

82%  220   220   200  271.42 274.70 277.98 

99 Store w/ Office Upstairs 82%  220   220   200  271.42 274.70 277.98 

100 Drive-In Theater 10%  222   261   23  33.10 33.50 33.90 

101 Unattached Theater        51%  216   234   124  168.81 170.85 172.89 

103 Chemical Tank and Bulk 
Storage 

100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

104 Food Processing Plant     100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

105 Cold Storage Plant        100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

106 Factory                   100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

107 Light Industrial - Single 
Tenant 

50%  206   219   75  165.50 167.50 169.50 

108 Light Industrial - Multi 
Tenant 

50%  206   219   75  165.50 167.50 169.50 

109 Research and 
Development  

50%  206   219   75  165.50 167.50 169.50 

110 Warehouse - Single 
Tenant 

17%  460   383   25  56.27 56.95 57.63 

111 Warehouse - Multi 
Tenant  

17%  460   383   25  56.27 56.95 57.63 

112 Steel Building            7%  460   383   10  23.17 23.45 23.73 

113 Mini-Warehouse            7%  460   383   10  23.17 23.45 23.73 

114 Industrial Park           50%  206   219   75  165.50 167.50 169.50 

115 Recreational Vehicle 
Storage 

17%  460   383   25  56.27 56.95 57.63 

116 Truck Terminal 17%  460   383   25  56.27 56.95 57.63 

118 Governmental Use  82%  215   239   198  271.42 274.70 277.98 

119 Public Utility            100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

120 Water Mutual or 
Company   

100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 
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Code Use Type EDU % Flow (1) BOD TSS FYE 2018 FYE 2019 FYE 2020 

121 Parcel Of Minimal or No 
Value 

0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

122 Subsurface Parcels        0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

124 Oil/Mineral Rights 0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

125 Mineral Rights 
Equipment 

0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

126 Vacant Common Area-
Imp. Alloc. 

0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

201 Home Owners 
Exemption Add'n. 

0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

222 Office Condos W/Out 
Individual Bathrooms 

0%          0.00 0.00 0.00 

223 Laundromat 1800%  260   270   
3,825  

5,958.00 6,030.00 6,102.00 

224 Nightclub 200%  288   274   350  662.00 670.00 678.00 

444 La Mirada Tract (Includes 
Local Fee) 

0%          0.00 0.00 0.00 

666 Unassigned Vacant         0%  -     -     -    0.00 0.00 0.00 

777 Septic Tank Property 0%          0.00 0.00 0.00 

888 Conversion-Composite 
Prop 

100%  206   219   253  331.00 335.00 339.00 

NEW Laundromat In Mixed 
Use 

422%          1,396.82 1,413.70 1,430.58 

Notes: 
(4) Flow is measured in gallons per day per EDU or 1,000 square feet. BOD and TSS are measured in milligrams per liter of flow.  
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AGREEMENT & STATEMENT OF EXCEPTIONS

Carollo has reviewed the District’s Standard Professional Services Agreement, to 
which we do not have any exceptions. If selected, we would like to discuss some minor 
changes to the language, all of which have been previously accepted by the District on a 
previous project.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AGREEMENT  
AND STATEMENT OF EXCEPTIONSH
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: ADDENDA TO THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

Carollo has received no addenda to this RFP.

ADDENDA TO THIS REQUEST FOR PROPOSALSI
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: APPENDIX A

Carollo will perform the following tasks:

TASK 1.0 COST OF SERVICE 
ANALYSIS  

Task 1.1 

Carollo will conduct two (2) separate 

comprehensive reviews of existing water 

(potable and recycled) rates and charges 

and wastewater rates and charges, 

taking into consideration the District’s 

reserves, capital spending plan, and debt 

service commitments as a baseline for 

comparing recommended changes. 

Task 1.2 

Carollo will develop two (2) easy-

to-follow rate models that generate 

sufficient revenue using financial 

assumptions to pass-through charges 

and other nondiscretionary charges 

as well as provide funding for capital 

improvement program, new debt 

service, and reserve funds for a 5-year 

DETAILED SCOPE OF WORKAppendix A

period through a comprehensive cost 

of service and rate design study process 

that is consistent with industry practice 

in the State of California. The rates 

must be developed in compliance with 

California Constitution article XIII D, 

section 6 (Proposition 218). Carollo will 

ensure compliance with and incorporate 

appropriate policies as established by 

the District’s Board of Directors. Carollo 

will collect and provide a survey of San 

Diego County water agencies and sewer 

agencies comparison to the final water 

and wastewater rate recommendations.   

Water rate model and wastewater rate 

model developed by Carollo will be easy 

to navigate and user friendly. Tracking 

links and tracing numbers in each model 

should be transparent. Each model 

should have the ability to run numbers 

based on varying scenarios, such as:

 • Rate impacts due to an increase or 
decrease in sales volume

 • Rate impacts due to a change in 
Operation and Maintenance costs

 • Rate impacts due to a change in 
planned capital spending

 • Rate impacts in order to maintain the 
District’s desired debt service coverage 
due to changes from the three 
previous bullets above

 • Rate impacts due to new debt service 
and capital needs

 • Rate impacts based on pass-through/
nondiscretionary charges

 • Recommended low and high rate 
increases for proposition 218 disclosure

Carollo will prepare and present two 

(2) separate draft reports, water and 

wastewater, based on comments and 

input from staff and direction from the 

Board Ad-Hoc Committee.    

V:\Client21\OlivenhainMWD\Prop\WtrRWWWRateStudy\Indd\AppxA-DetailedSOW.indd
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COMPREHENSIVE COST OF SERVICE STUDIES: APPENDIX A

Carollo will produce two (2) final draft 

reports containing the results of the 

Water (Potable and Recycled) Cost of 

Service Study and Financial Plan, and 

Wastewater Cost of Service Analysis Cost 

of Service Study and Financial Plan for 

consideration and approval by the Board 

of Directors. 

For the Water COSS, we anticipate a total 

of 208 hours for Task 1. We also anticipate 

124 hours for the Wastewater COSS.

TASK 2.0    RATE MODEL 
FUNCTIONALITY 

Carollo will develop two (2) separate 

10-year rate forecasts and financial 

planning models, one for water and the 

other one for wastewater in an Excel 

format that will be turned over to District 

staff. Carollo will train District staff how to 

maintain and update these models.   

These rate models shall contain 

functionality to support the 

development of specific rates and 

charges as described in the Cost of 

Service Study reports. Staff will update 

the model regularly to refresh data, 

perform sensitivity analyses, and track 

budget performance.  

The rate model will become the property 

of the District and may be used by the 

District for any purpose.  

The water rate model shall specifically 

include the ability to:

 • Calculate the cost of purchasing, 
treating, and distributing water

 • Identify primary cost components 
and their percentage of total rates and 
charges

 • Calculate pass-through increases in 
certain costs as defined by the District

 • Include financing of the 10-year CIP on 
a PAYGO and debt basis

 • Measure debt capacity

 • Apply different inflation adjustments 
to key cost components

 • Create a management dashboard 
to show the following minimum 
components:

 › Allocation of proposed rate increases 
(% for primary revenue requirements)

 › Graphic display of costs related to 
rates

 › Financial metrics (days’ cash, reserve 
fund levels, debt service coverage)

The wastewater rate model shall 

specifically include the ability to:

 • Calculate pass-through increases in 
certain costs as defined by the District

 • Include financing of the 10-year CIP on 
a PAYGO and debt basis

 • Measure debt capacity

 • Apply different inflation adjustment to 
key cost components

 • Create a management dashboard 
to show the following minimum 
components:

 › Allocation of proposed rate increases 
(% for primary revenue requirements)

 › Graphic display of costs related to 
rates

 › Financial metrics (days’ cash, reserve 
fund levels, debt service coverage) 

For Task 2, we anticipate a total of 88 

hours and 64 hours for the Water COSS 

and Wastewater COSS, respectively.

TASK 3.0 ADDITIONAL 
MEETINGS

In addition to regular project/progress 

meetings, Carollo will propose a plan 

including number of meetings to 

accomplish these objectives:

 • Initiate discussion with the Board of 
Directors about the study process 
and cost of service methodology 
and review existing revenue and 
expenditures policies with the Board

 • Develop rate structure goals and 
objectives with the Board of Directors

 • Present project status updates to the 
Board Ad Hoc Committee and the full 
Board as appropriate (at milestones or 
when further direction is required)

 • Present draft and final reports to the 
Board Ad Hoc Committee and then 
the full Board

 • Attend the public hearing to present 
findings and rate recommendations 
and answer questions as needed

 • Attend community meetings and/or 
board workshops as requested

For Task 3, we anticipate 98 hours for 

the Water COSS and 40 hours for the 

Wastewater COSS.

TASK 4.0    PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT 

Carollo has rigorous project 

management throughout each project. 

We use a client-focused leadership style. 

Combined with our technical expertise, 

this style of approach results in project 

delivery that consistently addresses each 

client’s needs, while meeting budget and 

schedule expectations. As a component 

of each task, project management 

is included in the anticipated hours 

specified in each task above.
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WASTEWATER COST OF SERVICE STUDY: APPENDIX B

RESUMESAppendix B
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Education 
MBA Finance, Southern 
Methodist University, 
2003 
BS Civil Engineering, 
University of Texas, 
Austin, 1998 

Licenses 
Professional Engineer, 
Texas 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Water Works 
Association (AWWA) 
Water Environment 
Association, Texas 
(WEAT) 
Water Environment 
Federation (WEF) 
Chi Epsilon National Civil 
Engineering Honor 
Society 
 

 

Jennifer R. Ivey, P.E. 
Jennifer Ivey is a vice president with Carollo with 20 years of extensive experience in 
civil and environmental engineering design projects as well as numerous multi-year 
financial planning, impact fee, bond feasibility, and cost of service, rate, and charge 
studies throughout Texas and the U.S. Her combined financial and engineering 
expertise crosses over to provide accurate financial results based on sound 
engineering and cost causation foundation. She is currently active in industry 
associations including the American Water Works Association (AWWA) National Rates 
and Charges Committee and was a contributing author for AWWA’s updated 
Principles of Water Rates, Fees, and Charges M1 Rates Manual. 

Relevant Experience  
 Principal-in-charge for the Water Rate 
Cost of Service Study, Santa Fe Irrigation 
District, California. Jennifer’s team is cross 
referencing historical demand data at the 
household level with a variety of other data 
sources to establish a detailed baseline 
demand profile and then project future 
demands. These other data sources include 
land use, household size, lot size, 
landscaping, pools and water features, 
median home value, and geographic 
location. 

 Project manager for the Utility Cost of 
Service and Rate Study, San Francisco Public 
Utilities Commission, California. Carollo 
developed the SFPUC 2014 comprehensive 
connection fee and cost of service rate study 
for the Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater 
to define customer equity and comply with 
Proposition 218 in accordance with California 
Government Code §66013. Jennifer led and 
managed the team to allocate revenue 
requirements to functional categories and 
develop cost-based rates that comply with 
Proposition 218 requirements. The Study 
included allocation of wastewater costs 
between dry weather (wastewater) and wet 
weather (storm water). Community outreach 
component included video messaging, bus 
tours, and multi-lingual meetings, in addition 
to mandated Proposition 218 notifications. 

 Technical advisor for the Cost of Service 
Rate and Charge Study, San Diego County 
Water Authority, California. Carollo 
established the revenue requirement, 
allocated it to rate categories, and designed 
the rates to equitably collect these costs. 
Carollo received unanimous approval of 
planned increased after facilitating a series of 
successful workshops with the member 

agencies. Jennifer provided additional review 
and played a role of “devil’s advocate” to 
generate a thorough assessment of the 
findings prior to customer and stakeholder 
review. Quality Consultant for study to 
allocate operating and capital costs to 
functional components and develop cost-
based rates. Presented study process and 
findings to Member Agencies and SDCWA 
Board of Directors. Study included 
calculation of capacity charges and 
annexation application fee. 

 Principal-in-charge for the Water and 
Wastewater Rate Structure Study, City of 
Sacramento, California. Project Lead and 
Quality Consultant for study to identify 
alternative rate structures for water and 
wastewater utilities and develop 
recommended rates using preferred rate 
structures. Presenting study process and 
findings to utility management. Study 
includes extensive public outreach 
component and Proposition 218 
notifications. 

 Technical advisor for the Water Cost of 
Service Rate Study, Riverside Public Utilities, 
California. Quality Consultant for cost of 
service study to calculate cost-based water 
rates. Study includes Proposition 218 public 
notification process. 

 Technical advisor for the Cost of Service 
Study, Eastern Municipal Water District, 
Perris, California. Quality Consultant for 
study to develop methodology to allocate 
operating and capital costs to functional 
components and calculate cost-based rates. 
Presented study findings and 
recommendations to Board of Directors. 
Study includes Proposition 218 notification 
process. 
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  Technical advisor for the Cost of Service 
Study, Hi-Desert Water District, Yucca Valley, 
California. Analyzing existing customer data 
to develop reasonable estimate of capacity 
requirements for various types of 
commercial customers and cost associated 
with providing service. Study will result in a 
fee assessed to new commercial customers. 

 Project manager for the Water and 
Wastewater Cost of Service Rate Design and 
Associated Financial Planning Services, 
Oklahoma City Water Utilities Trust, 
Oklahoma. She managed the study to 
develop cost of service rates and system 
development charges. She and her team 
analyzed customer billing and financial data 
to determine revenue requirements, 
allocated revenue requirements to functional 
categories and rate components to 
determine class cost of service. The study 
also included transitioning rates toward cost 
of service, presenting study findings and 
recommendations to stakeholders and 
training staff on use of financial planning and 
rate models.  

 Project manager for the Water and 
Wastewater Rate Study, City of Arlington, 
Texas. She managed a Water and 
Wastewater Rate Study for Arlington to 
determine annual revenue requirements for 
10-year period, cost of service by customer 
class, and recommended rate structure and 
rates. Study included full customer billing 
analysis, development of cost of service rate 
model, and presentations to elected officials 
and public stakeholders. 

 Lead analyst for the Water/Wastewater 
Cost of Service Rate Study, City of Austin, 
Texas. She performed a cost of service and 
rate study for water and wastewater utilities. 
Prepared several issue papers to educate 
Public Involvement Committee (PIC) about 
issues relating to cost of service 
methodologies and rate design, including 
cost allocations to BOD, TSS, and other 
measures of wastewater strength. Presented 
issue paper topics to PIC and utility’s 
Executive Committee. Developed cost of 
service and rate models for water and 
wastewater utilities. Prepared report 
summarizing study assumptions, analysis, 
and recommendations. 

 Analyst for the Comprehensive Rate and 
Charges Study, City of Columbus, Ohio. She 
performed a cost of service and rate study 
for the City of Columbus’ Division of 
Sewerage and Drainage. Using the City’s 
existing rate model, entered data for the 
previous two years to update the model and 
determine the recommended rate structure 
to meet the division’s revenue requirements. 
Prepared a report summarizing the results of 
the rate study and the capacity fee study 
with the recommended rates and charges. 

 Project manager for the Water and 
Wastewater Rate Study, City of Farmington, 
New Mexico. Managed a Water and 
Wastewater Rate Study for Farmington to 
determine annual revenue requirements for 
10- year period, cost of service by customer 
class, and recommended rate structure and 
rates. Study included analysis of multiple CIP 
scenarios based on growth alternatives. 

 Project manager for the Wholesale 
Water and Wastewater Cost of Service Rate 
Studies, City of Fort Worth, Texas. Managed 
cost of service rate studies for the City of 
Fort Worth’s wholesale water and 
wastewater customers using the utility basis 
approach to determine the wholesale 
revenue requirements. Input current test 
year data into the existing cost of service and 
rate model to determine the recommended 
wholesale water rates for 2006, 2012, and 
2015 and wholesale wastewater rates for 
2008 and 2011. Prepared detailed reports 
summarizing the results of each study and 
presented study findings and proposed rates 
at several meetings of the Wholesale Water 
and Wastewater Advisory Committee and 
Subcommittee.  

 Project manager for the Water and 
Wastewater Cost of Service Rate/Impact Fee 
Study, City of Houston, Texas. Managed a 
study that included development of a 10-
year financial plan, cost of service analysis, 
rate structure design, development of land 
use assumptions, evaluation of capital 
improvements program, calculation of 
maximum impact fees and public 
information program. Developed 
implementation plan to transition toward 
cost of service-based rates while reducing 
impact on customers.  
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Education 
BS Mining Engineering, 
Pennsylvania State 
University, 2009 
 

Alexander T. Bugbee 
Alexander Bugbee is a lead analyst with nine years of experience asset management 
and utility rates and financing. His primary expertise includes assisting water and 
wastewater agencies develop asset management plans, rehabilitation and 
replacement programs, program funding and implementation strategies, and 
financial and econometric models, as well as compiling and analyzing the necessary 
background data. His combined experience in engineering and financial analyses 
benefits the project team by providing an asset management strategy that considers 
infrastructure needs along with financial capacity and feasibility to develop a truly 
implementable plan.  

He has successfully completed asset management, financial and economic analyses, 
and cost of service studies for many agencies throughout California, including the 
cities of Los Angeles, Oceanside, Oxnard, Glendale, Simi Valley, West Sacramento, San 
Jose, Riverside as well as Union Sanitary District, San Diego County Water Authority, 
the Inland Empire Utilities Agency and several other cities and special districts 
throughout the state.

Relevant Experience 
 Project manager for the Water and 
Wastewater Cost of Service Rate Study, City 
of Del Mar, California. Alex is currently 
managing and leading the development of 
Water and Wastewater financial models that 
incorporates revenue requirements, cost 
allocation, and rate design analysis, as well 
as SDCWA supply cost projections, water or 
wastewater demand projects, and 
wastewater transportation and treatment 
cost calculations. 

 Analyst for the On-Call Financial Study 
for the City of Oceanside, California. He 
developed a financial model for the Solid 
Waste Department, which allows the client 
to predict future cash flows and fund 
balances based on past performance and 
expected rate changes in order to optimize 
the rate impact to customers and develop 
accurate operational budgets. He provides 
continued support to the client and makes 
model modifications as deemed necessary. 
Also provided as-needed support to the 
Water and Wastewater Departments 
including maintenance, updating, and 
modifications of existing financial models. 
He also worked with the departments to 
revamp the models to improve user 
interface and functionality. 

 Financial analyst for the 2015 
Wastewater Cost of Service Study, City of 
Carlsbad, California. The project included 
developing the revenue requirement, cost 

of service analysis, and functional allocation. 
It also provided recommendations for a new 
customer class rate. 

 Lead financial analyst for City of San 
Jose, San Jose-Santa Clara Regional 
Wastewater Facility Funding Strategy, CA. 
Developed a ten-year CIP funding strategy 
for a ten-year $1.5 billion capital program. 
He developed long term financial 
projections for the regional wastewater 
system as well as the City of San Jose to 
assess the financial impact of CIP on owner 
and member agencies. The analysis 
incorporated several policy best practices 
related to reserves, debt coverage, and 
funding sources designed to help the 
agencies achieve favorable financing 
conditions.  

 Lead financial analyst for the Inland 
Empire Utilities Agency, California 
Connection Fee and Rate Study. He led a 
comprehensive financial analysis and rate 
and fee study to develop a financial plan for 
the implementation of the agency’s recent 
Integrated Resources Plan 
recommendations and updated 
connections and service fees to support it. 
Along with updates to existing rates and 
fees, a new One Water Regional Connection 
Fee was developed to provide funding for 
recycled water and water resources projects 
and initiatives. 

 Analyst for the Water Rate Study for the 
City of Upland, California. His responsibilities 
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 included analysis of usage and financial data 
and assisting in the development of a 
financial model for the City’s Water Utility. 
He also performed a cost-of-service analysis 
in order to design fixed and variable water 
rates for various customer classes. 

 Analyst for the Capacity Fee Study for 
the San Diego County Water Authority, 
California. He performed data analysis and 
assisted in the development of a capacity 
fee model. 

 Analyst for the Financial Analysis of 
Wastewater Operations as part of the 
Comprehensive Wastewater Master Plan for 
the Rodeo Sanitary District (RSD), California. 
He developed a financial model to analyze 
the impact of the proposed capital 
improvement plan (CIP) on RSD’s finances 
and on customer rates. He also assisted in 
the creation of an integrated CIP funding 
strategy designed to provide sufficient 
funding while minimizing the effects on 
customer rates. 

 Analyst for the Update of Capacity 
Charge project for the San Francisco Public 
Utilities Commission (PUC), California. He 
updated the PUC’s capacity charges for 
water and wastewater. His responsibilities 
included analyzing the results of a variety of 
calculation methods for the capacity charge. 

 Financial analyst for the California 
Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) 
Wastewater Flow and Loading Study. 

 Financial analyst for the Pajaro Valley 
Water Management Agency Rate Setting 
Services, Watsonville, California. Supported 
the team with data processing, financial 
analysis, capital funding, and rate setting 
alternatives. 

 Project manager for the Pasadena Cost 
of Service and Rate Design, Pasadena, 
California. 

 Analyst for the Marina Coast Water 
District Financial Plan Rate Study, Marina, 
California. 

 Financial analyst for the City of Arcadia 
Budget Based Water Rate and Sewer Rate 
Structures, Arcadia, California. Carollo 
worked with staff to develop a suitable rate 

structure that addressed the study’s key 
cost-of-service issues. The structure 
provides all the benefits of a budget-based 
structure, without the full cost or 
administrative burden. 

 Analyst for the Scottsdale Cost of Service 
Study, Scottsdale, Arizona. The project 
included the evaluation of revenue stability 
and predictability and the proposal of fair 
and equitable rates and charges. 

 Site assessment lead and analyst for the 
Water and Recycled Water Master Plan for 
the City of Glendale, California. He led an 
assessment of selected water facilities 
including pump stations, wells, treatment 
facilities, and reservoirs. He the utilized the 
results of the site assessments to develop an 
asset rehabilitation and replacement 
program, which he then incorporated into a 
funding and connection fee analysis aimed 
at creating an implementable CIP strategy 
based on a series of priority based project 
phasing options. 

 Site assessment lead and asset 
management analyst for the Waterworks 
Facilities Assessment and Cost of Service 
Study for the City of Simi Valley, California. 
He coordinated and led mechanical and 
structural condition assessments of the 
City’s water utility that included wells, pump 
stations, reservoirs, and treatment facilities. 
This information was used along with other 
records to develop an asset condition 
registry, a rehabilitation and replacement 
program, and a CIP which was later 
incorporated into a cost of service analysis.  

 Site assessment lead and analyst for the 
Public Works Integrated Master Plan for the 
City of Oxnard, California. He coordinated 
and led mechanical and structural condition 
assessments of the City’s water and 
wastewater systems. The results of the 
condition assessments were used to 
develop a master plan CIP for the water and 
wastewater facilities. He later incorporated 
the CIP into a cost of service analysis aimed 
at providing funding for the extensive 
rehabilitation and replacement needs.   
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Education 
MEM Water Resources 
Management, Duke 
University, 2014 
BA History, Lafayette 
College, 2010 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Water Works 
Association 
 
 

Mark J. Panny 
Mark Panny is a professional analyst in Carollo’s Utility Advisory Services group and 
specializes in data management, analysis, and data visualization using the latest tools 
such as Power BI and Tableau. His technical background combined with his business 
acumen have made Mark a strategic team member on asset management efforts, by 
translating risk-based prioritization into sound capital planning. During his time at 
Carollo, Mark has contributed to a variety of financial and engineering planning 
projects for municipal utilities throughout California and across the U.S., including 
Orange County Sanitation District, City of Boynton Beach, Los Angeles Bureau of 
Sanitation, Eastern Municipal Water District, Manatee County, DuPage County, and 
many more. This experience will be utilized to accurately and efficiently review your 
data and generate the insights needed to support this project and its 
recommendations.

Relevant Experience 
 Lead analyst for the Water Rate Cost of 
Service Study, Santa Fe Irrigation District, 
California. Carollo’s team is cross referencing 
historical demand data at the household 
level with a variety of other data sources to 
establish a detailed baseline demand profile 
and then project future demands. These 
other data sources include land use, 
household size, lot size, landscaping, pools 
and water features, median home value, and 
geographic location. 

 Lead analyst for the 2016 Cost of Service 
Rate Study for the City of San Clemente, 
California. The Study provided a financial 
roadmap for investing in continued system 
maintenance and equitably recovering 
system costs from the City’s water 
customers. To facilitate the study, Carollo 
held successful 2x2 meetings with the 
Council to better facilitate and identify the 
City’s needs and challenges. Moving away 
from annual rate settings, Carollo 
developed a 10-year revenue requirement 
analysis and recommended a multi-year 
rate plan.  

 Financial analyst for the Water, Sewer, 
and Recycled Water Rate Study for the 
South Coast Water District, California. 
Carollo completed a comprehensive cost-
of-service and rate design study. The review 
addressed recent changes to the California 
legal environment, notably the San Juan 
Decision, as well as mandates from the State 
to cut water use by 25 percent. In addition, 
Carollo held nine public workshops with the 
Board and community to develop rates in 

an open, transparent, and communicative 
process. 

 Financial analyst for the San Diego 
County Water Authority (SDCWA), 
California, Cost-of-Service Rate and Charge 
Study. Carollo developed an independent 
rate model to review and confirm the 
appropriateness and legality of the water 
rates and charges methodology for 
compliance with American Water Works 
Association cost-of-service standards and 
industry best practices. Carollo established 
the revenue requirement, allocated it to rate 
categories, and designed the rates to 
equitably collect these costs. Carollo 
received unanimous approval of planned 
increased after facilitating a series of 
successful workshops with the member 
agencies. Carollo is currently doing other 
studies for SDCWA. 

 Lead analyst on Rebate Program Review 
for Orange County Sanitation District. He 
analyzed several years of rebate 
applications received and processed by 
OCSD, and calculated new usage factors for 
all customer classes. Mark modeled the 
ongoing impact of the rebate program, 
considering the revenue risk and 
administrative burden, and developed 
recommendations for adjusting the 
program to address these issues. This 
analysis allowed for an update of the 
District’s rate structure and rebate process. 

 Lead analyst for the South Orange 
County Water Authority (SOCWA), 
California, J.B. Latham Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Evaluation study. As part 
of SOCWA’s goal to increase production 
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 of recycled water, and as a consequence 
of potential changes at upstream facilities, 
several treatment processed needed at be 
evaluated at the J.B. Latham Plant to 
achieve the new objectives and reevaluate 
solids loads. Mark was the lead analyst in 
modeling the various process changes and 
reflecting an open-source capital and 
operating expense model. This model 
allowed an interactive discussion with 
SOCWA staff by allowing for changes in 
assumptions to be made instantly and 
reflect the associated changes in financial 
planning. The model was transferred to 
SOCWA staff who will not need special 
licenses or training to use them. 

 Lead analyst on Cost of Service and 
Rate Design Study for Eastern Municipal 
Water District, California. He is developing 
a comprehensive cost allocation for 
EMWD based on the District’s various 
sources of supply. He is also preparing a 
full analysis of the District’s current 
customer usage patterns, and modeling 
customer impacts based on changes to 
EMWD’s budget-based rate structure. 

 Analyst for the Irvine Ranch Water 
District in Irvine, California, Cost-of-Service 
and Rate Design Study. Mark conducted 
data analysis of usage and financial 
records spanning multiple years. He 
developed financial and rate models to 
project future cash flows, perform cost-of-
service analysis, and determine necessary 
water, wastewater, and recycled rates. 

 Financial analyst for the Utility Cost-of-
Service and Rate Study for the San Francisco 
Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC), 
California. Carollo is updating the 
comprehensive cost-of-service rate study for 
Water and Wastewater to define customer 
equity and comply with Proposition 218 in 
accordance with California Government 
Code §66013. The Study includes allocation 
of wastewater costs between dry weather 
(wastewater) and wet weather (storm water). 
Community outreach component includes 
video messaging, bus tours, and multi-lingual 
meetings, in addition to mandated 
Proposition 218 notifications. 

 Lead analyst for the City of 
Sacramento, California, Sewer System 
Transfer Study. Mark dissected both the 
City’s and adjacent District’s operations 
and maintenance data, as well as capital 
improvement program data, to develop a 
financial analysis representing various 
scenarios of system ownership and 
operations of the systems in the region. 
The quantitative analysis allowed both 
parties to assess the relative performance 
of scenarios for financial needs and 
staffing needs, while also assessing 
qualitatively the performance of the 
scenarios on dimensions including level of 
service, engineering and operation, cross-
agency coordination, and legal and 
regulatory compliance. 

 Analyst for the Irvine Ranch Water 
District in Irvine, California, Cost-of-Service 
and Rate Design Study. Mark conducted 
data analysis of usage and financial 
records spanning multiple years. He 
developed financial and rate models to 
project future cash flows, perform cost-of-
service analysis, and determine necessary 
water, wastewater, and recycled rates. 

 Analyst for the Preliminary Cost-of-
Service and Rate Design Estimate for a 
proposed joint utility between the 
Northwest Water Commission and the 
Northwest Suburban Municipal Joint 
Action Water Agency in the Greater 
Chicago, Illinois, area. Mark developed the 
initial cost-of-service estimates for the 
planned joint utility and associated rates 
necessary to recover costs. 

 Analyst for the Riverside Public Utilities, 
California, Cost-of-Service and Rate 
Design Study. Mark is leading the data 
analysis stage of the Study, processing 
over a decade of usage and billing records 
to identify demand trends and the 
appropriateness of the Riverside Public 
Utilities’ current rates and tiers. 
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Education 
MEM Water Resources, 
Duke University, 2018 
BA Environmental 
Geology, Case Western 
Reserve University, 2015 
 
 

Madeline A. Atkins  
Madeline Atkins specializes in financial analysis and modeling, water utility 
management, hydrology modeling, project management, and data analytics. She 
previously served as the President of the Duke Water Network and is a founding 
member of the Nicholas School Financial Initiative Working Group. 

Relevant Experience 
 Analyst for the San Diego County Water 
Authority Financial Rate Modeling Program 
Update, San Diego, California. Assisting in 
the upgrade of the Financial Rate Modeling 
Program (FRMP) and in the review of the 
Water Authority’s cost of service. 

 Analyst for the South Orange County 
Wastewater Authority Treatment Cost 
Allocation Analysis, Dana Point, California.  

 Project manager of the Fuqua School of 
Business Client Consulting Practicum, 
Durham, North Carolina. Provided expertise 
to our client on developing innovative 
finance mechanisms for coastal restoration 
in Louisiana. Responsible for client and 
external stakeholder communication, work 
plan management, performing financial 
models, and presentation of deliverables. 

 Water Utility Finance Research Assistant, 
for The Environmental Finance Center at the 
University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, 
North Carolina. Performed a financial 
analysis of water, wastewater, and 
stormwater utility debt in North Carolina. 
Combined debt data with utility rates, 
capital needs, and affordability data to 
address future financial capacity. Utilized 
technical writing skills by publishing blogs 
for public audiences on complex financial 
topics. 

 Environmental Consultant for the Duke 
Law School, Environmental Law and Policy 
Clinic, Durham, North Carolina. Provided 
confidential environmental science counsel 
to a case team of attorneys to meet the 
goals of our client. Analyzed technical 
documents and translated their meaning to 
our client. Facilitated weekly case team 
meetings and met key deadlines for 
deliverables to our client, and led meetings 
with state government officials and 
community groups. 

 

 Graduate Fellow for the Natural 
Resources Defense Council, Chicago, Illinois. 
Performed an analysis of all fifty states use 
of their EPA State Revolving Funds for use 
of leveraging in financing infrastructure. 
Provided policy analysis of the National 
Flood Insurance Program to incorporate 
climate-smart solutions for repeatedly 
flooded homes. Conducted interviews with 
homeowners to record flood experiences. 
Produced a report of my cumulative 
research used by NRDC for congressional 
advocacy efforts.  

 Water Infrastructure Finance Research 
Assistant at the Nicholas Institute for 
Environmental Policy Solutions, Durham, 
North Carolina. Researched the extent that 
water infrastructure spending through the 
State Revolving Funds is responsive to 
federal regulations of affordability and 
equity across all states. Annotated merged, 
and analyzed large data layers for all states 
using Excel and ArcGIS. Created a database 
management system.  

 Federal Policy Engagement Analyst for 
the Nature Conservancy, Arlington, Virginia. 
Coordinated with TNC state chapters to 
organize the annual Advocacy Day to bring 
two-hundred members to Washington D.C. 
for two days of meetings with congressional 
members. Led meetings with congressional 
representatives of the North Carolina 
delegation to discuss conservation concerns 
in their districts.  
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Education 
MS Environmental 
Engineering, University of 
Missouri, Rolla, 2006 
BS Civil Engineering, 
University of Missouri, 
Rolla, 2004 

Licenses 
Civil Engineer, California 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Society of Civil 
Engineers 
Society of American 
Military Engineers 
Water Environment 
Federation 
 

Jeffrey A. Weishaar, P.E. 
Jeffrey A. Weishaar, an associate vice president, is a civil and environmental engineer 
with Carollo Engineers. He has 14 years of extensive experience in various wastewater 
projects including elements of analysis, design, and construction. 

Relevant Experience  
  Project manager for the Water 
Reclamation Plant Expansion for the City of 
San Clemente, California. The preliminary 
and final design project will increase plant 
recycled water production capacity from 2.2 
to 4.4 mgd. Preliminary design 
responsibilities included process evaluation 
of disinfection processes and flow balancing 
to evaluate on-site storage of secondary 
effluent prior to tertiary treatment. Final 
design responsibilities included civil and 
yard piping, mechanical and process design 
for drawing production, specification 
preparation, and cost estimating. 

 Project engineer for the Water 
Reclamation Plant Headworks Upgrades for 
the City of San Clemente, California. The 
design included drawings and contract 
documents for concrete repair and relining 
of the headworks influent channels and grit 
basins and replacement of mechanical bar 
screens. Relining of channels required 
design of a temporary bypass facility, 
including manual bar screens and odor 
control, with focus on the contractor's 
responsibility to maintain and operate the 
facility. He provided construction 
management services, submittal review, and 
responses to contractor requests for 
information. 

 Project engineer for the City of Barstow, 
California. Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Improvements Phase 1 Project. This project 
covered multiple subtasks including 
condition assessment of the wastewater 
treatment plant, project development and 
ranking, process modeling, preliminary 
design and final design. The Phase 1 
construction project includes rehabilitation 
of the aeration basins, secondary clarifiers, 
and gravity thickener, as well as SCADA 
upgrades, a new dewatering facility and 
new standby generator and additional 
miscellaneous site piping, electrical and 
instrumentation upgrades. The Phase 2 
construction project will include upgrades to 

the primary clarifiers and aerobic digesters 
as well as a new influent pump station, a 
new electrical control building and 
additional SCADA, electrical, and 
instrumentation upgrades. 

 Project engineer for the Regional 
Treatment Plant Headworks Upgrade for 
the South Orange County Wastewater 
Authority, California. The project involved 
production of drawings and contract 
documents for replacement of the 
headworks building roof; rehabilitation of 
the existing mechanical bar screens; 
installation of new conveyors, screenings 
dewatering equipment, level measurement 
equipment in the existing channels for bar 
screen controls, and gas analyzers; channel 
concrete repair; odor control; and electrical 
and instrumentation modifications and 
upgrades. Roof replacement also 
incorporated a temporary odor control 
system with focus on the contractor’s 
responsibility in capturing odors. He 
provided construction management 
services, submittal review, and responses to 
contractor requests for information. 

 Project engineer for the San Luis Rey 
Water Reclamation Plant for the City of 
Oceanside, California. The preliminary and 
final design project will increase plant 
recycled water production capacity from 
less than 0.5 to 1.5 mgd and includes master 
planning to an ultimate capacity of 7.5 mgd. 
Specific responsibilities included process 
evaluation and life-cycle cost analysis for 
tertiary and disinfection processes during 
preliminary design. Final design 
responsibilities included civil work, yard 
piping, mechanical and process design for 
drawing production, specification 
preparation, and cost estimating. 

 Process manager for the Water 
Reclamation Facility Plan Update for San 
Elijo Joint Powers Authority, California. The 
Facility Plan Update included assessment of 
the Authority’s Water Reclamation Facility 
and land outfall pipeline. Facilities and 
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 individual assets were reviewed for process 
improvements and structural, mechanical, 
civil, electrical, and instrumentation and 
controls deficiencies. Process and facility 
improvements were identified along with 
alternatives. Life-cycle costs were developed 
and evaluated as part of final 
recommendations for upgrades. The 
resulting list of prioritized projects was then 
used to develop a 10-year implementation 
schedule. The final CIP project list includes 
17 projects estimated at  
$36.3 million. 

 Project engineer for the Coastal 
Treatment Plant Return Activated Sludge 
(RAS) System and Headworks Upgrades for 
the South Orange County Wastewater 
Authority, California. Preliminary design 
included identification of reliable rotary 
drum screen manufacturers for raw 
wastewater screening including customer 
surveys, site visits, cost estimating, and 
detailed review of manufacturer 
specifications. Plans and specifications were 
prepared for replacement of the existing 
drum screens, replacement of the 
headworks influent force main knife gate 
valves, and other minor modifications to the 
headworks building. The plans and 
specifications also included design 
improvements to the return activated 
sludge system as previously identified in the 
RAS Flow Control Analysis.  

 Project manager for the Plant Process 
Master Plan for, Encina Wastewater 
Authority, California. Carollo prepared a 
process master plan to evaluate existing 
process operations, recommend necessary 
enhancements, and ensure the Encina 
Wastewater Authority continued operation 
with up-to-date technologies while 
maintaining effective reuse of Encina’s 
water, biofuel, and biosolid resources. 

 Project engineer for the J.B. Latham 
Treatment Plant Facility Plan for the South 
Orange County Wastewater Authority, 
California. The Facility Plan provided a 20-
year planning window for liquid and solids 
treatment, flow analysis, odor control, 
energy management, site planning, and 
regulatory issues. Project duties included 
flow and plant capacity analysis, solids 

treatment analysis for thickening and 
digestion, site planning, cost estimating, and 
report preparation. 

 Project manager for the City of 
Oceanside Facility Needs Condition 
Assessment. This project provided condition 
assessment at three treatment plants owned 
and operated by the City. Specific duties 
included coordination and overall lead for 
the condition assessments, civil and 
mechanical condition assessment, 
identification of potential improvement 
projects; project cost estimating; and report 
preparation. Recommendations for project 
implementation, based on criticality and 
available budget, were provided to assist 
the City in preparing for their upcoming 
fiscal year budget and updating the Capital 
Improvements Program. 

 Project engineer for the Asset Valuation 
Study for the City of Santa Paula, California, 
water and sewer systems. His responsibilities 
included preparation of replacement, less 
depreciated cost values, for the City’s water 
and sewer systems, including distribution 
and collection piping and appurtenances, 
water and wastewater treatment plants, 
pump stations, reservoirs, and estimated 
land value. 

 Condition assessment task leader for the 
City of Colton, California, Wastewater 
Master Plan. Responsibilities included 
leading a team of discipline engineers to 
assess the City’s wastewater treatment plant 
facility. 

 Project engineer for the El Estero 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Screening 
Evaluation for the City of Santa Barbara, 
California. The project evaluated screening 
technologies to replace the existing grinder 
and auger system at the influent pump 
station facility. Over a dozen screens were 
evaluated to fit into a high-flow, low-head 
loss environment with limited installation 
requirements. Use of multi-rake climber 
screens, over 20 feet in height, was 
recommended to remove debris from the 
incoming flow.  
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